
City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Meeting 

April 13, 2021, at 7:00 PM 
City Council Chambers 

231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer 
www.palmerak.org 

AGENDA 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. ROLL CALL

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
1. Approval of Consent Agenda

a. Introduction and Setting a Public Hearing for April 27, 2021, for Ordinance No. 21-003: 
Amending Palmer Municipal Code Title 5.32 Definitions, Enacting 5.32.030 Standards for 
Marijuana Businesses, and Enacting 5.32.040 Marijuana Businesses License Review .. Page 3

b. Introduction and Setting a Public Hearing for April 27, 2021, for Ordinance No. 21-004: 
Amending Palmer Municipal Code to Add Retail Marijuana Establishments as a Permitted Use in 
Chapters 17.08 Definitions, 17.30 Central Business District, and 17.32 Commercial General and 
Adding Marijuana Cultivation, Testing and Manufacturing Facilities Establishments as a Permitted
Use in Chapters 17.36 Industrial and 17.57 Agricultural ........................................... Page 29 

c. Resolution No. 21-012: Authorizing the Palmer City Manager to Accept the Volunteer Fire
Assistance Grant Funds Awarded by the State of Alaska, Department of Natural Resources,
Division of Forestry and Appropriate the Funds to the City of Palmer Fire & Rescue in the Amount
of $4,875.00 to Purchase Wildland Fire Suppression Equipment and Gear ................. Page 39 

d. Resolution No. 21-013: Authorizing the City Manager to Accept and Appropriate the 2021 State
of Alaska DUI High Visibility Enforcement Grant 405d M5HVE-21-01-FA(A)-10 in the Amount of
$18,720.00 for DUI High Visibility Enforcement Activities ......................................... Page 45 

e. Resolution No. 21-014: Authorizing the City Manager to Accept, Execute and Appropriate an
Airport Coronavirus Response Grant Offer from the Federal Aviation Administration in an Amount
of $13,000.00 by Way of the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act
of 2021 for Assistance to Airports During the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency ...... Page 51 

f. Action Memorandum No. 21-020: Authorizing the City Manager to Amend the Current
Professional Services Agreement with HDL Engineering Consultants LLC, in an Amount Not to
Exceed $19,875.00, for Engineering Services and Underwater Robotic Inspection of the Cedar
(Bailey) Hills Reservoir .......................................................................................... Page 81 

g. Action Memorandum No. 21-021: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Enter Into
a Contract with CCI Industrial Services, LLC., in an Amount Not to Exceed $91,752.00, for Leak
Repairs and Application of a Specialized Coating System Along Interior Seams Increasing the Life
of Reservoir #3 .................................................................................................... Page 87 

h. Action Memorandum No. 21-022: Authorizing the City Manager to Enter into a Contract with
MuniRevs for Online Business License and Sales Tax Software Using the Governmental and
Proprietary Procurement Process in Palmer Municipal Code Section 3.21.230 ............. Page 99 

Mayor Edna B. DeVries 
Deputy Mayor Sabrena Combs 
Council Member Julie Berberich 
Council Member Richard W. Best 
Council Member Steve Carrington 
Council Member Brian Daniels 
Council Member Jill Valerius 

City Attorney Michael Gatti 
City Clerk Norma I. Alley, MMC 
City Manager John Moosey 

Page 1 of 307

http://www.palmerak.org/


i. Action Memorandum No. 21-023: Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of
the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection for the Renewal of Liquor License#649 for the
Klondike Mike’s Saloon Located at 820 S. Colony Way ............................................. Page 109 

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings
a. March 9, 2021, Regular Meeting ............................................................................ Page 113 

E. COMMUNICATIONS AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS
1. Update from Mat-Su Senior Services Chief Executive Officer Elaine Phillipps.................... Page 119 
2. Update from Alaska Waste Operations Manager Ron Stevens and Site Manager Josh James

 ................................................................................................................................ Page 121 

F. REPORTS
1. City Manager’s Report

a. Audience Participation
b. Strategic Planning Session Summary

2. City Clerk’s Report
3. Mayor’s Report
4. City Attorney’s Report

G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

H. PUBLIC HEARING
1. Action Memorandum No. 21-024: Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate the Reversion of

Tract E-2 of the Replat of Tract A, B, E and H-2 Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision to the City of
Palmer and Prepare a Resolution Authorizing the Sale to Airframes Alaska for Industrial Purposes per
Palmer Municipal Code Section 3.20.080 ...................................................................... Page 127 

I. NEW BUSINESS
1. Action Memorandum No. 21-025: Approving a Council Community Grant in the Amount of

$2,500.00 to Who Let the Girls Out Supporting the 2021 Event ..................................... Page 141 
2. Action Memorandum No. 21-026: Approving a Council Community Grant in the Amount of

$2,000.00 to Who Let the Runners Out Supporting the 2021 5K and 1K Run/Walk Event . Page 149
3. Information Memorandum No. 21-002: Committee of the Whole for a Presentation By

Agnew::Beck Regarding Findings for Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an
Annexation Petition .................................................................................................... Page 157 

J. EXECUTIVE SESSION
1. Matters, the Immediate Knowledge of Which Would Clearly Have an Adverse Effect Upon the Finances

of the Public Entity and Matter which by Law, Municipal Charter, or Ordinances are Required to be
Confidential – Potential Litigation Attorney Client Communication: State of Alaska City of Palmer
Dispatch Agreement (note: action may be taken by the council following the executive session)

K. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE

L. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

M. COUNCIL COMMENTS

N. ADJOURNMENT

Page 2 of 307



City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 21-003 

Subject:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code Title 5.32 Definitions, Enacting 5.32.030 Standards for Marijuana 
Businesses, and Enacting 5.32.040 Marijuana Businesses License Review 

Agenda of: April 13, 2021 - Introduction 

Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________________
☐ Defeated

Originator Information: 

Originator: Brad Hanson, Director Community Development 
 

Department Review: 

Route to: Department Director: Signature: Date: 
√ Community Development March 10, 2021 

Finance
Fire
Police
Public Works

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 

This legislation (√): 
Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 
Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 
Creates a saving in the amount of: $ 
Has no fiscal impact 

Funds are (√): 
Budgeted Line item(s): 
Not budgeted 

Director of Finance Signature: 

Approved for Presentation By: 
Signature: Remarks: 

City Manager 
City Attorney 
City Clerk 

Page 3 of 307



Attachment(s): 
1. Ordinance No. 21-003 
2. State of Alaska 3 AAC Chapter 7, Operating Requirements for All Marijuana Establishments 
3. Planning and Zoning Commission Minutes of March 4, 2021 Special Meeting (Draft Copy) 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
On October 6, 2020 residents of Palmer passed Referendum Ordinance No. 20-004 repealing Palmer Municipal 
Code (PMC)  Chapter 5.32 Marijuana Businesses, Prohibiting the Operation of Marijuana Cultivation 
Facilities, Marijuana Manufacturing Facilities, Marijuana Testing Facilities, and Retail Marijuana Stores 
Pursuant to AS 17.38.110 Local Control, but n o t  Restricting Industrial Hemp.  
 
Ordinance No. 21-003 creates standards for operation of marijuana establishment businesses in the City 
of Palmer. The ordinance utilizes the language of the State of Alaska enacting regulations 3 AAC 306, 
regulations for Marijuana Control Board for AS 17.38 as a foundation for regulating marijuana 
establishment businesses in Palmer. 3 AAC 306 provides definitions, licensing types, general license 
requirements, operational controls, proximity requirements for four classifications of land use activities, 
signage, and odor. This ordinance adds childcare facilities to the activities that require a buffer for the 
operation of a marijuana business. 
 
Ordinance No. 21-003 prohibits on-site consumption as an authorized use in the city. On-site consumption 
requires an additional endorsement to a retail marijuana license from the State of Alaska Marijuana 
Control Board and is subject to the same local control option the state authorizes in 17.38.110. The Palmer 
Planning and Zoning Commission considered the on-site endorsement when determining where marijuana 
licensing types should be permitted and determined because of the City of Palmer smoking ban and the 
prohibition of smoking in a public place in Chapter 8 it would be in conflict with current code.    
 
Title 5 of Palmer Municipal code addresses different licensing activities the city regulates. Standards for 
operation and licensing review procedures are proposed to be enacted to supplement existing code 
language. 
 
Ordinance No. 21-003 provides the process for marijuana business licensing review and standards for 
operating marijuana businesses. The intent of this ordinance to implement the Alaska State Statutes and City 
of Palmer supplemental regulation from PMC for marijuana, in conjunction with Title 17 land use regulations for 
marijuana, cultivation, manufacturing, testing and retail stores.  
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 21-003 Amending Palmer Municipal Code Title 5.32 definitions and enact standards for 
marijuana establishment licensing operations. 
 
 

Page 4 of 307



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance No. 21-003 
 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending Palmer Municipal Code Title 5.32 Definitions, 
Enacting 5.32.030 Standards for Marijuana Businesses, and Enacting 5.32.040 Marijuana 
Businesses License Review 
 

WHEREAS, on November 4, 2014 the voters of the State of Alaska passed Ballot Measure 2, an Act to 
Tax and Regulate the Production, Sale, and Use of marijuana, codified as Alaska Stature 17.38; and  

 
WHEREAS, Alaska Statute 17.38.210 states in part that a “local government” may enact ordinances or 

regulations not in conflict with this chapter or with regulations enacted pursuant to this chapter; and  
 
WHEREAS, in October 2020 City of Palmer residents voted by referendum to repeal previously enacted 

ordinance prohibiting the operation of marijuana businesses; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Palmer as a home rule municipality, has the authority to provide responsible 

standards of operation for marijuana businesses that protect the public peace, health, safety and welfare. 
 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 
 
 Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  
 
 Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 
 

Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 5.32.011 definitions is hereby enacted to read as follows (new 
language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
5.32.11 Marijuana Classification 
”Consume” means the act of ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise introducing marijuana into the human body. 
“Local regulatory authority” means the office or entity designated to process marijuana establishment 
applications by a local government. 
“Marijuana” means all parts of the plant of the genus cannabis whether growing or not, the seeds thereof, the 
resin extracted from any part of the plant, and every compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or 
preparation of the plant, its seeds, or its resin, including marijuana concentrate; "marijuana" does not include 
fiber produced from the stalks, oil or cake made from the seeds of the plant, sterilized seed of the plant that is 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: April 13, 2021 
Public Hearing:  

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 5 of 307



incapable of germination, the weight of any other ingredient combined with marijuana to prepare topical or oral 
administrations, food, drink, or other products, or industrial hemp. 
 

Section 4. Palmer Municipal Code Section 5.32.030 standards for marijuana businesses is hereby enacted 
to read as follows (new language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
5.32.030 Standards for marijuana businesses 
A. No person may operate a marijuana business within the City without a current City of Palmer business 
license and a license under AS 17.38 from the State of Alaska Marijuana Control Board. Licensee must be in 
compliance of all requirements of AS 17.38.  
B. Marijuana businesses are permitted under PMC 17.28.020 as provided in the City of Palmer’s Commercial 
Land Use Matrix and the provisions of this section. On-site consumption endorsements are not an approved use 
in the city of Palmer. 
C. Marijuana businesses buffer distances shall be measured as the closest distance from the perimeter of a stand 
alone marijuana business structure to the outer boundaries of the school, youth recreation center, childcare 
facility, the main public entrance of a church, or a correctional facility. If the marijuana establishment occupies 
only a portion of a structure, buffer distances are measured as the closest distance from the perimeter of the 
closest interior wall segregating the marijuana business from other uses, or available uses in the structure , or 
an exterior wall if closer, to the outer boundaries of the school, youth recreation center, child care facility, the 
main public entrance of a church or correctional facility. 
The following buffer zones shall be applied to all marijuana businesses in all districts: 

1. Schools: 500 feet. 
2. Churches: 500 feet. 
3. Jail: 500 feet. 
4. Youth recreation center: 500 feet. 
5. Childcare facility: 500 feet 

D. Licensed premises may not be open between the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 8:00 a.m. Monday through Sunday. 
No marijuana may be distributed, sold or dispensed at a licensed premise when the licensed premises is 
required to be closed pursuant to this section. 
E. Upon denial or revocation of a marijuana establishment license issued by the State of Alaska, any license 
issued by the City under this article shall be null and void. If a court of competent jurisdiction determines that 
the issuance of local licenses violates State or federal law, all licenses issued under this article shall be deemed 
immediately revoked by operation of law, with no grounds for appeal or redress on behalf of the licensee. 
F. Licensee must be in compliance with all standards and requirements of AS 17.38 relating to odor, security 
alarm systems, marijuana inventory tracking systems, health and safety standards, waste disposal, 
transportation and business records. 
G. Signs shall comply with AS 17.38 and Palmer Municipal Code Title 14. No temporary signs are permitted. 
H. If city administration obtains evidence that a marijuana business has violated a provision of AS 17.38, this 
chapter, or any provision of PMC 17.28.020, it shall so notify the State Marijuana Control Board. 
 

Section 5. Palmer Municipal Code Section 5.32.040 marijuana license application review process is hereby 
enacted to read as follows (new language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
5.32.040 Marijuana license application review process 
A. Council is designated as the local regulatory authority. 
B. The State of Alaska Marijuana Control Board will transmit to the City all applications for marijuana businesses 
under AS 17.38 for review. City Administration shall review all applications for compliance with PMC Code and 
AS 17.38 and provide written comments to city council. 

Page 6 of 307



C. Upon receipt of the application and written comments, Council shall consider whether or not to protest the 
application at its next duly noticed regularly scheduled meeting. Council may protest any application under this 
section or may recommend that an application under this section be approved subject to conditions. 
D. The review of an application under this section shall not be subject to formal rules of evidence or procedure 
and Council may consider any facts or factors it deems relevant to its review so long as such facts or factors are 
not arbitrary, capricious or unreasonable. 
E. Council’s decision regarding whether or not to protest an application under this section shall be final and is 
not subject to appeal, except in accordance with AS 17.38. 
 

Section 6. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 21-003 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 
City Council.  
 
Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2021.  
 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Page 7 of 307



3 AAC 306

Regulations  For The

Marijuana  Control  Board

Article  7

Operating  Requirements  for  all Marijuana  Establishments

Page 8 of 307



Article  7

Operating  Requirements  for  All  Marijuana  Establishments

3 AAC  306.700. Mariiuana  handler  permit

(a) Each  agent  of  the  marijuana  establishment  who  sells,  cultivates,  manufactures,  tests,

or  transports  marijuana  or  a marijuana  product,  or  who  checks  the  identification  of  a consumer  or

visitor,  and  each  licensee  and  employee  must  obtain  a marijuana  handler  permit  from  the  board

before  being  licensed  or  beginning  employment  at a marijuana  establishment.

(b)  To obtain  a marijuana  handler  permit,  a person  must  complete  a marijuana  handler

permit  education  course  approved  by  the board,  pass a written  test  demonstrating  an

understanding  of  the course  material,  and  obtain  a certificate  of  course  completion  from  the

course  provider.

(c) To obtain  a marijuana  handler  permit,  a person  who  has completed  the  marijuana

handier  permit  education  course  described  in 3 AAC  306.701  shall  present  the  course

completion  certificate  to the  director.  The  director  shall  issue  a marijuana  handler  permit  card

valid  for  three  years  from  the date  of  issue  of  the  course  completion  certificate.  A  person  may

renew  a card  issued  under  this  section  by  taking  a marijuana  handler  permit  education  course

approved  by  the  board  and  passing  a written  test  demonstrating  an understanding  of  the course

subjects.

(d)  A  licensee,  employee,  or  agent  of  a marijuana  establishment  shall  keep  the  marijuana

handler  permit  card  described  in (c)  of  this  section  in that  person's  immediate  possession  or a

valid  copy  on file  on  the  premises  at all  times  when  on  the  licensed  premises  of  the  marijuana

establishment.

(e) Repealed  8/21/2019.

(f)  The  board  will  not  issue  a marijuana  handler  permit  to a person  who

(1)  has been  convicted  of  a felony  in the  state  and  either

(A)  less than  five  years  have  elapsed  from  the  time  of  the  person's

conviction;  or

(B)  the  person  is currently  on  probation  or  parole  for  that  felony,

(2)  has within  the  two  year  period  immediately  preceding  submission  of  an

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIALCOPY  77

Page 9 of 307



application,  been  convicted  of  a class  A  misdemeanor  in the  state  involving  a controlled

substance  other  than  a Schedule  VIA  controlled  substance,  under  AS 11.71.190,

(3)  has within  the  two  year  period  immediately  preceding  submission  of  an

application,  been  convicted  of  a class  A  misdemeanor  in  the  state  relating  to selling,  furnishing,

or distributing  marijuana;  or,

(4)  is currently  under  indictment  for  an offense  listed  in this  section.  (Eff.

2/21/2016,  Register  217;  am 5/23/2018,  Register  226;  am 9/7/2018,  Register  227;  am 2/21/2019,

Register  229;  am 8/21/2019,  Register  231)

3 AAC  306.701. Mariiuana  Handier  Permit  Education  Course

(a) The  board  shall  approve  all  marijuana  handler  permit  education  courses  before  a

course  provider  may  issue  a marijuana  handler  permit.

(b)  The  topics  that  an approved  marijuana  handier  permit  education  course  covers  must

include

(l)  AS  17.37,  AS  17.38,  and  this  chapter;

(2)  the  effects  of  consumption  of  marijuana  and  marijuana  products;

(3)  how  to identify  a person  impaired  by  consumption  of  marijuana;

(4)  how  to determine  valid  identification;

(5)  how  to intervene  to prevent  unlawful  marijuana  consumption;  and

(6)  the  penalty  for  an unlawful  act  by  a licensee,  an employee,  or an agent  of  a

marijuana  establishment.

(c)  An  approved  course  provider  shall  update  the course  with  any  applicable  change  to

AS }7.37,  AS 17.38,  and  this  chapter  within  10 days  of  the  effective  date  of  the  change.

Notification  of  a change  to an approved  course  shall  be provided  to the  board  within  3 days  of

the change.

(d)  The  board  will  review  an approved  marijuana  handler  permit  education  course  at least

once  every  three  years,  and  may  rescind  approval  of  the  course  if  the  board  finds  that  the

education  course  contents  are insufficient  or  inaccurate.

(e) An  approved  course  provider  shall  provide  continuous  access  to the course  to the

board  and  the director  for  the  purpose  of  reviewing  course  materials  at any  time.

(f)  The  fee for  a new  marijuana  handler  permit  education  course  and  for  a three-year

review  of  a marijuana  handler  permit  education  course  is $500.  (Eff.  8/21/2019,  Register  231)

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIALCOPY  78

Page 10 of 307



3 AAC  306.703.  Operations

A  licensed  marijuana  establishment  shall  operate  in accordance  with  the  operating  plan

approved  by  the board.  The  licensee  may  request  an operating  plan  change  in accordance  with  3

AAC  306.100(c).  (Eff.  5/9/2019,  Register  230)

3 AAC  306.705.  Licensed  premises;  alteration

(a) A  marijuana  establishment  license  will  be issued  for  specific  licensed  premises.

Specific  licensed  premises  must  constitute  a place  clearly  designated  in a license  application  and

described  by  a line  drawing  submitted  with  the  license  application.  The  licensed  premises  must

(1)  have  adequate  space  for  its approved  operations,  including  growing,

manufacturing,  processing,  packaging,  or  storing  marijuana  or  marijuana  products;  and

(2)  be located  and  constructed  to facilitate  cleaning,  maintenance,  and  proper

operation.

(b)  A  marijuana  establishment's  license  must  be posted  in a conspicuous  place  within  the

licensed  premises.

(c)  A  holder  of  a marijuana  establisent  license  may  not  alter  the  functional  floor  plan

or reduce  or  expand  the  area  of  the  licensed  premises  without  first  obtaining  the  director's  written

approval.  A  marijuana  establishment  license  holder  seeking  to change  or modify  the  licensed

premises  must  submit  a request  for  approval  of  the  change  on a form  prescribed  by  the  board,

along  with

(1)  the  fee prescribed  in 3 AAC  306.100;

(2)  a drawing  showing  the  proposed  change;

(3)  evidence  that  the  proposed  change  conforms  to any  local  restrictions;  and

(4)  evidence  that  the  licensee  has obtained  any  applicable  local  building  permit.

(Eff.  2/21/2016,  Register  217)

3 AAC  306.710.  Restricted  access  areas

(a) A  marijuana  establishment  shall  restrict  access  to any  part  of  the licensed  premises

where  marijuana  or a marijuana  product  is grown,  processed,  tested,  stored,  or stocked.

(b)  Except  as provided  in 3 AAC  306.325  for  a retail  marijuana  store,  each  entrance  to a

restricted  access  area  must  be marked  by  a sign  that  says "Restricted  access  area. Visitors  must

be escorted."  A  marijuana  establishment  shall  limit  the  number  of  visitors  to not  more  than  five

visitors  for  each  licensee,  employee,  or  agent  of  the  licensee  who  is actively  engaged  in

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIALCOPY  79

Page 11 of 307



supervising  those  visitors.

(c) In  a restricted  access  area,  a licensee,  employee,  or agent  of  the  marijuana

establishment  shall  wear  a current  identification  badge  bearing  the  person's  photograph.  A  person

under  21 years  of  age may  not  enter  a restricted  access  area.  Any  visitor  to the  restricted  access

area  must

(l)  show  identification  as required  in 3 AAC  306.350  to prove  that  person  is 21

years  of  age or older;

(2)  obtain  a visitor  identification  badge  before  entering  the  restricted  access  area;

and

(3)  be escorted  at all  times  by  a licensee,  employee,  or agent  of  the  marijuana

establishment.  (Eff.  2/21/2016,  Register  217)

3 AAC  306.715.  Security  alarm  systems  and  lock  standards

(a) Each  licensee,  employee,  or  agent  of  a marijuana  establishment  shall  display  an

identification  badge  issued  by  the  marijuana  establishment  at all  times  when  on the  marijuana

establishment's  licensed  premises.

(b)  The  licensed  premises  of  a marijuana  establishment  must  have

(1)  exterior  lighting  to facilitate  surveillance;

(2)  a security  alarm  system  on all  exterior  doors  and  windows;  and

(3)  continuous  video  monitoring  as provided  in 3 AAC  306.720.

(c)  A  marijuana  establishment  shall  have  policies  and  procedures  that

(1)  are designed  to prevent  diversion  of  marijuana  or marijuana  product;

(2)  prevent  loitering;

(3)  describe  the use of  any  additional  security  device,  such  as a motion  detector,

pressure  switch,  and  duress,  panic,  or  hold-up  alarm  to enhance  security  of  licensed  premises;

and

(4)  describe  the  actions  to be taken  by  a licensee,  employee,  or  agent  of  the

marijuana  establishment  when  any  automatic  or  electronic  notification  system  alerts  a local  law

enforcement  agency  of  an unauthorized  breach  of  security.

(d)  A  marijuana  establishment  shall  use commercial  grade,  non-  residential  door  locks  on

all  exterior  entry  points  to the licensed  premises.

(e) A  marijuana  establishment  shall  notify  the  Department  of  Commerce,  Community,

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIALCOPY  80

Page 12 of 307



and  Economic  Development,  Alcohol  and  Marijuana  Control  Office  as soon  as reasonably

practical  and  in  any  case not  more  than  24 hours  after  any  unauthorized  access  to the  premises  or

the establishment's  knowledge  of  evidence  or circumstances  that  reasonably  indicate  theft,

diversion,  or  unexplained  disappearance  of  marijuana,  marijuana  products,  or  money  from  the

licensed  premises.  (Eff.  2/21/2016,  Register  217;  am 5/25/2018,  Register  226)

3 AAC  306.720.  Video  surveillance

(a) A  marijuana  establishment  shall  install  and  maintain  a video  surveillance  and  camera

recording  system  as provided  in  this  section.  The  video  system  must  cover

(1)  each  restricted  access  area  and  each  entrance  to a restricted  access  area  within

the licensed  premises;

(2)  each  entrance  to the  exterior  of  the  licensed  premises;  and

(3)  each  point-of-sale  area.

(b)  At  a marijuana  establishment,  a required  video  camera  must  be placed  in a way  that

produces  a clear  view  adequate  to identify  any  individual  inside  the licensed  premises,  or  within

20 feet  of  each  entrance  to the licensed  premises.  Both  the  interior  and  the exterior  of  each

entrance  to the  facility  must  be recorded  by  a video  camera.

(c)  Any  area  where  marijuana  is grown,  cured,  or  manufactured,  or  where  marijuana

waste  is destroyed,  must  have  a camera  placement  in the  room  facing  the  primary  entry  door,  and

in adequate  fixed  positions,  at a height  that  will  provide  a clear,  unobstructed  view  of  the  regular

activity  without  a sight  blockage  from  lighting  hoods,  fixtures,  or  other  equipment,  in order  to

allow  for  the  clear  and  certain  identification  of  any  person  and  activity  in the  area  at all  times.

(d)  Surveillance  recording  equipment  and  video  surveillance  records  must  be housed  in a

locked  and  secure  area  or in a lock  box,  cabinet,  closet  or  other  secure  area  that  is accessible  only

to a marijuana  establishment  licensee  or authorized  employee,  and  to law  enforcement  personnel

including  a peace  officer  or  an agent  of  the  board.  A  marijuana  establishment  may  use an offsite

monitoring  service  and offsite  storage  of  video  surveillance  records  if  security  requirements  at

the  offsite  facility  are at least  as strict  as onsite  security  requirements  as described  in this  section.

(e) Each  surveillance  recording  must  be preserved  for  a minimum  of  40 days,  in a format

that  can  be easily  accessed  for  viewing.  All  recorded  images  must  clearly  and  accurately  display

the  time  and  date,  and  must  be archived  in a format  that  does  not  permit  alteration  of  the

recorded  image,  so that  the images  can  readily  be authenticated.  After  40 days,  a marijuana

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIAJ,COPY  81

Page 13 of 307



establishment  may  erase  video  recordings,  unless  the licensee  knows  or should  know  of  any

pending  criminal,  civil,  or administrative  investigation  for  which  the  video  recording  may

contain  relevant  information.  (Eff.  2/21/2016,  Register  217)

3 AAC  306.725.  Inspection  of  licensed  premises

(a) A  marijuana  establishment  or  an applicant  for  a marijuana  establishment  license  under

this  chapter  shall,  upon  request,  make  the  licensed  premises  or  the  proposed  licensed  premises,

including  any  place  for  storage,  available  for  inspection  by  the  director,  an employee  or  agent  of

the  board,  or an officer  charged  with  the enforcement  of  this  chapter.  The  board  or the  director

may  also  request  a local  fire  protection  agency  or  any  other  state  agency  with  health  and  safety

responsibilities  to inspect  licensed  premises  or proposed  licensed  premises.

(b)  Inspection  under  this  section  includes  inspection  of  the  premises,  facilities,

qualifications  of  personnel,  methods  of  operation,  business  and  financial  records,  marijuana

inventory  tracking  system,  policies,  and  purposes  of  any  marijuana  establishment  and  of  any

applicant  for  a marijuana  establishment  license.  (Eff.  2/21/2016,  Register  217)

3 AAC  306.730.  Marijuana  inventory  tracking  system

(a) A  marijuana  establishment  shall  use a marijuana  inventory  tracking  system  capable  of

sharing  information  with  the  system  the  board  implements  to ensure  all  marijuana  cultivated  and

sold  in the state,  and  each  marijuana  product  processed  and  sold  in  the  state,  is identified  and

tracked  from  the  time  the  marijuana  is a seed  or cutting  to a completed  sale of  marijuana  or a

marijuana  product,  or disposal  of  the  harvest  batch  of  marijuana  or production  lot  of  marijuana

product.

(b)  Marijuana  delivered  to a marijuana  establishment  must  be weighed  on a scale

registered  in compliance  with  3 AAC  306.745.  (Eff.  2/21/2016,  Register  217;  am 10/20/2018,

Register  228)

3 AAC  306.735.  Health  and  safety  standards

(a) A  marijuana  establishment  is subject  to inspection  by  the local  fire  department,

building  inspector,  or code  enforcement  officer  to confirm  that  health  or safety  concerns  are not

present.

(b)  A  marijuana  establishment  shall  take  all  reasonable  measures  and  precautions  to

ensure  that

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIALCOPY  82

Page 14 of 307



(l)  any  person  who  has an illness,  an open  sore  or infected  wound,  or  other

potential  source  of  infection  does not come in contact  with  marijuana  or a marijuana

product  while  the  illness  or source  of  infection  persists;

(2)  the  licensed  premises  have

(A)  adequate  and  readily  accessible  toilet  facilities  that  are maintained  in

good  repair  and  sanitary  condition;  and

(B)  convenient  handwashing  facilities  with  running  water  at a suitable

temperature;  the  marijuana  establishment  shall  require  employees  to wash  or sanitize

their  hands,  and  shall  provide  effective  hand-cleaning,  sanitizing  preparations,  and  drying

devices;

(3)  each  person  working  in direct  contact  with  marijuana  or a marijuana  product

conforms  to good  hygienic  practices  while  on duty,  including

(A)  maintaining  adequate  personal  cleanliness;  and

(B)  washing  hands  thoroughly  in an adequate  hand-washing  area before

starting  work,  after  using  toilet  facilities,  and  at any  other  time  when  the  person's  hands

may  have  become  soiled  or contaminated,

(4)  litter,  waste,  and  rubbish  are properly  removed;  the  waste  disposal  equipment

must  be maintained  and  adequate  to

(A)  avoid  contaminating  any  area  where  marijuana  or  any  marijuana

product  is stored,  displayed,  or sold;

(B)  prevent  causing  odors  or attracting  pests;

(5)  floors,  walls,  and  ceilings  are constructed  to allow  adequate  cleaning,  and  are

kept  clean  and  in good  repair;

(6)  adequate  lighting  is installed  in any  area  where  marijuana  or a marijuana

product  is stored,  displayed,  or sold,  and  where  any  equipment  or utensil  is cleaned;

(7)  screening  or other  protection  adequately  protects  against  the  entry  of  pests;

(8)  each  building,  fixture,  and  other  facility  is maintained  in sanitary  condition;

(9)  each  toxic  cleaning  compound,  sarutizing  agent,  and  pesticide  chemical  is

identified  and  stored  in a safe  manner  to protect  against  contamination  of  marijuana  or a

marijuana  product  and  in compliance  with  any  applicable  local,  state,  or federal  law;

(10)  adequate  sanitation  principles  are used  in receiving,  inspecting,  transporting,

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIAI,COPY  83

Page 15 of 307



and  storing  marijuana  or a marijuana  product;  and

(11)  marijuana  or a marijuana  product  is held  in a manner  that  prevents  the

growth  of  bacteria,  microbes,  or other  undesirable  microorganisms.

(c)  A  marijuana  establishment  shall  ensure  that  any  marijuana  or marijuana  product  that

has been  stored  beyond  its usable  life,  or  was  stored  improperly,  is not  salvaged  and  returned  to

the  marketplace.  In  this  subsection,  "stored  improperly"  means  being  exposed  to extremes  in

temperature,  humidity,  smoke,  fumes,  pressure,  or  radiation  due to a natural  disaster,  fire,

accident,  or  equipment  failure.

(d)  If  a marijuana  establishment  does  not  have  reliable  information  about  the  age or

storage  conditions  of  marijuana  or  a marijuana  product  in  its  possession,  the marijuana

establishment  may  salvage  the  marijuana  only  if

(1)  a licensed  marijuana  testing  facility  determines  from  quality  assurance  testing

that  the  marijuana  or  marijuana  product  meets  all  applicable  standards  of  moisture,  potency,  and

contaminants;

(2)  inspection  of  the  premises  where  a disaster  or accident  occurred  shows  that  the

marijuana  or  marijuana  product  stored  there  was  not  adversely  affected  by  the disaster  or

accident;  and

(3)  the  marijuana  establishment  maintains  a record  of  the salvaged  marijuana  or

marijuana  product  in its marijuana  inventory  tracking  system,  including  the  name,  lot  number,

andfinaldisposition.  (Eff.2/21/2016,Register217)

3 AAC  306.740.  Waste  disposal

(a) A  marijuana  establishment  shall  store,  manage,  and  dispose  of  any  solid  or liquid

waste,  including  wastewater  generated  during  marijuana  cultivation  production,  processing,

testing,  or  retail  sales,  in compliance  with  applicable  federal,  state,  and  local  statutes,  ordinances,

regulations,  and  other  law.

(b)  Marijuana  waste  must  be rendered  unusable  for  any  purpose  for  which  it was  grown

or  produced  before  it leaves  a marijuana  establishment.  Marijuana  waste  includes

(1)  marijuana  plant  waste,  including  stalks,  leaves,  and  stems  that  have  not  been

processed  with  solvent;

(2)  solid  marijuana  sample  plant  waste  in  the  possession  of  a marijuana  testing

facility;

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIALCOPY  84

Page 16 of 307



(3)  marijuana  or a marijuana  product  that  has been  found  by  the licensee  unfit  for

sale  or consumption;

(4)  expired  marijuana  products;  and

(5)  other  waste  as determined  by  the board.

(c) A  marijuana  establishment  shall

(1)  give  the board  notice,  on a form  prescribed  by  the board,  not  later  than  three

days  before  making  the  waste  unusable  and  disposing  of  it; however,  the  director  may  authorize

immediate  disposal  on an emergency  basis;

(2)  record  the  waste  in  the  marijuana  inventory  tracking  system  required  under  3

AAC  306.730;  and

(3)  keep  a record  through  the  marijuana  inventory  tracking  system  of  the  final

destination  of  marijuana  waste  made  unusable.

(d)  Marijuana  plant  waste  must  be made  unusable  by  grinding  the  marijuana  plant  waste

and  mixing  it with  at least  an equal  amount  of  other  compostable  or non-compostable  materials.

A  marijuana  establishment  may  use another  method  to make  marijuana  waste  unusable  if  the

board  approves  the  method  in advance.  Material  that  may  be mixed  with  the marijuana  waste

includes

(1)  compostable  materials  including  food  waste,  yard  waste,  vegetable  based

grease  or oils,  or other  wastes  approved  by  the  board  when  the mixed  material  can  be used  as

compost  feedstock  or in another  organic  waste  method  such  as an anaerobic  digester  with

approval  of  any  applicable  local  government  entity;  or

(2)  non-compostable  materials  including  paper  waste,  cardboard  waste,  plastic

waste,  oil,  or  other  wastes  approved  by  the  board  when  the  mixed  material  may  be delivered  to a

permitted  solid  waste  facility,  incinerator,  or  other  facility  with  approval  of  any  applicable  local

government  entity.

(e) If  marijuana  or a marijuana  product  is found  by,  or  surrendered  to,  a law  enforcement

officer  including  a peace  officer  or  an airport  security  officer,  the  officer  may  dispose  of  the

marijuana  or  marijuana  product  as provided  in this  section  or  by  any  method  that  is allowed

under  any  applicable  local  ordinance.  (Eff.  2/21/2016,  Register  217;  am 10/20/2018,  Register

228)

3 AAC  306.745.  Standardized  scales

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIALCOPY  85

Page 17 of 307



A  marijuana  establishment  shall  use registered  scales  in compliance  with  AS  45.75.080  (Weights

and  Measures  Act).  A  marijuana  establishment  shall

(1)  maintain  registration  and  inspection  reports  of  scales  registered  under  AS

45.75.080  and 17 AAC  90.920  - 17 AAC  90.935;  and

(2)  upon  request  by  the  board  or  the  director,  provide  a copy  of  the registration

and  inspection  reports  of  the  registered  scales  to the  board  or  the  director  for  review.  (Eff.

2/21/2016,  Register217)

3 AAC  306.750.  Transportation

(a) Marijuana  or a marijuana  product  may  only  be transported  to a licensed  marijuana

establishment  by  a licensee  or an agent  or  employee  of  a licensee.

(b)  A  marijuana  establishment  from  which  a shipment  of  marijuana  or marijuana  product

originates  is responsible  for  preparing,  packaging,  and  securing  the marijuana  or marijuana

product  during  shipment,  for  recording  the  transfer  in  the marijuana  inventory  tracking  system,

and  for  preparing  the  transport  manifest.  An  individual  transporting  marijuana  in compliance

with  this  section  shall  have  a marijuana  handler  permit  required  under  3 AAC  306.700.

(c) When  marijuana  or a marijuana  product  is transported,  the marijuana  establishment

that  originates  the  transport  shall  use the marijuana  inventory  tracking  system  to record  the  type,

amount  and  weight  of  marijuana  or marijuana  product  being  transported,  the name  of  the

transporter,  the  time  of  departure  and  expected  delivery,  and  the  make,  model,  and  license  plate

number  of  the  transporting  vehicle.  A complete  printed  transport  manifest  on a form

prescribed  by the  board  must  be kept  with  the marijuana  or marijuana  product  at all  times.

(d)  During  transport,  the  marijuana  or  marijuana  product  must  be in a sealed  package  or

container  and in a locked,  safe,  and  secure  storage  compartment  in the  vehicle  transporting  the

marijuana  or  marijuana  product.  The  sealed  package  may  not  be opened  during  transport.  A

vehicle  transporting  marijuana  or a marijuana  product  must  travel  directly  from  the shipping

marijuana  establishment  to the receiving  marijuana  establishment,  and  may  not  make

unnecessary  stops  in between  except  to deliver  or  pick  up marijuana  or a marijuana  product  at

another  licensed  marijuana  establishment.

(e) When  a marijuana  establishment  receives  marijuana  or a marijuana  product

transported  in compliance  with  this  section,  the recipient  of  the shipment  shall  use the marijuana

inventory  tracking  system  to report  the  type,  amount,  and  weight  of  marijuana  or marijuana

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIALCOPY  86

Page 18 of 307



product  received.  The  recipient  shall  refuse  to accept  any  shipment  of  marijuana  or  marijuana

product  that  is not  accompanied  by  the  transport  manifest.

(f)  A  marijuana  establishment  shall  keep  records  of  all  marijuana  or marijuana  products

shipped  from  or  received  at that  marijuana  establishment  as required  under  3 AAC  306.755.

(g)  A  marijuana  establishment  may  transport  marijuana  or a marijuana  product  to and

from  a trade  show  or similar  industry  event  in accordance  with  3 AAC  306.760  and  this  section.

(Eff.  2/21/2016,  Register  217;  am 10/11/2017,  Register  224;  am 8/1 1/2018,  Register  227)

3 AAC  306.755.  Business  records

(a) A  marijuana  establishment  shall  maintain  in a format  that  is readily  understood  by  a

reasonably  prudent  business  person

(l)  all  books  and  records  necessary  to fully  account  for  each business  transaction

conducted  under  its license  for  the  current  year  and  three  preceding  calendar  years;  records  for

the  last  six  months  must  be maintained  on  the  marijuana  establishment's  licensed  premises;  older

records  may  be archived  on or off  premises;

(2)  a current  employee  list  setting  out  the full  name  and  marijuana  handler  permit

number  of  each  licensee,  employee,  and  agent  who  works  at the  marijuana  establishment;

(3)  the  business  contact  information  for  vendors  that  maintain  video  surveillance

systems  and  security  alarm  systems  for  the  licensed  premises;

(4)  records  related  to advertising  and  marketing;

(5)  a current  diagram  of  the  licensed  premises  including  each  restricted  access

area;

(6)  a log  recording  the  name,  and  date  and  time  of  entry  of  each  visitor  permitted

in a restricted  access  area;

(7)  all  records  normally  retained  for  tax  purposes;

(8)  accurate  and  comprehensive  inventory  tracking  records  that  account  for  all

marijuana  inventory  activity  from  seed  or immature  plant  stage  until  the  retail  marijuana  or  retail

marijuana  product  is sold  to a consumer,  to another  marijuana  establishment,  or destroyed;  and

(9)  transportation  records  for  marijuana  and  marijuana  products  as required  under

3 AAC  306.750(f).

(b)  A  marijuana  establishment  shall  provide  any  record  required  to be kept  on the

licensed  premises  to an employee  of  the  board  upon  request.  Any  record  kept  off  premises  must

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIAI,COPY  87

Page 19 of 307



be provided  to the  board's  employees  not  later  than  three  business  days  after  a request  for  the

record.

(c)  A  marijuana  establishment  shall  exercise  due diligence  in preserving  and  maintaining

all  required  records.  Loss  of  records  and  data,  including  electronically  maintained  records,  does

not  excuse  a violation  of  this  section.  The  board  may  determine  a failure  to retain  records

requiredunderthissectiontobealicenseviolationaffectingpublicsafety.  (Eff.2/21/2016,

Register  217)

3 AAC  306.760.  Trade  Shows

(a) Licensed  marijuana  establishments  must  comply  with  this  section  when  participating

in trade  shows  and  similar  industry  events.

(b)  A  licensed  cultivation  facility  may  bring  one plant  to the  trade  show  or event  for

display.  The  removal  from  and  return  of  the plant  to the licensed  premises  must  be tracked  in  the

inventory  tracking  system.  Any  marijuana  removed  from  the plant  at the event  must  be retained

by  the  licensee  and  returned  to the  licensed  premises.

(c)  A  licensed  cultivation  facility  and  a licensed  retail  facility  may  bring  up to one ounce

of  marijuana  to the  trade  show  or event  for  display.  The  removal  from  and  return  of  the

marijuana  to the licensed  premises  must  be tracked  in the  marijuana  inventory  tracking  system.

The  marijuana  shall  be contained  so that  the  marijuana  may  not  be removed  from  the display's

immediate  vicinity  by  a member  of  the  public.

(d)  A  licensed  product  manufacturing  facility  and  a licensed  retail  facility  may  bring  one

sample  package  of  each  marijuana  product  made  or sold  by  the  facility  to the  event  for  display.

The  removal  from  and  return  of  the  marijuana  product  to the  licensed  premises  must  be tracked

in the  marijuana  inventory  tracking  system.  The  marijuana  product  must  remain  packaged  in  the

approved  packaging  throughout  the  duration  of  the event.

(e) A  licensed  testing  facility  may  not  perform  required  tests  on samples  from  a licensed

facility  at any  trade  show  or  similar  event.

(f)  No  marijuana  or  marijuana  product  may  be sold  or distributed  by  a licensee  at the

event.

(g)  Marijuana  and  marijuana  product  displayed  at an event  by  a licensee  must  be handled

only  by  a licensee,  or employee  or  agent  of  a licensee,  who  holds  a valid  marijuana  handler

permit.

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIALCOPY  88

Page 20 of 307



(h)  Advertising  or  promotions  displayed  or distributed  at the event  by  a licensee  shall

complywiththerequirementsofthischapter.  (Eff.8/11/2018,Register227)

3 AAC  306.770.  Signs,  merchandise,  advertisements,  and  promotions

(a) Business  cards  and  merchandise,  including  t-shirts,  hats,  and  stickers,  that  are

distributed  by  a licensed  marijuana  establishtnent  and  contain  only  the business  name  and  logo,

license  name,  and  location  and  contact  information,  are not  advertising  or  promotions.

(b)  A  licensed  marijuana  establishment  may  have  not  more  than  three  signs  that  are

visible  to the  general  public  from  the  public  right-of-way.  Two  of  the  three  signs  may  only  be

placed  in the  marijuana  facility's  window  or attached  to the outside  of  the  licensed  premises.  The

size  of  each  sign  may  not  exceed  4,800  square  inches.  A  sign  meeting  these  requirements  is not

advertising  or  promotions.

(c)  An  advertisement  for  a licensed  marijuana  establishment  and  for  marijuana  or a

marijuana  product  must  include  the  business  name  and license  number.

(d)  An  advertisement  for  a licensed  marijuana  establishment  is exempt  from  providing

the  warning  statement  in (g)  of  this  section  if

(l)  the advertisement  contains  only  the  business  name,  logo,  business  type,

contact  information,  location,  and  hours  of  operation;  and

(2)  the  advertisement  does  not  contain  any  written  information  about  marijuana  or

a marijuana  product  or  any  photographic  or illustrative  depictions  of  marijuana  or a marijuana

product,  other  than  depictions  contained  within  the established  business  name  font  and  logo.

(e) A  logo  or an advertisement  for  a licensed  marijuana  establishment  and  for  marijuana

or a marijuana  product  may  not  contain  a statement  or  illustration  that

(1)  is false  or misleading;

(2)  promotes  excessive  consumption;

(3)  represents  that  the  use of  marijuana  has curative  or  therapeutic  effects;

(4)  depicts  a person  under  21 years  of  age consuming  marijuana;  or

(5)  includes  any  object  or  character,  including  a toy,  a cartoon  character,  or  any

other  depiction  that  appeals  to a person  under  21 years  of  age.

(f)  An  advertisement  for  a licensed  marijuana  establishment  and  for  marijuana  or a

marijuana  product  may  not  be placed

(1)  within  1,000  feet  of  the  perimeter  of  any  child-centered  facility,  including  a

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIAI,COPY  89

Page 21 of 307



school,  a child  care  facility  or  other  facility  providing  services  to children,  a playground  or

recreation  center,  a public  park,  a library,  or  a game  arcade  that  is open  to persons  under  21 years

of  age, except  when  included  in an established  publication  intended  for  general  readership;

(2)  on or in a public  transit  vehicle  or  public  transit  shelter;

(3)  on or in a publicly  owned  or operated  property;

(4)  within  1,000  feet  of  a substance  abuse  or treatment  facility;  or

(5)  on a campus  for  postsecondary  education.

(g)  An  advertisement  for  marijuana  or any  marijuana  product  must  contain  each  of  the

following  warnings,  that  must  be plainly  visible  and  at least  half  the  font  size  of  an advertisement

on a sign,  and  no smaller  than  size  nine  font  when  the advertisement  is in  printed  form;  warnings

in audio  advertisements  must  be intelligible  and  played  at the same  speed  as the advertisement;

(1)  "Marijuana  has intoxicating  effects  and  may  be habit  forming  and  addictive.";

(2)  "Marijuana  impairs  concentration,  coordination,  and  judgment.  Do  not  operate

a vehicle  or  machinery  under  its influence.";

(3)  "There  are health  risks  associated  with  consumption  of  marijuana."';

(4)  "For  use only  by  adults  twenty-one  and  older.  Keep  out  of  the reach  of

children.";

(5)  "Marijuana  should  not  be used  by  women  who  are pregnant  or  breast  feeding."

(h)  A  licensed  marijuana  establishment  that  advertises  by  means  of  a web  page  must

utilize  appropriate  measures  to ensure  that  individuals  visiting  the  web  page  are 21 years  of  age

or older.

(i)  A  licensed  marijuana  establishment  may  not  engage  in advertising  by  means  of

marketing  directed  towards  location-based  devices,  including  cellular  phones,  unless  the

marketing  is a mobile  device  application  installed  on the  device  by  the  owner  of  the  device  who

is 21 years  of  age or older  and  the  application  includes  a permanent  and easy  opt-out  feature.

(j)  As  long  as no more  than  30 percent  of  the event's  participants  and  audience  is

reasonably  expected  to be under  21 years  of  age, a licensed  marijuana  establishment  may

sponsor

(1)  an industry  trade  show;

(2)  a charitable  event;

(3)  a sports  event  or  competition;

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIAl,COPY  90

Page 22 of 307



(4)  a concert;  or

(5)  any  other  even  approved  in advance  by  the  board.

(k)  A  licensed  marijuana  establishment  may  not  encourage  the  sale of  marijuana  or a

marijuana  product

(1)  by  using  giveaway  coupons  for  marijuana  or a marijuana  product  as

promotional  materials;

(2)  by  conducting  games  or competitions  related  to the  consumption  of  marijuana

or a marijuana  product;

(3)  by  providing  promotional  materials  or  activities  of  a manner  or type  that

would  be especially  appealing  to children;  or

(4)  by  holding  promotional  activities  outside  of  the  licensed  premises.  (Eff.

10/17/2018,  Register  228)

UPDATED:10/18/2020-NOTANOFFICIAJ,COPY  91

Page 23 of 307



 PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA    

SPECIAL MEETING 
 THURSDAY, MARCH 4, 2021 
 6:00 P.M. - COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER: 
The Special Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission was called to order by Chair Peterson at 
6:00 p.m.   
 
B. ROLL CALL: 
Constituting a quorum, present in person were Commissioners: 
 Casey Peterson, Chair 
 Josh Tudor, Vice Chair (late arrival at 6:53 pm) 
 Linda Combs 
 Lisbeth Jackson 
Present via Zoom video/teleconference were Commissioners: 
 Kristy Thom Bernier 
 Pamela Melin 
 Sabrina Shelton (late arrival at 6:59 pm)   
Also present were: 

Brad Hanson, Community Development Director 
Nichole Degner, Community Development Specialist 
Pam Whitehead, Recording Secretary (via teleconference) 

 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  The Pledge was performed. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
The agenda was unanimously approved, as amended, by roll call vote, revising the order of business for 
this and all future meetings, moving item L Staff Report to item F to be known as F Reports, followed by 
G Audience Participation, H Public Hearings, I Unfinished Business, J New Business, K Plat Reviews, L 
Public Comments, M Commissioner Comments, and N Adjournment.  There were no objections.     
[Thom-Bernier, Melin, Jackson, Combs, Peterson (Tudor, Shelton not yet present)] 
 
E. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING: 
The minutes of the January 21, 2021 Regular Meeting and minutes of the February 18, 2021 
Postponement to March 4, 2021 were unanimously approved as presented. 
[Thom-Bernier, Melin, Jackson, Combs, Peterson (Tudor, Shelton not yet present)] 
 
F. REPORTS: 
Director Hanson: 
• Reported that the City Council adopted the Central Business District and all amendments to the 

Commercial District. 
 
G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION: 
Noel Kopperud, Palmer resident/property owner, submitted comments via email Memorandum dated 
March 3, 2021, expressing concerns on the proposed Green Acres Subdivision Master Plan (Case #2021-
006), primarily relating to water surface drainage.   
(Ms. Degner read Mr. Kopperud’s email in its entirety into the record.) 

Page 24 of 307



 
H. PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 
1. IM 21-001:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.32 to allow retail marijuana as a 

permitted use and amend 17.36 and 17.57 to allow marijuana cultivation, testing and manufacturing 
as a permitted use. 

 
Staff Report:  Director Hanson summarized the current status of the proposed text amendment.  Under 
review are Ordinance No. 21-0XX Enacting standards for marijuana businesses, Draft CC Ordinance No. 
21-0XX, and Chapter 7 of 3 AAC 306 Regulations for the Marijuana Control Board.  The recommendation 
for adoption to the City Council is one of the necessary steps to implementing the ballot proposition; 
other considerations are taxation and licensing or permitting requirements.  The Commission is to review 
and if approved, move forward to the City Council recommending adoption. 
 
Public Hearing:  
Chair Peterson opened the hearing for public testimony. 
 
Stephanie Allen, Palmer resident, via email, submitted testimony regarding IM 21-001, noting agreement 
with prohibition of on-site consumption, raising concerns about cancer-causing substances and toxins in 
second-hand marijuana smoke, and asked the Commission to consider revising the buffer zones for all 
marijuana businesses to 1000 feet. 
(Ms. Degner read Ms. Allen’s email in its entirety into the record.) 
 
There being no others to testify, the public hearing was closed and the matter brought back before the 
Commission. 
  
Chair Peterson called for a motion to put the matter on the table for discussion: 

Main Motion:   For adoption of IM 21-001, amending PMC 17.32 to allow retail 
marijuana as a permitted use and amending 17.36 and 17.57 to allow 
marijuana cultivation, testing and manufacturing.  

Moved by: Jackson 
Seconded by: Melin 

 
Commission discussion topics: 
• Whether to allow in the Central Business District; 
• Director Hanson responded to Commissioner questions providing clarification on some of the issues 

and definitions; 
 

Primary Amendment: To amend the Ordinance to allow marijuana retail 
establishments within the Central Business District (CBD). 

Moved by: Melin 
Seconded by: Jackson 

 
[Commissioner Tudor joined the meeting at 6:53 p.m.] 
 
Discussion on the amendment: 
• Commissioner Combs spoke to concerns relayed to her by many of the business owners located 

within the Central Business District, noting they appreciate the CBD for many reasons, but they are 

Page 25 of 307



not in favor of retail marijuana establishments within the CBD. 
• Commissioner Melin also had concerns about allowing retail marijuana within the CBD; that it would 

be better received if it were in the Commercial District. 
• Commissioner Jackson spoke to the will of the people when they voted to allow marijuana shops in 

downtown Palmer where other retail shops are located. 
• Chair Peterson noted he feels strongly in agreement with Commissioner Jackson, comparing it to 

bars being allowed downtown; that when the people voted, they weren’t considering sections of 
Palmer to be excluded. 

• Commissioner Tudor spoke in agreement to allow downtown as well as the CBD. 
 
[Commissioner Shelton joined the meeting at 6:59 p.m.] 
 
Director Hanson suggested an additional amendment to incorporate 17.28 Commercial Land Use Matrix,  
explaining that at the time this ordinance was written, the Council had not yet passed the Land Use 
Matrix; it has since passed and should now be incorporated into Section 8 of this ordinance. 
 

Amendment to  Primary 
Amendment: 

To also incorporate into Section 8, marijuana retail into 17.28, 
Commercial Land Use Matrix.  

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Shelton 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 

Discussion continued: 
• Commissioner Shelton, although personally would want to limit it to outside the CBD, she will defer 

to the wishes of the community as a whole because of the majority vote to allow retail marijuana 
within the City. 

• Commissioner Thom Bernier reported that quite a few businesses reached out to her recently with 
concerns about marijuana retail businesses on our main street; noted she appreciated Stephanie 
Allen’s comments requesting alternate locations for the retail establishments and expanding the 
buffer to 1000 feet; spoke in appreciation of the concerns of the local downtown long-time Palmer 
business owners and she shares those concerns, that Industrial or other areas would be better 
suited; also spoke raising concerns about marijuana signage. 

  
Vote on Amendment as Amended (to allow within the CBD): 

  
Moved by: [Melin] 

Seconded by: [Jackson] 
Vote: 4 Yes (Peterson, Jackson, Shelton, Tudor) 

3 No (Combs, Melin, Thom Bernier) 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 

 
Vote on Main Motion for Adoption of IM 21-001, As Amended: 

  
Moved by: [Jackson] 

Seconded by: [Melin] 
Vote: 4 Yes (Peterson, Jackson, Shelton, Tudor) 

3 No (Combs, Melin, Thom Bernier) 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 

Page 26 of 307



 
I. UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  None. 
 
J. NEW BUSINESS:   None. 
 
K. PLAT REVIEWS:   
 
1. IM 21-007: Pre-application request to create 35 lots by a three-phase master plan from Tax Parcel 

C30 to be known as Green Acres Master Plan. 
 

Staff Report:  Director Hanson reported comments were due to the Borough on February 11, 2021; that 
staff comments have already been submitted, which included: 

• Subdivision Agreement has to be reached between the City and the Petitioner prior to any 
construction; 

• There were also some drainage issues that were cited by Public Works. 
 
Commissioner Comments: 
• Commissioner Melin, who lives on Felton, commented the neighborhood has a number of concerns 

including depreciation of home values, the volume of traffic and speeds on Felton. 
• Commissioner Tudor added he also has heard a lot of negative feedback in the neighborhood against 

this subdivision expansion primarily because of the lot sizes. 
• Commissioner Melin read an email received from Noel Kopperud addressed to the Members of the 

Palmer Planning & Zoning Commission, dated March 3, 2021, expressing concerns regarding the 
Proposed Green Acres Subdivision Master Plan in its entirety, concerning potential overflow of water 
drainage onto his property. 

• Commissioner Jackson commented on how small the lots were compared to the surrounding areas 
but it should be approved if meets what is legal. 

• Director Hanson explained it is the Borough that has the Platting Authority; that the Commission only 
reviews and submits comments, that the Subdivision Agreement addressing the issues is the next 
step; 

• Commissioner Combs further explained the process addressing some of the issues. 
• Commissioner Tudor confirmed he heard the Borough approved the platting this morning. 
 
2. IM 21-008:  Pre-application request to create 83 lots and two open space tracts by a five-phase 

Master Plan, from Tract J, Cedar Hills Unit #2, Phase 1, Plat No. 2000-66 and Tracts 1, 2, & 3, Cedar 
Hill Unit #2, Phase 1, Plat No. 2017-15, to be known as Cedar Park Master Plan, containing 
approximately 90.2 acres. 

 
Chair Peterson suspended formal rules to allow public comment.  There were no objections. 
 
Connie Yoshimura, owner of Cedar Hills Subdivision, addressed the Commission to provide additional 
information regarding the Proposed 83 Large Lot Subdivision with variances.  She has been a residential 
land developer for over 30 years in Anchorage and has been an investor in Cedar Hills Subdivision for 
over 20 years and is currently the sole owner of Cedar Park, LLC consisting of 89 acres plus an R-2 tract 
of approximately 10 acres.  Ms. Yoshimura described the details of the proposed Cedar Park 
development including the variances requested and provided a spiral booklet to the Commission 
containing the content of her presentation.  Gary LoRusso, assisted in the presentation.  
 
Staff Report:  Director Hanson complimented the presenters on the fantastic job describing the 

Page 27 of 307



development and reported the current status of the process with respect to the City.  The Subdivision 
Agreement along with the variance requests will be going before the City Council. 
 
Commission Comments: 
• Commissioners Jackson and Melin spoke in appreciation of the presentation; 
• The presenters responded to questions regarding well and septic and timeline. 
 
L. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  None. 
 
M. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS: 
 
Commissioner Melin: 
• Spoke on the topic of public comments encouraging that they be made to the Commission as a 

whole as opposed to through individual commissioners.  She was hoping to hear more public input 
tonight on the issues, that perhaps there might be a better way to promote public comment.    

  
Commissioner Tudor: 
• Apologized for being late tonight. 
 
N. ADJOURNMENT: 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned without objection at 8:09 p.m. 
 
APPROVED by the Planning and Zoning Commission this ____ day of April, 2021. 
 
 
       _________________________________________ 
       Casey Peterson, Chair 
 
_______________________________________ 
Brad Hanson, Community Development Director 
 

Page 28 of 307



 
City of Palmer  

Ordinance No. 21-004 
 
Subject:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code to Add Retail Marijuana Establishments as a Permitted Use in Chapters 
17.08 Definitions, 17.30 Central Business District, and 17.32 Commercial General and Adding Marijuana 
Cultivation, Testing and Manufacturing Facilities Establishments as a Permitted Use in Chapters 17.36 Industrial 
and 17.57 Agricultural 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 - Introduction 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Brad Hanson, Director Community Development 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
√  Community Development 

 

 March 5, 2021 
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 29 of 307



 
Attachment(s): 

1. Ordinance No. 21-004 
2. Planning and Zoning Commission Minutes of March 4, 2021 Special Meeting (Draft Copy) 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
On October 6, 2020 City of Palmer voters passed Referendum Ordinance No. 20-004 Repealing Palmer Municipal 
Code (PMC)  Chapter 5.32 Marijuana Businesses, Prohibiting the Operation of Marijuana Cultivation 
Facilities, Marijuana Manufacturing Facilities, Marijuana Testing Facilities, and Retail Marijuana Stores 
Pursuant to AS 17.38.110 Local Control, but Not Restricting Industrial Hemp as Defined Herein.  
 
Ordinance 21-004 adds definitions to PMC Title 17 of the four licensed marijuana establishment types and 
distinguishes which State of Alaska licensed marijuana establishment business type may operate within 
different zoning districts in the City of Palmer as a permitted use; all other districts they are a prohibited 
use. Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed and considered the licensing type as defined 
by the State of Alaska Marijuana Control Board.  Additionally, the Planning and Zoning Commission 
reviewed the intent of each City of Palmer zoning district to determine the most appropriate districts to 
enact the citizen-initiated Referendum Ordinance No. 20-004.  
 
The State of Alaska authorizes any community allowing the operation of marijuana establishments to exercise 
local control of the issuance of licenses and operational standards.  The City of Palmer in PMC Title 5 establishes 
additional standards for operation of marijuana establishments and licensing review requirements.  These 
additional code requirements will supplement State of Alaska requirements to protect the public peace, health, 
safety, and welfare of the general public. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 21-004 Amending Palmer Municipal Code to add marijuana definitions and adding marijuana 
retail, cultivation, manufacturing and testing as permitted use in PMC Chapters 17.30, 17.32, 17.36 and 17.57 

Page 30 of 307



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

 
Ordinance No. 21-004 

 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending Palmer Municipal Code to Add Retail Marijuana 
Establishments as a Permitted Use in Chapters 17.08 Definitions, 17.30 Central Business District, 
and 17.32 Commercial General and Adding Marijuana Cultivation, Testing and Manufacturing 
Facilities Establishments as a Permitted Use in Chapters 17.36 Industrial and 17.57 Agricultural 
 

WHEREAS, Palmer voters by referendum repealed Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 5.32 prohibiting the 
operation of marijuana cultivation facilities, marijuana manufacturing facilities, Marijuana testing facilities and 
retail marijuana stores pursuant to AS 17.38.110 local control; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission (P&Z) proposes and recommends text amendments as 

necessary to Title 17, Zoning to ensure that the regulations and standards are applicable to the current needs 
of the community; and 

 
WHEREAS, the P&Z has discussed the various types of licenses and their impacts based on scale and 

scope of their compatibility with City of Palmer zoning districts; and  
 
WHEREAS, at the March 4, 2021 special meeting, P&Z recommended the City Council adopt the proposed 

land use regulations for marijuana businesses. 
 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 
 
 Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  
 
 Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 
 

Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.08 Definitions is hereby amended as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.08.291  Marijuana cultivation facility 
Means an entity registered to cultivate, prepare, and package marijuana and to sell marijuana to retail marijuana 
stores, to marijuana product manufacturing facilities, and to other marijuana cultivation facilities, but not to 
consumers. 
 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: April 13, 2021 
Public Hearing:  

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 31 of 307



Section 4. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.08 Definitions is hereby amended to read as follows (new 
language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.08.292 Marijuana manufacturing facility 
Means an entity registered to purchase marijuana; manufacture, prepare, and package marijuana products; and 
sell marijuana and marijuana products to other marijuana product manufacturing facilities and to retail marijuana 
stores, but not to consumers. 

Section 5. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.08 Definitions is hereby amended to read as follows (new 
language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.08.293 Marijuana retail store 
Means an entity registered to purchase marijuana from marijuana cultivation facilities, to purchase marijuana 
and marijuana products from marijuana product manufacturing facilities, and to sell marijuana and marijuana 
products to consumers. 
 

Section 6. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.08 Definitions is hereby amended to read as follows (new 
language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.08.294 Marijuana testing facility 
Means an entity registered to analyze and certify the safety and potency of marijuana. 
 

Section 7. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.08 Definitions is hereby amended to read as follows (new 
language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.08.397 School 
Means a public or private educational institution, not including preschool. Means an educational institution 
providing primary and secondary structured teaching where students attend regularly, including all structures 
and land involved in the accomplishment of educational purposes. 
  

Page 32 of 307



 
Section 8. Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.28.020 Definitions is hereby amended to read as follows 

(new language is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
17.28.020 Commercial land uses 
 

City of Palmer 
Commercial Land Use Matrix 

Commercial - Retail CBD 
Overlay C-L C-G BP I P A 

Marijuana – retail P  P         
Marijuana – cultivation      P  P 
Marijuana – product manufacturing     P  P 
Marijuana – testing facility      P  P 

 
Section 9. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 21-004 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 

City Council. 
 
Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2021.  
 
 
 
 

________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Page 33 of 307



 PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA    

SPECIAL MEETING 
 THURSDAY, MARCH 4, 2021 
 6:00 P.M. - COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER: 
The Special Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission was called to order by Chair Peterson at 
6:00 p.m.   
 
B. ROLL CALL: 
Constituting a quorum, present in person were Commissioners: 
 Casey Peterson, Chair 
 Josh Tudor, Vice Chair (late arrival at 6:53 pm) 
 Linda Combs 
 Lisbeth Jackson 
Present via Zoom video/teleconference were Commissioners: 
 Kristy Thom Bernier 
 Pamela Melin 
 Sabrina Shelton (late arrival at 6:59 pm)   
Also present were: 

Brad Hanson, Community Development Director 
Nichole Degner, Community Development Specialist 
Pam Whitehead, Recording Secretary (via teleconference) 

 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  The Pledge was performed. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
The agenda was unanimously approved, as amended, by roll call vote, revising the order of business for 
this and all future meetings, moving item L Staff Report to item F to be known as F Reports, followed by 
G Audience Participation, H Public Hearings, I Unfinished Business, J New Business, K Plat Reviews, L 
Public Comments, M Commissioner Comments, and N Adjournment.  There were no objections.     
[Thom-Bernier, Melin, Jackson, Combs, Peterson (Tudor, Shelton not yet present)] 
 
E. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING: 
The minutes of the January 21, 2021 Regular Meeting and minutes of the February 18, 2021 
Postponement to March 4, 2021 were unanimously approved as presented. 
[Thom-Bernier, Melin, Jackson, Combs, Peterson (Tudor, Shelton not yet present)] 
 
F. REPORTS: 
Director Hanson: 
• Reported that the City Council adopted the Central Business District and all amendments to the 

Commercial District. 
 
G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION: 
Noel Kopperud, Palmer resident/property owner, submitted comments via email Memorandum dated 
March 3, 2021, expressing concerns on the proposed Green Acres Subdivision Master Plan (Case #2021-
006), primarily relating to water surface drainage.   
(Ms. Degner read Mr. Kopperud’s email in its entirety into the record.) 

Page 34 of 307



 
H. PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 
1. IM 21-001:  Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 17.32 to allow retail marijuana as a 

permitted use and amend 17.36 and 17.57 to allow marijuana cultivation, testing and manufacturing 
as a permitted use. 

 
Staff Report:  Director Hanson summarized the current status of the proposed text amendment.  Under 
review are Ordinance No. 21-0XX Enacting standards for marijuana businesses, Draft CC Ordinance No. 
21-0XX, and Chapter 7 of 3 AAC 306 Regulations for the Marijuana Control Board.  The recommendation 
for adoption to the City Council is one of the necessary steps to implementing the ballot proposition; 
other considerations are taxation and licensing or permitting requirements.  The Commission is to review 
and if approved, move forward to the City Council recommending adoption. 
 
Public Hearing:  
Chair Peterson opened the hearing for public testimony. 
 
Stephanie Allen, Palmer resident, via email, submitted testimony regarding IM 21-001, noting agreement 
with prohibition of on-site consumption, raising concerns about cancer-causing substances and toxins in 
second-hand marijuana smoke, and asked the Commission to consider revising the buffer zones for all 
marijuana businesses to 1000 feet. 
(Ms. Degner read Ms. Allen’s email in its entirety into the record.) 
 
There being no others to testify, the public hearing was closed and the matter brought back before the 
Commission. 
  
Chair Peterson called for a motion to put the matter on the table for discussion: 

Main Motion:   For adoption of IM 21-001, amending PMC 17.32 to allow retail 
marijuana as a permitted use and amending 17.36 and 17.57 to allow 
marijuana cultivation, testing and manufacturing.  

Moved by: Jackson 
Seconded by: Melin 

 
Commission discussion topics: 
• Whether to allow in the Central Business District; 
• Director Hanson responded to Commissioner questions providing clarification on some of the issues 

and definitions; 
 

Primary Amendment: To amend the Ordinance to allow marijuana retail 
establishments within the Central Business District (CBD). 

Moved by: Melin 
Seconded by: Jackson 

 
[Commissioner Tudor joined the meeting at 6:53 p.m.] 
 
Discussion on the amendment: 
• Commissioner Combs spoke to concerns relayed to her by many of the business owners located 

within the Central Business District, noting they appreciate the CBD for many reasons, but they are 

Page 35 of 307



not in favor of retail marijuana establishments within the CBD. 
• Commissioner Melin also had concerns about allowing retail marijuana within the CBD; that it would 

be better received if it were in the Commercial District. 
• Commissioner Jackson spoke to the will of the people when they voted to allow marijuana shops in 

downtown Palmer where other retail shops are located. 
• Chair Peterson noted he feels strongly in agreement with Commissioner Jackson, comparing it to 

bars being allowed downtown; that when the people voted, they weren’t considering sections of 
Palmer to be excluded. 

• Commissioner Tudor spoke in agreement to allow downtown as well as the CBD. 
 
[Commissioner Shelton joined the meeting at 6:59 p.m.] 
 
Director Hanson suggested an additional amendment to incorporate 17.28 Commercial Land Use Matrix,  
explaining that at the time this ordinance was written, the Council had not yet passed the Land Use 
Matrix; it has since passed and should now be incorporated into Section 8 of this ordinance. 
 

Amendment to  Primary 
Amendment: 

To also incorporate into Section 8, marijuana retail into 17.28, 
Commercial Land Use Matrix.  

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Shelton 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 

Discussion continued: 
• Commissioner Shelton, although personally would want to limit it to outside the CBD, she will defer 

to the wishes of the community as a whole because of the majority vote to allow retail marijuana 
within the City. 

• Commissioner Thom Bernier reported that quite a few businesses reached out to her recently with 
concerns about marijuana retail businesses on our main street; noted she appreciated Stephanie 
Allen’s comments requesting alternate locations for the retail establishments and expanding the 
buffer to 1000 feet; spoke in appreciation of the concerns of the local downtown long-time Palmer 
business owners and she shares those concerns, that Industrial or other areas would be better 
suited; also spoke raising concerns about marijuana signage. 

  
Vote on Amendment as Amended (to allow within the CBD): 

  
Moved by: [Melin] 

Seconded by: [Jackson] 
Vote: 4 Yes (Peterson, Jackson, Shelton, Tudor) 

3 No (Combs, Melin, Thom Bernier) 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 

 
Vote on Main Motion for Adoption of IM 21-001, As Amended: 

  
Moved by: [Jackson] 

Seconded by: [Melin] 
Vote: 4 Yes (Peterson, Jackson, Shelton, Tudor) 

3 No (Combs, Melin, Thom Bernier) 
Action: Motion Carried by roll call vote. 

Page 36 of 307



 
I. UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  None. 
 
J. NEW BUSINESS:   None. 
 
K. PLAT REVIEWS:   
 
1. IM 21-007: Pre-application request to create 35 lots by a three-phase master plan from Tax Parcel 

C30 to be known as Green Acres Master Plan. 
 

Staff Report:  Director Hanson reported comments were due to the Borough on February 11, 2021; that 
staff comments have already been submitted, which included: 

• Subdivision Agreement has to be reached between the City and the Petitioner prior to any 
construction; 

• There were also some drainage issues that were cited by Public Works. 
 
Commissioner Comments: 
• Commissioner Melin, who lives on Felton, commented the neighborhood has a number of concerns 

including depreciation of home values, the volume of traffic and speeds on Felton. 
• Commissioner Tudor added he also has heard a lot of negative feedback in the neighborhood against 

this subdivision expansion primarily because of the lot sizes. 
• Commissioner Melin read an email received from Noel Kopperud addressed to the Members of the 

Palmer Planning & Zoning Commission, dated March 3, 2021, expressing concerns regarding the 
Proposed Green Acres Subdivision Master Plan in its entirety, concerning potential overflow of water 
drainage onto his property. 

• Commissioner Jackson commented on how small the lots were compared to the surrounding areas 
but it should be approved if meets what is legal. 

• Director Hanson explained it is the Borough that has the Platting Authority; that the Commission only 
reviews and submits comments, that the Subdivision Agreement addressing the issues is the next 
step; 

• Commissioner Combs further explained the process addressing some of the issues. 
• Commissioner Tudor confirmed he heard the Borough approved the platting this morning. 
 
2. IM 21-008:  Pre-application request to create 83 lots and two open space tracts by a five-phase 

Master Plan, from Tract J, Cedar Hills Unit #2, Phase 1, Plat No. 2000-66 and Tracts 1, 2, & 3, Cedar 
Hill Unit #2, Phase 1, Plat No. 2017-15, to be known as Cedar Park Master Plan, containing 
approximately 90.2 acres. 

 
Chair Peterson suspended formal rules to allow public comment.  There were no objections. 
 
Connie Yoshimura, owner of Cedar Hills Subdivision, addressed the Commission to provide additional 
information regarding the Proposed 83 Large Lot Subdivision with variances.  She has been a residential 
land developer for over 30 years in Anchorage and has been an investor in Cedar Hills Subdivision for 
over 20 years and is currently the sole owner of Cedar Park, LLC consisting of 89 acres plus an R-2 tract 
of approximately 10 acres.  Ms. Yoshimura described the details of the proposed Cedar Park 
development including the variances requested and provided a spiral booklet to the Commission 
containing the content of her presentation.  Gary LoRusso, assisted in the presentation.  
 
Staff Report:  Director Hanson complimented the presenters on the fantastic job describing the 

Page 37 of 307



development and reported the current status of the process with respect to the City.  The Subdivision 
Agreement along with the variance requests will be going before the City Council. 
 
Commission Comments: 
• Commissioners Jackson and Melin spoke in appreciation of the presentation; 
• The presenters responded to questions regarding well and septic and timeline. 
 
L. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  None. 
 
M. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS: 
 
Commissioner Melin: 
• Spoke on the topic of public comments encouraging that they be made to the Commission as a 

whole as opposed to through individual commissioners.  She was hoping to hear more public input 
tonight on the issues, that perhaps there might be a better way to promote public comment.    

  
Commissioner Tudor: 
• Apologized for being late tonight. 
 
N. ADJOURNMENT: 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned without objection at 8:09 p.m. 
 
APPROVED by the Planning and Zoning Commission this ____ day of April, 2021. 
 
 
       _________________________________________ 
       Casey Peterson, Chair 
 
_______________________________________ 
Brad Hanson, Community Development Director 
 

Page 38 of 307



City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 21-012 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the Palmer City Manager to Accept the Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant Funds Awarded by 
the State of Alaska, Department of Natural Resources, Division of Forestry and Appropriate the Funds to the City 
of Palmer Fire & Rescue in the Amount of $4,875.00 to Purchase Wildland Fire Suppression Equipment and Gear 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Chad Cameron, Fire Chief 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    

√  Finance  

 03/25/2021 
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 4,875.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
√ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 4,875.00 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
√ Not budgeted  01-13-10-6046 Small Tools and Equipment 

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 39 of 307



Attachment(s): 
1. 2021 Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant Awards Letter 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The State of Alaska, Department of Natural Resources, Division of Forestry annual provides Volunteer Fire 
Assistance (VFA) grants to volunteer fire departments to assist in purchasing wildland fire suppression equipment 
and gear.  The City of Palmer Fire & Rescue submitted a VFA application early this year to assist with purchasing 
some wildland fire hose, backpacks and associated gear.  Palmer Fire & Rescue was notified on March 10, 2021 
that our grant was awarded in the amount of $4,875. 
 
This request is for the Palmer City Council to authorize acceptance of the grant funds and allocate the funds to 
Palmer Fire & Rescue for the purchase of wildland fire suppression equipment and gear. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Resolution No. 21-012 
 
 

Page 40 of 307



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Resolution No. 21-012 
 
A Resolution of the Palmer City Council Authorizing the Palmer City Manager to Accept the 
Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant Funds Awarded by the State of Alaska, Department of Natural 
Resources, Division of Forestry and Appropriate the Funds to the City of Palmer Fire & Rescue in 
the Amount of $4,875.00 to Purchase Wildland Fire Suppression Equipment and Gear 
 

WHEREAS, the city of Palmer Fire & Rescue provides fire protection and response to calls for service for 
the citizens of Palmer; and 

 
WHEREAS, the city of Palmer Fire & Rescue needs wildland fire suppression equipment to provide fire 

suppression services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city of Palmer Fire & Rescue has been awarded $4,875.00 from the State of Alaska, 

Department of Natural Resources, Division of Forestry, Volunteer Fire Assistance Grant for the purchase of 
wildland fire suppression equipment and gear. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Palmer City Council hereby authorizes the city manager to 
accept the Volunteer Fire Assistance grant funds awarded by the State of Alaska, Department of Natural 
resources, Division of Forestry and appropriate the funds to the city of Palmer Fire & Rescue in the amount of 
$4,875.00 to purchase wildland fire suppression equipment and gear. 
 
Approved by the Palmer City Council this ____ day of ___________, 2021. 
 
 
 
 

_________________________ 
 Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
 

 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: April 13, 2021 
Action:  

Vote:  
Yes: No: 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 41 of 307



 
March 10, 2021

Dear Volunteer Fire Department:

Thank you for applying for the 2021 Volunteer Fire Assistance (VFA) grants. Thirty-five (35) volunteer fire

departments applied for a VFA grant requesting a total of $164,044.58 in assistance. Thirty-four (34) of the thirty-

five (35) VFDs will receive some level of funding.  A total of $159,026.50 was awarded. This letter is the official

notification.

The enclosed spreadsheet lists all applicants and amount requested/amount awarded. If a fire department was

awarded a grant, the amount awarded will be listed in the column titled “Amount Awarded”.  Some VFDs will not

receive an award this year and one will receive a partial award. If a VFD did not receive any funding or will be

receiving a partial award, please contact your respective DOF Fire Management Officer with any questions you may

have.

Checks will be distributed electronically by association with the VFD's SOA vendor number and the SOA

electronic payment agreement. Electronic disbursements are expected by May 2021.

•

To be eligible for a 2022 VFA grant, compliance documentation, such as copies of receipts for 2021 grant

expenditures, must be submitted to your nearest Forestry office at the time of, or prior to, submitting a

2022 application.

•

Volunteer Fire Assistance is an award of Federal Financial Assistance with funding from the USDA Forest

Service. Prime and sub recipients to this award are subject to OMB guidance in sub parts A through F of 2

CFR Part 200 as adapted and supplemented by the USDA in 2 CFR Part 400. Adaption by USDS of the OMB

guidance in 2 CFR 400 gives regulatory effect to OMB guidance in 2 CFR 200 where full text may be found.

•

The brochure, Complying with Civil Rights, FS-850, can be found here:

https://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/fseprd526908.pdf.

•

The OMB Circulars are available on the internet at www.ecfr.gov. •

If an application was not fully successful do not be discouraged and continue to apply every year by submitting a

complete online application package by the deadline.

Sincerely,

Sarah Saarloos, Fire Staff Officer

Page 42 of 307

https://www.fs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/fseprd526908.pdf
http://www.ecfr.gov


2021 VFA Grant Awards

Fire Department Amount
Requested

Amount
Awarded

Division of Forestry Office

Delta Junction VFD $4,990.25 $4,972.27 Delta Area Office
Rural Deltana VFD $4,972.50 $4,972.50 Delta Area Office
Chena-Goldstream Fire & Rescue $5,000.00 $5,000.00 Fairbanks Area Office
City of Anderson $4,998.63 $4,998.63 Fairbanks Area Office
McKinley VFD $4,961.02 $4,961.02 Fairbanks Area Office
Steese Area VFD $4,500.00 $4,500.00 Fairbanks Area Office
Tri-Valley VFD $5,000.00 $5,000.00 Fairbanks Area Office
Anchor Point Fire & Emergency
Medical Service Area

$4,998.42 $4,998.42 Kenai Kodiak Area Office

Cooper Landing VFD $4,449.10 $4,449.10 Kenai Kodiak Area Office
Fire Protection Area No. 1 (Bayside
Fire Station)

$4,500.00 $4,500.00 Kenai Kodiak Area Office

Homer VFD $4,998.50 $4,998.50 Kenai Kodiak Area Office
Kachemak Emerg. Services $4,986.01 $4,986.01 Kenai Kodiak Area Office
Kenai FD $4,974.92 $4,974.92 Kenai Kodiak Area Office
Lowell Point VFD $4,995.00 $4,995.00 Kenai Kodiak Area Office
Nikiski FD $4,626.00 $4,626.00 Kenai Kodiak Area Office
Ninilchik Emergency Services $4,778.80 $4,778.80 Kenai Kodiak Area Office
Seward FD $4,979.00 $4,979.00 Kenai Kodiak Area Office
Womens Bay VFD $4,350.06 $4,350.06 Kenai Kodiak Area Office
Butte FD $4,970.70 $4,970.70 Mat Su Area
Caswell Lakes FSA #135 $4,988.39 $4,988.39 Mat Su Area
Chickaloon Fire Service, Inc. $5,000.00 $0.00 Mat Su Area
Houston FD $4,608.00 $4,608.00 Mat Su Area
Palmer Fire and Rescue $4,875.00 $4,875.00 Mat Su Area
Sutton VFD $3,224.00 $3,224.00 Mat Su Area
Talkeetna VFD $5,000.00 $5,000.00 Mat Su Area
West Lakes FD $4,885.65 $4,885.65 Mat Su Area
Willow VFD $4,973.43 $4,973.43 Mat Su Area
Whale Pass VFD $2,215.45 $2,215.45 Southeast Alaska
Aniak VFD $4,590.00 $4,590.00 Southwest District
Port Alsworth VFD $4,499.00 $4,499.00 Southwest District
Northway VFD $4,625.00 $4,625.00 Tok Area Office
Tok VFD $4,034.71 $4,034.71 Tok Area Office
Gakona VFD $5,000.00 $5,000.00 Valdez-Copper River Area Office
Kennicott/McCarthy VFD $4,997.05 $4,997.05 Valdez-Copper River Area Office
Valdez FD $4,499.99 $4,499.99 Valdez-Copper River Area Office
GRAND TOTAL $164,044.58 $159,026.60

Page 43 of 307



Page 44 of 307



City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 21-013 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Accept and Appropriate the 2021 State of Alaska DUI High Visibility 
Enforcement Grant 405d M5HVE-21-01-FA(A)-10 in the Amount of $18,720.00 for DUI High Visibility Enforcement 
Activities 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Dwayne A Shelton, Chief of Police 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
√  Police    3-31-2021 
  Public Works     

 

 

  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 18,720.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
√ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 18,720.00 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s): 52-00-00-3420 Police Services; 52-01-21-6015 Reg Overtime 
√ Not budgeted  52-01-21-6012 Reg Benefits; 52-01-21-6035 Fuel 

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 45 of 307



Attachment(s): 
1. Resolution No. 21-013 
2. Grant Award Documents 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The City of Palmer has applied to the State of Alaska Department of Transportation for grant monies in the amount 
of $18,720.00 to fund high visibility overtime DUI enforcement. That amount includes $17,640.00 for officers to 
conduct additional DUI enforcement during high intensity periods when such crimes are more likely. The 
enforcement is strictly on an overtime basis and will not detract from routine patrol or other duties required of 
the Palmer Police Department. The enforcement is also voluntary on the part of the officers. The additional 
$1080.00 is to cover additional fuel costs incurred by the extra enforcement activity. No matching funds are 
required. The enforcement periods run from 1800 hours on July 3, 2021 through 0600 hours on July 6, 2021 and 
from 1800 hours on August 18, 2021 through 0600 hours on September 6, 2021.   
 
DUI Crimes represent a public safety concern due to increased risk of injury in motor vehicle accidents. The grant 
will allow for extra patrol specifically focused on detecting, investigating, and arresting/charging those motorists 
who violate Alaska DUI laws. The ultimate objective is to reduce the number of Driving Under the Influence 
offenses thus making the roadways safer for motorists and pedestrians. During their enforcement activities, 
officers also encounter and investigate other crimes and violations on their traffic stops. In the past these have 
include driving offenses, drug offenses, as well as simple speeding and other traffic violations. The officers address 
these crimes and violations as they arise, which is also a benefit to public safety.      
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Resolution No. 21-013 
 
 

Page 46 of 307



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Resolution No. 21-013 
 
A Resolution of the Palmer City Council Authorizing the City Manager to Accept and Appropriate 
the 2021 State of Alaska DUI High Visibility Enforcement Grant 405d M5HVE-21-01-FA(A)-10 in 
the Amount of $18,720.00 for DUI High Visibility Enforcement Activities 
            

WHEREAS, Driving Under the Influence (DUI) violations are a public safety concern for the citizens of 
the City of Palmer; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Palmer Police Department is tasked with enforcing state statutes, including DUI statutes 
to increase the safety of the driving public; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Palmer Police Department has been awarded $18,720.00 under the 2021 State of Alaska 
DUI High Visibility Enforcement Grant; and 
 

WHEREAS, the enforcement will be conducted during the time periods of 1800 hours on July 3, 2021 
through 0600 hours on July 6, 2021, and from 1800 hours on August 18, 2021, through 0600 hours on September 
6, 2021. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Palmer City Council authorize the city manager to accept 
and appropriate $18,720.00 from the State of Alaska Department of Transportation to be used for Palmer police 
officers to engage in overtime high visibility DUI enforcement activities during dedicated enforcement periods 
from July 3, 2021 through July 6, 2021, and from August 18, 2021, through September 6, 2021. 
 
 

ORIGINAL SCOPE OF WORK  
 The city proposes to use the funds from the State of Alaska Department of Transportation to fund 
voluntary overtime for Palmer Police Department patrol officers to engage in high visibility enforcement of DUI 
laws.  The enforcement will consist of extra patrol dedicated to detection, investigation, and prosecution of DUI 
violations, which are a public safety concern for the citizens of the City of Palmer.  The enforcement period is 
specifically identified by the state of Alaska in the grant document and coincides with the DUI National 
Enforcement Mobilization. 
 
Approved by the Palmer City Council this ____ day of ___________, 2021. 

 
 
________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

 
_____________________________ 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: April 13, 2021 
Action:  

Vote:  
Yes: No: 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 47 of 307



Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Page 48 of 307



State of Alaska, DOT & PF
 P.O. Box 112500

Juneau, AK 99801-2500
Ph: 907-465-4070
Fx: 907-465-6984

                                         dot.alaska.gov/highwaysafety

  New Setup Reduce Funds

Current Budget 
Totals 

AHSO Increase 
(Decrease)

17,640.00$                  

1,080.00$                    

-$                            

-$                            18,720.00$                  

IRIS Program(AKSAS PJ) IPO2 (RSA/Interagency)
HGRNT00154 405d
IRIS Phase GAE (EN/Non-Interagency) NTP #:
TH405d Full Grant Amount:
Activity Code(Pgm Code) Accounting Template DUNS #:
289P TPJ0001 FAIN #:
Object Code (Account) Task# Vendor #
3112

Signature Date Signature Date

Accepted for the Grantee by:

Signature Date Signature Date

20.616 National Priority Safety Programs

18X92045D0AK
CFDA # and Name

This NTP is cumulative and supersedes all prior NTPs for this Agreement.
Issued for the Contracting Agency per ADOT&PF Policy #01.01.050 
by AHSO Administrator: Tammy Kramer

You may proceed with the activities for the Categories and specific Tasks enumerated above in the Funding Summary.  Any activities 
beyond the written scope and/or any costs above the price estimate in our Agreement require prior AHSO approval and a Project 

Revision.  Actual cost underrun of the Contract Amount for any Category shall not routinely accumulate for other Categories.  AHSO 
reserves the right to retain or reallocate any remaining funds resulting from such cost underruns.  Conditions to this agreement are as 

outlined in the "Agreement Conditions" Section 3 of the application for grant, CONDITIONS ARE A PART OF THE PROJECT 
AGREEMENT AND, AS SUCH, ARE BINDING ON ALL PARTIES TO THE PROJECT AGREEMENT.

1
18,720.00

M5HVE-21-01-FA(A)-10

        Revision of Funds: Please provide explanation of funding change and budget breakdown.                                   

Budgets Approved for this NTP

10/1/20-9/30/21Activities as outlined in the FFY 2021 Grant Application covering the period of:

Explanation of Approved Grant Application & Activity Dates: 

        Enforcement Agreement Law Enforcement Liaison Agreement

Revised Budget Totals

                Increase Funds 

FUNDING SUMMARY

Budget Category

          Closure (Decrease)  

Palmer, Alaska  99645

18,720.00$                              

(300) Contractual Services
(400) Commodities

TOTALS

(500) Equipment

(200) Travel & Per Diem

Action Requested:

Supplemental Agreements: Check all that apply.

FFY2021 High Visibility Enforcement DUI Events

Grants Administrator Name:  Stephanie Hinckle

(100) Personnel Services

AHSO USE ONLY GRANT CODING

Grantee Name and Address: Grant Title/ Short Description:
Palmer Police Department

423 S. Valley Way

Accounting Technician Name: 

17,640.00$                                         

1,080.00$                                           

TOTAL AMOUNT AUTHORIZED TO DATE

New setup of FFY2021 DUI HVE OT funds.  **Reimbursement for enforcement events may not exceed line item totals as 
noted in the Supplemental DUI Enforcement Agreement**     

        (Indirect Costs)

AHSO Grant Number

Notice to Proceed

 

3.10.2021

Page 49 of 307

http://dot.state.gov/stwdplng/hwysafety/index.shtml#
mailto:dot.alaska.gov/highwaysafety#


Page 50 of 307



City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 21-014 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Accept, Execute, and Appropriate an Airport Coronavirus Response 
Grant Offer from the Federal Aviation Administration in an Amount of $13,000.00 by Way of the Coronavirus 
Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act of 2021 for Assistance to Airports During the COVID-19 
Public Health Emergency 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Frank J. Kelly, Airport Superintendent  
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 13,000.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
√ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 13,000.00 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s): 30-00-00-3385 FAA Airport Coronavirus Response Grant 

√ Not budgeted  
Grant Income for “Costs Related to Operations, Personnel, Sanitization, 
Janitorial Services, & Combating the Spread of Pathogens at the Airport. 

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 51 of 307



Attachment(s): 
1. Resolution No. 21-014 
2. FAA Form SF-424 Airport Coronavirus Response Grant Application 
3. FAA Grant Assurances 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The US Congressional Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act of 2021, administered 
through the Federal Aviation Administration, under the Airport Coronavirus Response Grant Program provided 
additional aid to airports across the nation for relief and to help cover expenses due to the COVID-19 Health 
Emergency. 
 
$45 million was set aside to help support small GA Airports based upon a predetermined formula.  The Palmer 
Municipal Airport has been awarded $13,000.00 under this formula to be used for costs related to operations, 
personnel, sanitization, janitorial services, & combating the spread of pathogens at the Airport.       
 
This grant money will assist the airport with normal operating expenses.  
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
To Approve Resolution No. 21-014 
 
 

Page 52 of 307



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Resolution No. 21-014 
 
A Resolution of the Palmer City Council Authorizing the City Manager to Accept, Execute and 
Appropriate an Airport Coronavirus Response Grant Offer from the Federal Aviation Administration 
in an Amount of $13,000.00 by Way of the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental 
Appropriations Act of 2021 for Assistance to Airports During the COVID-19 Public Health 
Emergency 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Palmer maintains and operates the Warren “Bud” Woods Palmer Municipal Airport; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palmer incurs expenses operating the airport; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Airport Sponsor Grant Assurances have been reviewed by the City of Palmer; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Palmer City Council hereby to accept and appropriate an  

Airport Coronavirus Response Grant offer from the Federal Aviation Administration in an amount of $13,000.00 
by way of the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act of 2021 for assistance to 
airports during the COVID-19 public health emergency.  
 
 
Approved by the Palmer City Council this ____ day of ___________, 2021. 
 
 
 
 

________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 

 
_____________________________ 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date: April 13, 2021 
Action:  

Vote:  
Yes: No: 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 53 of 307



Page 54 of 307



Page 55 of 307



Page 56 of 307



Page 57 of 307



Page 58 of 307



Page 59 of 307



Page 60 of 307



Page 61 of 307



Page 62 of 307



Page 63 of 307



Page 64 of 307



Page 65 of 307



Page 66 of 307



Page 67 of 307



Page 68 of 307



Page 69 of 307



Page 70 of 307



Page 71 of 307



Page 72 of 307



Page 73 of 307



Page 74 of 307



Page 75 of 307



Page 76 of 307



Page 77 of 307



Page 78 of 307



Page 79 of 307



Page 80 of 307



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-020 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Amend the Current Professional Services Agreement with HDL 
Engineering Consultants LLC, in an Amount Not to Exceed $19,875.00, for Engineering Services and Underwater 
Robotic Inspection of the Cedar (Bailey) Hills Reservoir 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Chris Nall, Director of Public Works 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    

√  Finance  

 03/22/2021 
  Fire    
  Police     
√  Public Works    03/22/2021 

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 19,875.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
√ Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 19,875.00 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 24-60-01-6030 Reservoir Maintenance 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 81 of 307



Attachment(s):  
1. HDL Fee Proposal 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
This Action Memorandum authorizes the City Manager to amend the current PSA for Engineering Services and 
Underwater Robotic Inspection of the Cedar (Bailey) Hills Reservoir, with HDL Engineering Consultants, LLC., by 
adding Construction Phase Service. As part of the amendment, HDL will provide the City with construction 
monitoring, coordination, administration, and inspection services, and upon the contractor’s completion of the 
project will provide project completion and acceptance certificates for execution. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-020 authorizing the City Manager to amend the current PSA with HDL 
Engineering Consultants, LLC. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 82 of 307



March 19, 2021 

Chris Nall, Director of Public Works 

City of Palmer 

231 West Evergreen Avenue 

Palmer, AK  99645 

RE: Amendment for Construction Phase Services 

 City of Palmer – Reservoir 3 Tank Repairs 

Dear Mr. Nall: 

As requested, HDL Engineering Consultants, LLC (HDL) hereby requests an amendment to 

add construction phase services to our current contract with the City of Palmer (Palmer). 

BACKGROUND 

Palmer retained HDL in March 2020 to 1) Perform in-service, underwater inspection of 

Reservoir 3 located near the Cedar Hills Subdivision to assess corrosion and structural 

integrity; 2) Prepare an inspection report with a budget estimate of needed repairs; 3) Prepare 

a repair work plan for public bidding to address any issues uncovered by the inspection; 

4) Provide assistance during bidding of the project.  HDL teamed with American Marine 

International to provide inspection services and estimating assistance in support of the project 

goals.  The Reservoir inspection occurred on April 15, 2020 and the final report was submitted 

in mid-June.  Preparation of a bidding package began in September 2020, with final bidding 

documents submitted to Palmer on February 24, 2021.  On March 2, the contract documents 

were made available to the public, and Palmer will open the bids on March 25, 2021. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The Reservoir 3 Tank Repairs project will consist of the installation of a special coating system 

to all interior seams located within the bottom four (4) feet of the reservoir.  The project also 

allows for additional repair of interior seams up to 100 linear feet, as directed by the Engineer. 

AMENDMENT REQUEST 

Task 4 – Construction Phase Services 

HDL proposes to provide Palmer with construction administration and periodic inspection 

services during construction.  Award of the construction contract is expected on 

April 13, 2021.  We anticipate construction of the project will begin as soon as materials are 

available, likely in May.  HDL will work closely with the Public Works staff and will be the 

Contractor’s primary point of contact for verbal and written communication.  Our scope of work 

will include construction monitoring, coordination, administration, and inspection. 

HDL will coordinate and monitor the day-to-day activities of the project on behalf of Palmer.  

Chris Bowman, PE, will be the Contract/Project Manager, and Lyon Kopsack, EIT, will be the 

Page 83 of 307



Project Engineer/Inspector.  Lyon will work to keep Palmer informed of progress, field 

directives, and any changes as they arise.  Chris will provide quality control and oversight of 

HDL activities. 

Construction Administration/Inspection.  At project start-up, HDL will review material and 

equipment submittals, shop drawings, samples, and Contractor work plans.  HDL will conduct 

a pre-construction conference to review the Contractor’s proposed schedule, establish 

procedures for submittals and shop drawings, and establish a working understanding between 

the Contractor, HDL, and Palmer. 

During construction, HDL will review administrative submittals and schedules, and will review 

and respond to Design Clarification/Verification Requests (DCVRs).  We will conduct formal 

weekly construction meetings, review Contractor pay requests, pay items, and provide 

recommendations for payment. 

HDL will provide periodic construction inspection during the Contractor’s onsite activities to 

observe and document the construction on behalf of Palmer.  Documentation will include 

photographs and daily reports detailing the equipment, labor, inspections, testing, and 

activities occurring while our Inspector is onsite.  Copies of daily reports will be provided to 

Palmer on a weekly basis.  HDL will conduct formal substantial and final completion 

inspections jointly with Palmer, and prepare a substantial completion inspection report and list 

of deficient items. 

Closeout Documents.  For the construction contract closeout, we will request a release of 

liens and claims statement from the Contractor, and will distribute project completion and 

acceptance certificates for execution. 

  BASIC ASSUMPTIONS 

The following basic assumptions were used to prepare this estimate: 

1. HDL will be the primary point of contact for verbal and written communications. 

2. HDL will provide periodic inspection services while the Reservoir is offline for repairs 

(estimated at 3 weeks).  Inspection will not be required on weekends, holidays, or 

double shifts. 

3. We do not anticipate the Inspector will be required to work overtime. 

4. Our work excludes claims negotiations or protracted disputes with the Contractor, or 

if work extends beyond the performance period. 

5. HDL is not responsible for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 

procedures, or for safety precautions and programs in connection with construction of 

the Project, or for acts or omissions of contractors, subcontractors or any other 

persons performing construction of the project, or for the failure of any of them to carry 

out the Project in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

Please let us know immediately if any of these assumptions are contrary to your anticipation, 

so that we may revise our proposed scope of work. 

Page 84 of 307



COST PROPOSAL 

We hereby request a budget amendment in the amount of $19,875 to provide construction 

phase services.  We have prepared our estimate of the time required to perform the proposed 

scope of services based on previous experience.  Additional budget may be necessary if 

additional services are requested or required. 

We look forward to continuing our work with Palmer on this project.  If you have any questions, 

you can contact me at (907) 746-5230. 

Sincerely, 

HDL Engineering Consultants, LLC 

Chris Bowman, P.E. 

Senior Civil Engineer 

attach: HDL Fee Proposal Dated March 19, 2021 

cc: David Lundin, P.E. 
 

 

H:\jobs\20-006 Palmer Res 3 Underwater Inspection (COP)\00-Contract\Amendments\Amd 1 - Const\ltr CB-CN Res 3 

Const.docx 

Page 85 of 307



REIMBURSABLE SUB-

TASK ACTIVITY QTY RATE HDL LABOR* EXPENSES CONTRACTS SUBTOTAL TOTAL

4.0 Construction Phase Services $19,850

4.1 Project Startup, Submittal/Shop Drawing Review $2,840

Project Manager 8 hrs  @ $155 $1,240

Project Engineer 16 hrs  @ $100 $1,600

4.2 Construction Administration/Inspection $15,590

Principal Civil Engineer 4 hrs  @ $185 $740

Project Manager 40 hrs  @ $155 $6,200

Project Engineer (Office) 60 hrs  @ $100 $6,000

Project Engineer (Inspection) 20 hrs  @ $100 $2,000

Vehicle (1/2 day rate) 10 days  @ $40 $400

Misc. Expenses 1 allow  @ $250 $250

4.3 Closeout $1,420

Project Manager 4 hrs  @ $155 $620

Project Engineer 8 hrs  @ $100 $800

Subtotal Task 4 $19,600 $250 $0 $19,850

Markup** $25 $0 $25

Total Task 4 $19,600 $275 $0 $19,875

*also includes those expenses charged without a markup

**10% for subcontracts, 10% for reimbursable expenses

Page 86 of 307



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-021 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate and Enter Into a Contract with CCI Industrial Services, LLC., 
in an Amount Not to Exceed $91,752.00, for Leak Repairs and Application of a Specialized Coating System Along 
Interior Seams Increasing the Life of Reservoir #3 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Chris Nall, Director of Public Works 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    

√  Finance  

 03/29/2021 
  Fire    
  Police     
√  Public Works    03/26/2021 

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 91,752.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
√ Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 91,752.00 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 24-60-01-6030 Reservoir Maintenance 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 87 of 307



Attachment(s):  
1. Bid Proposal 
2. HDL recommendation letter 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
During a previous inspection of reservoir #3, a leak was discovered. Upon further inspection of the interior of the 
tank it was discovered that some seams repairs are needed to preserve and extend the life of the reservoir. The 
purchasing officer and HDL Engineering Consultants have reviewed the bid from CCI Industrial Services, LLC., the 
sole bidder for this project, and clarified the bid total price for items 1 and 2, and recommend CCI Industrial 
Services, LLC. be awarded this contract. This Action Memorandum authorizes the City Manager to negotiate and 
enter into a contract with CCI Industrial Services, LLC., for the leak repairs and application of a specialized coating 
system along interior seams that will correct these problems and increase the life of Reservoir #3.  
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-021 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 88 of 307



Page 89 of 307



Page 90 of 307



Page 91 of 307



Page 92 of 307



 

 

Anchorage     3335 Arctic Boulevard, Suite 100, Anchorage, Alaska 99503 907.564.2120 

Mat-Su 202 West Elmwood Avenue, Palmer, Alaska 99645 907.746.5230 

 

CIVIL 

ENGINEERING 

GEOTECHNICAL 

ENGINEERING 

TRANSPORTATION 

ENGINEERING 

ENVIRONMENTAL 

SERVICES 

PLANNING 

SURVEYING 

& MAPPING 

CONSTRUCTION 

ADMINISTRATION 

MATERIAL 

TESTING 

REAL ESTATE 

SERVICES 

March 25, 2021 

Chris Nall, Director of Public Works 

City of Palmer 

231 West Evergreen Avenue 

Palmer, AK  99645 

RE: Recommendation of Award 

 City of Palmer – Reservoir 3 Tank Repairs 

Dear Mr. Nall: 

One bid was received for the above-referenced project from CCI Industrial Services, LLC (CCI 

Industrial).  We have reviewed the bid submitted and have noted the following bid 

irregularities: 

• CCI Industrial did not calculate a total bid price for Item 2, but did provide a unit price 

of $96.58.  This resulted in an increase of $9,658 to the Base Bid. 

• CCI Industrial did not acknowledge Addendum 1. 

The corrected bid total is shown below: 

 

Award Base Bid 

Rank Contractor Base Bid 

1 CCI Industrial $91,752.00 

CCI Industrial was contacted after the bid opening to confirm that Addendum 1 was 

acknowledged and that there is no change to the submitted bid price.  CCI Industrial confirmed 

that Addendum 1 was reviewed and that the bid price remains as submitted.  This 

correspondence is attached. 

Based on the above summary, we recommend award of the contract to CCI Industrial of 

Anchorage, Alaska. 

Sincerely, 

HDL ENGINEERING CONSULTANTS, LLC 

Chris Bowman, PE 

Senior Civil Engineer 

attach: Bid Tabulation (2 pages) 

 Correspondence (2 pages) 
 

H:\jobs\20-006 Palmer Res 3 Underwater Inspection (COP)\03-Bidding\Bid Opening\20-006 ltr-rec of award.docx 

Page 93 of 307



City of Palmer - Reservoir 3 Tank Repairs

Bid Summary

Engineer's Estimate CCI Industrial Services, LLC

83,823.53$                                               91,752.00$                                               

82,094.00$                                               

9,658.00$                                                 

- Yes

- Yes

- No

- Yes

Acknowledged Addenda 

Bid Proposal Signed

$2,000 Bid Guarantee

Bidder Qualification Form

Calculated Base Bid

As-submitted Base Bid

Difference Base Bid

Page 1 of 2

Page 94 of 307



City of Palmer - Reservoir 3 Tank Repairs

Bid Summary

BASE BID - Reservoir 3 Tank Repairs

Item

Bid Item 

No.
 Description  Unit Price Bid Value  Unit Price Bid Value

1 Tank Coating Repair 1 LS  $        75,000.00  $             75,000.00  $        82,094.00  $        82,094.00 

2 Additional Repairs 100 LF  $                88.24  $               8,823.53  $                96.58  $          9,658.00 

Bid 

Quantity
Unit

Engineer's Estimate CCI Industrial Services, LLC

Page 2 of 2

Page 95 of 307



1

Lyon R. Kopsack

From: CCI North Slope Ops Manager <opsmanager@ccialaska.com>

Sent: Thursday, March 25, 2021 3:52 PM

To: Lyon R. Kopsack

Cc: Christopher J. Bowman; cnall@palmerak.org; Alycia Anderson

Subject: RE: Palmer Reservoir 3 Tank Repairs Bid Proposal

Lyon, 

   $91,752.00 is the total of the bid and there will not be any change to the price after reviewing Addendum 1. 

 

Chris Daigle 
   Operations Manager 

   CCI Industrial Services, LLC 

   Office  907.659.2428 

   Cell  907.306.8919 

   opsmanager@ccialaska.com 

   www.cciindustrial.com 

   www.kakivik.com 

 
 

From: Lyon R. Kopsack <lkopsack@hdlalaska.com>  

Sent: Thursday, March 25, 2021 2:51 PM 

To: CCI North Slope Ops Manager <opsmanager@ccialaska.com> 

Cc: Christopher J. Bowman <cbowman@hdlalaska.com>; cnall@palmerak.org; Alycia Anderson 

<ahowell@palmerak.org> 

Subject: Palmer Reservoir 3 Tank Repairs Bid Proposal 

 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 

sender and know the content is safe. 

 

Chris, 

 

We need to confirm that the attached addendum for the Palmer Reservoir 3 Tank Repairs project does not change your 

submitted bid proposal. 

 

We also need to confirm the intent of the unit prices and total price submitted.  The total bid price for Item 1 was 

$82,094.00 and the total bid price for Item 2 was written as “unknown.” You did provide a unit price of $96.58 per liner 

foot for Item 2.  Applying the estimated quantity of 100 linear feet brings the total bid price of Item 2 to $9,658.00. The 

resulting total bid for the project is $91,752.00.  

 

Page 96 of 307



2

Please respond confirming that you have acknowledged the attached addendum and that the submitted price of 

$91,752.00 remains unchanged. 

 

Thanks, 

 

Lyon Kopsack, EIT 

Engineering Assistant 

 
202 West Elmwood Avenue | Palmer, Alaska 99645 

office 907-746-5230 ext 207 | cell 907-707-5316 

lkopsack@HDLAlaska.com | www.HDLAlaska.com 

 

Page 97 of 307



Page 98 of 307



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-022 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Enter into a Contract with MuniRevs for Online Business License and 
Sales Tax Software Using the Governmental and Proprietary Procurement Process in Palmer Municipal Code 
Section 3.21.230 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Gina Davis, Finance Director 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 40,820 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
√ Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 40,820 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 01-01-10-6030 $28,500 
 Not budgeted  $12,320 CARES Funds 56-01-10-6510 

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 99 of 307



Attachment(s):  
1. MuniRevs Offerings 
2. Cost Proprosal 
3. Proprietary Purchase Memo 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The City’s 2021 budget was approved with an appropriation of $28,500 for online business license and sales tax 
capabilities.  
 
Alaska Municipal League (AML) formed the Alaska Remote Sellers Sales Tax Commission (the Commission) in 
November of 2019 and the Commission passed the Alaska Uniform Remote Sellers Sales Tax Code in January of 
2020. Palmer City Council approved AM 19-020 authorizing the City of Palmer to join the Commission in November 
of 2019. In March of 2020, Palmer City Council adopted the Alaska Remote Sellers Sales Tax Code. 
 
AML solicited software companies for online sales tax collection and licensing systems and procured the services 
of MuniRevs for the Alaska Uniform Remote Sellers Sales Tax system. This system has been in place for over a 
year and has proven to be a successful venture. MuniRevs is already familiar with Alaska and its uniqueness. The 
City procuring MuniRevs for online business license and sales tax will streamline the process for our customers 
and provide continuity with the Alaska Uniform Remote Sellers Sales Tax Commission. There are currently four 
communities in Alaska using MuniRevs. 
 
The total cost of this project exceeds budget due to further needs of the City for additional workflows for the 
additional business licenses (Alaska State Fair, Special Event, Biennial and Itinerant Vendor Permit) and the 
additional sales tax forms for the Alaska State Fair and Special Events.  The implementation period is 8 to 10 
weeks with the goal of having this available to our businesses by July 1, 2021. 
 
The additional amount of $12,320 will be covered by CARES Act Funds for City Resiliency and Recovery to help 
prevent future staff and citizens risk of the COVID-19 virus. Having the option for businesses to pay their sales 
tax online and apply for their business license online will ease the limit of traffic into City Hall. This will be very 
beneficial for Alaska State Fair vendors for the 2021 Alaska State Fair. 
 
3.21.230 Governmental and proprietary procurements.  
A. The purchasing officer may contract, without the use of the competitive source selection procedures of this 
chapter, for the following supplies, services, professional services or construction:  

1. For contracts, including reimbursable agreements, with federal, state or local units of government or utility 
provider where the city has a financial responsibility or beneficial interest in entering into an agreement.  

2. For contracts issued pursuant to any federal, state, or local government contract where the city is an 
authorized user, or where the resulting contractor agrees to extend the same terms, conditions, and pricing to 
the city as those awarded under the original contract, all in accordance with PMC 3.21.240. Such agreements shall 
be limited to those contracts where the award is issued pursuant to a formally advertised solicitation.  

3. For contracts where the purchasing officer determines in writing that the city’s requirements reasonably 
limit the source for the supplies, services, professional service or construction to one person.  
 
B. All contract awards under this section, and any amendments thereto, shall be subject to the applicable approval 
requirements of PMC 3.21.090 prior to execution. 
  
C. No contractor may provide supplies, services, professional services, or construction to the city before the 
applicable requirements of this section are first satisfied. (Ord. 644 § 4, 2004) 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-022 

Page 100 of 307



MUNIRevs
ALASKA MUNICIPAL LEAGUE
OFFERINGS

2020

PROPOSED BY
DANIEL WATTS
COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIPS

Page 101 of 307



ABOUT MUNIREVS
MUNIRevs is  the f irst  of  i ts  kind.  I t  is  a secure,
cloud-based tax col lect ion and l icensing
system, which automates municipal it ies ’  and
business ’  workflow through our unique
paperless system and services.  Our innovative
software helps jurisdict ions more eff ic iently
col lect taxes and process l icenses.
 
With over 18 years of experience as a Financial
Director and CPA in the Colorado municipal
f inance arena,  the founder of MUNIRevs Erin
Neer,  identif ied f irsthand many shortcomings
in the technology offerings for municipal it ies.
 
MUNIRevs evolves beyond the solutions that
tradit ional  government software provides in
their  desktop or onl ine payment modules and
harnesses the many benefits of secure,
paperless,  web-based technology to provide
the most current and cutt ing edge solutions
for your business revenue col lect ion.
 
Currently,  we  process over $300 mil l ion in
paperless revenues monthly.  These revenues
are automatical ly processed to our
jurisdict ions’  bank accounts without any
processing t ime by municipal ity staff .

01

SPECIAL
OFFERINGS

 

MUNIREVS
In addit ion to receiving remote

sel ler revenues via the
Commission Portal ,  each

municipal ity can also choose to
use MUNIRevs for their  tax and

licensing system.   The
community would receive a
unique,  branded MUNIRevs

portal  ( l ike
tel luride.munirevs.com) where
businesses can obtain l icenses,

remit taxes and jurisdict ions can
manage al l  reporting   &

del inquency.    The community
keeps any exist ing processes in

place for paper returns,
balancing,  reporting & audit ing.  
Paper returns are simply entered

into the MUNIRevs platform vs.
the current system of record.  

Businesses love f i l ing onl ine with
MUNIRevs though -  our

communit ies are on average 95%
paperless!

MUNIREVS + AML
Same as above,  with the
addit ion of AML lockbox

services where businesses can
mail  paper returns.    AML staff
key them into MUNIRevs and

handles al l  balancing,
reporting and audit ing for the

jurisdict ion.

LODGINGREVS
With either of the options on
the side the municipal ity can
also add on LODGINGRevs for

vacation rental  compliance
identif icaiton. 

02

+

Page 102 of 307



MUN IR e v s
Au t oma t ed  L i c e n s i n g  &  T a x  S y s t em  

I MP LEMENTAT ION  

Customization of site address
and branding.

Data import of business records
and transactions.

Customization of tax forms and
licensing forms, including
automatic late fee calculation.

Web based training for
jurisdiction staff . Unlimited
ongoing phone & web support
are provided to all
administration staff as part of
monthly hosting & support.

Unlimited email & phone
support for all businesses.

 

 

 

 

90%
Eliminate at least 90% of paper
filed tax returns & deposits.

AUTOMATE
Automatically receive revenues
daily, direct to your account. 

MUN IR e v s
D e l i v e r a b l e s

Up to two tax forms per
jurisdiction.

Licensing Module Includes
automated annual renewals.

Unlimited user logins for both
businesses and jurisdiction users.

Unlimited phone & email support
to business and administrative
users.

Software hosting & license fees.

Server & IT Infrastructure,
including 365x7x24 maintenance
and support.

Daily data backup, managed by our
expert IT team.

Enhancements released to all
equivalent MUNIRevs versions.

Jurisdiction contracts directly with
gateway and payment processor
and fees of ~ $.40 per echeck, plus
statement & gateway fees of $20.00
/ month. Credit Card fees are paid
via properly sized credit card
convenience fees paid by business
if they choose this payment
method.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103 of 307



Ongoing Annual

Ongoing Annual

Ongoing Annual

Ongoing Annual

1-49 Businesses within Municipality

Implementation

$500.00 $2,500.00

50-199 Businesses within Municipality

Implementation

$2,500.00 $9,500.00

200+ Businesses within Municipality

Implementation

$2,500.00 $17,500.00

500+ Businesses within Municipality 
(including Borough Bulk Pricing)

Implementation

$2,500.00 $25,000.00

Permitting, Licensing & 
Tax System Pricing

Page 104 of 307



Page 105 of 307



Page 106 of 307



Page 107 of 307



Page 108 of 307



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-023 

 
Subject:  Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection 
for the Renewal of Liquor License#649 for the Klondike Mike’s Saloon Located at 820 S. Colony Way 
 
Agenda of:  April 13, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager  
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ Unknown 
 

This legislation (√): 
√ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ Unknown 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 109 of 307



Attachment(s):  
1. LGB Notice from the State of Alaska 
2. Liquor License Review Form 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The Klondike Mike’s Saloon has applied for a liquor license renewal. Per State law, a local governing body may 
protest the approval of an application pursuant to AS 04.11.480 by providing the applicant with a clear and concise 
written statement of the reason for the protest or may voice a non-objection to a request. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-023 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 110 of 307



 

 

Department of Commerce, Community, 
and Economic Development 

ALCOHOL & MARIJUANA CONTROL OFFICE 
550 West 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
Main: 907.269.0350

March 26, 2021 
 
City of Palmer 
Within Matanuska- Susitna Borough 
Via Email: cityclerk@palmerak.org ; adam.bradway@matsugov.us ; alex.strawn@matsugov.us  
permitcenter@matsugov.us ; jmazurkiewicz@palmerak.org 
 
Re: Combined Notice of Liquor License Renewal Application for City and Borough  
 

 
  
We have received a completed renewal application for the above listed license (see attached application 
documents) within your jurisdiction. This is the notice required under AS 04.11.480. 
 
A local governing body may protest the approval of an application(s) pursuant to AS 04.11.480 by 
furnishing the director and the applicant with a clear and concise written statement of reasons for the 
protest within 60 days of receipt of this notice, and by allowing the applicant a reasonable opportunity to 
defend the application before a meeting of the local governing body, as required by 3 AAC 304.145(d). If 
a protest is filed, the board will deny the application unless the board finds that the protest is arbitrary, 
capricious, and unreasonable.  
 
To protest the application referenced above, please submit your written protest within 60 days, and 
show proof of service upon the applicant and proof that the applicant has had a reasonable opportunity 
to defend the application before a meeting of the local governing body. 
 
  
Sincerely, 

 
Glen Klinkhart, Director 
amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov  
 

License 

Number
DBA Type City Borough Community Council

4064 Palmer Municipal Golf Course Golf Course   Palmer Matanuska-Susitna Borough NONE

649 Klondike Mike's Saloon Beverage Dispensary Palmer Matanuska-Susitna Borough NONE

Page 111 of 307

mailto:cityclerk@palmerak.org
mailto:adam.bradway@matsugov.us
mailto:alex.strawn@matsugov.us
mailto:permitcenter@matsugov.us
mailto:jmazurkiewicz@palmerak.org
mailto:amco.localgovernmentonly@alaska.gov


City of Palmer ● Liquor License Review Form   
 

BUSINESS NAME: Klondike Mike’s Saloon OWNER: Lillian Nyberg  
 

LICENSE TYPE: Beverage Dispensary, License #649 
 

LOCATION: 820 S. Colony Way, Palmer, AK 99645 
 

 
Route to:  Department of Finance 

Department of Finance 
Business License/Sales Tax/ 
Utilities/Assessments Current:   

√ 
Yes  No 

 

If no, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 
 
 

 
 

03/31/2021 
Finance Director  Date 

 
Route to: Department of Community Development 

Department of Community Development 
Code (PMC/Bldg/Fire) Compliant:   √ Yes  No 
 

If no, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 
 
 

  March 8, 2021 
Community Development Director  Date 

 
Route to: Police Department 

Police Department 
Excessive Calls:    Yes X No 
 

If yes, explain:  
  
 

Other Comments: 
 

 3-8-2021 
Chief of Police  Date 

 
TO COUNCIL FOR AGENDA OF:  April 13, 2021 

Page 112 of 307



City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Minutes 

Regular Meeting 
March 9, 2021 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
A regular meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on March 9, 2021, at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers, Palmer, Alaska. Mayor DeVries called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
B. ROLL CALL 
 
Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 
 

Edna DeVries, Mayor 
Julie Berberich (participated telephonically) 
Richard W. Best (participated telephonically) 
Steve Carrington 

Sabrena Combs, Deputy Mayor 
Brian Daniels 
Jill Valerius (participated telephonically)

 
Staff in attendance were the following: 
 

John Moosey, City Manager 
Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 

Michael Gatti, City Attorney (participated telephonically) 
Kara Johnson, Deputy City Clerk 

 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was performed. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

1. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings 
a. February 20, 2021, Special Meeting 

 
Main Motion: To Approve the Agenda and Minutes 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Carrington 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
E. REPORTS 

1. City Manager’s Report 
 
City Manager Moosey reported on the upcoming Arctic Winter Games, Building Inspector Dave Meneses’ 
resignation, COVID-19 vaccine availability to all ages 16 and older, and an update on meetings regarding 
dispatch service agreement. 
 

2. City Clerk’s Report 
 
City Clerk Alley spoke on Alaska Municipal League 2021 conference changes. 
 

3. Mayor’s Report 
 
Mayor DeVries spoke on the upcoming events at the fair grounds and announced the State Fair will be held 
this year. 

Page 113 of 307



 
4. City Attorney’s Report 

 
City Attorney Gatti provided clarification on the proposed changes to Resolution No. 21-009 and Resolution 
No. 21-010. 
 
F. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
Mr. Tim Leach, Hatcher Pass Avalanche Center, requested support for Council Community Grant. 
 
G. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1. Resolution No. 20-029: Authorizing the Sale of 12.65 Acre Parcel of Land Located at 2390 S. Glenn 
Highway to Alaska Frontier Fabrication, LLC, in the Amount of $408,300.00 in Accordance with Palmer 
Municipal Code Section 3.20.080(M) (2nd Public Hearing) (Pending Motion) 

 
Resolution No. 20-029 was brought forth from November 10, 2020, City Council Regular Meeting. 
 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 20-029. Seeing no one come forward and hearing 
no objection from the Council, Mayor Devries closed the public hearing. 
 

Motion to Postpone: To Postpone Resolution No. 20-029 Indefinitely 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Berberich 
Vote: 5 Yes/2 No (Best, DeVries) 

Action: Motion Carried 
 

Vote on Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 20-029 
Vote:  

Action: Failed Due to Postponement 
 

2. Resolution No. 21-008: Authorizing the Sale of a 12.65 Acre Parcel of Land Located at 2390 S. 
Glenn Highway, More Particularly Described as Lot D2, Section 18, Township 17 North, Range 2 East, 
Seward Meridian, Located in the Palmer Recording District, Third Judicial District, State of Alaska, to 
Alaska Frontier Fabrication LLC in Accordance with Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080 in the Amount of 
$408,300.00 for an Industrial Site 

 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 21-008. 
 
Mr. Melvin Grove spoke in favor of Resolution No. 21-008. 
 
Hearing no objection from Council, Mayor DeVries closed the public hearing. 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 21-008 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Daniels 
 

Primary Amendment #1: To Remove the Wording “for an Industrial Site” From the 
Legislation Title 

Moved by: Carrington 
Seconded by: Best 

Vote: 3 Yes/4 No (Berberich, Combs, Daniels, Valerius) 
Action: Failed for Lack of Majority Vote 

Page 114 of 307



 
Vote on Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 21-008 

Vote: 6 Yes/1 No (DeVries) 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
3. Resolution No. 21-009: Accepting a Loan and Grant from the United States Department of 

Agriculture Rural Development, Rural Utilities Service Loan amount not to exceed $8,121,000.00 and 
Grant amount of $458,000.00 for the Engineering, Construction, and Installation of Secondary 
Clarifiers at the Palmer Wastewater Treatment Plant Facility in Accordance with Federal Consent 
Decree and Civil Action No: 3:16-cv-00204-TMB 

 
City Attorney Gatti fielded questions from the Council. 
 
Mayor DeVries opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 21-009. Seeing no one come forward and hearing 
no objection from the Council, Mayor Devries closed the public hearing. 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 21-009 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Daniels 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 
 
H. NEW BUSINES 

1. Resolution No. 21-010: Approving a Code of Ethics and Conduct for Elected Officials 
 

Main Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 21-010 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Daniels 
 

Primary Amendment #1: To Change Wording in Section B.4.c. From “City Council 
appoints” to Match the Palmer Municipal Code Stating “Mayor 
appoints and the City Council confirms” 

Moved by: DeVries 
Seconded by: Combs 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
Primary Amendment #2: To Change the Wording in Section A.8. From “that equals 10% 

of _?_” to “that equals 10% of total income” 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Daniels 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 
 

Vote on Motion: To Approve Resolution No. 21-010 as Amended 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 
 
  

Page 115 of 307



2. Action Memorandum No. 21-017: Approving a Council Community Grant in the Amount of 
$5,000.00 to Hatcher Pass Avalanche Center Inc. for Avalanche Forecasting and Public Advisory 

 
Main Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-017 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Daniels 

 
Primary Amendment #1: To Reduce the Grant Amount to $3,000.00 

Moved by: Best 
Seconded by: Carrington 

Vote: 2 Yes/5 No (Berberich, Combs, Daniels, DeVries, Valerius) 
Action: Failed for Lack of Majority Vote 

 
Vote on Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-017 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
Mayor DeVries called a recess at 8:27 p.m. and reconvened the meeting at 8:40 p.m. 
 

3. Information Memorandum No. 21-001: Committee of the Whole for Discussion Regarding 
Election Matters (note: action may be taken by the Council following the Committee of the Whole) 

 
Main Motion: To Enter Into a Committee of the Whole 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Carrington 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
The Council entered into a Committee of the Whole at 8:42 p.m. 
 
Topics addressed in the Committee of the Whole included matters of 2020 Regular Election needing code 
amendments for better administration and clarification of the election process. 
 
The Mayor adjourned from Committee of the Whole at 9:15 p.m. and reconvened the regular meeting. 
 

Main Motion: To Have the City Clerk Bring Forth Items 1, 2, 4, and 5 from Information 
Memorandum No. 21-001 in Further Legislation 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Best 

Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

 
  

Page 116 of 307



I. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
1. Matters, the Immediate Knowledge of Which Would Clearly Have an Adverse Effect Upon the Finances 

of the Public Entity and Matter which by Law, Municipal Charter, or Ordinances are Required to be 
Confidential – Potential Litigation Attorney Client Communication: State of Alaska City of Palmer 
Dispatch Agreement (note: action may be taken by the council following the executive session) 

 
Main Motion: To Enter into Executive Session to Discuss Potential Litigation Attorney 

Client Communication: State of Alaska City of Palmer Dispatch Agreement 
Moved by: Combs 

Seconded by: Berberich 
Vote: Unanimous 

Action: Motion Carried 
 
Mayor DeVries announced the council was going to enter into executive session after a short recess to secure 
the room. 
 
Mayor DeVries called a recess at 9:18 p.m. and reconvened the meeting at 9:23 p.m. 
 
The Council entered into Executive Session at 9:23 p.m. and exited at 10:01 p.m. to reconvene the regular 
meeting. 
 
J. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE 
 
City Clerk Alley reported Mr. David Fuller’s written testimony was the Item Placed on the Table. 
 
K. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
None. 
 
L. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
No direction given to staff for legislation to be placed on a future agenda. 
 
M. ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business before the Council, the meeting adjourned at 10:07 p.m. 
 
Approved this ____ day of _____________, 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 _______________________________ 
 Norma I. Alley, MMC, City Clerk 
 
_______________________________ 
Edna B. DeVries, Mayor 
 
 
 
 

Page 117 of 307



Page 118 of 307



Saturday 1st of May 

 Music, Games, Vendors, Food Trucks & More! 

11am to 3pm 

Palmer Senior Center 

1132 South Chugach St. Palmer, AK 

For More Information or to Become a Vendor: 907-761-5006 

www.matsuseniors.com 

Page 119 of 307



Page 120 of 307



Page 121 of 307



Page 122 of 307



Page 123 of 307



Page 124 of 307



Page 125 of 307



Page 126 of 307



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-024 

 
Subject:  Authorizing the City Manager to Negotiate the Reversion of Tract E-2 of the Replat of Tract A, B, E and 
H-2 Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision to the City of Palmer and Prepare a Resolution Authorizing the Sale to 
Airframes Alaska for Industrial Purposes per Palmer Municipal Code Section 3.20.080 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Brad Hanson, Director Community Development 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
√  Community Development   March 10, 2021 
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 127 of 307



Attachment(s):  
1. Resolution No. 364 
2. Mat-Su Borough real property detail 
3. Area Map 
4. Director’s Memos for Determination of Future Public Use 
5. MEA Disclaimer of Interest and Cost Recovery Consent to Reversion 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
On May 10, 1977, Palmer City Council passed Resolution No. 364 authorizing the sale to Matanuska Electric 
Association (MEA) of Tract E-2, replat of Tract A, B, E, and H-2 of the Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision for one 
dollar ($1.00).  This sale has a recorded deed condition that stipulates the property to be used solely and 
exclusively for the construction, maintenance, and repair and renovation of an electrical substation.  The deed 
condition further stipulates in the event the property is not used as a substation it shall revert to the city.  There 
is however no timeline for performance of the placement of a substation by MEA.   
 
MEA learned of the deed condition when a title search was performed because of a pending sale of Tract E-2 to 
Airframes Alaska.  MEA and Airframes Alaska had agreed to the property sale for $34,200.00, which is the Borough 
assessed value.  MEA contacted the city on October 27, 2020, to ask the city to consider having a deed condition 
removed.  There is no allowance for the deed condition to be remove, only for the reversion of the property to 
the city in the event MEA does not install a substation. Any removal of deed conditions will have to be presented 
to City Council by resolution for approval. 
 
MEA has agreed to begin the reversion of the property with one caveat.  They would like for the city to honor the 
sale of Tract E-2 to Airframes Alaska. 
 
The property is located at the corner of E. Commercial Drive and S. Industrial Way.  Included in the packet is a 
Mat-Su Borough real property detail and an area map.  The property dimension is 100’ x 117’ for a total area of 
11,700 square feet (.35 Acre).  Department directors have evaluated whether there is any need to retain to 
property for future public use.  (memo attached) 
 
Palmer City Council approves the sale or transfer of all real property. Palmer Municipal Code 3.20.080 allows for 
the sale or transfer of real property owned by the city.  Depending on the type of sale transaction determined, 
valuation may be based on a qualified appraisal or Borough assessed value.  
 
Approval of this Action Memorandum would authorize the City Manager to prepare the necessary documents and 
resolution for the Mayor to execute the transfer of Tract E-2 from MEA to the city and the city sale to Airframes 
Alaska for $34,200.00.  If authorized by council, a resolution would be brought to city council for final approval of 
the sale, after approval of the resolution the Mayor will execute a purchase and sale agreement with any additional 
terms and conditions for sale to Airframes Alaska. 

 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 21-024 authorizing reversion of Tract E-2 of the replat of Tract A, B E and H-2 
Palmer Industrial Park Subdivision to the city and prepare a resolution for sale of property to Airframes Alaska. 

Page 128 of 307



i

213

CITY  OF PALMER,  ALASKA

RESOLUTION  N0.  364

A RESOLUTION  AUTHORIZING  THE SALE  TO MATANtJSKA  ELECTRIC  ASSOCIATION  OF
TRACT  E-2,  REPLAT  OF TRACT  A,  B,  E AND H-2  0F THE PALMER  INDUSTRIAL  PAE'E
SUBDIVISION  ACCORDING  TO PLAT  N0.  77-19  RECORDED  APRIL  6,  1977,  FOR USE
AS A SITE  FOR AN ELECTRICAL  SUBSTATION.

THE CITY  OF PALMER,  ALASKA,  RESOLVES:

1.  The  sale  of  the  following  described  property  to  the  MATANUSKA
ELECTRIC  ASSOCIATION  is  consistent  with  the  purposes  and  development  of
the  Palmer  Industrial  Park.  The  parcel  is  suitable  and  necessary  for  the
location  of  an electrical  substation.  Since  the  substation  vill  serve
the  Industrial  Park,  the  sale  is  for  the  nominal  consideration  of  One

Dollar  (61.00).

2.  William  E.  Curtis,  City  Manager,  is  authorized  to  execute  and
deliver  the  Deed  attached  hereto  tO  the  MATANUSKA  ELECTRIC  ASSOCIATION

upon  payment  of  the  purchase  price  of  One Dollar  (61.00).

3.  The  property  which  is  the  subject  of  this  sale  and  Resolution  is
described  as Tract  E-2,  as  more  fully  set  forth  in  the  Deed  attached  to
this  resolution.

4.  Site  Restrictions  for  the  Palmer  Industrial  Park  Subd'ivision  have
heretofore  been  duly  executed  and  recorded,  and  a copy  are  attached  to  this
resolution  for  the  information  of  the  Grantee.

5.  Publication  of  this  resolution  shall  be by  posting  a copy  hereof
on the  City  Hall  bulletin  board  followirig  its  passage.

Passed  and  approved  by  the  City  Council  of  the  City  of  Palmer,
Alaska,  this  10th  day  of  May,  1977.

WILLIAM  E.  CURTIS,  CIff  CLERK

Page 129 of 307



i! soox &  PAGH 4p almar Recording  Distr

GRANT  DEED  OF A FEE Sn4PLE  SUBJECT  TO A
CONDITION  SUBSEQUENT  W"['ffl  RI(JHT  TO REVEP,TER

IN  GRANTOR

The  Grantor,  CITY  OF PAL!-jER,  ALASKA,  a municipal  corporation,
for  and  in  consideration  of  One Dollar  (:!;1.00),  in  harid  paid,
grants,  conveys,  bargains  and sells  to  MTANUSKA  ELECTRIC
ASSOCIATION,  a cooperative  corporation,  the  address  of  which  is
Palmer,  Alaska,  the  following  described  real  property  situated
in  the  Palmer  Recording  District,  Third  Judicial  District,  State
of  Alaska:

Tract  E-2  of  the  replat  of  Tract  A,  B, E and  H-2,
Palmer  Industrial  Park  Subdivision,  according  to
Plat  No.  77-19  recorded  April  6,  1977.

TOGETHER  WITH,  all  and singular,  the  tenements,  heredita-
raents  arx!  appurtenances  thereunto  belcnging  or  in  anyr,-yise
appertainxng,

S(JBJECT  TO all  restrictions,  reservations,  easements,
ccvenants,  rights  of  way  of  record,  iricluding  those  pertaining
to  oil,  gas  and  minerals,  and

FURTHER  SUBJECT  TO rules  and  regulations  cont,rallirig
the  use,  occupation  and  developments.  of  Palraer  lhdustria2
park  property  as promulgated  by the  Gran!:o':ro  from  tj.rne  to  tirrie,

This  deed  is  made  and  accepted  upon  the  follo-zying  condition
precedent,  which  is  hereby  declared  to  run  with  the  land.  A
violation  of  the  condition  subsequent  shall  work  a forj"eiture  of
titla  of  the  land  hereby  conveyed  to  the  Grantor,  its  successors
or  assigns  and  the  Grantee  binds  its  successors  and  assigris  to
the  fulfillment  of  this  conditiori  subsequent,  and  the  reverter
of  the  property,  together  with  a right  of  entry  for  breach  of
condition  subsequent.

The-conditiors  subsequent  is  that  the  real  property  herein
coaveyed  shall  be osed solely  and exclusively  for-  the  canseruceiori5maintenance,  r:epa5-r  arzd renovation  of  an electrical  substation
facility,  together  vith  such  eqaipment,  machinery  and  improverascts
as may from  time  to  time  be necessary  or  desirable  for  such
utilization  of  the  real  property,  and  shouM  the  Grantee  or  its
successors  or  assigns  cease  or  fail  to  use  the  real  property  far
such  purpose,  then  the  said  real  property  shall  revert  to  and
become  the  property  of  the  Grantor,  its  successors  or  assigns,

1977

CITY  OF PM,b!ER,  ALASKA Grantor

3155  ASO  HOL!ilES
.:rrORh'Y3  AT LAW

Ail AJ41)elAff5)1  0i)
1;isj410lRL  eii*pasbna.5

laal;r !l&fiOhAl  a'lllDIFla
A1'l4  ITRtT!t

.CltQ  A4a'.  At.A!iKA  * 5 $O I

277-11@4

TVilliam  E.  Curtis
City  Manager

Page 130 of 307



-11, )(IK  h  PAGb &
pifrntr  Recording  Distria

MATANLFKA  ELECTRIC  ASSOCIATION

Grantee

B" I/GA' (r<t/kJ'.@!?l..,[/!L
STATE  OF  ALASECA

IP.D  DISTR[:CT

THIS  IS  TO  CERTIFY  that  on  this  . day  of  (,,

1977,  before  the  undersigped  Notary  P rsonally  eart
WI'LIJAj'l  E.  CURTIS  - knawri  to  me to  be  the  Ci  ty  Manager  of  the
tjTY  OF PALb!ER,  ALASKA,  a  municipal  corporation,  and  he
acknowledged  that  he executed  the  foregoing  iristrurri.snt,  in  said
official  capacity,  as  the  free  act  and  deea  of  said  corporation
for  the  uses  therein  stated

IIITNESS  my hand  and  seal  the  day  and  year  in  this  certificate
first  written.

STA'J'E  OF ALASKA  )
) ss:

THI&)  DISTRIC'l  )

aal  ,2 .fTHIS  IS '10 CERTIFY  that  on  this  ,-,!  day  of  '.t,.,,,,
1977,  bef,gre  tJxe undersigned  Notary  Pvblic  personally  appearea

,  knosm  to  me  to  be  ehe
- ,l,  l I s,,  ,,,  Of !aiATAlUSKA  ELECTRIC  ASSOCIATTO:p,

ana  he acknoiqledged  t he executed  the  foregoing  instrument,
in  said  of:ficial  capacity,  as  the  free  act  and  deed  af  said
corporatiort.

WITNESS  ray  hand  and  seal  the  day  and  year  in  this
certificat.e  first  tqr;-tten,

B 13 S Aai D H O L!il ES

. a J  IS % l 1 k- *'  ) e a l-  -  4

NO (arv'  P tP)11C  rOr  -u-ias'xa

-2-

UES'li  ='l'o'A

ADDRESS

Page 131 of 307



@ mrmusm-susmsia  BOROUGH
Real  Property  Detail  forAccount:  1301000LOOE-2

Site Information

Accourit  Number

Parcel  10

TR8

Abbreviated  DescripUon
(Not  for  Conveyance)

Ownership
Owners

Primary  Owner's  Address

1301000LOOE-2  Subdivision

3440al City

S17NO2EO5  MapPA12

PALMER  IND PK RSB  T/A&B&E&  H-2 LOT  E-2

MATANUSKA  ELECTRIC  ASSN

Pa  BOX  2929  PALMER  AK  99645-2929

Buyers

Primary  Buyer's  Address

PALMER  IND PK RSB T/A&B&E&  H-2

Palmer

Tsx Map

Appraisallnformation  Assessment

Year  lAnd  Appra:sad  Bidg.  Appraised  TO'al  Appraised  Yaar

2021  $34,200.00  $0.00  $34,200.00

2020  $34,200.00  $0.00  $34,200.00

2019  $34,200.00  $0.00  $34,200.00

Building  Information
Bui(ding  Item Details

Eluilding  Numbi=r  Description

Tax/Billinglnformation  RecordedDocuments

Year  Cet'ttfisd  ZOt'le Mt.!  TaX Bi'.ied  Dete  T'lp6

202al No  0012  =

2020Yes  0012  13.322  $0.00

2019Yes  0012  13.386  $0.00

Tax Account  Status  a

!5ta:US  TaXBa'ianee  Farm

Current  $0.00
Land and Miscellaneous

Gr()33  ACreage  Tayab!a  Acrggge  ASS9'nl0a i}/ Dh':riCt

0,3j  O.31 Assembly  District  002

Disabled  Veteran  Senior

$0.00  $0.00

Precinct  Fire  Service  Area

 Palmer  Fire Service  is under  the
jurisdiction  of the  City

Land  Assessed  Bldg.  Assessed  Totai  Assessed'

2021  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00

2020  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00

2019  @o.oo $0.00  $0.00

' Total Assessed  is net of  exemptions  and deferments.rest,  penalties,  and other  charges  posted  after  Last
Update  Date are not reflected  in balances.
a If account  is in foreclosure,  payment  must be in certified  funds.

Area

$0.00

Percent  Completsi

RecordJng  Info  (offsite  Imk  to  DNR)

Total LID Exists

$0.00  No

Road  Service  Area

No Borough  Road Service,  for  City  of
Palmer  road service  info, call (907)745-
g,ann

Last  Updated:  2/5/2021  12:00:44  AM

Page 132 of 307



Matanuska-Susitna  Borough&j%

Legend

(,' Road  Mileposts

Roads

-  Highway

-  Major  Road

-  Medium  Road

-  Minor  Road

-  Ramp

- - Primitive  Road

- Private  Road

'  Alaska  Railroad

a Mat-Su  Borough  Boundary

0  Incorporated  Cities

' Address  Numbers

€ Parcels

-  Government  Lot  Lines

ROW and  Easements

- - ROW  Road

- ROW  RR

-  ROW  Easement

- - Section  line  easement

Lakes  and  Rivers

Streams

-100  year  Flood  Zone

Section  Lines

1 :2,257

lo.i  p

lWGS1984WebMercatorAuxiliarySphere
I @ Matanuska-Susitna Borough

0.07 Miles
THIS  MAP  IS NOT  TO  BE  USED  FOR  NAVIGATION

Reported  on  02/05/20:j  11  :45  AM

This  map is solely  for  informational  purposes  only.  The  Borough  makes  no express  or implied  warranties  with
respect  to the character,  function,  or capabilities  of  the  map  or the  suitability  of the map  for  any  particular  purpose
beyond  those  originally  intended  by the Borough.  For  information  regarding  the  full  disclaimer  and  policies  related
to acceptable  uses  of  this  map,  please  contact  the  Matanuska-Susitna  Borough  GIS  Division  at  907-861-7858.

llNotes
llThis  map was automatically generated
l lusing Geocortex Essentials.

Page 133 of 307



DEPARTMENT  OF COMMUNITY  DEVELOPMENT

ea4 MEMORANDUM

Brad  Hanson
Director

David  Meneses
Building

Inspectori.  a'a_' j,  j

Beth  Skow

Library  Director
TO:

Brad Hanson,  Community  Development  Director

David Meneses,  Building  Inspector

Chad Cameron,  Fire Chief

Chris Nall, Public  Works  Director

Greg Wickham,  Public  Works  Superintendent

FROM:  Nichole Degner,  Community  Development  Specialist

DATE:  February  5, 2021

SUBJECT:  Determination  of public use for tract  E-2 of Palmer Industrial  Park

Project  Location:  Northwest  corner  of E Commercial  and S Industrial  Way

The  request  is:  To determine  if there  is a future  public use of property

Inside  Palmer  city  limits 0 0utside  Palmer  city  limits

Petitionera

*Please review and comment on the attached information and return this form and drawings by
February 9th, I pm Thank you.

7. :AIA:i.:;hi'zyaz;;':.'::("'

Dept.  -,- " ?:rz7?tx/eief z r*q+;is  '

IN  llll9g  _ _
"- 'Al!h/V!101'l'%"ffi'Qi  - '= '- rx+ts  [A  ffiffiaix&  xyx  g4f  xxisisxiszyl

=(7tern!;.*oie".view) -_';) -_;5 :_.',z
Alll&lglg I-:QqLq):.  :, l  IC €&:heal  7  - _

': (checkb4oxbeloiAr)

Building Inspector

City Manager g z-8tsl
Gy-ch<  bnm('<  vo \'%rr A var-

Frzoregzy  itsi'ro Pvucariot,i.

Community
Development  Dept.

Fire Department

Public Works

In 1977 the City of Palmer sold Matanuska Electric Association (MEA) Tract E-2 Palmer Industrial  Park  for

the sole purpose of construction of a substation. A deed condition on the sale requires reversion  to the  city
if a substation is not developed. MEA became aware of the deed condition when  a title  search  was

performed because of a pending sale to Airframes Alaska. MEA has agreed to revert the property  to the

city if the city honors the sale to Airframes Alaska. In order for the cityo to seal real property there has to be

a determination the property has no future public benefit. This memo is requesting each department

review if there is a need for this property in the future. There is no provision in the deed condition  for

substantial completion of a substation by MEA. If the city does not agree to sell to Airframes AK MEA could
conceivably  hold Tract  E-2 in perpetuity.

Page 134 of 307



DEPARTMENT  OF COMMUNITY  DEVELOPMENT

MEMORANDUMjA >a 1
rJ<....  "] iL-a  4 t'

TO: John  Moosey,  City  Manager

Brad  Hanson,  Community  Development  Director

David  Meneses,  Building  Inspector

Chad  Cameron,  Fire  Chief

Brad  Hanson
Director

David  Meneses
Building

Inspector

Beth  Skow

Library  Director

Chris  Nall,  Public  Works  Director

Greg  Wickham,  Public  Works  Superintendent

FROM:  Nichole  Degner,  Community  Development  Specialist

DATE:  February  5, 2021

SUBJECT:  Determination  of  public  use for  tract  E-2 of  Palmer  Industrial  Park

Project  Location:  Northwest  corner  of  E Commercial  and  S Industrial  Way

The  request  is:  To determine  if there  is a future  public  use of  property

6J Inside  Palmer  city  limits 0 0utside  Palmer  city  limits

Petitionera

*Please  review  and comment  on the attached  information  and return  this  form  and drawings  by

February  9'h, 1 pm Thank  you.

Dept.  ' -
-(Ifems't6:reviegArj..'-':. !,..5=:; .  "l =

:': :7 ' : i:-  :' h' "' : ; ) . ..:  '. "i{Y

lr7itials- Date

No changes  - ,
necessary  - ' Comments  (Attach  pages  ifnecessary)

a _(checkbox6e7oW).,',

Building  Inspector

City  Manager

Community

Development  Dept. m ',if, x'4  % cl e-s,,e<s>5> v'r

ts  4,w 51-=w>,-!.('eS lhua-1
Fire Department

/

Public  Works

In 1977  the City of Palmer  sold Matanuska  Electric  Association  (MEA)  Tract  E-2 Palmer  Industrial  Park for

the sole purpose  of construction  of a substation.  A deed condition  on the sale requires  reversion  to the city

if a substation  is not  developed.  MEA became  aware  of  the deed condition  when  a title  search  was

performed  because  of a pending  sale to Airframes  Alaska.  MEA has agreed  to revert  the property  to the

city if the city honors  the sale to Airframes  Alaska. In order  for  the city  to sell real property  there  has to be

a determination  the properly  has no future  public  benefit.  This  memo  is requesting  each department

review  if there  is a need for  this  property  in the future.  There  is no provision  in the deed condition  For

substantial  completion  of a substation  by MEA. Ita the city  does not agree  to sell to Airframes  AK MEA could

conceivably  hold Tract  E-2 in perpetuity

Page 135 of 307



DEPARTMENT  OF COMMUNITY  DEVELOPMENT

j%
MEMORANDUM

TO: John  Moosey,  City  Manager

Brad  Hanson,  Community  Development  Director

Chad  Cameron,  Fire  Chief

Brad  Hanson
Director

David  Meneses
Building

Inspector

Beth  Skow

Library  Director

Chris  Nall,  Public  Works  Director

Greg  Wickham,  Public  Works  Superintendent

FROM:  Nichole  Degner,  Community  Development  Specialist

DATE:  February  5, 2021

SUBJECT:  Determination  of  public  use For tract  E-2 of  Palmer  Industrial  Park

Project  Location:  Northwest  corner  of  E Commercial  and  S Industrial  Way

The  request  is:  To  determine  if there  is a future  public  use of  property

e Inside  Palmer  city  limits 0 0utside  Palmer  city  limits

Petitionera

*Please  review  and comment  on the attached  information  and return  this  form  and drawings  by

February  9'h, 1 pm Thank  you.

' Dept','7 _ a-'- 5"y:; ':L' -"- '
. (15ems'tore'yiew) ' _ '

Initials- Datd

' /  '  1"

"N6-changis.s:  'a::
necessary  -

+  -  ,

'-Comments(Attachpagesifriecessary)  -_ ("
{checkboxbelow)  -

Building  Inspector ON ,2/ /
i53t

1;l(
!

City  Manager

Community

Development  Dept.

Fire Department

Public  Works

In 1977  the  City oF Palmer  sold Matanuska  Electric  Association  (MEA)  Tract  E-2 Palmer  Industrial  Park for

the sole purpose  of construction  of a substation.  A deed condition  on the sale requires  reversion  to the city

if a substation  is not developed.  MEA became  aware  of  the deed condition  when  a title  search  was

performed  because  of  a pending  sale to Airframes  Alaska.  MEA has agreed  to revert  the property  to the

city if the city honors  the sale to Airframes  Alaska. In order  for  the  city  to sell real property  there  has to be

a determination  the property  has no future  public  benefit.  This memo  is requesting  each department

review  if there  is a need for  this  property  in the future.  There  is no provision  in the deed condition  for

substantial  completion  of  a substation  by MEA. If  the city  does not  agree  to sell to Airframes  AK MEA could

conceivably  hold Tract  E-2 in perpetuity.

Page 136 of 307



DEPARTMENT  OF COMMUNITY  DEVELOPMENT

MEMORANDUM

TO: John  Moosey,  City  Manager

Brad  Hanson,  Community  Development  Director

Brad  Hanson
Director

David  Meneses
Building

Inspector

Beth  Skow
Library  Director

David  Meneses,  Building  Inspector

Chris  Nall,  Public  Works  Director

Greg  Wickham,  Public  Works  Superintendent

FROM:  Nichole  Degner,  Community  Development  Specialist

DATE:  February  5, 2021

SUBJECT:  Determination  of  public  use  for  tract  E-2 of  Palmer  Industrial  Park

Project  Location:  Northwest  corner  of  E Commercial  and  S Industrial  Way

The  request  is:  To determine  if there  is a future  public  use of  property

6a Inside  Palmer  city  limits 0 0utside  Palmer  city  limits

Petitioner:

*Please  review  and comment  on the attached  information  and return  this  form  and drawings  by

February  9'h, 1 pm Thank  you.

Dept'.  _ _-
, =(ltemsl6  reviewJ

Initials Date
No changes  -

. necessary  a 'Commepts (Attach  pagesifnecessary)"_  . - - -l
(checkboxbe_low)  '

Building  Inspector

City  Manager

Community

Development  Dept.

Fire Department @ $/;a [-

Public  Works

In 1977  the City of Palmer  sold Matanuska  Electric  Association  (MEA)  Tract  E-2 Palmer  Industrial  Park for

the sole purpose  of construction  of a substation.  A deed condition  on the sale requires  reversion  to the city

if a substation  is not developed.  MEA became  aware  of the deed condition  when  a title  search  was

performed  because  or a pending  sale to Airframes  Alaska. MEA has agreed  to revert  the property  to the

city if the city honors  the sale to Airframes  Alaska. In order  for  the city  to sell real properly  there  has to be

a determination  the property  has no future  public  benefit.  This  memo  is requesting  each department

review  if there  is a need for  this  property  in the future.  There  is no provision  in the deed condition  for

substantial  completion  of a substation  by MEA. If  the city  does not agree  to sell to Airframes  AK MEA could

conceivably  hold Tract  E-2 in perpetuity.

Page 137 of 307



DEPARTMENT  OF COMMUNITY  DEVELOPMENT

MEMORANDUM

TO: John  Moosey,  City Manager

Brad Hanson,  Community  Development  Director

David  Meneses,  Building  Inspector

Chad Cameron,  Fire Chief

Chris  Nail, Public  Works  Director

Brad  Hanson
Diredor

David  Meneses
Building

Inspector

Beth  Skow

Library  Director

FROM:  Nichole  Degner,  Community  Development  Specialist

DATE:  February  5, 2021

SUBJECT:  Determination  of public  use for  tract  E-2 of Palmer  Industrial  Park

Project  Location:  Northwest  corner  of E Commercial  and S Industrial  Way

The  request  is:  To determine  if there  is a future  public  use of property

58 Inside  Palmer  city  limits 0 0utside  Palmer  city  limits

Petitioner:

*Please review and comment  on the attached information  and return this form and drawings  by
February 9'h, 1 pm Thank  you.

Dept.
(ltemsto  review)

Initiais Date
No  changes

nice;sar77 Comments(Mtach  pagesifnecmsary)
(checkboxb'elow)

Building  Inspector

City Manager

Community

Development  Dept.

Fire Department

Public Works l,JtA e,b!iti
- /'?A Ay  ,  tm,.ets  uid

aea.(z  /1,  -4  .z/.  .a,.smb
g   - z  r- tv   -/  r7y  r  r  71

In 1977 the City of Palmer sold Matanuska Electric Association (MEA) Tract E-2 Palmer Industrial  Park for
the sole purpose of construction  of a substation. A deed condition on the sale requires reversion to the city
if a substation is not developed. MEA became aware of the deed condition  when a title  search was
performed because of a pending sale to Airframes  Alaska. MEA has agreed to revert  the property  to the
city if the city honors the sale to Airframes  Alaska. In order for the city to sell real property  there has to be
a determination  the property  has no future  public benefit. This memo is requesting each department

review if there is a need for this prope%  in the future. There is no provision in the deed condition for
substantial completion  of a substation by MEA. If  the city does not agree to sell to Airframes  AK MEA could
conceivably hold Tract E-2 in perpetuity

Page 138 of 307



MATAj'4USKA  5C  ASSOCIATK)N

March  18,  2021

RE: Tract  E-2, Palmer  Industrial  Park  Subdivision,  Plat  77-19

MEA  Disclaimer  of Interest  and  Cost  Recovery
Consent  to Reversion

City  of  Palmer

Brad  Hanson,  Director  Community  Development
645  E. Cope  Industrial  Way

Palmer,  AK  99645

Greetings  Mr. Hanson,

As you know,  MEA  received  the  above  stated  property  from  the City  of Palmer  (CoP)  by Grant

Deed,  dated  June  7, I 977. MEA  planned  to use  the  property  for  an electrical  substation  according

to conditions  of the  deed.  The  property  is now  unsuitable  for  the  stipulated  purposes,  and MEA

engaged  with  a potential  purchaser  of  the  property.

A reversion  clause  contained  in the  deed  prevents  any  other  use  or sale  of  the  property  to another

party.  MEA  is prepared  to return  the  property  to the CoP  subject  to said  stipulations  of  the  deed.

In addition,  MEA  is seeking  to recover  its costs  related  to the  prior  anticipated  sale.  Costs  include

the removal  two 30-feet  tall, more  or less, I-beam  po!es  that  were  imbedded  into the site; title

certification  analysis  and MEA  administrative  costs.  These  amount  to a $3,000  expenditure
toward  the inspection  and then-anticipated  sale  of  the property.

Finally,  subject  to your  request  for information  about  the potential  sale  agreement,  MEA  and

Northland  Hangers,  LLC  initially  agreed  to a negotiated  sale  price  of $34,200.  This  was  based
on the  tax  assessed  value,  plus  removal  of I-beam  poles  and  reliable  title  information

Please  call or  write  for  any  questions.

Sincere

Manny

Land  Services  M

Matanuska  Electri

manny.lopez@mea.
907-761-9311

Page 139 of 307



Page 140 of 307



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-025 

 
Subject:  Approving a Council Community Grant in the Amount of $2,500.00 to Who Let the Girls Out Supporting 
the 2021 Event 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Norma Alley, City Clerk 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 2,500.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
√ Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 2,500.00 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 01-02-10-6068 Community Council Grants 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 141 of 307



Attachment(s):  
1. Council Grant Application 
2. PMC 2.04.160 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
Per Palmer Municipal Code 2.04.160(F), I have reviewed the application for completeness, and I am forwarding 
the application to City Council for Council’s consideration. 
 
In February, 2014, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 14-043, which established the Council Community 
Grant program. The City Council approved $12,000.00 in the Community Council Grants line item for 2021. 
 

Legislation # Organization Amount Date Approved 
AM No. 21-017 Hatcher Pass Avalanche Center $5,000.00 March 9 
AM No. 21-025 Who Let the Girls Out TBD  
AM No. 21-026 Who Let the Runners Out TBD  
    
    

Total 2021 Grants approved prior: $5,000.00  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 142 of 307



Page 143 of 307



Page 144 of 307



Page 145 of 307



Page 146 of 307



Page 147 of 307



Page 148 of 307



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 21-026 

 
Subject:  Approving a Council Community Grant in the Amount of $2,000.00 to Who Let the Runners Out 
Supporting the 2021 5K and 1K Run/Walk Event 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Norma Alley, City Clerk 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 2,000.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
√ Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 2,000.00 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 01-02-10-6068 Community Council Grants 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 149 of 307



Attachment(s):  
1. Council Grant Application 
2. PMC 2.04.160 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
Per Palmer Municipal Code 2.04.160(F), I have reviewed the application for completeness, and I am forwarding 
the application to City Council for Council’s consideration. 
 
In February, 2014, the City Council adopted Ordinance No. 14-043, which established the Council Community 
Grant program. The City Council approved $12,000.00 in the Community Council Grants line item for 2021. 
 

Legislation # Organization Amount Date Approved 
AM No. 21-017 Hatcher Pass Avalanche Center $5,000.00 March 9 
AM No. 21-025 Who Let the Girls Out TBD  
AM No. 21-026 Who Let the Runners Out TBD  
    
    

Total 2021 Grants approved prior: $5,000.00  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 150 of 307



Page 151 of 307



Page 152 of 307



Page 153 of 307



Page 154 of 307



Page 155 of 307



Page 156 of 307



City of Palmer  
Information Memorandum No. 21-002 

 
Subject:  Presentation By Agnew::Beck of Finding for Community and Economic Analysis for  Preparation of an 
Annexation Petition 
 
Agenda of: April 13, 2021 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Brad Hanson, Director Community Development 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
√  Community Development 

 

 March 24, 2021 
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

Page 157 of 307



Attachment(s):  
1. Community and Economic Analysis for the Preparation of An Annexation Petition (Draft) 
2. PowerPoint Presentation 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The City of Palmer entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Agnew::Beck on March 25, 2020 for 
consulting services to provide an Economic and Community Analysis for the preparation of an annexation strategy 
and future petition.  Total amount of the professional service contract is $129,305.  The contract was to be 
completed in November, however because of the COVID-19 Pandemic the contract was extended by mutual 
agreement until April 2021.   
 
This analysis will assist the city if Palmer City Council decides to proceed with an annexation petition.  Much of 
the data generated from the analysis will be required by the State of Alaska Local Boundary Commission for an 
annexation petition.  The data will also assist the city when considering changes to Palmer Municipal Code that 
may better suit the lifestyles and values of residents outside the current city limits. 
 
The Pandemic did present challenges with the community analysis portion of the study.  In person meeting were 
changed to online presentations.  They were lightly attended but were augmented with a website hosted by 
Agnew::Beck and an online survey.  Over 600 people took the online survey which was open from November 3 
to November 20, 2020 and January 25 to February 22, 2021.  The survey provided good feedback to understand 
annexation impacts and concerns by residents of Palmer and residents within the study areas. 
 
Upon completion of the presentation and council feedback is incorporated into the draft document, Agnew::Beck 
will provide a final copy of the analysis and will be distributed to the council. 
 
 
 

Page 158 of 307



 
 
Community and 
Economic Analysis  
For the Preparation of an Annexation Petition 

Prepared for The City of Palmer, Alaska  

March 2021 DRAFT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agnew::Beck Consulting 

Halcyon Consulting, Inc.  

Alaska Map Company 

  

Page 159 of 307



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[This page is intentionally blank.]

Page 160 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT i 

Overview and Executive Summary 

Purpose  
The purpose of this Community and Economic (i.e., Fiscal) Analysis is to provide a solid analytical 
foundation that will inform the preparation of a future annexation strategy and petition for the City of 
Palmer, should the City decide to pursue annexation. Annexation is an important tool for the City to use 
as way to promote orderly growth, development and expansion of essential services for the health, safety 
and welfare of the greater Palmer community. Communities often annex land for three main reasons.  

1. Fiscal: A local government may consider annexation when can provide services more efficiently 
to annexed areas. New revenues must be balanced with additional costs. 

2. Future: A local government may consider annexation to support economic development efforts, 
to provide space within its boundaries for new housing and/or for new businesses and 
expansions. 

3. Governance: A local government may consider annexation to maximize local control. It may 
expand where services can be provided and where local tools like land use districts can be 
applied. Annexation may also be considered to give residents who currently live outside city limits 
a direct say in local issues that impact them. 

The annexation process involves identifying land areas to be annexed, drawing up a formal petition to 
annex those areas, and submitting the petition to the Local Boundary Commission (LBC). The LBC uses 
a set of objective criteria to evaluate whether the annexation meets regulatory guidelines and weighs the 
annexation petition against public and local government testimony (written and verbal) during a review 
process that can take several months to over a year.  

Before an annexation petition is brought to the LBC, the local government submitting the annexation 
petition must show that it has the capacity and resources to extend services and governance to the 
annexed areas. The fiscal analysis of this study could serve in this capacity to support future petitions in 
that it provides estimates for the staffing, equipment, capital improvements and costs to extend services 
and governance to a number of study areas around existing boundaries. If the City were to prepare an 
annexation petition for a land area with different boundaries than any of the study areas in this report, or if 
the annexation petition happens some years in future, the fiscal analysis would be updated to reflect the 
dollar values and geographic boundaries of the annexation petition at that time.  

That said, the City of Palmer is going beyond analyzing fiscal dynamics to understand the lifestyles and 
values of the residents and business operations located outside existing City limits. Ideally, an annexation 
will be generally supported in the areas to be annexed as well as within the City. The community analysis 
part of this study provides the City with information about current community sentiment about annexation, 
with recommendations and clarifications to help inform any future discussions with neighbors about 
annexation. If the City brings a future annexation petition forward, this study provides some information 
about where and how that understanding and support can most likely to be built.  

  

Page 161 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT ii 

Process 
The analysis estimates the likely fiscal (i.e., economic) and potential community effects of annexation on 
a set of study areas that include lands outside of the City of Palmer. The analysis is guided by the City of 
Palmer’s broad goals for annexation, as articulated in the City of Palmer Annexation Strategy 
(Agnew::Beck et al, 2010): 

 To promote orderly, high quality development and the cost-effective extension of services where 
and when warranted. 

 To sustain a desirable quality of life in and around Palmer.  

 To ensure a sustainable s tax base along with long-term economic viability, fiscal health and 
natural environment in Palmer. 

The project’s process defines geographic boundaries of potential annexation areas (also called study 
areas), which allow the study to provide estimated changes in city service provision, revenues and 
expenses for the fiscal analysis. The delineation of a study area does not mean the area is recommended 
for annexation by the consulting team or by the City. Instead, these areas provide the analytical 
framework for the analysis. Areas may be accepted, rejected, or adjusted before they are part of any 
proposal or petition in the future.  

Project Timeline 

 

The study also analyzes community attitudes about annexation and its potential impacts. Where 
community members have identified specific concerns about annexation, either generally or specific to 
certain land uses, the study identifies potential ways the City can proactively address these concerns 
before putting forth an annexation petition.  

This approach of working with the greater community to understand and proactively address concerns as 
well as obtain the information needed to make wise decisions about where and when to annex territory in 
future furthers the City’s commitment to a transparent and public process and serving its constituency to 
the best of its ability. 

  

Page 162 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT iii 

Fiscal Effects of Annexation  

The project team worked with the City to identify a set of study areas for the analysis. These geographic 
boundaries simply provide guidance for the fiscal modeling. Each of the study areas has more or less 
similar land use. For the purposes of doing the study, it makes sense to look at a variety of different areas 
with different characteristics. That way, we can fully understand the range of community issues and fiscal 
effects that an annexation would have. 

The project team then worked with City staff to estimate the amount of staff, equipment, capital 
improvements (e.g., buildings) and consequent funding needed to extend services to each of the study 
areas and the all of the study areas as a whole, both in terms of general operating costs and capital 
investments. This information was used to build a fiscal model that shows current city revenues and costs 
as well as the revenues and costs that it would experience if each of the study areas (and all the study 
areas as a whole) were annexed into the City in 2020. The team applied some assumptions about how 
the general Palmer area might develop in terms of population and land use over the next 10 years to the 
model and produced a set of 2030 projections. These help us understand the longer-term fiscal effects of 
the hypothetical annexations. 

Fiscal Analysis Methodology 

 

By expanding its boundaries, a municipality increases its citizenry and often its tax base. The costs of 
providing municipal governance and services would be spread among more people, which could lower 
the taxes a given individual would pay. However, the benefits of an expanded tax base must be balanced 
against the costs of providing governance and services to the annexed areas. If the costs outweigh the 
revenue potential of the annexed areas, taxes may need to be increased and the rationale for a 
successful annexation would rest more heavily on other community goals, such as protecting the health 
and safety of community members through the extension of municipal governance, regulation and/or 
services. 

Page 163 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT iv 

Study Areas Map 

 
  

Page 164 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT v 

The fiscal analysis found that Palmer’s existing boundaries are already optimized for property and sales 
tax revenue. Any annexation of the land adjacent to existing city boundaries would not be a “land grab” in 
order to increase tax revenue. The net fiscal effects range from a small net positive ( meaning that an 
annexation could spread the costs of city services enough to allow a slight reduction in taxes), to 
essentially neutral (meaning that the City could absorb a limited land area in less populated areas and 
extend city services and governance without having to adjust taxes at all) to a net negative (meaning that 
the City would have to raise taxes to pay for the increase in services).  

Heat Map of Property Values, Taxable and Non-Taxable 

 

Page 165 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT vi 

Heat Map of Commercial Activity 

 

 

To quantify the tax changes that would be needed to balance the City budget upon annexation, the study 
looked at adjustments to sales tax only (assuming property tax stays the same) and adjustments to 
property tax only (with sales tax staying the same). The sales tax effect ranged from a potential decrease 
in sales taxes of $0.37 on every $1,000 of spending (with no change in property tax) if Study Area B were 
annexed in 2020 to a potential increase in sales taxes of $2.02 on every $1,000 of spending (again, with 
no change in property tax) if all study areas were annexed in 2020. The property tax effect ranged from a 
potential decrease in property taxes of $70-80 on a $250,000 home (with no change in sales tax) if Study 
Area B were annexed in 2020 to a potential increase in property taxes of $430 on a $250,000 home 
(again, with no change in sales tax) if Study Area F were annexed in 2020. 

These results show that annexing Study Area B could slightly reduce the amount of tax paid by each 
taxpayer within the City. This is because Study Area B has some commercial activity but few residential 
properties that require more City services. On the other extreme, Study Area F has the densest 

Page 166 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT vii 

residential neighborhoods in the greater Palmer area and little commercial activity, although it the homes 
do have property value that could contribute through property taxes. If the City were to annex all study 
areas, the commercial activity in some would balance somewhat the costs of providing services to 
residential neighborhoods, resulting in a lower tax increase than annexing Study Area F alone, but still a 
net increase in taxes to balance the City budget.  

Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation  
Scenario 

Operating Costs Capital Costs Net Annual 
Operating 

and Capital 
Repayment  
Fiscal Effect 

($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Revenues 
($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Costs ($) 

Net 
Operating 

Fiscal 
Effect ($) 

Est. 
Initial 

Capital 
Costs ($) 

Annual 
Debt 

Repayment 
($) 

Area A Only 26,000 36,000 -10,000 0 0 -10,000 

Area B Only 187,000 48,000 139,000 0 0 139,000 

Area C Only 46,000 68,000 -22,000 0 0 -22,000 

Area D Only 997,000 1,457,000 -460,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -725,000 

Area E Only 626,000 1,175,000 -549,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -814,000 

Area F Only 656,000 1,380,000 -724,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -989,000 

Areas E+G 1,176,000 1,189,000 -13,000 3,930,000 -337,000 -350,000 

All Study 
Areas 

3,087,000 3,535,000 -448,000 5,465,000 -469,000 -917,000 

 

Budget-Balancing Tax Rate Changes 

Annexation 
Scenario 

All Property Tax Approach All Sales Tax Approach 

Mil Rate 
Change 

Required 
to Balance 
Budget (3 
mils + …) 

Annual Cost 
to Owner of 
$250,000 in 

Property 
(City of 

Palmer, $) 

Annual Cost to 
Owner of 

$250,000 in 
Property 
(Annexed 
Area, $) 

Sales Tax Rate 
Change 

Required to 
Balance Budget 

(3%+ …) 

Effect per 
$1,000 of 

Commercial 
Activity at Non-

Exempt 
Businesses ($) 

Area A Only 0.02 5 3 0.004 0.03 

Area B Only -0.29 -70 -80 -0.055 -0.37 

Area C Only 0.05 10 10 0.009 0.06 

Area D Only 1.21 300 300 0.285 1.90 

Area E Only 1.54 390 380 0.316 2.10 

Area F Only 1.73 430 430 0.391 2.60 

Areas E+G 0.66 160 160 0.127 0.85 

All Study Areas 1.18 290 290 0.302 2.02 

Page 167 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT viii 

Looking to the future, the study finds that annexation of most areas studied in this analysis would still 
result in net negative annual fiscal effects in the year 2030. Looking at individual study areas, the model 
projects that in Study Areas A, B, C and E, fiscal gaps would start to close as the population increases 
and the City realizes economies of scale. However, the analysis projects that the net fiscal effects of 
annexation will worsen in Study Areas D, F and G, where tax resources are not expected to catch up with 
the costs of service provision. 

2030 Projections: Change in Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation 
Scenario 

2030 Environment Changes 2030 Fiscal Changes Change 
in Net 
Fiscal 
Effect 
2020-
2030 

New 
Pop-

ulation 

New 
Housing 

Units 

New 
Property 
Tax ($) 

New 
Sales 

Tax ($) 

Revenue 
Change 

($) 

Operating 
Cost 

Change ($) 

Capital 
Cost 

Change 

Area A Only 10 4 1,000 5,000 8,000 5,000 0 3,000 

Area B Only 39 15 9,000 48,000 62,000 18,000 0 44,000 

Area C Only 39 15 11,000 4,000 19,000 17,000 0 2,000 

Area D Only 103 40 33,000 129,000 176,000 224,000 14,500 -62,500 

Area E Only 221 86 53,000 95,000 169,000 127,000 0 42,000 

Area F Only 214 83 53,000 52,000 133,000 389,000 14,500 -270,500 

Areas E+G 224 87 51,000 250,000 -93,000 128,000 0 -221,000 

All Study 
Areas 

630 244 159,000 488,000 306,000 387,000 14,500 -95,500 

 

In purely fiscal terms, these findings led the project team to recommend an annexation strategy that either 
takes a modest approach of annexing smaller area(s) over time that have little to no effect on City budget 
and operations, or to annex a large enough area that the annexation would include areas of higher 
taxable potential (usually commercial areas) to help balance the costs of areas with lower taxable 
potential and higher service needs (primarily residential neighborhoods). 

Community Considerations 

This study represents the very beginning of conversations by the City of Palmer with neighbors in the 
area about the possibilities of annexation. Community outreach was done during the COVID-19 
pandemic. To ensure safety, outreach was conducted through an online survey, web meetings, 
interviews/focus group conversations, online presentations (e.g., to the Palmer Chamber of Commerce), 
email and phone conversations with concerned citizens and neighbors inside and outside existing City 
boundaries. Results show that there is a wide range of opinion about whether the city should annex land 
from people inside and outside city boundaries. The majority of those who shared their thoughts do not 
support annexation at this time; some do support annexation, and some need more information.  

Page 168 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT ix 

General Level of Support for Annexation 

 

Resident Support for Annexation 
 

Live in City 
Live in Study 

Area 
Live Outside SA 

& City All Residents 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 17 17% 244 67% 76 54% 337 56% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 21 21% 62 17% 19 14% 102 17% 

Response indicated 
possible support 61 62% 56 15% 45 32% 162 27% 

Total 99 100% 362 100% 140 100% 601 100% 

Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area 

Study Area 
Total Resident 
Respondents # Support Annexation % Support Annexation 

Study Area A 7 3 43% 

Study Area B 6 0 0% 

Study Area C 14 1 7% 

Study Area D 80 15 19% 

Study Area E 98 15 15% 

Study Area F 153 19 12% 

Study Area G 7 3 43% 

13%

14%

3%

12%

44%

13%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs 
to the City, my household and/or business increase in 
the short term because of the benefits annexation will 

provide to the community.

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it 
makes fiscal sense to my household, business and/or 

the City.

I have no opinion about annexation

I do not currently support annexation but could
support it if my concerns were addressed.

I do not support annexation under any circumstances.

I need more information about annexation to make an
informed choice.

Page 169 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT x 

Business Owner Support for Annexation 

 
Own Business in 

City 
Own Business in 

Study Area 

Own Business 
Outside Study 
Area and City All Business 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 20 39% 53 74% 31 62% 104 60% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 9 18% 11 15% 3 6% 23 13% 

Response indicated 
possible support 22 43% 8 11% 16 32% 46 27% 

Total 51 100% 72 100% 50 100% 173 100% 

 

When asked an open-ended question about the perceived benefits of annexation, 51 percent of all 
respondents indicated they saw no benefits to annexation. Positive responses (18 percent of total 
responses) reflected the themes below: 

 Access to or improved City services, generally  

 Access to specific services: police, water and sewer, road maintenance and streetlights, staffed 
fire station, bike paths 

 Attracting businesses and families 

 Everyone in the area living by the same rules 

 Less confusion about city boundaries 
 Lifestyle preferences 

 More opportunities for input on future planning and growth 

 Possibility of increased City revenue and/or broader tax base 

 Possibility of new jobs at City and area businesses 

 Representation in City government 

 Zoning and land use regulations, with more controls than under current Borough codes 

Neutral responses addressed themes like the need for more information or mixed views about benefits 
when weighed against challenges or applied to the area the respondent was most familiar with.  

Community Fiscal Concerns: In open-ended responses, five percent of all survey respondents noted 
positive impacts to the City’s revenues and/or tax base as a benefit of annexation, and nearly 30 percent 
of all respondents indicated that city taxes and fees would be a concern. 65 percent of survey 
respondents viewed City property tax as a detriment, primarily concerned about possible increases in 
property taxes. 71 percent of survey respondents viewed City sales tax as a detriment, including 
residents who limit their spending overall and particularly do not want to pay sales tax on locally grown 
food. Business respondents voiced concern that having to collect city sales tax and the online sales tax 
would hurt their business because their competition does not have to charge sales taxes to customers. 

Page 170 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xi 

Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents 

 
 

Planning and Growth Management: Public outreach revealed very mixed viewpoints about the planning 
and growth management aspects of annexation. Some view annexation and the City’s ability to do land 
use planning as the key to growth for Palmer, attracting businesses and families, opening more economic 
opportunities and allowing the community to develop with assurances of zoning control to avoid 
incompatible uses and maintain the small-town feel of the area. Others expressed concerns that 
annexation would encourage growth and, with it, crime, high density housing without the infrastructure to 
support it, traffic, and unwanted levels of commercial development. Several commented on the 
importance of maintaining Palmer’s small town feel and protecting farmland. Some respondents 
expressed general opposition to zoning and other land use regulations (67 percent of survey respondents 
viewed City zoning and land use regulations as a detriment), while others voiced the desire for greater 
enforcement of existing city regulations inside the City. Responses indicate that people generally want to 

17%

28%

31%

26%

17%

18%

18%

20%

16%

32%

30%

27%

22%

12%

17%

18%

11%

9%

12%

12%

15%

15%

17%

14%

56%

30%

28%

34%

46%

56%

48%

48%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Newly annexed areas will have to comply with City
zoning and other land use regulations

New residents would be able to vote in City elections,
run for office, and serve on City Council, boards and

commissions, etc.

Palmer Police would be extended into newly annexed
areas.

City road maintenance would be extended into newly
annexed areas.

Newly annexed areas would be required to have trash
collection.

Businesses in annexed areas would collect City sales
tax

Landowners in annexed areas would pay City property
taxes and would stop paying Mat-Su Borough non-

areawide property taxes assessments.

Building permits would be required and building safety
codes would have to be met for new construction in

newly annexed areas.

Significant benefit for the area Slight benefit for the area Slight detriment to the area

Significant detriment to the area No Response

Page 171 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xii 

be able to keep doing what they have been doing with their land; many expressed support for 
grandfathering existing land uses in any annexed territory. 62 percent of survey respondents viewed City 
building codes, permits and inspections as a detriment, some expressing concerns about the costs 
associated with code compliance and permitting. Suggestions reflected a desire for the City to be more 
flexible or not require these for structures like sheds, decks, storage buildings, fences, etc.  

Overall, the Palmer-area community has mixed views about City services. Some city services seen as a 
benefit; others prefer their existing services or expressed concern about the City’s ability to extend 
services to a large area. In total, if all the study areas were annexed, it would effectively increase the 
City’s population by 58 percent, making Palmer the fourth largest city and the twelfth largest organized 
municipality by population in Alaska.  

Police: Palmer police was identified as a benefit of a potential annexation by 61 percent of survey 
respondents. Some area residents want access to police services to receive a more rapid response from 
law enforcement officers, while others prefer the Alaska State Troopers. A few respondents also voiced 
concerns about the expense of expanding the City’s police force and about the City’s ability to find 
qualified people to hire for the new positions and to pay them a competitive salary. 

Road Maintenance: Palmer road maintenance was identified as a benefit of a potential annexation by 53 
percent of survey respondents. Some area residents view potential annexation benefits to include road 
maintenance and improvements, particularly streetlights in some neighborhoods. Other respondents do 
not want City road maintenance, nor do they want to pay for it. Some of these responses specifically 
mentioned concerns about the City’s ability to provide adequate snow removal and to find people willing 
to accept any new maintenance positions unless it raises salaries and wages for the positions. 

Garbage Collection: The City’s existing policy to require garbage collection service was considered a 
detriment by 61 percent of survey respondents. In the study areas, respondents generally want to be able 
to choose how their garbage is dealt with, whether hauling their own trash, contracting with the City or a 
provider of their choice, rather than being told by regulation how to manage their waste.   

Other Services: Some open-ended responses indicated that if annexation resulted in faster fire and 
emergency response or staffed fire stations in their area, that would be considered a benefit. Responses 
showed mixed attitudes toward City water and sewer, which ranged from piped water and sewer being 
the only thing they would want out of an annexation to objections to the idea that they might have to hook 
up to City water and sewer when they already have functioning well and septic systems.  

Governance: Some area residents see benefits to annexation from having more of a voice in local 
government, a wider pool of eligible candidates to run for public office, and potentially a more involved 
voter base. 60 percent of survey respondents view the ability to vote, run for City offices, and/or serve on 
Palmer City Council, boards and commissions as a benefit of a potential annexation. The fiscal study 
shows that many people in the study areas are already paying for Palmer City government through sales 
tax, but do not have representation. 

Regulations: Lifestyle differences between areas inside City and outside the City limits were reflected in 
community comments about the City’s regulations. Only two percent of all survey responses mentioned 
regulations as benefits in open-ended questions, whereas 29 percent mentioned regulations as concerns. 
As benefits, responses mentioned land use and/or building regulations as a way to manage growth and 
protect Palmer’s small-town character. A few responses mentioned a sense of everyone following the 
same rules as a benefit, especially for code compliance or simplifying law enforcement. The main 
concerns about city regulations stated a general desire to minimize any governmental rules, the desire to 
use firearms and off-road vehicles; burn trash, have fire pits and set off fireworks on their property; and 

Page 172 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xiii 

keep a variety of animals on their land. Many responses suggested grandfathering or making regulatory 
allowances to retain existing lifestyles and businesses.  

Areas of Concern, All Respondents 

 
 
Communication and the need for more (or more accurate) information were strong themes in the public 
outreach activities. Around 15 percent of survey responses and other public outreach activities reflected a 
desire for more information in order to have an opinion about annexation. A number of survey responses 
also suggested the City improve existing service provision before making an annexation petition. Some of 
these concerns could be due to misunderstanding about where City boundaries are, how the City 
operates and the limits of what it can do. These concerns may also provide useful direction for the City 
about where to focus information-sharing and departmental improvements. Comments mentioned:  

 Improve City road maintenance: pave rutted gravel roads; upgrade aging paved roads; improve 
snow removal and general maintenance on Colony Way, Arctic Boulevard and other streets that 
branch off them. 

 Improve/repair storm water collection systems, curb and gutter.  

 Keep sidewalks clear. 

 Increase repair and replacement for aging City facilities, generally.  

 Improve the Palmer Sr. League field. 

Communication, Process 
and Timeline

5%

Taxes and Fees 
(incl. Property 

and Sales Taxes)
29%

Growth and 
Community 

Planning
7%

Land Use 
Regulations

3%Building Codes, Permits, etc.
3%

City Services and Infrastructure (incl. 
Police, Roads, Garbage, Water/Sewer)

17%

Governance
3%

Regulations (incl. 
Guns, OHVs, 

Animals, Burn 
Permits, 

Water/Sewer, 
Garbage)

23%

Businesses and 
Economic Development

4%

Farms
3%

Fix it First
3%

Page 173 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xiv 

 Clarify if, when and how the water and sewer utility would extend piped service. City "water 
pressure can be limited at times." 

 Clarify City trash collection service areas and policies.  

 Improve fire response times (in study areas).  

 Expand the police force and improve morale in the Police Department.  
 Reduce crime and increase vehicle safety enforcement ("Automobiles and Trucks are permitted 

to be operated with one headlight, Violations emissions"). 

 Increase enforcement for junk vehicles, property maintenance, single family residential zoning.  

 Pay City employees better, specifically police, emergency/first responders, and public works. 

 Address homelessness in the City. 

 Improve the City’s reputation for fiscal management to address concerns that annexation is 
intended only to increase revenue for the City. 

Recommendations  

Continue Ongoing Communication 

Regardless of whether the City brings forward an annexation petition in future, this study recommends 
continued conversations with existing City residents and neighbors about making Palmer’s city 
government the best it can be. Survey responses reflected a desire for more frequent and open 
communication between the City and area residents, generally and specific to the annexation process.  

City of Palmer boundaries have been stable for nearly the past 20 years and already capture the majority 
of taxable property values and commercial activity in the general area. Any future annexation would not 
be a “land grab” to increase revenue to the City. Instead, the fiscal analysis reveals that future annexation 
around Palmer would have to be in service of a greater community vision that would motivate City and 
area residents and busines to support a potential (though most likely modest) increase in taxes over 2020 
tax rates. A number of survey responses asked for a clear "why" statement to better understand the City’s 
motivations for annexing more land and a better understanding of the benefits of annexation to all 
concerned. 

The City could build on the stability it currently experiences by making improvements in service provision 
to the extent possible, as well as any needed or chosen adjustments or clarifications to city regulations. 
Regulatory/policy changes that came up during the community analysis as worthy of consideration 
include:  

 Building permits, fees and inspections (especially for sheds, fences, decks) are currently 
required per PMC Title 15 Buildings and Construction. The City could make some degree of the 
building permitting and inspection process optional or voluntary. For example, AMC 23.05.030 
makes the building permit, review, and inspection processes optional in areas outside the 
Anchorage Building Safety Service Area (ABSSA).  

 Garbage collection is currently required per PMC Chapter 8.20 Garbage Collection and 
Disposal. The City could allow property owners to choose private collection service or self-haul 
outside the City’s service area. Anchorage does this per AMC 27.70.030. 

 Discharge of firearms is currently prohibited within City limits except at permitted practice 
facilities per PMC Chapter 9.74 Discharge of Firearms. The City could designate areas in code 
where hunting is allowed, like the City of Kenai per KMC 13.15.010 Discharge of firearms. 
Anchorage and Juneau also prohibit the discharge of firearms except in designated areas. 

 Off Highway Vehicles (OHVs) are not currently permitted on streets except to cross them per 
PMC Chapter 10.08 Regulation of Off-highway Vehicles. The City could allow licensed operation 

Page 174 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xv 

of OHVs, like the City of Kenai per KMC Chapter 13.40 Off-road Operations of Motor Vehicles. 
Designated pathways for OHV use could also be created alongside primary streets. 

 Burning trash, fire pits, fireworks. Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue recreational burn permits 
for fire pits and burn permits for certain types of debris on private property. Fireworks are allowed 
without a permit on New Year’s Eve per PMC Chapter 8.42 Fireworks. The City could adjust 
allowances on burn permits and/or fireworks. For example, Anchorage allows recreational or 
ceremonial fires if they are managed according to specific safety guidelines and obtain a burn 
permit if necessary. However, burning debris/waste materials is prohibited within the municipality.  

 Animal restrictions. The City allows a variety of pet and livestock animals per PMC Title 6 
Animals, depending on zoning per PMC Title 17 Zoning. All species of livestock mentioned in 
comments are already allowed on land zoned for agriculture or on lots of 1+ acres if they do not 
go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line. The City could allow more dogs per parcel or dogs off-
leash. Dog kennels are an allowable use by right on land zoned BP Business Park. 

City staff could continue to engage in surveys and listening sessions to obtain regular feedback from the 
people about where improvements can or have been made. Building on the common things people value 
about life in and around Palmer, the City would benefit from documenting the ways in which it has (and 
continues to) improved quality of life, achieved efficiencies in providing services and optimized its tax 
base. Increase awareness of the City’s role in community successes. 

More communication about the City’s planning activities may also be helpful. Some respondents were not 
aware of the City’s long-term plans for expanding services, land use planning or desired areas for future 
growth. Before engaging in a proposal for annexation, the City may want to increase area knowledge of 
and involvement in both shorter-term planning for general operations and capital projects over the next 
few years, as well as longer-term plans, such as Palmer’s Comprehensive Plan, which has not been 
updated since 2006. Though not reflected in survey results, the City may decide to be more actively 
involved in economic development planning and related activities in future.    

Choose an Annexation Approach 

If the City prepares a petition for annexation in future, the findings of this study suggest the City take 
either a “Go Big” approach and work toward a large-scale annexation, or “Go Small” and work toward 
bringing in smaller areas that would have minimal fiscal effects to the City. This decision should be 
informed by the City’s comfort level in expanding its operations as well as conversations with area 
residents. A few survey responses and meeting comments questioned why the study areas did not 
include certain areas, such as the areas south of inner Springer Inn Spring Hill and Outer Springer (Rocky 
Point, Sky Ranch, River Bend, and Colony Estate subdivisions) and Marsh Road in Study Area B. One 
respondent suggested the City consider taking an incremental approach, annexing one or two areas first, 
then adding more at a later date.  

Continue the Conversation 

This community analysis suggests that the City should start talking to neighbors early and often about 
annexation. The overall message was that, whether it benefits them or not, area residents and 
businesses want to be part of the decision to annex, rather than feel like the City is imposing boundary 
expansion on them. Some comments reflected a belief that the City is already planning to move forward 
with annexation regardless of residents’ input and intends to take action soon after the study is completed 
without further opportunity for discussion. Continuous education about the multi-step annexation process 
and opportunities for public involvement in the decision may help alleviate some of these concerns. 
Community suggestions included keeping neighbors informed and providing opportunities for them to 
voice concerns as the process moves forward through mailers, door-to-door fliers, more surveys, 
informational question-and-answer sessions, and door-to-door discussions or meetings with homeowners 

Page 175 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xvi 

and business associations. A number of survey responses asked for as much information as possible 
about the process, timelines and what to expect in any annexation process. This report can provide 
general guidance, but the transition plan developed for any future annexation petition will be critical for 
informing new citizens about the specific changes they can expect upon becoming part of the city, how 
and when those changes will take place.  

When it comes time for the City to decide on making an annexation petition, some respondents 
suggested the City consider basing its decision on a majority vote among residents/property owners in 
the areas considered for annexation. It is unlikely that any annexation petition that has not been created 
by the request of landowners will have 100 percent support. However, some areas may have enough to 
support to demonstrate a likelihood of success through a vote of the people in an area of consideration.  

Page 176 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xvii 

Table of Contents 
Overview and Executive Summary ............................................................................................... i 

Purpose ........................................................................................................................................ i 

Process ........................................................................................................................................ii 

Fiscal Effects of Annexation ................................................................................................... iii 

Community Considerations .................................................................................................. viii 

Recommendations ............................................................................................................... xiv 

Introduction to Annexation ........................................................................................................... 1 

Annexation in Alaska ................................................................................................................... 1 

Role of the Local Boundary Commission (LBC) ..................................................................... 1 

Petition Methods ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Local Boundary Commission Annexation Standards ............................................................. 5 

City of Palmer and Surrounding Areas........................................................................................ 6 

History .................................................................................................................................... 6 

Land Use and Economy ......................................................................................................... 6 

Palmer’s Annexation History: Lessons Learned .................................................................... 7 

Fiscal Analysis ............................................................................................................................... 9 

Study Areas ................................................................................................................................. 9 

Fiscal Analysis Methodology ..................................................................................................... 11 

Individual Model Components .............................................................................................. 12 

2030 Projections ................................................................................................................... 21 

Fiscal Impact Analysis ............................................................................................................... 22 

Fiscal Effects ........................................................................................................................ 22 

Community Analysis .................................................................................................................... 30 

Community Analysis Methodology ............................................................................................ 30 

Interviews and Meetings ....................................................................................................... 30 

Survey .................................................................................................................................. 30 

Research and Reflection ...................................................................................................... 31 

Community Impact Analysis ...................................................................................................... 32 

Community Fiscal Concerns ................................................................................................ 36 

Planning and Growth Management ...................................................................................... 38 

Public Services and Infrastructure ....................................................................................... 42 

Governance .......................................................................................................................... 53 

Projected Annexation Impacts by Study Area .......................................................................... 63 

Page 177 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xviii 

Study Area A ............................................................................................................................. 63 

Study Area B ............................................................................................................................. 65 

Study Area C ............................................................................................................................. 67 

Study Area D ............................................................................................................................. 69 

Study Area E ............................................................................................................................. 71 

Study Area F ............................................................................................................................. 73 

Study Area G (and E) ................................................................................................................ 75 

Transition Plan ............................................................................................................................. 77 

Transfer Process ....................................................................................................................... 77 

Policy Implications ..................................................................................................................... 81 

A History of Annexation in Palmer ............................................................................................ 85 

A Piecemeal Approach to Annexation .................................................................................. 85 

A More Comprehensive Approach to Annexation ................................................................ 85 

Providing for Orderly Community Growth and Development ............................................... 86 

Interview Questions ................................................................................................................... 89 

Residents and the General Public ........................................................................................ 89 

Developers, Real Estate and Property Owners ................................................................... 89 

Survey Questions ...................................................................................................................... 89 
 

Figures 

Figure 1. Annexation Process .......................................................................................................... 4 

Figure 2. Palmer Annexation History ............................................................................................... 8 

Figure 3. Study Areas Map ............................................................................................................ 10 

Figure 4. Fiscal Analysis Methodology .......................................................................................... 11 

Figure 5. Greater Palmer Land Ownership, 2021 .......................................................................... 13 

Figure 6. Heat Map of Property Values, Taxable and Non-Taxable .............................................. 14 

Figure 7. Heat Map of Commercial Activity .................................................................................... 16 

Figure 8. FY 2020 City of Palmer Adopted General Fund Expenditures ....................................... 20 

Figure 9. General Level of Support for Annexation ....................................................................... 32 

Figure 10. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents ................ 34 

Figure 11. Areas of Concern, All Respondents ............................................................................. 35 

Figure 12. Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area .......................................................... 46 

Figure 13. South Colony Road Service Area ................................................................................. 48 

Figure 14. City of Palmer Refuse Collection Service Area ............................................................ 50 

Figure 15. Palmer Water and Sewer Utility Service Area .............................................................. 52 

Page 178 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xix 

Figure 16. Study Area A ................................................................................................................. 63 

Figure 17. Study Area B ................................................................................................................. 65 

Figure 18. Study Area C ................................................................................................................. 67 

Figure 19. Study Area D ................................................................................................................. 69 

Figure 20. Study Area E ................................................................................................................. 71 

Figure 21. Study Area F ................................................................................................................. 73 

Figure 22. Study Area G ................................................................................................................ 75 

Figure 23. 2006 Palmer Annexation Study Area Map ................................................................... 87 

Figure 24. Survey Respondents Round 1 and 2 ............................................................................ 93 

Figure 25. General Level of Support for Annexation ..................................................................... 94 

Figure 26. Resident Respondents ................................................................................................. 94 

Figure 27. Where Survey Respondents Work ............................................................................... 95 

Figure 28. Business Owner Respondents ..................................................................................... 96 

Figure 29. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents ................ 97 

Figure 30. Areas of Concern, All Respondents ............................................................................. 99 

 

Tables 

Table 1. Local Boundary Commission Standards for City Annexation ............................................ 5 

Table 2. Estimated Population by Area, 2010 and 2020 ............................................................... 12 

Table 3. Assessed Property Values, 2020 ..................................................................................... 15 

Table 4. Estimated Sales Tax Base (Excluding Utility Taxes) ....................................................... 15 

Table 5. Road Lane Miles .............................................................................................................. 17 

Table 6. Estimated Annual Sales Taxes by Area, Current Tax Structure ...................................... 18 

Table 7. Potential Property Tax Revenues .................................................................................... 18 

Table 8. Estimated Additional Revenues ....................................................................................... 19 

Table 9. Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario ...................................................................... 24 

Table 10. Budget-Balancing Tax Rate Changes............................................................................ 27 

Table 11. 2030 Projections: Change in Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario ..................... 28 

Table 12. Respondent Demographics ........................................................................................... 31 

Table 13. Resident Support for Annexation ................................................................................... 33 

Table 14. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area ........................................................... 33 

Table 15. Business Owner Support for Annexation ....................................................................... 33 

Table 16. Pre-Annexation Consultation ......................................................................................... 77 

Table 17. Resident Support for Annexation ................................................................................... 95 

Page 179 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xx 

Table 18. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area ........................................................... 95 

Table 19. Business Owner Support for Annexation ....................................................................... 96 

Table 20. Respondent Demographics ......................................................................................... 107 

  

Page 180 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition DRAFT xxi 

Abbreviations 
AAC  Alaska Administrative Code 

ABSSA Anchorage Building Safety Service Area 

ADEC Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation 

ADOLWD  Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development 

ADT  Average Daily Traffic 

AMC Anchorage Municipal Code 

APUC  Alaska Public Utilities Commission 

ATV All-Terrain Vehicle 

CBJ City and Borough of Juneau 

CCR  Covenants, Codes and Restrictions 

CIP  Capital Improvement Plan  

COP City of Palmer 

DCCED  State of Alaska Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 

FAQ Frequently Asked Questions 

IRS  Internal Revenue Service 

ISO  Insurance Services Office  

KMC Kenai Municipal Code 

LBC Local  Boundary Commission 

LID  Local Improvement District 

Mat-Su Matanuska-Susitna 

MBC Matanuska-Susitna Borough Code 

MSB Matanuska-Susitna Borough 

NPDES  National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

NRA National Rifle Association 

OHV  Off-Highway Vehicle  

PILOT  Payment In Lieu Of Taxes 

PMC  Palmer Municipal Code 

SALT  State and Local Taxes 

 

 

 

Page 181 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 1 

Introduction to Annexation 

Annexation in Alaska 
Alaska cities, boroughs, and unified municipalities extend their boundaries through annexation. The 
annexation process is shown in Figure 1. A petition for the annexation of some territory into a city or 
borough is made to the State of Alaska, and a decision is made by the State of Alaska through the Local 
Boundary Commission about whether to proceed with the annexation or not.  

Role of the Local Boundary Commission (LBC) 

Alaska’s state constitution (Article X, Section 12) established a Local Boundary Commission with the 
power to consider and approve any proposed local governmental boundary change, subject only to veto 
by the State Legislature (Article X, Section 12, Alaska Constitution). 

The Alaska Supreme Court clarified the LBC’s purpose and role in a landmark 1962 decision:1  

“Article X [of the Alaska Constitution] was drafted and submitted by the Committee on Local 
Government, which held a series of 31 meetings between November 15 and December 19, 1955. 
An examination of the relevant minutes of those meetings shows clearly the concept that was in 
mind when the local boundary commission section was being considered: that local political 
decisions do not usually create proper boundaries and that boundaries should be established at 
the state level. The advantage of the method proposed, in the words of the committee: “. . . lies in 
placing the process at a level where area-wide or state-wide needs can be taken into account. By 
placing authority in this third-party, arguments for and against boundary change can be analyzed 
objectively.” 

Fundamentally, the role of the LBC is to ensure an objective review of local city and borough boundaries 
to avoid placing sole decision-making responsibilities with local governments, particularly with respect to 
boundaries which can be difficult to properly define.2 The Alaska Division of Community and Regional 
Affairs provides staff support to the LBC, and also provides technical assistance to petitioners and to the 
general public. 

Petition Methods 

State statutes and administrative regulations define the method by which local governments may propose 
local governmental boundary changes, the LBC’s procedures for considering proposals, and the 
standards by which the LBC must evaluate proposals.  

Annexation by Legislative Review 

The primary, default method by which local governments may seek to alter their boundaries is the 
legislative review procedure authorized by the Alaska state constitution. Several important features of this 
process should be noted: 

 The only means by which Alaskan cities can alter their boundaries is by an annexation petition to 
the LBC.  

 
1 Fairview Public Utility District No. 1 v. City of Anchorage, 368 P.2nd 540 (Alaska 1962). 

2 Local Boundary Commission. Report to the 29th Alaska State Legislature, 1st Session February 2015. 

Page 182 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 2 

 Cities and certain other parties may propose local boundary changes by petition to the LBC, but 
only the LBC can approve a boundary change. Cities cannot, by themselves, change their local 
boundaries. 

 The LBC reviews the petition for compliance with applicable standards (summarized in the 
following pages). 

 As part of its review, the LBC conducts an extensive process for public comment, including a 
local public hearing. Both supporters and opponents of annexation have the opportunity to argue 
the merits of their position before the LBC. 

 Based on the petition record, the LBC may approve, amend (or impose conditions and approve), 
or disapprove the petition. To approve a petition, the LBC must find that the petition satisfies all 
applicable standards.  

 If the LBC approves the petition, it presents the petition to the State Legislature. The Legislature 
may disapprove the petition only by a resolution approved by a majority of members of each 
house. Approval is by tacit consent; meaning that the petition is approved through no action by 
the State Legislature.  

 Proposed boundary changes are not decided by local vote, even when the local action pathway 
to annexation is utilized (see the next section). The legislative process to annex land is consistent 
with the constitutional intent, affirmed by the Alaska Supreme Court, to place decisions about 
often contentious local boundary changes “at a level where area-wide or state-wide needs can be 
taken into account” and where “arguments for and against boundary change can be analyzed 
objectively” by a third party. 

In summary, the legislative review process through Alaska’s constitution, state law and administrative 
regulations set detailed rules for petitioners, opponents, and supporters of annexation petitions as they 
argue their position before the LBC. In the legislative review procedure, LBC regulations require local 
governments to hold at least one local public hearing on a draft annexation petition before the local 
governing body can approve the final petition for submittal to the LBC. However, experience has shown 
that local governments are well advised to conduct an extensive and open public information and 
consultation process as they consider the merits of a proposed annexation. 

Annexation by Local Action 

The Alaska Legislature has authorized limited exceptions to the legislative review method for boundary 
changes. The Legislature has waived its authority to review certain non-controversial city annexation 
petitions, called local action petitions. These petitions must meet specific conditions and must still be 
reviewed and approved by the LBC. The Legislature has essentially pre-judged that these annexations 
are below its threshold of concern for exercising legislative review. By statute, local action petitions are 
limited to: 

 Annexation of adjoining city-owned property. 
 Annexation of adjoining territory, unanimously supported by property owners and voters in the 

territory proposed for annexation; and 

 Annexations approved by a majority of voters in the annexing city and in the territory proposed for 
annexation. 

It is technically possible for local governments to proceed with annexation through local action by 
requiring a majority of voters in the annexing city and in the territory proposed for annexation approve the 
annexation. However, as described under the legislative action section above, a vote is not a requirement 
of the process.  

 

Page 183 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 3 

Legislative Review versus Local Action  

Since 1959, there have been a total of 264 annexations by cities. Of those, 136 annexation petitions were 
local action annexations. Most local action annexations were by unanimous consent or annexation of city 
property. Of the 19 local action annexation petitions prepared statewide in which there was a vote, six 
were rejected. The remaining 13 petitions were approved by a small margin or had a very small number 
of voters. All of these examples occurred in 1992 or earlier.  

Though many people indicate a preference toward local action because of a desire to vote on annexation, 
it may not be the most practical method of annexation. Statistically, about 70 percent of all local election 
annexations in Alaska have failed. The legislative option was created to get beyond the failure of the local 
action method when annexation is in the interests of the State. Alaska’s case law also supports the 
legislative option for successful annexation: 

 In 2010, the Local Boundary Commission approved a local action petition from the City of 
Dillingham asking voters whether to approve annexation of approximately 400 square miles of 
Nushagak Bay. The LBC approved the petition and voters affirmed it, but courts ultimately 
remanded the decision, nullifying the annexation and ordering a new petition through the 
legislative review method. In that subsequent petition, both the City of Manokotak and the City of 
Dillingham submitted annexation petitions by the legislative review method. Manokotak’s was 
accepted by the LBC and tacitly approved by the legislature. Dillingham’s was rejected by the 
LBC.  

 The Alaska Supreme Court has upheld the legislative review petition process on several 
occasions. In 1962, The Alaska Supreme Court stated in Fairview Public Utility District No. 1 v. 
City of Anchorage, “local political decisions do not usually create proper boundaries and that 
boundaries should be established at the state level” and that in the words of the local government 
committee of the constitutional convention, “by placing authority in this third party, arguments for 
and against boundary change can be analyzed objectively.” 

 In 1971, the court held in City of Douglas v. City & Borough of Juneau that residents of a 
community have no constitutionally protected interest in its existence as a  separate 
governmental unit. Hence, the legislature may provide for the annexation of a community without 
its residents’ consent.  

 In 1974, in Mobil Oil Corp v. Local Boundary Commission, the court said the purpose for creating 
the LBC, and conferring upon it the powers it has, was to obviate the type of situation where there 
was a controversy over municipal boundaries which apparently could not be settled at the local 
level . 

 

Page 184 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 4 

Figure 1. Annexation Process by Local Action (3 AAC 110.150) or Legislative Review (3 AAC 110.140) 

 

Page 185 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 5 

Local Boundary Commission Annexation Standards 

The LBC uses a set of annexation standards (summarized in Table 1 below) to review annexation 
petitions. As a quasi-judicial body, the LBC must make its decisions solely on the basis of standards in 
state law and relevant facts. If the City of Palmer opts to develop an annexation petition, that petition must 
show that the annexation would adequately meet these standards. This economic and community 
analysis will help the City evaluate its petition against these standards before submittal to the LBC for 
review.  

Table 1. Local Boundary Commission Standards for City Annexation (3 AAC 110.090-3 AAC 110.130) 

LBC Criterion Standard Specifics that may be considered 

Need of the 
Territory 
Proposed to be 
Annexed  
(3 AAC 110.090) 

The territory must exhibit a 
reasonable need for city 
government. 

 Existing or anticipated residential and commercial 
growth outside the City anticipated over 10 years. 

 Existing or anticipated health, safety and general 
welfare problems 

 Existing or anticipated economic development 
 Adequacy of existing services in the territory 
 Extraterritorial powers of municipalities 
 Territory may not be annexed to a city if services to 

that territory can be provided more efficiently by 
another existing city or by an organized borough. 

Character of the 
Territory 
Proposed to be 
Annexed  
(3 AAC 110.100) 

The territory must be 
compatible in character with 
the annexing city. 

 Land use, subdivision platting and ownership pattern 
 Salability of land for private uses. 
 Population density / recent population changes 
 Suitability of land for community purposes 
 Transportation and facility patterns 
 Natural geographic features/environmental factors 

Resources of the 
Territory 
Proposed to be 
Annexed and the 
Annexing City  
(3 AAC 110.110) 

The economy of the proposed 
post-annexation boundaries 
must include the human and 
financial resources necessary 
to provide essential city 
services on an efficient, cost-
effective level. 

 Expenses and revenues from added territory 
 Economic base and property values 
 Industrial, commercial and resource development 

Population of the 
Territory 
Proposed to 
Annexed and the 
Annexing City  
(3 AAC 110.120) 

The population within the post-
annexation boundaries must 
be sufficiently large and stable 
to support the extension of city 
government. 

 Total population 
 Duration of residency / age distribution 
 Historical population patterns / seasonal change 

Appropriate 
Boundaries  
(3 AAC 110.130) 

The proposed post-annexation 
boundaries must include all 
areas necessary to provide full 
development of essential city 
services on an efficient, cost-
effective level. 

 Land use and ownership patterns / Population density 
 Transportation patterns 
 Geographic features / Should be contiguous 
 Not large unpopulated areas 
 10 years’ worth of predictable growth 

Best interests of 
the State  
(3 AAC 110.135) 

The proposed annexation 
must be in the balanced best 
interests of the state, the 
territory proposed for 
annexation, the annexing city, 
and the borough in which the 
annexation is proposed. 

 Promotes maximum self-government 
 Promotes minimum number of government units 
 Relieves the state from providing local services 

Page 186 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 6 

City of Palmer and Surrounding Areas 
The City of Palmer is a home rule city of approximately 5.07 square miles located on the west bank of the 
Matanuska River in the Matanuska-Susitna Borough (MSB) of Alaska. The City is approximately 42 road 
miles north of Anchorage, along the Glenn Highway. The City’s current population is approximately 6,041 
residents (2019, Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Research and Analysis 
Section).  

History 

The area that is now greater Palmer has long been a crossroads of several Tribes, including the Knik, 
Eklutna and Chickaloon Athabascan Tribes. Traditionally, people lived a more nomadic lifestyle in this 
area as they moved up and down the valley for subsistence and trading. Trails along the Matanuska River 
were used to transport trade goods within Den’aina lands.  

The city is named after George Palmer, a trader who is said to have arrived in 1875 and established a 
trading post on the Matanuska River around 1890. The community grew to include new residents who 
came as miners, homesteaders and for the construction of the Alaska Railroad in 1916. In 1935, over 200 
colonist families from upper midwestern states (e.g., Michigan, Wisconsin, and Minnesota) were relocated 
to Palmer to populate a planned agricultural colony as part of a New Deal program. Although the 
relocation program largely failed, some families remained in the area and continue to operate family 
farms generations later.  

Palmer incorporated as a city in 1951. Its population has continued to grow, fueled by the construction of 
the statewide road system and the growth and development of Anchorage. Today, Palmer has become 
an attractive place for families and a variety of businesses that serve the Mat-Su Valley and/or benefit 
from a relatively easy commute to and from Anchorage. Tribal people continue to reside in Palmer and in 
surrounding areas. Approximately eight percent of Palmer’s population identifies as Alaska Native. 

Land Use and Economy 

Palmer is a commercial center in the eastern Matanuska-Susitna Borough, known for its small-town 
character. A fairly compact downtown developed around the intersection of two major thoroughfares, the 
Glenn Highway and Palmer-Wasilla Highway. This central area has attracted government and 
professional offices, shops and eateries. The Alaska Railroad runs north-south through the city, carrying 
tourists/passengers during the summer. The Palmer Airport serves local aviation businesses, many of 
which cater to flightseeing tourists. Beyond the central business district, Palmer has several medium 
density residential neighborhoods, most of which are served by water and sewer. Residential subdivisions 
within City limits are mostly built out. Palmer residents enjoy neighborhood and community parks and bike 
trails through the main city corridors. Regional recreation attractions include the City-owned MTA Events 
Center and Ice Arena, Golf Course and Tennis Courts, as well as the Alaska State Fairgrounds. 

North of City limits, there are low-density residential areas and large tracts of farmland north of the 
Palmer-Wasilla Highway. To the west, land along the Palmer Wasilla Highway has been developed 
mainly as large lot and low-mid density residential (including some small-scale farming) and mixed-use 
properties with pockets of commercial development. To the southwest of the city, there is low-density, 
large-lot residential development along Glenn Highway toward a large area of public lands owned by the 
State and the University of Alaska. This area is home to the University of Alaska Mat-Su Campus and a 
regional recreation attraction, the Crevasse Moraine Trail System. Further south, where Parks and Glenn 
Highways meet, the Mat-Su Regional Hospital provides regional medical care. East of the Parks-Glenn 
Highway juncture, a large gravel mine crosses both sides of the Glenn Highway and extends all the way 

Page 187 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 7 

to the Matanuska River. Just south of City limits, the Inner Springer Loop area has, over time, been 
developed into some of the densest residential development in the greater Palmer area. The Outer 
Springer area extends to the Matanuska River and is characterized by a mix of farmland and residential 
properties.  

As with most regions within Alaska, Palmer’s population growth rate has slowed in recent years. In 2006, 
the Mat-Su Borough’s and the annexation study area’s populations were growing by about five percent 
per year. The region’s population growth rate has slowed to only 1.5 to two percent per year in recent 
years. Much of this slowdown is due to statewide trends: people are having fewer children, resulting in a 
much lower birthrate, and Alaska does not have a strong fiscal driver for in-migration. Statewide, Alaska 
has lost population due to out-migration in recent years, including the years leading up to the pandemic. 

Palmer’s Annexation History: Lessons Learned 

A Summary of Annexation in Palmer 

The history of annexation in Palmer is summarized below and in Figure 2. A more detailed history is 
included among the appendices.  

For the first five decades of Palmer’s incorporation as a City (1951-2001), annexation generally occurred 
upon request by property owners to the City. The primary reason for these requests was the desire for 
City water and sewer services. This practice of annexation by request created a number of enclaves, 
unincorporated areas that were bounded by the City of Palmer on all sides. The State discourages 
enclaves because they tend to cause confusion in municipal governance, taxation and service provision.  

In the 1990s, the State of Alaska Local Boundary Commission (LBC) urged the City of Palmer to deal with 
these enclaves and its future annexation policy in a more comprehensive manner. The LBC even went so 
far as to deny a City annexation request that would have created another enclave, an action that changed 
the City of Palmer’s effective annexation policy. The City went from annexation by request to an approach 
characterized by City-initiated petitions to annex fewer but larger, multi-parcel areas, supported by prior 
analysis and planning for the areas proposed for annexation.  

The 1999 Palmer Comprehensive Plan even recommended that the City file a conceptual growth 
boundary with the LBC identical to the Palmer water and sewer utility’s certificated service area boundary, 
so that future annexations would implement the concept. While this growth boundary was intended to 
illustrate the largest area people could imagine the city would ever be, it also arguably implied that 
annexation out to the certificated utility service area boundary was a goal that should be reached over 
time. Ultimately, whether or not annexation to a specific growth boundary proves to be desired or feasible 
is not a foregone conclusion; it will depend on how the greater Palmer community grows and evolves over 
time.  

In 2002, using the legislative review process, the City of Palmer annexed all of the enclaves that had 
been created over the years in a single annexation of over 900 acres. In 2011, one annexation petition of 
less than one acre was submitted to and approved by the LBC using the local action method by consent 
of the voters and property owners of land adjacent to city boundaries. A 2007 legislative action petition 
failed to pass a vote by the Palmer City Council to submit to the LBC because of the strenuous objections 
of residents in the areas proposed for annexation. 

Annexation Lessons Learned 

The vast majority of Palmer’s annexations have been small, voluntary and often driven by the annexed 
landowners’ desire to hook up to piped water and sewer services. Although this piecemeal approach 
allowed the City to observe area landowner preferences as to whether or not they wanted to be inside 

Page 188 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 8 

City boundaries, the resulting irregular boundaries of the City created practical problems. Irregular 
boundaries and enclaves often create confusion and dissatisfaction about where City services are 
provided, taxes are collected, and voting or other governance rights exist.    

 

Figure 2. Palmer Annexation History 

• 1951: The City of Palmer was incorporated. 

• 1951-1999: 44 City annexations of various sizes, generally upon request by landowners.  

• 1999: Palmer Comprehensive Plan (Gillian Smythe & Associates) 

• 1999: City of Palmer Annexation. The annexation of 64.9 acres was approved by the LBC as 
proposed and approved by unanimous consent of all property owners and residents registered as 
voters. 

• 2000-2001: City of Palmer Analysis of Annexation Alternatives (Northern Economics, Inc., 
Smythe Associates) 

• 2002: City of Palmer Annexation. Through legislative review process, the LBC approved the 
annexation of 861.44 acres into the City of Palmer. The annexation received tacit approval of the 
legislature. 

• 2006: Palmer Comprehensive Plan (Agnew::Beck Consulting) and City of Palmer Analysis of 
Annexation Alternatives (Northern Economics, Inc.) 

• 2007: City of Palmer prepared an annexation petition that failed to pass City Council and was not 
submitted to the LBC. 

• 2010: Palmer Annexation Strategy (Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc., Kevin 
Waring & Associates) 

• 2011: City of Palmer Annexation. Annexation of 0.34 acres approved by the LBC and by 
unanimous consent using the local action process. 

• 2020: City of Palmer contracts with Agnew::Beck, Halcyon Consulting, and the Alaska Map 
Company to study the fiscal and community impacts of a future annexation.  

 

In 2002, with some influence from the State, the City used the legislative option to annex all remaining 
enclaves. Although the annexation by legislative option had mixed support among the affected 
landowners, it provided needed stability and coherence to the City’s boundaries. Within the next few 
years, the City decoupled its water and sewer utility service area boundaries from the City boundaries to 
better serve area residents, which effectively removed the primary motivation for voluntary annexations. 
With only one small, voluntary annexation in the nearly 20 years since then, City boundaries have been 
very stable.  

As the remaining analysis shows, this stability has allowed the City to largely optimize its revenues and 
services to its current boundaries. At the same time, there could be justification for extending some City 
services into new areas through annexations in future, as long as the costs to do so are balanced and 
rural lifestyles can be accommodated. The sense of Palmer as a community may also extend beyond its 
existing boundaries, causing area residents to desire an expanded voice in governance, locally and vis-à-
vis other communities in the state. The decision to annex or not will likely require continued 
communication in a spirit of partnership among the City and any areas it may consider for annexation.  

Page 189 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 9 

Fiscal Analysis 

Study Areas  
The modeling techniques described in this chapter require the team to first establish a set of geographic 
boundaries to analyze. City staff and the consultant team started with a general boundary similar to the 
Phase 1 area of the 2006 Palmer Annexation Study (shown in Figure 23 in the Appendices). This area 
was divided into smaller study areas using the guiding questions below. These questions integrate Local 
Boundary Commission annexation standards (Table 1) and the City’s broad goals for annexation 
described in earlier report chapters:  

• Where is growth happening now and over the next 10 years? 
• Where are there health and safety issues that need addressing by the City? 
• Does the City have capacity to provide services to the area? 
• Where is economic development happening or anticipated, including commercial corridors? 
• Do the sub-areas have similar natural features? 
• Are the land use patterns similar? 

The Study Areas map on the following page (Figure 3) shows the resulting seven study areas. These 
geographic boundaries were used to model City finances and service needs upon a hypothetical 
annexation. These areas may or may not be selected for a future annexation petition to the State of 
Alaska. If the City chooses to proceed with annexation, land within these study areas could become part 
of the annexation petition; land outside these study areas could also be considered for annexation.  

Outer Springer Loop: The study areas selected for analytical purposes do not include a large area of 
land between the Glenn Highway and the Matanuska River, called the Outer Springer Loop. This area 
was discussed, but not included because of the size of the area and mix of land uses. Successful 
annexation of an area must be balanced by a corresponding revenue base to support it. As the fiscal 
analysis shows, areas with significant residential populations require a higher (and more costly) level of 
City services. The Outer Springer Loop contains primarily residential subdivisions and farmland, much 
like the Inner Springer Loop (Study Area F), at a much larger scale. The Fiscal Analysis shows that 
annexation of Study Area F would result in a net cost to the City over at least a decade. Annexation of 
the remaining Springer system would have a correspondingly greater net cost to the City. With 
agricultural tax exemptions, the farms in the area would not generate enough commercial tax revenue 
to support the level of services that would be required.  

A question was also raised about whether the LBC would consider any un-annexed land in the Springer 
system to be an enclave if Study Areas E and G were annexed. The 2002 City-initiated annexation 
petition included land that was bordered by the City and the Matanuska River specifically because it 
was considered an enclave, suggesting that the LBC could interpret the Springer system as an 
enclave. However, in this hypothetical annexation, any un-annexed land in the Springer system could 
be interpreted as not a true enclave because it would not be separated from local government services. 
The Alaska State Troopers could still access the area via the State-owned Glenn Highway. Most other 
essential services are already provided by agreement between the Mat-Su Borough and the City of 
Palmer within service areas that are decoupled from City boundaries, therefore unaffected by 
annexation. The consultant team sought advice from LBC staff during winter of 2020-2021, but specific 
guidance was unavailable. Should the City proceed with a petition, the consultants’ recommendation 
would be to consider this issue with LBC staff before submitting the petition. 

Page 190 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 10 

Figure 3. Study Areas Map 

 

Page 191 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 11 

Fiscal Analysis Methodology 
The fiscal (i.e., economic) analysis follows a well-established approach developed for the City of Palmer 
during the 2006 annexation study and which the study team has used successfully for other Alaskan 
communities in the intervening period (Figure 4). The process the analysis follows includes: 

1. Identifying the geographic region the municipality wants to include in the analysis and dividing 
that region into study areas with a focus toward keeping contiguous neighborhoods of similar 
character together. 

2. Collecting relevant data about the municipality and the study areas which then serve as inputs 
into the fiscal model. These data include population, property values, services gained/lost with 
annexation, sales tax revenues, municipal budget data, etc. In essence, the study gathers data 
on anything that might materially affect municipal finances in a post-annexation environment. 

3. Building a fiscal model based on how the municipality provides services to its population and 
generates revenue under current conditions and how it would provide services and generate 
revenue if it annexed the study areas. This step provides estimated fiscal effects in the current 
year if the municipality had annexed the study areas. 

4. Developing scenarios of future changes in population, service cost, revenue, and service 
provision. 

5. Predicting future fiscal conditions and annexation effects by repeating step 3 but using the 
estimates developed in Step 4. 

 

Figure 4. Fiscal Analysis Methodology 

 

  

Page 192 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 12 

Individual Model Components 

The City of Palmer Annexation Fiscal Model (hereafter “the fiscal model” or “the model”)  is comprised of 
three primary components: 

1. Underlying demographic data and physical attributes including population, property tax base, the 
sales tax base, and miles of maintained roads. 

2. Revenue components such as actual property taxes collected, sales taxes collected, and all other 
collected fines, fees, and forfeitures. 

3. Cost of public service components such as police, fire, public works, and non-public safety 
general government (e.g., administration, finance, etc.). 

The following sub-sections describe the roles these elements play in the fiscal model in greater detail. 

Demographics, Physical Attributes, Tax Base 

The following model components capture the underlying physical elements that drive the city’s service 
costs and revenue streams.  

Population 

Many city costs are directly and indirectly driven by population. For example, the city’s police department 
currently fields one sworn officer for approximately every 610 residents. This service ratio is typical for 
many Alaskan cities and many small communities around the country. Maintaining this service ratio 
means that as population increases, the number of sworn officers increases, as do the number of support 
personnel and non-personnel related costs. 

Using data from the Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development and the U.S. Census 
Bureau, the study estimates that in 2020, the population of the current City of Palmer was roughly 6,100 
individuals, while the combined population of all study areas was approximately 3,500. Over the past 
decade, the study estimates that the City of Palmer grew at an average rate of 0.5 percent per year and 
added 322 citizens. The study areas in aggregate grew at an average of 1.9 percent year, but that growth 
was unevenly distributed across the individual study areas. In fact, take away Study Area F and none of 
the individual study areas grew at a faster rate than the city; taken together, all other study areas actually 
had a slower growth rate than the city. The 1.9 percent compound annual growth rate is much lower than 
the 5+ percent compound annual growth rate the region was experiencing during the 2006 annexation 
study. 

Table 2. Estimated Population by Area, 2010 and 2020 

Study Area 
Est. Population 

2010 
Est. Population 

2020 Change (N) 
Avg Annual 

Growth Rate (%) 

Study Area A 35 35 0 0.0 

Study Area B 54 57 3 0.5 

Study Area C 80 80 0 0.0 

Study Area D 1,156 1,200 44 0.4 

Study Area E 835 878 43 0.5 

Study Area F 744 1,259 515 5.4 

Study Area G 8 8 0 0.0 

All Study Areas 2,912 3,517 605 1.9 

City of Palmer 5,781 6,103 322 0.5 

Page 193 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 13 

Figure 5. Greater Palmer Land Ownership, 2021 

 

Property Tax Base 

Property taxes are the City of Palmer’s second most important revenue source after sales taxes, 
generating approximately 15 percent of all tax revenue and 11.5 percent of all revenue. The current city 
mil rate is 3.0 mils (0.3 percent) per annum. In addition, the city residents also pay property taxes to the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough equal to 10.3 mils (1.03 percent) per annum. City residents avoid paying 
roughly 3.08 mils (0.308 percent) of non-areawide Matanuska-Susitna Borough taxes because the City of 
Palmer provides certain services which displace borough services. All things being equal (i.e., if tax rates 
didn’t change), annexed properties would see a drop in property tax rates of 0.08 mils based on 2020 
rates. This change would provide at least equivalent road and fire services and more responsive police 
service. 

Page 194 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 14 

As one might expect, aggregate property values are largely concentrated within the City of Palmer, with 
additional areas of medium density seen in Areas D, F, and E (Figure 6). There are two concentrations 
outside the city limits: (1) at the intersection of Bogard Road and N. 49th State Street, and (2) at the 
intersection of Trunk Road and the Parks Highway. The former area (1) includes properties associated 
with tax exempt organizations (i.e., schools and churches), while the latter (2) includes the private 
medical infrastructure of Mat-Su Regional Hospital and surrounding businesses. 

Figure 6. Heat Map of Property Values, Taxable and Non-Taxable 

 

The combined assessed value of buildings and land in the City of Palmer is nearly $470 million or 
$76,700 per person of value, on average. Annexing all of the study areas would increase the property tax 
base by $229 million; a 49 percent increase. The annexation study areas vary widely in combined value 
and value per capita. The study area with the highest combined value is Area D, which also has the 
second highest value per capita. Study Area G has the highest value per capita because it is home to 
commercial gravel operations and has almost no residents. Study A has the lowest combined value and 
the lowest value per capita, but it has very few residents.  

Page 195 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 15 

Table 3. Assessed Property Values, 2020 

Study Area 
Assessed Land 

Values ($M) 

Assessed 
Building Values 

($M) 
Combined Value 

($M) 
Value per Capita 

($) 

Study Area A 0.73 0.91 1.63 46,683 

Study Area B 1.79 2.71 4.50 78,972 

Study Area C 1.78 5.40 7.19 89,819 

Study Area D 18.43 111.43 129.87 108,221 

Study Area E 10.06 49.73 59.79 68,098 

Study Area F 14.59 89.51 104.10 82,684 

Study Area G 4.12 0.53 4.65 581,563 

All Study Areas 51.50 260.23 229.40 65,225 

City of Palmer 109.71 358.47 468.18 76,713 

Sales Tax Base 

Sales taxes are the city’s largest single source of taxes and revenue, accounting for 84 percent of annual 
tax revenue and nearly 66 percent of all revenues. As one of the Matanuska-Susitna Borough’s major 
commercial and retail centers, the city is playing to its strengths by having a sales tax. Local commercial 
activity is concentrated within the current City of Palmer boundaries (Figure 7). The study estimates that, 
of an estimated $440 million in annual non-tax-exempt commercial activity within the entire study area, 85 
percent occurs within existing City of Palmer boundaries.  

Table 4. Estimated Sales Tax Base (Excluding Utility Taxes) 

Study Area 

Approximate Annual Non-
Exempt Commercial 

Activity ($M) 
Est. 2020 

Population 

Est. Non-Exempt 
Commercial Activity 

per Capita ($) 

Study Area A 0.5 35 14,000 

Study Area B 8.1 57 142,000 

Study Area C 0.3 80 4,000 

Study Area D 14.8 1,200 12,000 

Study Area E 12.5 878 14,000 

Study Area F 2.3 1,259 2,000 

Study Area G 26.8 8 3,350,000 

All Study Areas 65.3 3,517 19,000 

All Study Areas ex. G 38.5 3,509 11,000 

City of Palmer 374.0 6,103 61,000 

Source: Alaska Map Company via DataAxle, 2020.  

In short, the current city boundaries are largely optimized to capture current commercial activity. Only in 
Areas B and G does the per capita sales tax resource base exceed the per capita sales tax resource 
base found within the city. The resources in both of these areas come with important notes: 

 The resource base within Area B is small: just 2.5 percent of what occurs inside the current city 
limits. 

Page 196 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 16 

 The resource base in Area G likely requires either: (1) the establishment of a gravel severance 
tax or (2) a change in the city’s $1,000 sales tax cap in order to generate significant tax revenue. 

The remaining areas are all relatively commercial-activity poor relative to the population base.  

Figure 7. Heat Map of Commercial Activity 

 

Road Lane Miles 

The largest non-education costs in most cities are police, fire/emergency response, and public works 
services. The City of Palmer is no different, with 41 percent of the approved FY 2020 budget dedicated to 
Police and Fire/Emergency Response. Public Works the next largest line item, accounting for 18 percent 
of the budget. The primary function of Public Works is to maintain and repair surface transportation routes 
in the city, whether that means repairing potholes in the summer, or plowing and removing snow in the 
winter. The cost of these services is a direct function of the number of road lane miles the city maintains. 
The study estimates that there are currently 82 road lane miles in the city, including area associated with 

Page 197 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 17 

on-street parking, and that there are 54 lane miles in the study areas which would transfer to the City.3 
Thus, annexing all of the study areas would increase the number of road lane miles maintained by the 
Palmer Public Works Department by 66 percent. 

Table 5. Road Lane Miles 

Study Area Public Lane Miles (Borough and Road Service Area Roads) 

Study Area A <1  

Study Area B <1 

Study Area C 4 

Study Area D 19 

Study Area E 14 

Study Area F 13 

Study Area G 1 

All Study Areas 54 

City of Palmer 82 

Source: Alaska Map Company 

Revenues 

Taxes, fees, fines, forfeitures, and permits/licenses make up 92 percent of the city’s annual revenues. 
The remaining eight percent of the city’s annual revenues include receipts from the MTA Events Center, 
grants/federal funding, and other revenues; these revenues are unlikely to be affected by annexation.  
The study’s fiscal model concentrates on the 92 percent of revenue generated by these sources because 
they will be directly affected by annexation. 

Sales Taxes (including Utility Sales Taxes) 

The City of Palmer generates sales tax revenues in multiple ways, including traditional sales taxes at 
brick-and-mortar businesses located within the city, a sales tax on utility bills for properties in the city, 
and, starting just recently, a sales tax on online sales.  

The study considered multiple methods of estimating sales tax revenues under annexation at brick-and-
mortar businesses including using per capita averages and average revenue per business. These 
methods were dismissed for a more accurate method that allows the study to account for the city’s 
specific sales tax ordinances, particularly those that exempt services and cap single-purchase maximum 
tax charges at $30. The study purchased a database from DataAxle, a company that specializes in 
estimating commercial activity at the business level. The study then excluded exempt businesses and 
organizations as defined by city ordinances. The study estimates that there is currently $374 million in 
annual commercial activity at non-exempt businesses and organizations within city limits. From this tax 
base, the city generates between $7.0 million and $7.5 million in sales taxes each year; effectively equal 
to two percent of all activity at non-exempt businesses.4 The study repeated the process of excluding 
exempt organizations/business for each annexation study area, then applied the two percent tax harvest 
rate. The study estimates utility sales taxes by calculating the ratio of utility sales tax collected in the city 

 
3 Lane miles that would transfer to the City include those currently maintained by the Borough and road service 
areas. Roads currently maintained by the State of Alaska would not transfer to the City. 

4 The city’s sales tax rate is three percent, but exempt activity at non-exempt businesses (e.g., purchasing medicine 
at the grocery store) and the sales tax cap on individual purchases above $1,000 reduce the city’s effective tax rate to 
two percent across all commercial activity.  

Page 198 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 18 

to property values in the city, then applying that ratio to property values in each study area. Online sales 
taxes are estimated as five percent of aggregate non-utility sales taxes divided among the study areas by 
population. The five percent metric came from a recommendation by the Alaska Municipal League. 

The study estimates that the annexation study areas in aggregate would generate nearly $1.7 million 
each year in sales taxes (from all sources), with Study Areas D, E, and G containing the largest revenue 
sources (Table 6). 

Table 6. Estimated Annual Sales Taxes by Area, Current Tax Structure (Rounded to Nearest $1,000) 

Study Area 

Approximate 
Annual Non-Exempt 
Commercial Activity 

($M) 

Estimated  
Non-Utility 

Sales 
Taxes 

Estimated  
Utility Sales  

Taxes 

Estimated 
Online 
Sales 
Taxes 

Total Sales 
Tax 

Revenue 

Study Area A 0.5 15,000 1,000 1,000 17,000 

Study Area B 8.1 160,000 4,000 2,000 166,000 

Study Area C 0.3 6,000 5,000 2,000 13,000 

Study Area D 14.8 293,000 114,000 40,000 447,000 

Study Area E 12.5 247,000 52,000 29,000 328,000 

Study Area F 2.3 46,000 91,000 41,000 178,000 

Study Area G5 26.8 531,000 4,000 <1,000 535,000 

All Study Areas 65.3 1,299,000 271,000 115,000 1,684,000 

Property Taxes 

Property tax revenues are the city’s second largest revenue source. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
provided the study with assessed tax values for all properties in the city and the study area. The analysis 
estimates property tax revenues by applying the city’s 3 mil property tax rate to aggregate property values 
in each study area. The study estimates the effect on a typical $250,000 property by applying the city’s 
property tax rate to properties in the study area and subtracting the Matanuska-Susitna Borough mil rates 
that would no longer apply to those properties if annexed. The largest potential sources of property tax 
revenues are Study Areas D, F, and E.  

Table 7. Potential Property Tax Revenues 

Study Area 

Assessed 
Land Values 

($M) 

Assessed 
Building Values 

($M) 
Combined 
Value ($M) 

Estimated Annual 
Property Tax 

Revenues at 3 Mils ($) 

Study Area A 0.73 0.91 1.63 55,000 

Study Area B 1.79 2.71 4.5 14,000 

Study Area C 1.78 5.40 7.19 22,000 

Study Area D 18.43 111.43 129.87 390,000 

Study Area E 10.06 49.73 59.79 179,000 

Study Area F 14.59 89.51 104.10 312,000 

Study Area G 4.12 0.53 4.65 14,000 

All Study Areas 51.5 260.23 229.40 935,000 

 
5 Figures for Study Area G would require a gravel severance tax or change in current sales tax caps. 

Page 199 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 19 

Other Revenues 

The city generates a small proportion of its revenues from businesses licenses and fees, building permits 
and fees, and other fines and forfeitures. The study models these additional revenues primarily on a per 
capita basis. In addition, should the city annex any territory, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough can be 
expected to lower its reimbursement to the City of Palmer for operating the Greater Palmer Fire Service 
Area. Table 8 shows net estimated other revenues by study area. Study Areas F, D and E have the 
highest estimated net revenues from these sources because they have the greatest concentrations of 
residents and businesses in the areas outside current city limits. 

Table 8. Estimated Additional Revenues 

Study Area Est. Other Revenues 
Est. Greater Palmer 

Fire Service Area Adj. 
Est. Net Other 

Revenues 

Study Area A 5,500 -1,400 4,100 

Study Area B 9,700 -1,700 8,000 

Study Area C 12,500 -2,000 10,500 

Study Area D 190,000 -29,900 160,100 

Study Area E 138,500 -20,500 118,000 

Study Area F 197,000 -32,000 165,000 

Study Area G 1,400 -300 1,100 

All Study Areas 554,700 -87,800 466,900 

Service Costs 

The study analyzed the city’s budget categories by whether they would be affected by annexation or not. 
The city’s largest cost drivers are Public Safety and Public Works services, which account for 59 percent 
of the city’s approved budget (Figure 8). The study expects that the Police and Public Works cost 
categories would be sharply affected by providing services to annexed areas. Fire Department costs 
would not necessarily increase because Palmer’s fire department already serves the study areas. 
However, as noted above, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough would likely lower fire service area 
reimbursements to the City. The smaller cost categories of the City Manager’s office, Finance, and 
Community Development would be affected as well. The study assumes that the Library, MTA Events Ctr, 
City Hall-Transfers, and Tourist Ctr-Depot, and Mayor-Council-Clerk would be largely unaffected by 
annexation. 

The remainder of this section describes how the model estimates the fiscal effects of annexation on 
affected cost categories. 

Police 

The study models the effects of annexation on the city’s police department through a service ratio 
approach. The city currently maintains one sworn officer per 610 citizens, one dispatcher per 872 citizens, 
and one non-sworn/non-dispatcher staff member per 2,034 citizens. The city’s budget and personnel 
counts allow the study to calculate average staffing costs. The study adds a new employee when the 
service ratio exceeds 105 percent of the current service ratio. For example, the number of citizens per 
sworn officer would have to increase to 641:1 before a new officer would be added. Adding a new officer 
would drop the sworn officer ratio to 583:1. The model would not add another new officer until the number 
of citizens per officer increase to 641:1 again (7,051 citizens). In addition to salary and benefit costs, the 
model adds the equipment needed to field a new officer every time an officer is added. 

Page 200 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 20 

Figure 8. FY 2020 City of Palmer Adopted General Fund Expenditures  

 

 

Source: City of Palmer, 2021. 

Public Works 

The number of maintained road lane miles drive the costs of the Public Works Department, minus the 
parks and recreation component. The study calculated road lane miles in the city and the study areas, 
then calculated the cost of maintaining road lane miles and the number of road lane miles one Public 
Works staff and their equipment could maintain. The study then worked with the Palmer Public Works 
Department to estimate the staffing and equipment needed to maintain each service area. Looking at the 
study areas, smaller areas or areas with limited public roads can be annexed without adding personnel 
and additional equipment. Study areas with more extensive roads will require significant new personnel. 

Non-Public Safety/Non-Public Works General Government 

The cost of providing the remaining general government services (excluding the library, event center, 
mayoral and council salaries, and other non-departmental line items) is $446 per person per year. In 
general, as a city’s population increases, the total cost of providing general government services also 
increases, but at a declining rate. In short, as long as they do not add new services or departments, cities 
experience economies of scale because they can provide services to a larger population more efficiently 
and spread the costs over a larger tax base. The study adds general government costs for each potential 
new citizen in the study areas but reduces that additional cost per citizen as the city grows. 

Capital Costs 

The study’s fiscal models include capital costs such as additional police vehicles and equipment, 
additional graders and dump trucks, and a new storage building for public works. The model assumes 
these purchases are made when a new police officer is needed or when new equipment operators are 
needed. The city’s department heads maintain that they are currently operating with the minimum amount 

Page 201 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 21 

of equipment they need for the people they currently have on staff. The Palmer Public Works Department 
currently rents vehicle storage and maintenance space at the Palmer Airport rather than own and 
maintain its own storage and maintenance space. This arrangement helps the Airport’s bottom line and 
allows for city equipment and staff to clear the airport’s runways. However, the Public Works Department 
indicates that they have no space to expand in their current location; adding additional personnel and 
equipment would require leasing or building a new space. The study estimates the cost of building a new 
Public Works storage and maintenance space at $3 million for a basic steel structure and land. This new 
building is incorporated into the fiscal model as soon as the model indicates that the Public Works 
Department would need to hire new personnel and purchase additional equipment.  

New capital for cities is relatively inexpensive because of historically low interest rates. Cities can issue 
bonds for as low as two percent per annum interest, meaning that every million dollars of debt issued 
through a 15-year municipal bond costs only $85,800 per year to repay. Repaying one million dollars in 
capital debt would currently require the city to collect an additional 1.1 cents for every dollar currently 
collected in sales tax revenue. Alternatively, if the debt were repaid through sales tax collections the 
average owner of $250,000 of taxable property would pay $27 more in property taxes per year if the tax 
base included the current city tax base plus the tax base in all the study areas. 

The study does not include a new fire station, which is not currently needed to provide fire protection. 
However, interviews conducted for this study indicated that without a new fire station, the Insurance 
Services Office (ISO) would likely increase the city’s ISO fire score. A higher rating indicates greater fire 
risk and/or lower ability to respond to a fire. The score runs from 1 to 10. Any area more than five driving 
miles from a fire station is automatically a 10. An increased ISO fire score would not directly cost the city 
money, but it could result in increased insurance costs for citizens, as home insurance premiums often 
incorporate this score. The study estimates the cost of a modest fire station at $5,000,000.  

2030 Projections 

The study estimates the net fiscal effect of projected 2030 conditions in 2020 (real dollar) terms. The 
2030 projections carry forward the methodology used in fiscal model described in the previous section 
and adjust anticipated growth in the City of Palmer and study areas. Projections are driven by 
assumptions that impact the following economic drivers: 

1. Changes to population 

2. Forecasted housing development 

3. Changes to revenue components, such as property taxes and sales taxes collected.  

The follow sub-sections describe the roles each of these elements play in the 2030 projections in greater 
detail. 

Population 

The fiscal model bases future population growth on Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce 
Development (ADOLWD) population projections. The ADOLWD projects that the population of the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough will have an average annual growth rate of 1.8 percent between 2020 and 
2030. This growth rate is used to project the 2030 populations for the City of Palmer and total population 
of the combined study areas. The model then distributes the combined study area populations to each of 
the seven focus areas based on historical population distribution and the perceived future development 
potential in each area. Information collection through interviews with City of Palmer and Matanuska-
Susitna Borough department heads informed the distribution of the projected population growth within the 
study area. The study notes that a 1.8 percent growth rate is 60 percent less than the average annual 

Page 202 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 22 

growth rate of 5.0 percent presumed in the 2006 study. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough, and Alaska in 
general, are growing much more slowly in percentage compared to 15 years ago. Growth rates have 
slowed because birth rates are declining and because economic conditions are attracting fewer people to 
Alaska, while more people are moving out-of-state.  

Housing  

The fiscal model estimates the number of current residential structures using property tax appraisal data 
collected by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. The number of future residential structures is based on 
estimated population growth in each of the study areas divided by the current average household size in 
the study area (2.58 persons per residential structure). These housing projections assume that future 
growth will reflect current building trends and average household sizes. 

Property Taxes 

The fiscal model estimates the future property tax base using population projections (described above) 
and the average assessed value (combined land and building) per capita in each study area. Area-
specific assumptions about future development potential are used to adjust population projections, and 
average annual growth rates in assessed property values (between 2010 and 2020) are used to adjust for 
expected changes in property values. Property tax revenues are calculated by multiplying projected 
property values by the City’s current mil rate of 3.0 mils. The model assumes the mil rate stays constant 
through 2030.  

Sales Taxes 

The fiscal model estimates sales tax revenues using the average annual sales tax per capita. Historical 
sales tax revenues published by Alaska Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic 
Development (DCCED) are divided by annual DOLWD population estimates for the City of Palmer and 
surrounding census tracts to calculate and average sales tax per capita and the corresponding average 
annual growth in sales tax revenues per person.6 The average annual growth in sales tax per person is 
used to calculate the average sales tax per person in 2030 and that number is then applied to the 
population estimate for the combined study areas. The model distributes projected sales tax revenues to 
each study area based on the historical distribution of commercial activity in each area.  

Fiscal Impact Analysis 

Fiscal Effects 

Annexations almost always have some level of fiscal effect on the annexing city and the annexed areas. 
By expanding its boundaries, a municipality increases its citizenry and often its tax base. The costs of 
providing municipal governance and services would be spread among more people, which could lower 
the taxes a given individual would pay. However, the benefits of an expanded tax base must be balanced 
against the costs of providing governance and services to the annexed areas. If the costs outweigh the 
revenue potential of the annexed areas, taxes may need to be increased and the rationale for a 
successful annexation would rest more heavily on other community goals, such as protecting the health 
and safety of community members through the extension of municipal governance, regulation and/or 
services. As noted previously, a central goal of this study is to estimate the fiscal effects of annexation on 
the city, on city residents, and on residents of studied areas. 

 
6 Sales Tax per capital calculations based on 2010-2019 DOLWD population estimates for census tracts 11, 12.01. 
12.02, and 13 in the Mat-Su Borough  

Page 203 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 23 

Fiscal Findings 

As explained below, the study finds that annexation of most of the study areas in this analysis would 
result in net negative annual fiscal effects (i.e., cost more money than they would raise in taxes). 
However, these fiscal gaps are small and could be readily mitigated using the city’s existing tax structure.  
In particular, balancing the budget using the city’s sales tax resource would likely be imperceptible to 
taxpayers, for the most part. For example, annexing all areas and mitigating the fiscal effects through a 
sales tax increase would cost a taxpayer an extra $0.10 on a $100 purchase. There are a few study areas 
where the increased cost to property taxpayers would be potentially noticeable and impactful (about $300 
to $400 per year) assuming the city opted to mitigate the cost of annexation solely through property taxes 
in those areas. 

The study assessed the fiscal effects of eight different annexation scenarios, looking at how annexation 
would affect not only net operating fiscal effects but debt repayment fiscal effects. The study estimates 
that, if the city annexed all of the annexation areas, annual revenues under the current tax structure 
would increase by nearly $3.09 million, while operating costs would increase by $3.54 million for a net 
operating fiscal effect of approximately -$0.45 million (-$448,000) (This 2020 study’s estimates for the 
individual study areas show a fairly wide range of results, reflecting the unique characteristics of each 
area. For example, the study estimates that: 

 Areas A or C could be annexed with minimal annual fiscal effects. These areas have small 
populations, minimal levels of public roads, require no real capital investment, and have relatively 
scant tax bases.  

 Area B could be annexed with a positive net annual fiscal effect. In short, taxpayers in both the 
City and Area B could benefit from modestly lower taxes. This area has limited population, a 
decent tax base relative to population, and would require no real capital investment on the part of 
the city to service. 

 Areas D, E, or F would all have a negative net annual fiscal effect on the city because they are 
home to larger populations and more public roads. All require similar levels of capital investment 
and more capital investment than Areas A, B, or C. Of these three areas, Area D has the lowest 
fiscally negative effect because it has a sales tax base to balance out its higher costs. Area F has 
the largest predicted negative net annual fiscal effects because it is largely residential and has no 
corresponding sales tax base.  

 Area G is only considered for annexation in combination with Area E in observance of State 
annexation rules that prevent the creation of enclaves. Because Study Area G is not contiguous 
with the current city boundaries, Area E is required to create a contiguous geographic area. The 
study predicts negative net annual fiscal effects from annexing these study areas together.  

Table 9). At the same time, the study estimates that the City would need to invest roughly $5.4 million in 
capital costs, which at current interest rates, would result in an annual debt repayment cost of $469,000. 
Thus, the total net fiscal effect of annexing all study areas is roughly -$0.9 million. In order to balance the 
budget, the City would have to cut costs equal to this amount, raise revenues equal to this amount, or find 
some combination of cost saving measures and additional revenue generation.  

The combined study areas are roughly equivalent to the “Phase 1” area considered in the 2006 Palmer 
annexation analysis. The 2006 study found that by 2015, Phase 1 would have a net annual fiscal effect of 
-$300,000 and -$600,000 per year. If that study had extended its projections to 2020, it would have 
estimated that Phase 1 would have a net annual fiscal effect of -$550,000 to -$1.5 million. In 2020, this 
study’s results for annexing all the study areas is nearly in the middle of that range, reaffirming the Phase 
1 results of the 2006 study. In fact, the 2006 range projected to 2020 suggests that either the study areas 

Page 204 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 24 

in this study are smaller than the Phase 1 area, the actual population growth rate has been lower than 
anticipated in 2006, the City has found ways to reduce the cost of providing public goods and services 
since 2006, or some combination of these factors. 

This 2020 study’s estimates for the individual study areas show a fairly wide range of results, reflecting 
the unique characteristics of each area. For example, the study estimates that: 

 Areas A or C could be annexed with minimal annual fiscal effects. These areas have small 
populations, minimal levels of public roads, require no real capital investment, and have relatively 
scant tax bases.  

 Area B could be annexed with a positive net annual fiscal effect. In short, taxpayers in both the 
City and Area B could benefit from modestly lower taxes. This area has limited population, a 
decent tax base relative to population, and would require no real capital investment on the part of 
the city to service. 

 Areas D, E, or F would all have a negative net annual fiscal effect on the city because they are 
home to larger populations and more public roads. All require similar levels of capital investment 
and more capital investment than Areas A, B, or C. Of these three areas, Area D has the lowest 
fiscally negative effect because it has a sales tax base to balance out its higher costs. Area F has 
the largest predicted negative net annual fiscal effects because it is largely residential and has no 
corresponding sales tax base.  

 Area G is only considered for annexation in combination with Area E in observance of State 
annexation rules that prevent the creation of enclaves. Because Study Area G is not contiguous 
with the current city boundaries, Area E is required to create a contiguous geographic area. The 
study predicts negative net annual fiscal effects from annexing these study areas together.  

Table 9. Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation  
Scenario 

Operating Costs Capital Costs Net Annual 
Operating 

and Capital 
Repayment  
Fiscal Effect 

($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Revenues 
($) 

Est. 
Annual 

Costs ($) 

Net 
Operating 

Fiscal 
Effect ($) 

Est. 
Initial 

Capital 
Costs ($) 

Annual 
Debt 

Repayment 
($) 

Area A Only 26,000 36,000 -10,000 0 0 -10,000 

Area B Only 187,000 48,000 139,000 0 0 139,000 

Area C Only 46,000 68,000 -22,000 0 0 -22,000 

Area D Only 997,000 1,457,000 -460,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -725,000 

Area E Only 626,000 1,175,000 -549,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -814,000 

Area F Only 656,000 1,380,000 -724,000 3,085,000 -265,000 -989,000 

Areas E+G 1,176,000 1,189,000 -13,000 3,930,000 -337,000 -350,000 

All Study 
Areas 

3,087,000 3,535,000 -448,000 5,465,000 -469,000 -917,000 

 

The positive or negative net fiscal effects of annexation can be offset by changes in the City’s tax rates. In 
the case of positive fiscal effects, taxpayers would receive a reduction in their rates. Negative net fiscal 
effects require tax rate increases or service reductions to balance the city budget. The study finds that in 

Page 205 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 25 

all annexation scenarios, the City could balance its budget with relatively small tax increases, particularly 
if the City leveraged its sales tax base. For example, if the City annexed all the annexation areas, the 
study estimates that it could balance its budget by increasing the sales tax rate from 3 percent to 3.15 
percent. The net effect on a typical $1,000 of commercial activity at non-exempt businesses would be 
$0.98 of increased taxation. Alternatively, the city could raise its property tax mill rate to 3.6 mils, which 
would cost the owner of a $250,000 property an additional $290 annually if the property is inside or 
outside the current city limits (Table 10 converts the net fiscal effect (Table 9) into expected “pocketbook” 
effects for taxpayers. Study Areas may have similar net fiscal effects, but the relative size of their tax 
bases determines how much tax rates would need to change to balance those net fiscal effects. For 
example, annexing Area F or annexing all the study areas would have the same net fiscal effect. 
However, annexing all study areas has less than half the property tax effect and about half the sales tax 
effect of annexing Area F alone. This difference between the net fiscal effect and the net tax effect is 
because city services are utilized more efficiently when the city annexes a larger area and because a 
larger annexation would spread the cost of services over the maximum tax base. 

  

Page 206 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 26 

Table 10). 

Table 10 converts the net fiscal effect (Table 9) into expected “pocketbook” effects for taxpayers. Study 
Areas may have similar net fiscal effects, but the relative size of their tax bases determines how much tax 
rates would need to change to balance those net fiscal effects. For example, annexing Area F or 
annexing all the study areas would have the same net fiscal effect. However, annexing all study areas 
has less than half the property tax effect and about half the sales tax effect of annexing Area F alone. 
This difference between the net fiscal effect and the net tax effect is because city services are utilized 
more efficiently when the city annexes a larger area and because a larger annexation would spread the 
cost of services over the maximum tax base. 

  

Page 207 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 27 

Table 10. Budget-Balancing Tax Rate Changes 

Annexation 
Scenario 

All Property Tax Approach All Sales Tax Approach 

Mil Rate 
Change 

Required 
to Balance 

Budget  
(3 mils + 

…) 

Annual Cost 
to Owner of 
$250,000 in 

Property 
(City of 

Palmer, $) 

Annual Cost 
to Owner of 
$250,000 in 

Property 
(Annexed 
Area, $) 

Sales Tax Rate 
Change 

Required to 
Balance 
Budget  
(3%+ …) 

Effect per 
$1,000 of 

Commercial 
Activity at 

Non-Exempt 
Businesses 

($) 

Area A Only 0.02 5 3 0.004 0.03 

Area B Only -0.29 -70 -80 -0.055 -0.37 

Area C Only 0.05 10 10 0.009 0.06 

Area D Only 1.21 300 300 0.285 1.90 

Area E Only 1.54 390 380 0.316 2.10 

Area F Only 1.73 430 430 0.391 2.60 

Areas E+G 0.66 160 160 0.127 0.85 

All Study Areas 1.18 290 290 0.302 2.02 

 

The results of the study clearly show that annexation of Areas A, B, C, and E+G would have minimal tax 
effects on taxpayers in the city and in annexation areas. Annexing Area E, Area D, or Area F would have 
modest, but significantly larger tax effects; annexing all study areas results in tax effects between the 
former and the latter. These results provide insight into two broad options for the City if it chooses to 
pursue annexation. The City could choose: 

A. Go Small: The “go small” approach would involve the City annexing some combination of Areas 
A, B, and/or C, or it could choose to annex Area E+G. Annexing one, or perhaps some of these 
areas, would require the least investment in new personnel, equipment, and buildings. 
Annexation would require little to no changes in the City’s current tax structure. The City could 
focus its efforts on the issue of how to adapt current city ordinances to accommodate the lifestyle 
issue raised in public comment and identified by the study’s survey. 

B. Go Big: Study results indicate that if the City wants to annex some of the larger, more populated 
areas, it should consider whether it wants to annex all or nearly all of the annexation areas under 
consideration. Annexing a large population at once allows the City to take advantage of 
economies of scale and spread capital costs over the largest tax base possible, an option not 
available when considering annexing only Areas D, E, or F. In a “Go Big” approach, the City 
would annex all of the study areas (with the possible exception of Area F). This approach would 
likely require a modest change in tax structure and investment in revising the City’s ordinances to 
address the issues raised by the survey and public process. 

2030 Fiscal Findings 

The following section summarizes the projected fiscal effects of annexation expected to be seen in the 
year 2030. The projected fiscal impacts for 2030 are presented in 2020 dollars or in real terms. 
Presenting these values in real terms excludes the effect of inflation, so that both the 2020 and 2030 

Page 208 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 28 

values are viewed through the same 2020 lens, allowing for an “apples to apples” comparison. This 
model assumes that changes in costs will align with the general upward price movement of goods and 
services in the economy and that inflationary impacts will largely be canceled out.  

The study finds that annexation of most areas studied in this analysis would continue to result in net 
negative annual fiscal effects in the year 2030. Table 11 summarizes the environmental and fiscal 
changes projected for 2030 in additive terms (i.e., the expected change between the 2020 and 2030). The 
study estimates that if the City annexed all of the study areas, annual revenues would increase by 
$306,000 and annual operating costs would increase by $387,000 between 2020 and 2030. These 
changes would increase the overall fiscal gap by roughly $95,500. This change is primarily driven by 
projected population growth and changes in sales and property tax revenues.  

Looking at individual study areas, the model projects that in Study Areas A, B, C and E, fiscal gaps would 
start to close as the population increases and the City realizes economies of scale. However, the analysis 
projects that the net fiscal effects of annexation will worsen in Study Areas D, F and G. In Study Area D, 
continued population growth is expected to incur service increases (i.e., the need for additional police 
officer(s)) without commensurate development of tax resources. There are very few sales tax resources in 
Study Area F, and continued population growth will only increase expected city operating costs in that 
area. Study Area G is expected to see decreased revenue potential as the large gravel pit in that area 
nears the end of its operational life.  

Table 11. 2030 Projections: Change in Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario 

Annexation 
Scenario 

2030 Environment Changes 2030 Fiscal Changes Change 
in Net 
Fiscal 
Effect 
2020-
2030 

New 
Pop-

ulation 

New 
Housing 

Units 

New 
Property 
Tax ($) 

New 
Sales 

Tax ($) 

Revenue 
Change 

($) 

Operating 
Cost 

Change ($) 

Capital 
Cost 

Change 

Area A Only 10 4 1,000 5,000 8,000 5,000 0 3,000 

Area B Only 39 15 9,000 48,000 62,000 18,000 0 44,000 

Area C Only 39 15 11,000 4,000 19,000 17,000 0 2,000 

Area D Only 103 40 33,000 129,000 176,000 224,000 14,500 -62,500 

Area E Only 221 86 53,000 95,000 169,000 127,000 0 42,000 

Area F Only 214 83 53,000 52,000 133,000 389,000 14,500 -270,500 

Areas E+G 224 87 51,000 250,000 -93,000 128,000 0 -221,000 

All Study 
Areas 

630 244 159,000 488,000 306,000 387,000 14,500 -95,500 

 

The 2030 projections for the individual study area vary significantly between study area and reflect the 
unique characteristics of each study area. The 2030 projections assume that: 

 While the soils in Area A are good for development, there is not a lot of available land in this 
area. There is no real expectation for future development in this area. 

Page 209 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 29 

 Areas B and C are both largely agricultural, but as larger parcels are divided and sold, these 
areas could see a healthy portion of projected future growth.7 Area C’s proximity to schools also 
makes this area desirable for future development.  

 Area D is largely built out and is seen as having less potential for future growth. This area’s 
proximity to trails makes it desirable, but there are a limited number of parcels that could 
accommodate future growth.  

 Area E is largely raw land that is seen as highly desirable but could be slightly more expensive to 
develop. This area is expected to capture a moderate amount of future growth. 

 Infill is likely to continue in Area F but there are a number of large lots owned by the Alaska State 
Fair that might limit future development. 

 Area G is viewed as largely unsuitable for residential development due to extensive gravel 
mining operations in the area. 

 

  

 
7 Several Palmer-area farmers have been and continue to work with the Alaska Farmland Trust to place agricultural 
preservation easements on their farmland. These preservation easements could decrease the development potential 
of farmland, depending on the provisions of the easement.  

Page 210 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 30 

Community Analysis 

Community Analysis Methodology 
The community analysis focuses on public perception as well as non-fiscal annexation impacts that would 
affect annexed areas, such as the application of City land use and other regulations. The community 
analysis is used to: a) inform the fiscal modeling assumptions, if applicable, b) clarify the changes and 
resulting impacts of a proposed annexation, and c) identify actions the City of Palmer could take to 
ameliorate unwanted effects of annexation, d) understand how members of the greater Palmer 
community weigh the potential benefits and challenges of annexation.  

The project team conducted public outreach to identify specific annexation effects through a variety of 
methods, including interviews and meetings and two rounds of an online survey. The Project team 
reviewed relevant comments and testimony offered at City Council meetings about the annexation study 
and responded to emails and telephone calls about the study from concerned citizens.  

Information about the study was posted to the project website: https://palmerannexstudy.org/, and a 
project email list was used to send updates about key project developments and opportunities for 
community involvement. 

Interviews and Meetings 

The project team conducted 10 key informant interviews and focus group discussions, including city staff, 
LBC staff, Palmer-area farmers and hobby farmers, Mat-Su Borough staff, and a local Economic 
Development Committee Board Member.  

The project team also conducted several public meetings, listening sessions and presentations, as well 
as a radio show that aired on Radio Free Palmer. Because the study was completed during the COVID-
19 pandemic, all public meetings were conducted virtually. Meetings featured a presentation of key 
findings from the study as well as opportunity for general discussion and questions to be answered. 
Recordings of the February 4 and February 20 meetings were posted online for general viewing at Radio 
Free Palmer (https://www.radiofreepalmer.org/streamed-meetings/) and the Palmer Annexation Study 
project website (https://palmerannexstudy.org/), respectively.  

1. August 25, 2020 and September 8, 2020: presentations of study methodology and plan to Palmer 
City Council. 

2. February 4, 2021: online public meeting, attended by 17 community members.  
3. February 8, 2021: online listening session, with three community members registered. 
4. February 10, 2021: Presentation to the Palmer Chamber of Commerce. 
5. February 11, 2021: online listening session, with 11 community members registered. 
6. February 20, 2021: online listening session, with 27 community members registered. 
7. April 13, 2021: presentation of findings to Palmer City Council. 

Survey 

The Palmer Annexation Study survey was open November 3 to November 20, 2020 and from January 25 
to February 22, 2021. The survey had a grand total of 610 responses. Questions were designed to reveal 
how people weigh the potential benefits and detriments of annexation (included in the Appendices). The 
survey had a majority of white respondents and a diversity of income levels. Respondents were fairly well 
distributed by age with just over one-third in the younger age cohort. In comparing survey responses to 

Page 211 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 31 

City of Palmer demographics, respondent demographics are fairly but not exactly consistent with trends 
citywide. It is fair to suggest that the younger demographic is slightly less represented, compared to City 
demographics. Similarly, people of color are slightly less represented when compared to Palmer 
demographics. Finally, lower income households are notably less represented compared to household 
income distribution in Palmer overall. 

Table 12. Respondent Demographics 

  
All Survey 

Respondents 
City of Palmer 2018 ACS  

(US Census Bureau) 
City of Palmer and 
Study Areas 2020* 

Female 273 45% 48% 50% 

Male 243 40% 52% 50% 

Prefer not to answer 87 14%   

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

     

Age 20-44 220 36% 57% 49% 

Age 45-64 229 38% 28% 34% 

Age 65 and over 86 14% 15% 17% 

Prefer not to answer 69 11%    

Total Age 20 and over 604 100% 100% 100% 

     

White or Caucasian 377 62% 76% 74% 

American Indian or Alaska 
Native 18 3% 8% 8% 

Black or African American 6 1% 3% 2% 

Asian or Asian American 2 0% 2% 2% 

Two or more races 33 5% 10% 8% 

Another race 12 2% 2% 6% 

Prefer not to answer 157 26%    

Total 605 100% 100% 100% 

     

Under $25,000 7 1% 17% 18% 

$25,000-$49,999 42 7% 24% 18% 

$50,000-$74,999 73 12% 19% 17% 

$75,000-$99,999 118 20% 14% 12% 

Over $100,000 205 34% 25% 36% 

Prefer not to answer 158 26%    

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

2020 Data from ESRI adjusted by the Alaska Map Co. using Mat-Su Borough housing assessment counts. 

Research and Reflection 

The project team reviewed previous annexation studies conducted for the City of Palmer, Palmer 
Municipal Code, as well as prior-year annexation petitions and other procedural resources on file with the 

Page 212 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 32 

LBC. Specific concerns were researched to clearly communicate the changes that would occur upon 
annexing land. If potential actions were identified to avoid or ameliorate negative impacts, these have 
been noted in the analysis and transition plan chapters. Where possible, examples of code used by 
comparable to cities to accommodate specific regulatory concerns have also been noted.  

Community Impact Analysis 
Level of Support for Annexation 

Survey findings show that 62 percent of those who live in the city support annexation and 17 percent do 
not support, whereas 15 percent of those who live in the study areas support annexation and 67 percent 
do not support it. This trend is similar for business owners in City versus the study areas. Business 
owners within the City are more evenly split (43 percent indicated possible support, whereas 39 percent 
indicated a lack of support). Business owners in the study areas indicated a stronger lack of support (74 
percent). These results indicate that Palmer residents want more people to join the City and possibly 
understand some of the benefits of annexation.  

Figure 9. General Level of Support for Annexation 

 

  

13%

14%

3%

12%

44%

13%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs 
to the City, my household and/or business increase in 
the short term because of the benefits annexation will 

provide to the community.

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it 
makes fiscal sense to my household, business and/or 

the City.

I have no opinion about annexation

I do not currently support annexation but could
support it if my concerns were addressed.

I do not support annexation under any circumstances.

I need more information about annexation to make an
informed choice.

Page 213 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 33 

Table 13. Resident Support for Annexation  
 

Live in City 
Live in Study 

Area 
Live Outside SA 

& City All Residents 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 17 17% 244 67% 76 54% 337 56% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 21 21% 62 17% 19 14% 102 17% 

Response indicated 
possible support 61 62% 56 15% 45 32% 162 27% 

Total 99 100% 362 100% 140 100% 601 100% 

 

Table 14. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area 

Study Area 
Total Resident 
Respondents # Support Annexation % Support Annexation 

Study Area A 7 3 43% 

Study Area B 6 0 0% 

Study Area C 14 1 7% 

Study Area D 80 15 19% 

Study Area E 98 15 15% 

Study Area F 153 19 12% 

Study Area G 7 3 43% 

 

Table 15. Business Owner Support for Annexation 

 
Own Business in 

City 
Own Business in 

Study Area 

Own Business 
Outside Study 
Area and City All Business 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 20 39% 53 74% 31 62% 104 60% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 9 18% 11 15% 3 6% 23 13% 

Response indicated 
possible support 22 43% 8 11% 16 32% 46 27% 

Total 51 100% 72 100% 50 100% 173 100% 

 

  

Page 214 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 34 

Annexation Benefits and Challenges  

Figure 10. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents 

 

Annexation Benefits 

When asked an open-ended question about the perceived benefits of annexation, 51 percent of survey 
respondents indicated they saw no benefits to annexation. Positive responses (18 percent of total 
responses) reflected the themes below: 

 Access to or improved City services, generally  

 Access to specific services: police, water and sewer, road maintenance and streetlights, staffed 
fire station, bike paths 

 Attracting businesses and families 
 Everyone in the area living by the same rules 

17%

28%

31%

26%

17%

18%

18%

20%

16%

32%

30%

27%

22%

12%

17%

18%

11%

9%

12%

12%

15%

15%

17%

14%

56%

30%

28%

34%

46%

56%

48%

48%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Newly annexed areas will have to comply with City
zoning and other land use regulations

New residents would be able to vote in City elections,
run for office, and serve on City Council, boards and

commissions, etc.

Palmer Police would be extended into newly annexed
areas.

City road maintenance would be extended into newly
annexed areas.

Newly annexed areas would be required to have trash
collection.

Businesses in annexed areas would collect City sales
tax

Landowners in annexed areas would pay City property
taxes and would stop paying Mat-Su Borough non-

areawide property taxes assessments.

Building permits would be required and building safety
codes would have to be met for new construction in

newly annexed areas.

Significant benefit for the area Slight benefit for the area Slight detriment to the area

Significant detriment to the area No Response

Page 215 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 35 

 Less confusion about city boundaries 

 Lifestyle preferences 

 More opportunities for input on future planning and growth 
 Possibility of increased City revenue and/or broader tax base 

 Possibility of new jobs at City and area businesses 

 Representation in City government 

 Zoning and land use regulations, with more controls than under current Borough codes 

Neutral responses addressed themes like the need for more information or mixed views about benefits 
when weighed against challenges or applied to the area the respondent was most familiar with.  

Annexation Challenges 

When asked an open-ended question about the perceived challenges associated with annexation, survey 
responses fell into the categorized areas of concern in Figure 11. The most repeated concerns included 
not wanting more regulation, not wanting (or feeling unable to afford) an increase in taxes, and concerns 
about the City’s ability to provide services to annexed areas at a comparable quality and cost-
effectiveness to the Borough. Respondents also noted concerns about the City’s readiness to extend 
services and enforcement of City regulations in annexed areas without first demonstrating some 
improvements within existing boundaries.  

Figure 11. Areas of Concern, All Respondents 

 

Communication, Process 
and Timeline

5%

Taxes and Fees 
(incl. Property 

and Sales Taxes)
29%

Growth and 
Community 

Planning
7%

Land Use 
Regulations

3%Building Codes, Permits, etc.
3%

City Services and Infrastructure (incl. 
Police, Roads, Garbage, Water/Sewer)

17%

Governance
3%

Regulations (incl. 
Guns, OHVs, 

Animals, Burn 
Permits, 

Water/Sewer, 
Garbage)

23%

Businesses and 
Economic Development

4%

Farms
3%

Fix it First
3%

Page 216 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 36 

Specific concerns raised by business owners included concerns about farms, businesses operated on the 
same property as the home, and ongoing administrative impacts of adapting to the City’s tax structure 
and regulatory framework that would be a burden to businesses. In many cases, resident and business 
concerns were identical: 17 percent of business owners live and own a business in the same area. 

Respondents were also asked open-ended questions about actions the City could take to address their 
concerns and about information the study should include. Key themes from the responses of all open-
ended questions are summarized by topic area on the following pages.  

Community Fiscal Concerns 

City Revenues/Tax Base  

Through the study’s public outreach activities, some area residents and business owners acknowledged 
the benefits of an expanded tax base to distribute the cost of public services among more taxpayers and 
potentially gain new revenue sources to improve city services. In open-ended responses, five percent of 
all respondents noted positive impacts to the City’s revenues and/or tax base as a benefit of annexation. 
These respondents suggested that the City would benefit from a larger or broader tax base through 
increased population, bringing more businesses into the City, and/or taxing the quarry/gravel pits. 
Respondents also suggested the City might see increases in revenue through taxes and/or through 
increased allocations for State/Federal funding sources. One respondent asked if annexation would 
increase or decrease Palmer’s chances as a small community to be awarded grants.  

Area residents and business owners also expressed a great deal of concern about the impact of an 
annexation on their overall taxes. In open-ended responses, nearly 30 percent of all respondents 
indicated that city taxes and fees would be a concern. One respondent suggested that in the event of a 
significant annexation, the City should consider temporary tax abatements or a ramp in the property and 
sales taxes in annexed territory, so any tax increases are not a shock to annexed residents and 
businesses. 

Property Taxes 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough (MSB) collects property taxes for the entire Borough, including City 
property taxes, and remits the City property taxes back to the City. All Borough residents pay the Mat-Su 
Borough areawide property tax, inside and outside City boundaries. Inside City boundaries, residents also 
pay the City property tax. Outside City boundaries, residents also pay the Mat-Su Borough non-areawide 
property tax. City and Borough property tax rates change from year-to-year; 2020 tax rates are shown 
below. Property tax exemptions for seniors and disabled veterans and farmland use tax deferments apply 
equally for City and Borough residents. 

Annexed property owners would pay City property tax to the City of Palmer plus the Mat-Su Borough 
areawide property tax; they would no longer pay a separate road service area tax, fire service area tax, or 
the Borough non-areawide property tax. The Mat-Su Borough would continue to do all property 
assessments for annexed properties. Annexation into the City of Palmer has not been found to affect 
property values in the past. Currently, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough has a cap on property taxes. The 
City of Palmer does not currently have a property tax cap, but it could implement one. Neither exemptions 
for seniors and disabled veterans, nor farmland use tax deferments would be affected by annexation. 

  

Page 217 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 37 

Inside Palmer City Limits, property owners pay:  

10.322 mils  (MSB areawide property tax) 

   +           3.000 mils  (City property tax) 

13.322 mils  (total property tax, 2020 for FY21 budget) 

Outside Palmer City Limits, property owners pay:  

10.322 mils  (MSB areawide property tax) 

1.500 mils (South Colony Road Service Area tax) 

0.960 mils (Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service 
Area property tax)  

   +           0.511 mils  (MSB non-areawide property tax) 

13.293 mils  (total property tax, 2020 for FY21 budget) 

65 percent of survey respondents viewed City property tax as a detriment. Open-ended responses that 
specifically mentioned property tax indicated some concern about increasing property taxes especially if it 
pays for services that are neither wanted nor used. One response included the suggestion to create a city 
property tax cap. 

Sales Taxes  

The City of Palmer also has a three percent sales tax, which is collected by non-exempt businesses 
within City limits. The City has a sales tax cap of $1,000 per item/service and several sales tax 
exemptions (listed in Palmer Municipal Code 3.16.050 Exemptions),8 including for land/property sales, 
various school-related sales, medical services and prescriptions, bulk sales of feed, seed and fertilizer to 
farmers, various financial sales and services, food stamps, funeral expenses, some aviation-related sales 
and other exemptions. The City of Palmer recently adopted the Alaska Uniform Remote Seller Sales Tax 
Code (PMC 3.16.300), which charges sales tax on purchases made to remote businesses (i.e., online 
sellers) under Palmer Municipal Code 3.16.035 (Sales tax application). 

Palmer’s City sales tax would be collected on applicable sales within annexed areas. Individual 
businesses would have to check whether their activities would be included among the exemptions. 
Residents in annexed areas would pay sales tax on utilities (and rent if they do not own their home). 
Depending where they do their other day-to-day spending, most annexed residents would probably find 
that they have already been paying City sales tax on purchases from businesses inside existing City 
boundaries.  

71 percent of survey respondents viewed City sales tax as a detriment. Open-ended responses that 
specifically mentioned sales tax indicated that some homeowners limit their spending overall and 
particularly do not want to pay sales tax on locally grown food. Some businesses are concerned that 
having to collect city sales tax and the online sales tax would hurt their business because their 
competition does not have to charge sales taxes. One response included the suggestion to eliminate the 
City’s monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. 

  

 
8 City of Palmer. Palmer Municipal Code 3.16.050 Exemptions. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/3.16.050. 

Page 218 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 38 

Severance Tax 

Open-ended survey responses that specifically mentioned other types of city taxes and fees indicated 
support for a severance tax on local quarries and/or gravel pits as well as a road tax against quarry 
trucks. The City does not currently have a severance tax. The City may consider implementing a 
severance tax on materials extraction, although the City has no intention to impose significant new taxes. 
The City would have to consider the maturity of existing extraction operations and how long a severance 
tax could be a reliable revenue source.  

Bed Tax 

One survey response included a question about whether the city would collect a bed tax. The Matanuska-
Susitna Borough currently collects a five percent bed tax on businesses that provide traveler 
accommodations. Annexed hospitality businesses would still pay the Borough bed tax, but the City of 
Palmer does not have a bed tax. These businesses would only be responsible to the City for collecting 
City sales tax. Note that Palmer’s zoning codes (PMC 17.89 Short-Term Rentals) include regulation and 
standards for bed and breakfast-style lodging.  

Other Fees 

Survey responses mentioned concerns about local improvement district assessments, building 
permit/inspection fees, as well as fees for specific city services (e.g., garbage collection, City water/sewer 
connection fees). The City of Palmer charges a number of fees that would apply to annexed residents or 
businesses, depending on the individual situation or activities the resident or business is engaged in. For 
example, businesses in the City of Palmer must have a City business license, which costs $25 per year. 
For an up-to-date listing, please reference the resources below.  

City of Palmer Fee Schedule: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule.  

Quick Reference Guide to Establishing a Business in Palmer, Alaska: 
www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/quick-reference-guide-establishing-business-palmer-
alaska  

Planning and Growth Management 

As the Palmer area’s population grows and land is developed, annexation would allow the City to apply its 
land use powers to help plan for and manage development in annexed areas. Some real estate 
developers prefer to develop land within City boundaries to benefit from services like City Police. As land 
is proposed for development or redevelopment, planning and land use regulation can reduce 
incompatible adjacent land uses and help protect the small-town feel of the area that people value, 
especially along main road corridors like the Glenn and Palmer-Wasilla Highways, where State road 
improvements make development more attractive. The study areas include gravel pits, which will 
eventually close, and it is not known how that land will be re-developed. A well-timed annexation would 
give the City greater influence over what happens with the land once the gravel operations close, 
ensuring that future uses are compatible with existing land uses in the area and local community 
character. 

“If all the farmland leading into Palmer is built on, it’s just going to look like any other town, not home anymore.” 
“Palmer is a small town that is perfect for families, and we want it to stay exactly as it is.”  

Greater Palmer also includes significant areas of farmland. Not only is maintaining agriculture important to 
Palmer’s character and identity, the greater Palmer area has some of the cleanest and most productive 
(Class 2) soils in the state. City zoning could help protect farmland that is intended for perpetual use as 
agricultural land. Some area farmers are already putting conservation easements on their prime farmland 

Page 219 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 39 

for this reason through the Alaska Farmland Trust. Farmers may also want to keep the flexibility of having 
at least part of their property remain un-zoned land that can maintain a higher value for sale and 
redevelopment.  

Annexation could give the City more reason to promote economic development inside its boundaries. 
Unlike most other City taxes and fees, Palmer’s City sales tax generates revenue from local and non-local 
taxpayers through business sales. The more businesses inside the City that generate sales tax revenue 
from sales to non-local customers or clients, the more the City can reduce its local tax burden to area 
residents. 

Key Findings 

Public outreach revealed very mixed viewpoints about the planning and growth management aspects of 
annexation. Some view annexation and the City’s ability to do land use planning as the key to growth for 
Palmer, attracting businesses and families, opening more economic opportunities and allowing the 
community to develop with assurances of zoning control to avoid incompatible uses and maintain the 
small-town feel of the area. Some area residents and business owners would value City land use controls 
to protect Palmer’s character as land is developed, especially along the Palmer-Wasilla Highway and 
Glenn Highway corridors. Some area residents view zoning and regulation as good for residents, rather 
than intrusive.  

”Palmer’s layout is much better than the ‘anything goes’ Matanuska-Susitna Borough zoning.” “With the Matanuska-
Susitna Borough you can have a business’ sheet metal building constructed in a residential area.”  

Others expressed concerns that annexation would encourage growth and, with it, crime, high density 
housing without the infrastructure to support it, traffic, and unwanted levels of commercial development. 
Some commented about the importance of maintaining Palmer’s small town feel and protecting farmland.  

Responses indicated support for protecting Palmer's small-town character, including support for farmland 
preservation. Responses revealed a difference of opinion about annexation as either opportunity to 
extend City land use regulations to manage growth or the belief that annexation would drive population 
growth and thereby irreversibly destroy Palmer’s small-town lifestyle. Comments included a request for 
the study to describe the long-term goals of the City in pursuing annexation as well as to provide growth, 
traffic and land value projections. These respondents want to know if annexation would affect the value of 
annexed land, as well as the costs and ripple effects of increased development and the population growth 
that would follow, such as impacts to traffic volume and patterns.  

Land Use Regulations 

67 percent of survey respondents viewed City zoning and land use regulations as a detriment. Open-
ended responses revealed mixed attitudes toward land use regulations. Some voiced concerns about 
how annexed land will be zoned and whether the City has appropriate land use designations. People 
generally want to be able to keep doing what they have been doing with their land; many expressed 
support for grandfathering existing land uses in any annexed territory. Some people expressed general 
opposition to zoning and other land use regulations, while others voiced the desire for greater 
enforcement of existing city regulations inside the City.  

Some responses support zoning or other land use regulations for a variety of reasons including:  

 protect Palmer’s small-town character;  

 prevent sprawl; 
 protect the quality of Palmer’s downtown and commercial district(s); 

 protect farmland and hobby farm activities on primarily residential;  

Page 220 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 40 

 protect public health and sanitation (i.e., disallow septic systems where they would endanger 
public health); 

 limit high-density housing. 

One respondent suggested a green buffer next to the Mountain Ranch subdivision. Another respondent 
suggested allowing buildings over three stories. Other responses oppose zoning or other land use 
regulations for fear that it would decrease land value or disallow the existing mix of uses on individual 
properties.  

Building Codes, Permits, etc. 

62 percent of survey respondents viewed City building codes and permits as a detriment. Open-ended 
responses that mentioned building codes, permits and inspections reflected a desire for the City to be 
more flexible or not require these for structures like sheds, decks, storage buildings, fences, etc. Some 
concerns focused more on the costs associated with code compliance and permitting for building and 
land use.  

 Issue Explanation 

General 
Regulations 

As part of an annexation petition, the City must submit a transition plan for the areas 
proposed for annexation to the State Local Boundary Commission. The transition plan 
would describe when and how City regulations would be applied to annexed areas, 
including applicable zoning, as well as any regulatory changes that would take effect upon 
incorporating annexed territory into the city. Some land uses and building structures that 
would not meet existing Palmer Municipal Code (PMC) could be grandfathered (allowed 
inside expanded City boundaries by “grandfather rights”). The City could also change 
certain existing City regulations upon annexation for the entire City or create regulations 
that apply only in certain areas or land use designations. Existing Palmer Municipal Code 
can be viewed at http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC  

Subdivisions Matanuska-Susitna Borough Code, Title 16 (Subdivisions) was repealed by ordinance in 
2006. Palmer Municipal Code, Title 16 (Subdivisions) regulates land subdivisions within the 
City. The Palmer City Planning and Zoning Commission reviews plats and provides 
subdividers with guidance to ensure compliance with Palmer Municipal Code, and formally 
approves or disapproves final plats.  

Homeowner 
Association 
covenants, 
codes and 
restrictions 
(CCRs) 

Homeowner Association covenants, codes and restrictions (CCRs) are not affected by 
annexation and are up to the homeowner association to enforce. If private CCR(s) conflict 
with City code, the City will enforce its code.  

Zoning and 
Conditional 
Use Permits 

With a few exceptions, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough currently requires Land Use 
Permits, as well as Conditional Use Permits for certain high impact uses (e.g., adult 
entertainment, materials extraction) in all areas of the Borough outside the cities of 
Houston, Palmer and Wasilla.9  

Upon annexation, the City’s zoning powers would be applied to annexed territory by 
recommendation to the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission. Palmer Municipal Code, 
Title 17 (Zoning) currently contains 17 different zoning districts that provide a wide range of 
by right and conditional uses. Generally, annexed territory would be zoned to match the 
existing land use of the parcel and adjacent or nearby properties with similar land uses that 
are already zoned. For example, an annexed property with a single-family home on it that 
is located adjacent to a single-family residential neighborhood in the City would be zoned 
the same as the parcels in the adjacent neighborhood. The City would work with the 
owners of annexed properties to identify the zoning for each parcel, especially if existing 

 
9 Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Zoning. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.matsugov.us/zoning.  

Page 221 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 41 

 Issue Explanation 

land uses do not clearly match a particular existing zoning district. For mixed-use 
properties, multiple Palmer zoning districts could apply, depending on the intensity and 
type of existing land uses on the parcel. PMC 17.16.060 (Annexation zoning) provides 
guidance for the City to zone annexed land; it describes several situations in which a land 
parcel would be zoned T-Transitional District (PMC 17.59) upon annexation and until an 
appropriate zoning designation and any conditional use permits are applied and granted. 
Palmer’s Transitional Zoning has been amended over time to better accommodate the 
needs of property owners who wish to continue their regular and planned business or other 
operations, such as a planned building expansion, during the transitional period. 

Building 
permits, fees 
and codes 
 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough adopted building codes and requires a plan review for 
new or renovated commercial buildings. The Borough also requires a Flood Hazard 
Development Permit for any development located in designated special flood hazard areas 
and a permit for the construction of a driveway or other development that will affect a 
Borough-managed public right-of-way or easement. The Borough recommends contacting 
the MSB Code Compliance Office before buying or building in the Borough.10 

The City of Palmer adopted building safety codes (PMC Title 15 Buildings and 
Construction) and requires building permits for new construction, additions and alterations, 
which include decks, small storage buildings, greenhouses, etc.11 The City requires 
building permits for fences, signs and temporary structures if the structure will remain in 
place longer than six months (PMC 15.08.3103).  

The City charges a sliding scale for the permits based on the value of the structure to be 
built. This fee scale12 assumes that the greater the value of the structure, the more complex 
it is, and the more time and expertise will be needed to review it for compliance with all 
applicable plans, ordinances and regulations before approving its construction. 

To better accommodate the desire for greater flexibility in building code compliance, the 
City of Palmer could review and amend code to make some degree of the building 
permitting and inspection process optional or voluntary. For example, Anchorage Municipal 
Code 23.05.030 makes the requirements to apply for and complete the building permit, 
plan review, and building inspection processes optional in areas outside the Anchorage 
Building Safety Service Area (ABSSA), which is defined in AMC 27.30.040. The boundaries 
of the ABSSA are outlined on a map in AMC 27.30.700. 

Fences  At the time of writing, the City may issue a one-time fence permit for $26 per parcel; the 
property owner must update the City on the fence location if it is moved.13 The City tracks 
the location of electric fences on agricultural lands for public health reasons and to enforce 
height restrictions on residential land.  

Signs Sign permits are required for permanent signs (PMC 14.08.020), which must comply with 
PMC 14.08 Sign regulations. At the time of writing, sign permit fees are $25 plus $1.50/sf of 
sign area (non-electrical signs) and $50 plus $3/sf of sign area (electrical signs).14 

 
10 Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Code Compliance. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance.  

11 City of Palmer. Building Codes. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-code-enforcement-information.  

City of Palmer. Building Reports. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-reports.  

12 City of Palmer. Fee Schedule. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule.  

13 City of Palmer. Fence Permit Application. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/residential-fence-permit-application.  

14 City of Palmer. Fee Schedule. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule.  

Page 222 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 42 

 Issue Explanation 

Historic 
Structures 

Historic buildings often do not meet current building codes and standards. Palmer 
Municipal Code recognizes the value of historic structures in PMC 17.68.050, which 
provides guidance for Nonconforming structures. Generally, existing structures are 
grandfathered into the city and may be required to be brought to code if the structure needs 
to be reconstructed or will be substantially renovated anyway. The City may be able to 
access Historic Preservation funding to subsidize the cost of renovating historic structures. 

Fire 
Inspection 

Fire inspection and approval is required for commercial buildings and multi-family 
residential properties in the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, but “residential housing that is 
triplex or smaller are exempt from this requirement.”15 Fire inspection is a state 
responsibility, delegated to local government by the Alaska State Fire Marshal. Palmer Fire 
and Rescue conducts all fire and life safety plan reviews and inspections, fire prevention 
and education activities in the Palmer Fire and Rescue service area. Annexation would not 
change this. 

Public Services and Infrastructure 

Annexation would extend some new city services to annexed areas, including Palmer City Police (which 
would replace the Alaska State Troopers as the primary response provider) and street maintenance 
(which would replace the South Colony Road Service Area). Other City services are provided to service 
areas that are separate from City boundaries and would not be affected by annexation. These include 
water and sewer services (which may be extended within the utility’s Certificated Service Area), fire and 
emergency response services (which are already provided within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire 
Service Area). Services are discussed generally and by City department, below. 

Key Findings 

Community comments about city services and infrastructure were mixed. Some view having access to 
more City services as a benefit of annexation; others are content with services provided by the Borough. 
Some prefer new development to be inside the city so that it can benefit from city services, particularly 
Palmer Police response. Some view annexation as a benefit because of improvements in City service 
provision that could be possible with a larger tax base.  

Some responses voiced concern about the City’s readiness or ability to extend services to annexed 
areas. These comments questioned whether the City has the infrastructure to support the larger size of a 
major annexation. A few responses included support for fire hydrants to be extended into annexed areas, 
or at least want a better understanding of whether the City would extend fire hydrants to annexed area(s). 
A few respondents voiced concern that an annexation could mean that services like sewer, water and 
garbage collection would all be provided to the original city residents but not extended to the newly 
annexed area, so that annexed people would be paying taxes for services they don't receive.  

Public input also revealed that some area residents (both inside and outside existing City boundaries) 
would prefer to see the City improve existing service provision within its boundaries before making an 
annexation petition, with a focus on improvements in water and sewer, solid waste collection, outdoor 
recreation facilities, planning and local code enforcement. A few responses specifically mentioned the 
desire for improvements (or repair and replacement) to aging stormwater collection infrastructure and 
existing City facilities (generally). 

One or two respondents voiced strong dissatisfaction with mail service in the Palmer area (specifically the 
Post Office and cost of a PO box). It should be noted that because mail service is a Federal service, 

 
15 Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Fire and Life Safety Division. Building and Renovating. Accessed February 3, 2021 
from: http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating.  

Page 223 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 43 

annexation would not necessarily affect postal services. Public input also included questions about how 
annexation would affect schools in terms of population and funding. 

Issue Explanation 

Schools Public schools are operated by the Manatuska-Susitna Borough School District in Palmer 
and all study areas; annexation would not affect public schools directly.  

City and 
service area 
boundaries 

Maps on the following pages show where the City of Palmer and service area boundaries 
are for City Refuse Collection, the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area (City), 
the Palmer Water and Sewer Utility (City), and the South Colony Road Service Area 
(Borough).  

Plan for 
staffing, 
facilities and 
equipment 
across 
departments 

Existing staffing, facilities and equipment across departments: The Palmer 
Comprehensive Plan provides guidance for City operations and was last updated in 
2006. The City’s 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) provides guidance on the 
planned construction of or improvements to City facilities and is included in each adopted 
budget with the Capital Projects Fund.16 After a significant annexation, the City may 
update these plans. 

For annexation: Through this annexation study, City department heads estimated the 
amount of increased staffing, facilities and equipment needed for annexation at the scale 
of each of the study areas. If the City prepares an annexation petition for a specific area 
(or set of areas) in future, it will be required to include a transition plan that similarly 
describes how City operations will adjust to accommodate the proposed annexation. 
Cities are often able to provide services more cost-effectively to a somewhat larger 
population.  

City Administration and Finance  

City property and sales taxes go into City of Palmer’s General Fund, which pays for city administration 
and some city services. Other city services are set up as separate enterprise or proprietary funds that are 
operated more like private businesses and pay for themselves through user fees, leases and/or sales. In 
general, when hourly City personnel work on behalf of an enterprise fund, their time is billed to the 
enterprise. Enterprise funds have a payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) based on gross revenues to account 
for general fund City staff time devoted to enterprise activities. 

The City’s general administration team includes the City’s Attorney, City Manager, City Clerk and Human 
Resources. The Palmer Finance Department manages the City’s accounting, prepares the budget, 
manages the City’s audits, collects the City sales tax, administers City business licenses, manages billing 
and collections and does grant reporting for the City. These functions are paid for through the City’s 
General Fund. The City also maintains a separate enterprise fund for land sales that has had very limited 
activity over the years; it is not the responsibility of a particular city department. The City of Palmer’s 
Administration and Finance Departments would not be greatly affected by annexation. 

Community Development 

The Palmer Community Development Department provides planning and zoning administration, plan 
review, plat review for new subdivisions, code enforcement and building inspections. The Community 
Development Department also manages the MTA Events Center, the Palmer Library and Palmer Depot 
under the general fund. Community Development staff include a Department Director, Building Inspector, 
Community Development Specialist, and Administrative Assistant, as well as the Palmer Public Library 
Director and MTA Events Center Manager. 

 
16 City of Palmer. Budget Documents. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents.  

Page 224 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 44 

Some area residents identified possible parks and recreation-related improvements as a potential benefit 
of annexation through community engagement activities. Specific improvements included: increased 
access to parks and public lands, construction of new bike paths and other recreation infrastructure in 
annexed areas, and improved pedestrian access from annexed areas to the City of Palmer. One 
respondent voiced concern for the City to improve existing recreational infrastructure (specifically the 
Palmer Senior League Field) before annexing anything. 

Upon an annexation, the Palmer Community Development Department would be fairly busy administering 
the application of zoning and other land use regulations to annexed lands in support to the Palmer 
Planning and Zoning Commission. In the longer term, the department would not be greatly affected by 
annexation. Property taxpayers in annexed areas would contribute to the operation and maintenance of 
City Parks and Recreation facilities and programming, including community parks and trails, the MTA 
Events Center and Ice Arena, the Palmer Library and Palmer Depot. 

Issue Explanation 

Recreational or 
non-motorized 
transportation 
improvements 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough has generally kept ownership of Borough parks in 
annexations but delegated the powers to maintain and develop Borough-owned parkland 
to the City once it is inside that city’s boundaries. Annexation would not guarantee any 
particular improvements, but it would give residents in annexed areas greater opportunity 
to vote for recreational or non-motorized transportation improvements in City elections 
and serve on the City’s Parks and Recreation Advisory Board. In the study areas 
considered by this report, there is the most opportunity to develop non-motorized trails 
along major roadways. 

Palmer Golf Course 

The Palmer Golf Course is set up as an enterprise fund; it generates revenue from green and trail fees, 
equipment and space rentals, as well as snack bar, merchandise and beer sales. The City contracts with 
a private management company to perform all golf course activities (e.g., sales, maintenance). The 
Palmer Golf Course would not be affected by annexation. 

Warren “Bud” Woods Palmer Municipal Airport  

Palmer Airport facilities include a number of hangars, a helipad, a 6,000-ft main runway, a 3,600-ft 
crosswind runway, and a 1,500-ft gravel runway. The airport offers aircraft parking for day and overnight 
use as well as long-term tiedowns, fueling and ground support, field maintenance and an aircraft parts 
store. The airport is home to a number of local aviation businesses. The airport is set up as an enterprise 
fund and managed by the City Airport Superintendent. Some facility maintenance is provided by the 
Public Works Department Facilities Division. Airport operations are funded primarily by Airport property 
and sales taxes, revenue from tiedowns and land leases. The Palmer Airport would not be affected by 
annexation. 

Police 

Within City limits, the Palmer Police Department provides police, emergency, and dispatch services as 
well as public safety education within City boundaries. Police services are also paid for through the City’s 
General Fund. Alaska State Troopers provide public safety services to areas outside City limits and are 
also headquartered at the Palmer Trooper Post in the same building as the Palmer Police Department.  

Issue Explanation 

Police 
coverage  

The City would assume responsibility for police services from the Alaska State Troopers. 
If there is a call outside Palmer City limits, Palmer Police may respond, but if there is a 
call at the same time from inside Palmer City limits (even if it is less of an emergency), 

Page 225 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 45 

Issue Explanation 

Palmer Police must respond to the call within the City first. The City does not receive 
extra compensation for providing police services outside City limits.  

The City of Palmer currently maintains a police force equivalent to one sworn officer per 
610 citizens, one dispatcher per 872 citizens, and one non-sworn/non-dispatcher staff 
member per 2,034 citizens. If an area is annexed into the City of Palmer, the Police 
Department would hire new staff as needed to maintain similar staff ratios. The fiscal 
study assumes that the City would hire a new sworn officer for every 641 people 
annexed into Palmer. There is no fair way to truly compare average police and State 
Trooper response times.  

Palmer police was identified as a benefit of a potential annexation by 61 percent of survey respondents. 
Some area residents support annexation to expand access to police services, to receive a more rapid 
response from law enforcement officers, and/or as a way to increase funding for city police. Some 
respondents prefer the Alaska State Troopers. Other responses expressed concern that the Palmer 
Police Department would be overwhelmed by a significant annexation because staff are already 
overworked, understaffed, underpaid, and do not feel supported by the City. A few respondents also 
voiced concerns about the expense of expanding the City’s police force and about the City’s ability to find 
qualified people to hire for the new positions as well as its ability to pay its officers a competitive salary. 

Fire and Emergency Services   

Palmer Fire and Rescue provides fire safety education within the City of Palmer, and fire and rescue 
response within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area (Figure 12) by a cost-sharing 
agreement between the Matanuska-Susitna Borough and the City of Palmer. Palmer’s cost-share is paid 
for through the City’s General Fund. Staffed fire stations and improved fire response times were identified 
as potential benefits of annexation.  

Relatively few responses mentioned Palmer Fire and Rescue. Some respondents saw improvements to 
Palmer’s fire and emergency response services as a benefit of annexation, in the form of faster fire and 
emergency response times. These responses also indicated support for the department to access more 
resources to build, staff and equip new fire station(s) in areas that do not have them. Other responses 
reflected concerns about the cost of those improvements. A few area community members expressed a 
preference for the Central Mat-Su Fire Department. But as Figure 12 shows, all of the areas surrounding 
the City of Palmer are well within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area. Annexation would 
not change the service area boundaries.  

What would be affected is the ISO rating, and consequently property insurance rates. The Insurance 
Service Office (ISO) gives a fire score to fire departments and their surrounding communities. The “ISO 
rating” is meant to reflect how well the local fire department can protect its community and the homes and 
businesses within it. Insurance companies use the score to help set home insurance rates, so a better 
ISO rating often translates to lower property insurance premiums. ISO ratings are based on the quality of 
the local fire department (i.e., staffing levels, training and proximity to fire stations), available water supply 
(i.e., proximity to hydrants, volume of water available for firefighting), quality of the areas emergency 
communications system (911), and fire safety education and outreach. ISO ratings go from 1 to 10: 1 is 
the best possible rating, and 10 means the fire department did not meet the ISO’s minimum requirements. 
Within Palmer City limits, Palmer Fire and Rescue currently has an ISO rating of 3/3Y (Y notes distance 
from hydrants). Outside City limits, the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area has an ISO rating 
of 5/10, mainly because of longer distances to a water supply, fire stations, and a limited number of 
firefighting personnel. Water for firefighting is supplied at a fire station or hydrant. There are currently 
three fire stations within the Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area. For ISO rating purposes, a 
10 means the residence is more than 5 miles from a fire station. Firefighting personnel include full-time, 

Page 226 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 46 

part-time or paid-on-call responders. For ISO rating purposes, 3 paid-on-call personnel on a response 
count as one full-time responder. 

Issue Explanation 

Fire and 
rescue 
response 
services 

In order to maintain a higher ISO rating throughout the City and any annexed areas, the 
City may invest in constructing and outfitting a new fire station.  

Fire hydrants The installation of fire hydrants is not dependent on annexation. It depends on the ability 
of Palmer’s Water and Sewer Utility to provide water to the hydrants. Decisions to install 
and operate fire hydrants may be made on a case-by-case basis. 

Figure 12. Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area 

 

  

Page 227 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 47 

Public Works  

The Palmer Public Works Department currently employs 15 full-time staff members who provide a 
maintenance and utility services for the City and greater Palmer community through seven divisions listed 
below. Although the Department’s budget is funded by the City’s General Fund, some Department 
responsibilities are funded through enterprise funds.  

Administration Division 

The Palmer Public Works Department, Administration Division provides general oversight of all divisions 
within the Palmer Public Works Department. The division also provides central administrative services for 
the department, which include managing projects, tracking purchase orders and work orders, and 
managing financial code entries for department activities and expenses before submitting to the City 
Finance Department.  

Fleet Division  

The Palmer Public Works Department, Fleet Division maintains the City’s vehicle and equipment fleet, 
which includes City trucks, police vehicles, fire trucks, dump trucks, snowplows, fuel truck, grader, 
loaders, generators, etc.  

Facilities Division  

The Palmer Public Works Department, Facilities Division performs preventive maintenance and light 
repairs on City buildings and the Palmer Airport.  

Parks Division  

The Palmer Public Works Department, Parks Division provides maintenance and light repairs for City 
parks and trails. Palmer’s Community Development Department is responsible for parks and recreation 
planning and operations.  

Streets Division  

All roads within the City of Palmer are owned by the City, Matanuska-Susitna Borough or the State of 
Alaska. The Palmer Public Works Department, Streets Division maintains City streets and storm drains, 
City-owned streetlights and road signs. Street maintenance includes snow plowing and removal, paving, 
grading and leveling unpaved roads, streetlights. The Palmer Snow Removal Map shows where the 
Public Works Department prioritizes snow removal on City streets (note: any road designations on the 
snow removal map that are not marked with a priority level are platted roads that have not been 
developed).  

The City of Palmer Public Works Department maintains all City roads within City limits. Outside of City 
limits, local roads are under the purview of the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. In the areas around the City 
of Palmer, Borough roads are maintained by the South Colony Road Service Area (Figure 13).  

Some area residents view potential annexation benefits to include road maintenance and improvements, 
particularly streetlights in some neighborhoods. Palmer road maintenance was identified as a benefit of a 
potential annexation by 53 percent of survey respondents. 

Other respondents do not want City road maintenance, nor do they want to pay for it. Some of these 
responses specifically mentioned concerns that the City cannot provide snow removal as fast as what 
they are used to now. A few respondents specifically shared concerns about the City’s ability to provide 
snow removal on Scott Road because it requires specialized equipment. A few responses also voiced 
concerns about the City’s ability to find people willing to accept any new maintenance positions unless it 
raises its salaries and wages for the positions. 

 

Page 228 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 48 

Figure 13. South Colony Road Service Area 

 

Several community members (inside and outside the City) voiced the desire to improve existing City 
facilities and road maintenance services before annexation, including:  

 improving general road maintenance and snow removal; 
 paving unpaved roads inside the City of Palmer; 

 upgrading paved City roads that are at the end of their life cycle; 

 upgrading storm water collection systems; and  

 upgrading concrete curb and gutters installed 20+ years ago that are now in disrepair. 

The fiscal analysis of this annexation study provides guidance as to the City staff and equipment needed 
to meet the snow removal and general maintenance needs of an expanded City road system upon 
annexation. The City would also need to identify adequate snow disposal sites and drainage areas. 

 

Page 229 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 49 

Issue Explanation 

Road 
improvements 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough roads annexed into the City would become City of Palmer 
roads. The City would take over road maintenance from the RSA for the annexed road 
miles. As the roads age and need to be replaced, the City would bring them to City 
standards.17 Existing City standards suggest that annexed streets in residential 
subdivisions would eventually be required to have two 12-foot driving lanes with curb and 
gutter. Sidewalks are not required, but the City may establish Road Improvement Districts 
to pay for bringing unimproved streets to these standards. Palmer’s road standards 
require all streets to have a minimum level of street lighting. Decisions about whether to 
pave roads are usually based on safety concerns and how often they are used. Generally, 
when the average daily traffic (ADT) on a local gravel-surfaced road exceeds 250 
vehicles, the road should be a candidate for paving. 

Streetlights The City would take over any streetlights in annexed areas that are currently owned by 
the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Installing streetlights in annexed areas would be part of 
a City-wide Capital Improvements Plan. 

Maintenance 
to Scott Road 

As a state-owned Road, Scott Road would continue to be maintained by the Alaska State 
Department of Transportation and Public Facilities if the area were to be annexed into the 
City. It is also common practice for public road maintenance departments to trade snow 
removal responsibilities for specific roads if it makes the overall service provision more 
efficient and cost effective. For example, in Anchorage, the State provides snow removal 
for some larger Municipal roads and in exchange, the Municipality clears snow for some 
smaller State-owned roads. 

Solid Waste Division 

The Palmer Public Works Department, Solid Waste Division operates the City’s solid waste collection and 
disposal services, which are set up as an enterprise fund that generates revenue through collection fees 
and penalties. Solid waste collection is required by Palmer Municipal Code for all residents (PMC 
8.20.010). The City currently provides trash collection for a service area within existing City limits (Figure 
14). Outside the service area, property owners contract with a private collection service of their choosing.  

Palmer currently operates its City solid waste collection service in an exclusive certificate. If the City were 
to expand its existing service area, it would be required to enter a competitive service area, and all of the 
City’s public utilities would come under economic regulation by the Alaska Public Utilities Commission 
(APUC). The City would then be subject to additional administrative State requirements, such as 
completing extensive rate studies each time any utility rates need to be adjusted. The City is unlikely to 
change its garbage collection service area in order to avoid the additional administrative work and 
resulting costs to taxpayers. 

Both City and Palmer-area residents and business owners expressed confusion about the City’s existing 
policies and requirements for trash collection. Existing City residents voiced a desire for greater clarity 
about where properties receive City trash collection and where they are required to contract with a 
collection service. 

The City’s existing policy to require garbage collection service was considered a detriment by 61 percent 
of survey respondents. Open-ended survey responses that mentioned City garbage collection were 
mixed. Some respondents want City garbage collection, including existing City residents who live outside 
the City’s current garbage collection service area. One respondent voiced concern that expanding the 
current trash collection service area would trigger state regulation of City utilities by forcing the City to 
enter a competitive service area. Other respondents within the City and outside the City prefer to either 

 
17 City of Palmer. Road Standards. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/public-works/page/standard-
specifications-and-development-standards.  

Page 230 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 50 

contract with another provider or haul their own trash. In the study areas, respondents generally want to 
be able to choose who and how garbage is dealt with. Some responses voiced concern that trash 
collection would become more expensive if land is annexed.  

Figure 14. City of Palmer Refuse Collection Service Area 

  

Issue Explanation 

Solid waste 
collection and 
disposal 

Property owners in annexed areas would not be required to have solid waste collection 
service from the City of Palmer, but under existing City policy, may be required to contract 
with a private collection service of their choice. To better accommodate the desire for 
greater flexibility in waste management, the City of Palmer could review and amend code. 
Like Palmer, the Municipality of Anchorage requires municipal garbage collection within a 
specified service area (AMC 26.70.030), but Anchorage Municipal Code does allow the 
city manager to exempt a person from the requirement if that person requires solid waste 
collection and disposal service that cannot be provided by the Municipality. Unlike Palmer 

Page 231 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 51 

Issue Explanation 

Municipal Code, Anchorage Municipal Code does not require garbage collection by a 
private provider outside this service area. 

Burning trash 
on premises 

Inside the City, Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue Class A, B or C burn permits for open 
burning of woody debris or fields of grass on parcels of at least two (2) acres or more, 
upon approval by the Fire Chief or his designee.18 All other types of refuse would be 
disposed of according to Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 (Garbage Collection and 
Disposal). 

Water and Sewer Division 

The Palmer Public Works Department, Water/Wastewater Division operates the City’s Water and Sewer 
Utility, which is set up as an enterprise fund to provide piped water and sewer services. The Utility’s 
revenue comes mostly from connection, disconnection and service fees charged to customers. The 
Palmer Water and Sewer Utility may provide these services within a certificated service area that extends 
far beyond the City’s boundaries (Figure 15).  

City water and sewer service regulations are found in Palmer Municipal Code (PMC) Title 13, PMC 
8.12.010 and PMC 8.16.010. PMC allows the Utility to extend piped services to properties outside City 
limits upon approval by the Palmer City Council (PMC 13.08.070). The utility already provides piped water 
to a small number of customers located outside existing City limits. Within City boundaries, PMC 
generally requires that properties be served by the utility if practical. If determined to be impractical, City 
code allows properties to be served by a City- and State-approved onsite system, such as well and septic 
(PMC 13.08.030, 13.16.025, and 13.16.030). 

Annexation would not give the City more authority or oblige it to provide water and sewer service to 
property within the service area. The City would continue to evaluate new service additions on a case-by-
case basis. Annexation would not change the status of any existing private water or sewer utilities in any 
annexed area.  

Open-ended responses that mentioned water and sewer services were mixed. Respondents who saw 
potential annexation benefits expressed support for City planning to prevent ground water problems, as 
well as support for limiting septic systems in future for public health reasons. Some respondents voiced a 
desire to have water and sewer extended to their property; others expressed preferences for their existing 
onsite or community well and septic systems. Some respondents brought up concerns about the cost of 
extending and hooking up to piped water and/or sewer.  

"I've heard it could cost each home up to $20,000 for city sewer and water if we are annexed."  

"I just paid for a new septic install. I would be unhappy about having to pay to hook up to sewer now." 

A few respondents questioned whether the City would take over servicing their subdivision’s community 
well and septic if annexed. Responses reflected both frustration about the City refusing to take over a 
community well, while another HOA wants to maintain ownership and control of the community well. 

Farmers voiced special concerns about whether they would have to pay for City water or be able to 
maintain their private wells (discussed under Farms). One respondent voiced concern that an annexation 
would require the City’s water and wastewater plants to be expanded, with limited capacity to do so at the 
current wastewater plant." 

 
18 Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-
rescue/page/burn-permits.  

Page 232 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 52 

Figure 15. Palmer Water and Sewer Utility Service Area 

 

Issue Explanation 

Water and 
sewer service  

The extension of piped water and sewer services would be unaffected by annexation. The 
City would continue to evaluate new piped service additions on a case-by-case basis.19 

Well and 
septic 
systems 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough code establishes minimum lot sizes for well and septic 
systems, consistent with Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) 
requirements for drain fields and separation distances for well and septic (Chapter 43 

 
19 Palmer Municipal Code provides guidance about where and when connection to the city water and sewer system 
would be required in:  

 PMC 13.08.030 Water and sewer connections – required when – septic tank specifications  

 PMC 13.16.025 Water supply system  

 PMC 13.16.030 Sanitary sewer system 

Page 233 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 53 

Issue Explanation 

Subdivisions, MBC 43.20.281 Area). Generally, a lot must be 40,000 square feet or 
greater to have onsite water and septic, 20,000 square feet or greater if served by either 
City piped water or sewer, and a lot can be smaller than 20,000 square feet if served by 
both City piped water and sewer. 

In the City of Palmer, residential lots of 20,000 square feet or larger are generally not 
required to connect to the city’s piped water and sewer system (PMC 13.16.025 and PMC 
13.16.030), nor are new buildings constructed more than 150 feet from the city’s existing 
piped system (PMC 13.08.030). Palmer’s code allows well and septic systems as long as 
they meet ADEC standards and approval.  

Palmer’s 
wastewater 
treatment 
plant is under 
a Department 
of Justice 
consent 
decree.20  

Palmer Water and Wastewater Utility operations would be unaffected by annexation. A 
consent decree is an agreement or settlement that resolves a dispute between two parties 
without admission of guilt or liability. Under a 2016 consent decree, the Palmer Water and 
Wastewater Utility committed to extensive upgrades of the Palmer Waste Water 
Treatment Plant to correct alleged violations of its National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (NPDES) permit and payment of a civil penalty of $192,162 to the 
United States and State of Alaska. The consent decree was driven by tightened 
Environmental Protection Agency regulations designed to protect Matanuska River 
salmon spawning grounds. A new Palmer Waste Water Treatment Plant was constructed 
in 2017 and has been in operation since 2018. 

Governance 

Annexation allows more Palmer-area residents to have a voice in City governance by extending the ability 
to vote in vote in City elections, to run for office and to serve on Boards and Commissions to annexed 
areas. Residence inside City limits is required to vote in City elections, run for a City office, or to serve on 
some boards and commissions. Palmer Municipal Code requires that:  

 a person be a resident of the city for at least the preceding 30 days to vote in City elections (PMC 
18.10.010). 

 a person who wants to run for city office be a qualified voter of the city and meet state and city 
requirements for the office (PMC 18.15.010). 

 a person reside in the City to serve on the Planning and Zoning Commission (PMC 2.20.010). 

 a majority of Parks and Recreation Advisory Board members reside in the City (PMC 2.22.010). 

 at least two members of the Airport Advisory Commission reside in the City (PMC 2.25.020). 

 at least two members of the Board of Economic Development reside in the City (PMC 2.30.010). 

City zoning, regulations and ordinances would be applied in annexed areas, which is viewed as a benefit 
to some but a challenge to others. A successful annexation may ultimately involve changes to Palmer’s 
zoning and other regulations that would otherwise effectively prohibit a number of residential, business 
and agricultural practices that commonly occur in the areas outside City limits. In this case, the City may 
consider allowing certain practices in some areas of the city and not in others. 

  

 
20 United States Justice Department. “Notice of Lodging of Proposed Consent Decree Under the Clean Water Act: A 
Notice by the Justice Department on 09/12/2016,” Federal Register. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-
under-the-clean-water-act.  

Rockey, Tim. “Waste water treatment plan up and running,” Frontiersman Sep 19, 2018. Accessed February 9, 2021 
from: https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-
9b58-9b23af2f166c.html.  

Page 234 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 54 

Key Findings  

Some area residents see benefits to annexation from having more of a voice in local government, a wider 
pool of eligible candidates to run for public office, and a more involved voter base. 60 percent of survey 
respondents view the ability to vote, run for City offices, and/or serve on Palmer City Council, boards and 
commissions as a benefit of a potential annexation. Public engagement activities revealed some 
confusion among area residents about where existing City boundaries are; some areas around the edges 
of existing City limits may already be so entwined with City life and development that people who are 
actually outside City limits believe they are living within the City. Within the City, some residents voiced 
the desire for better enforcement of certain existing city regulations, mostly related to the use and upkeep 
of neighboring property.  

Residential and Lifestyle 

There are significant lifestyle differences between areas inside City and outside the City limits that were 
reflected in community comments about the City’s regulations. Among open-ended survey responses, 
only two percent mentioned regulations as benefits, whereas 29 percent mentioned regulations as 
concerns. As benefits, responses mentioned land use and/or building regulations as a way to manage 
growth and protect Palmer’s small-town character. A few responses mentioned a sense of everyone 
following the same rules as a benefit, especially for code compliance or law enforcement. The main 
concerns about city regulations stated a general desire to minimize any governmental rules, the desire to 
be able to use firearms and off-road vehicles; burn trash, have fire pits and set off fireworks on their 
property, and keep a variety of animals on their land. Responses about actions the City could take 
overwhelmingly reflected the desire to grandfather or make regulatory allowances to retain existing 
lifestyles and businesses.  

Use of Firearms. Responses included suggestions to allow hunting (generally and small-game hunting), 
target practice on property, and access to hunting grounds. Respondents also expressed the desire to be 
able to continue using private rifle/shooting range(s), including the existing gun range that operates in 
Study Area G.  

Use of Off-Road Vehicles. Responses included suggestions to allow off-road vehicles (e.g., ATVs, snow 
machines) to be licensed for road use. One respondent specifically mentioned wanting to drive off-road 
vehicles on Bogard Road.  

Burn Trash, Firepits and Fireworks. Responses included suggestions to allow burning waste, having 
backyard firepits and setting off fireworks on private property. A few comments specifically mentioned 
wanting burn permits with the same allowances as they are currently granted by the Mat-Su Borough.  

Animals. Responses indicated the desire to have a variety of type and number of animals on their 
property. Respondents specifically mentioned livestock on farms or hobby farms, e.g., goats, chickens 
(including roosters), cows, horses, bees.  

"Many of these areas have people with more than a few chickens. And they depend on them for food or money from 
egg sales. Same with other livestock. Making it a city would really harm these practices and people will move 
farther."  

Responses also included suggestions for different rules for dogs, including:  

"Maintain the four-dog limit; four dogs is okay if there are no other animals."  

"Allow permits and inspection for more than two dogs for small dog kennels. No more than 10 dogs." 

"Allow dogs to run free." 

Other Regulations. Responses indicated a strong lack of support for building codes and permits for 
sheds, decks, storage buildings; the City’s garbage collection requirement; and any requirement to 

Page 235 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 55 

connect to the City’s piped water-sewer utility if a property is served by functioning well and septic. One 
response mentioned a lack of support for a mask ordinance. Responses did indicate support for 
regulations to address homelessness and to allow private wells, especially on farms. Responses reflected 
a mix of support and objection to allowing businesses such as marijuana dispensary (and cannabis 
tourism), a strip club and pawn shop. Suggestions to improve regulations included:  

 Enforce quiet hours from the quarry 

 Revisit requirements concerning agricultural practices (e.g., noise, smells, land use, number and 
size of animals allowed on the property) 

 Allow well and septic 

 Allow self-haul and privately contracted trash collection 
 Flexibility and/or exemptions to building code and permit requirements for small structures 

(decks, sheds, fences, outbuildings) 

 Allow neighborhood roads to not have sidewalks. 

Issue Explanation 

Hunting PMC Chap 9.74.010 Discharge of Firearms prohibits discharging a firearm within city 
limits, except at permitted practice facilities. Hunting with firearms would not be permitted 
in annexed areas unless the City amends the Palmer Municipal Code to expand the areas 
and conditions under which it is an allowable activity. For example, the City of Kenai 
allows firearms discharge in designated areas of the city only, shown on a Firearms 
Discharge Map.21 Anchorage and Juneau have helpful webpages describing their rules 
about hunting and use of firearms within their boundaries. The City and Borough of 
Juneau permits hunting with regulatory guidelines within its boundaries.22 It is against the 
law to discharge a firearm in the Municipality of Anchorage except in designated hunting 
areas or shooting ranges per Anchorage Municipal Code 8.25.030.23 

Large 
equipment/ 
vehicle 
parking and 
storage 

Parking for large equipment and vehicle storage is allowed in some Palmer zoning 
districts by right or with a conditional use permit. See Palmer Municipal Code, Chapter 17 
Zoning. 

Off Highway 
Vehicle (OHV) 
use 

ATVs, four-wheelers, side-by-sides, snow machines, motocross bikes and motorcycles, 
etc. are all considered “Off-highway Vehicles” (OHV) in Palmer Municipal Code. These 
vehicles are not allowed on public rights-of-way (e.g., sidewalk, street), parkland, or 
private land without the owner’s permission within City limits (PMC 10.08 Regulation of 
Off-Highway Vehicles). Off-highway vehicles are allowed to cross public rights-of-way 
(streets, etc.) following safety guidelines outlined in the code.  

The City may choose to revisit these regulations if greater use of off-highway vehicles 
(beyond that allowed by existing code) can be safely accommodated in annexed 
territories. Some Alaska communities have recreational trails that run alongside main 
roadways to accommodate off-highway vehicle use, although additional provisions may be 
needed to allow the vehicles to travel from a residence to designated trails along 
neighborhood streets.  

 
21 City of Kenai. Kenai Municipal Code 13.15.010 Discharge of firearms. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010. 

City of Kenai. Firearms Discharge Map. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf.  

22 City and Borough of Juneau. Hunting on CBJ Property. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting.  

23 Municipality of Anchorage. Firearms – FAQ. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx.  

Page 236 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 56 

Issue Explanation 

Issues with 
animal 
restrictions  
 

Palmer Municipal Code Title 6 regulates animals within the City. The code limits the legal 
number and type of domestic pets and farm animals, defines animal cruelty rules, 
restrictions on animal noise, odor, ability to free-roam, and where and how animals can be 
buried. 

Dogs: Up to three dogs are allowed in the City on a given parcel of land. This restriction 
does not apply to land zoned for agriculture or if the parcel is larger than an acre and the 
animal does not go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line. City code does not allow dogs 
to run free (PMC 6.08.065 Animals at large). The City could review and consider 
amending the code to allow up to four dogs on parcels less than one acre and/or off-leash 
dogs in designated areas within City boundaries.  

Chickens: Up to five “domestic birds” are allowed on a given parcel of land (PMC 
6.08.020.C); domestic birds include female chickens but not roosters (PMC 6.04.010). 
This restriction does not apply to land zoned for agriculture or if the parcel is larger than 
an acre and the animal does not go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line.  

Cows (Cattle), Horses and Goats: These and several other animals are allowed to be 
kept if the land is zoned for agriculture or if the parcel is larger than an acre and the 
animal does not go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line (PMC 6.08.020.A). 

Bees: Bees are permitted on land zoned for agriculture (PMC Chapter 17.57 AG 
Agricultural District). The City could review and consider amending the code to allow bees 
on land in one or more residential zoning district(s); the agricultural zoning also allows for 
a single-family residential dwelling.  

Burning trash 
on premises,  
fire pits and 
fireworks 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough directs residents to the Alaska Division of Forestry to 
issue burn permits outside City limits. Fireworks are prohibited in the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough, with the exception of New Year’s Eve.24 

Inside the City, Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue recreational burn permits for fire pits and 
Class A/B/C burn permits for open burning of woody debris or fields of grass, upon 
approval by the Fire Chief or his designee.25 The City could review and amend code to if 
needed. One example would be to expand the allowances for burn permits on parcels of 
five or more acres in newly annexed areas. The Municipality of Anchorage allows 
recreational or ceremonial fires as long as they are done according to regulatory safety 
standards and obtain a burn permit if necessary. However, burning trash, yard debris, 
leaves, construction material, and/or woody debris is prohibited within the municipality.26 

Palmer Fire & Rescue may also issue permits for commercial fireworks displays inside city 
limits. PMC 8.42 outlines the regulations for fireworks inside city limits. Fireworks can be 
used by private individuals without obtaining an application on New Year’s Eve from 9 
p.m. to 1 a.m. per Palmer Municipal Code 8.42.010. 

Businesses and Economic Development 

Responses that mentioned businesses and economic development included a range of support for 
potential benefits of annexation and concerns about how an annexation would affect business operations 
in annexed areas and inside the City. Some respondents view annexation as a way to support private 
business development. Others concerned that people who own business but don't live in Palmer don't 

 
24 Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Code Compliance. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance.  

25 Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed March 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-
permits. 

26 Municipality of Anchorage. Recreational and Cooking Fires. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx.  

Page 237 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 57 

have a voice. Responses also included concerns that City officials would not be willing to allow big 
businesses to be established in annexed areas. 

Business responses included concerns about the impact of taxation (present and future) and City 
regulations on the ability to do business. Some businesses expressed concerns about having to have 
more license(s), more fee(s), and another set of quarterly paperwork to complete and submit. Some 
businesses voiced concerns that because they compete against businesses located in areas that do not 
have a sales tax, collecting the Palmer sales tax would make them less competitive, and they could lose 
a large amount of business. Business responses also included concerns that owners of annexed property 
would pass cost increases to the lease holder operating a business on the property, and that annexation 
could cause job losses and/or drive businesses away. Business owners seek protection under current 
economic hardships (i.e., due to COVID-19 restrictions) and to be allowed to continue operation. 

Responses included a request for information about the long-term effects of annexation on businesses in 
the annexed areas, about the financial impact to businesses and how that might affect current and 
potential future business in the city. One respondent voiced concern about whether growth associated 
with annexation would create high wage jobs (e.g., medical support) or low wage jobs (e.g., big box 
retail).  

Survey responses reflected a mix of interest in and concern about annexation causing an increase in the  
number of City jobs. Some  respondents voiced support for more City jobs, though others expressed 
concerns that City of Palmer employees are not paid competitive salaries/wages and question whether 
the City could attract qualified people to fill new positions at current pay levels.  

Farms 

“We own a farm on the Springer system, and I’m scared. Historically when farmland is annexed it is a few short years 
before farmland is sold to developers. Cities need a tax base and farms are big open spaces where nobody lives to 
spread out the tax burden so what happens is cities start taxing what is produced on farms until farms can’t afford to 
stay in business and sell out to developers. If Palmer values its roots and colony heritage, it will not annex any 
farmland. The pressures will be too great, and farms will go away.” – Anonymous, annexation survey response 

The quote above illustrates some of the concerns expressed about the loss of existing and historical 
farmland to development in the Palmer area. Farmers want to be able to maintain pastureland and 
livestock, and residents generally treasure Palmer’s agricultural character and heritage. At the same time, 
Palmer continues to experience growth in residential and commercial development, increasing 
development pressure. It is not clear that annexation would affect the pace of real estate development 
and re-development in the Palmer area, although the City has more land use tools than the Borough to 
manage growth that does occur within its boundaries.  

The land use conflicts that occur between residential subdivisions and farmland result from the kind of 
unplanned development that City land use regulations are intended to reduce, avoid or address. For 
example, if a residential property owner is concerned about heavy equipment being stored in the 
residential yard of a recently subdivided farm property, the City can enforce zoning regulations that allow 
or disallow the activity within City limits.  

The City’s Agricultural zoning (PMC 17.57) may offer some protection for agricultural land uses inside the 
City. Some of the City’s other zoning districts allow for smaller-scale or hobby farming uses, such as 
Limited Commercial District (PMC 17.28) or Rural Residential District (PMC 17.54). Agricultural property 
is usually assessed at a lower property value to recognize the use. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
already recognizes some parcels as agricultural in their assessment records. One farmer expressed 
concern that agricultural zoning could reduce flexibility to subdivide and sell the property at a later date, 
should they choose to do so. The land would have to be rezoned if a buyer were to redevelop the 
property for a different use, and that could lower the potential sales value of the land. When thinking long-

Page 238 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 58 

term about their financial or business management, farm property owners could view this as an unwanted 
depreciation of their primary business asset.  

In general, farmers in the Palmer area voiced a desire to feel greater support from the City of Palmer for 
agriculture, including actions that are unrelated to annexation. For example, one suggested that the City 
could sell or transfer some of the land it owns to the Alaska Farmland Trust to preserve for agricultural 
use. Addressing these issues is beyond the scope of this study. Survey responses included suggestions 
for the City to adopt Right-to-Farm laws and/or publish regulations, protections and changes to city policy 
involving farmland to ensure the preservation of farmland and agricultural practices, including 
encouraging the creation of more agricultural businesses. State and Federal Right to Farm Acts are 
designed to prevent unfair taxation and regulations that would be detrimental to farming. 

Responses also included suggestions to exempt agricultural land from mandatory trash collection, 
building permits for storage buildings, and eliminate monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. One 
respondent suggested that the City "keep the R7 rating so agriculture can continue without being 
impacted by placing farmland in competition with new subdivisions." Another respondent commented that 
the size and/or type of lots should be treated differently regarding allowances for animals. Respondents 
also mentioned concerns about the number and size of animals allowed, building codes/permits for 
outbuildings, road accesses, and the ability to maintain private well and waste management on the 
property. One respondent estimated the amount of water used for farm operations (up to 5,000 gallons 
per day) to estimate the cost impact to the farm if it had to purchase City water.  

Issue Explanation 

Agricultural 
zoning, 
including 
setbacks for 
farms 

PMC 17.56 Agricultural District would be applied to farmland. Currently, structures must 
have a 25-foot setback in front or rear yards, with a minimum of 6 feet for a side yard and 
10 feet for a corner-lot side yard. Fences may be a few inches inside the property line 
unless fencing animals/livestock.  

Livestock and 
farm animals 

Title 6 of Palmer Municipal Code regulates animals, including residential pets as well as 
livestock on farms. PMC 6.08.020 Animal Restrictions allows livestock on land zoned 
Agricultural or on a lot larger than one acre, provided they are not closer than 25 feet 
from the property line. It also allows for livestock on the premises of a permitted 
slaughterhouse for up to 72 hours.  

Conflicts may still arise for farmers with livestock due to noise (PMC 6.08.050) or odor 
from animals (PMC 6.08.060). City code currently prohibits a person to allow offensive 
noise or odor from animals on their property. Farms with livestock can be the source of 
noise and/or odors that residential neighbors may find offensive. Although Right to Farm 
laws will protect farm operations, the City may want to consider farm-specific provisions 
in PMC to support agriculture.  

Another possible conflict may be for homeowners that do not run a farm as a business 
but do conduct small-scale agricultural activities on their property. Agricultural zoning 
might not be appropriate for a primarily residential property that also engages in hobby 
farming, bee-keeping, etc. mainly for personal consumption.  

Farm waste 
management 

Palmer’s Agricultural zoning (PMC 17.57 AG Agricultural District) does not address 
onsite waste management. PMC Chapter 8.20 Garbage Collection and Disposal 
suggests the City would require a farm located outside the City’s waste collection service 
area to contract with a private contractor to haul waste that cannot be safely and legally 
disposed of onsite. If it becomes a problem or nuisance, the City could review its policies 
to provide guidance specific to farms.  

Guns on farms PMC Chap 9.74.010 Discharge of Firearms prohibits discharging a firearm within city 
limits, except at permitted practice facilities. In the event that a farmer would have to fire 
a gun to protect livestock/crops from bear or moose, State rules about defense of private 

Page 239 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 59 

Issue Explanation 

property would supersede city code against discharging firearms. The City could review 
Palmer Municipal Code (which does not specifically address the use of a firearm to 
harvest or euthanize livestock) and consider amending it to expand the areas and 
conditions under which it is an allowable activity. For example, the City of Kenai allows 
firearms discharge in designated areas of the city only, shown on a Firearms Discharge 
Map.27 

Vehicle 
storage on 
farms 

Vehicle storage is allowed as a conditional use on agricultural zoned land; it requires 
conditional use permit (PMC 17.56.040).  

Drilling wells Well drilling would be unaffected by annexation. ADNR issues permits to appropriate 
water, which would be required for the volume of water needed for agricultural 
operations. ADEC regulates drinking and wastewater (18 AAC 80 Drinking Water, 18 
AAC 72 Wastewater). The City of Palmer does not require a building permit to drill a well.  

Pesticides, 
fertilizers, 
disposal of 
animal 
carcasses, 
manure 
management 

These activities would be unaffected by annexation. ADEC (Division of Environmental 
Health, Solid Waste program) regulates the application of pesticides, fertilizers, disposal 
of animal carcasses, and manure management (AS 46 and 18 AAC 60). Annexation 
would not affect fertilizer application fees. 

Property taxes Farms would pay property taxes to the City of Palmer instead of the Borough non-
areawide property taxes. Farms would still pay Borough areawide property taxes. 
Annexation would not change the assessed value of farm property. State and Federal 
farmland use tax deferments would be unaffected by annexation. State agricultural law 
enables tax deferment for some of the property tax burden if 10 percent of the farmer’s 
gross income comes from farming (AS 29.45.060). State law requires local governments 
to assess and tax farmland at its value for farm use only (not what it would be valued if 
developed into residential subdivision). If converted to another use, the landowner may 
be liable for additional tax. IRS Publication 225 provides information about Federal tax 
law for farms. 

Sales taxes Farms would collect the City’s 3 percent sales tax (with a cap of $1,000 per item/service). 
The new “online sales tax” would only affect residents or businesses that purchase from 
participating online retailers (e.g., Amazon.com).The City of Palmer’s participation in the 
Uniform Alaska Remote Seller Sales Tax28 would require remote sellers (e.g., 
Amazon.com) to charge a sales tax on orders to addresses within the City. Collections 
for the City of Palmer began in March 2020. State and local taxes (SALT) are generally 
allowed as a Federal tax deduction, although the details are subject to change each tax 
year. The City could review and consider changing its sales tax reporting requirements 
and/or include locally grown produce among its sales tax exemptions (PMC 03.16.050). 

Business 
license 

Farms would pay $25/year for a Palmer business license. 

Building 
permits, fees 
and codes on 
farms 

The City of Palmer requires building permits and code compliance for building 
construction, signs and fences. Unless the City changes Palmer Municipal Code, these 
would apply equally to farms as other types of property within the City. Building permits, 
fees and codes are discussed on under Planning and Growth Management.  

 
27 City of Kenai. Kenai Municipal Code 13.15.010 Discharge of firearms. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010.   

City of Kenai. Firearms Discharge Map. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_city_limits_map.pdf.  

28 The Alaska Remote Seller Sales Tax Commission provides more information about the tax: http://arsstc.org/  

Page 240 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 60 

Issue Explanation 

Special 
Assessments 

A Special Assessment is essentially an additional increment of property tax levied to a 
group of property owners that benefit from a specific capital improvement or 
infrastructure project. Both Borough and City Codes allow special assessments to be 
created. Matanuska-Susitna Borough Code (Chapter 3.28 Special Assessments) allows 
property owners to create Local Improvement Districts (LIDs) to finance infrastructure for 
a group of benefitting property owners. Palmer Municipal Code (Chapter 3.08 Special 
Assessments) allows Palmer City Council or a group of benefitting property owners to 
create special assessment districts to finance capital improvements. The City would have 
a role in determining and enforcing assessment rules. As citizens, annexed farmers 
would have more say in City Council decisions about Special Assessments. 

Conflicts with 
Neighbors 

Annexation would not affect conflicts with neighboring property owners from noise and 
smells due to livestock, application of manure as fertilizer, farm machinery, etc. State 
right-to-farm laws protect farmers in these cases, and City planning and land use tools 
can also help mitigate some of these conflicts.  

Soil protection Annexation would not affect soil protection. The State Department of Agriculture 
encourages State Farm Conservation Plans and/or Soil and Water Conservation Plans. 
City planning and land use tools can help support soil conservation measures. 

Easements 
and/or Eminent 
Domain 

Eminent Domain is the right of a government or its agent to take private property for 
public use, with payment of compensation. Governments usually avoid using Eminent 
Domain if at all possible, because of the public relations damage it often does. Public 
easements are more common; they only grant permission to use some area of land, 
often for a particular purpose, such as making public infrastructure improvements. 
Infrastructure improvements are made by the City of Palmer, the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough, the State of Alaska and private utilities; they will happen regardless of whether 
the land is inside or outside city boundaries. The City can adopt a preferential policy to 
route public infrastructure improvements around rather than across farmland where 
feasible, but not all future circumstances can be predicted, nor does the City necessarily 
have any power to control the outcome where State or Borough improvements are being 
made. 

Other Businesses  

Public outreach revealed some support for annexation because it will open more business opportunities. 
One respondent voiced interest in attracting national chains, auto/truck dealerships, a movie theater and 
shopping mall to Palmer. Another respondent suggested that Palmer should have a strip club and allow 
pawn shops within the City. One respondent suggested allowing small kennels of up to 10 dogs.  

A number of community members expressed concerns about the costs associated with building codes, 
building permits and inspection fees in real estate development. Some responses expressed concern that 
Palmer-area business owners have little say in City decision-making unless they are also residents. 
Others shared concerns about being annexed during current economic hardship (due to COVID-19) as 
well as the general administrative and financial impact that City licenses, fees, taxes and regulations 
would have on businesses.  

Public input also revealed the need for clarification about the impacts of annexation to specific types of 
businesses. Responses included concerns about the impacts of annexation to landlords (e.g., how much 
sales tax they would have to pay) and that zoning would prohibit certain home businesses. Responses 
also included support for maintaining private gun range(s). 

Responses included support for regulating the gravel pits/quarry to enforce quiet hours and "make the 
midnight gravel train go away." When a materials extraction operation closes, local government may also 
have an interest in working with the landowners to determine an appropriate use for the mined land. If the 

Page 241 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 61 

future land use is not addressed proactively, the closed mining operation could become a detriment to the 
community. 

Marijuana businesses were legalized within the City of Palmer by municipal vote in October 2020. 
Responses indicated mixed support for allowing marijuana businesses: a few respondents suggested 
allowing dispensaries within the City and developing cannabis tourism, while one voiced concern that  
there are too many cannabis businesses in the Valley already and that the regional market cannot 
support them all.  

Issue Explanation 

Zoning for 
mixed use 
properties 
with home-
based 
businesses.  

When the City develops an annexation petition, it will work with landowners to identify the 
appropriate zoning. If the property is primarily residential use, a residential zone will apply. 
The City’s residential zoning codes may allow a home-based business as long as none of 
the buildings are exclusively for commercial use. PMC Title 17 Zoning includes several 
Residential Districts. 

Some mixed-use properties would fit Palmer’s Rural Residential District (PMC 17.54), 
which would allow home occupations and farming as an accessory use. This zoning 
designation requires a conditional use permit, with restrictions for excessive noise, traffic, 
or other impact to the neighborhood. Significant on-street parking or deliveries that disrupt 
residential neighborhoods would not be permitted.  

A mixed-use property could also be zoned Limited Commercial District (PMC 17.28), 
which restricts the type of commercial activity on the property. 

If no zoning adequately fits the property, the City may consider amending a zoning district, 
creating a new zoning district, grant a conditional use permit or grandfather (i.e., legally 
non-conforming) the property to accommodate land uses.  

Business 
license for 
home-based 
businesses 

All businesses operating within City limits must register a business license with the City. 
One license covers all locations. The City has separate categories of licenses for door-to-
door sales, mobile itinerant vendors (i.e., food truck) and for businesses conducting sales 
at the State Fair or other special event(s). 

Gun range The City may issue permits to gun clubs for practice in facilities that meet NRA safety 
recommendations (PMC 9.74.010 Discharge of Firearms).  

Landlords  Palmer’s zoning code (PMC Title 17) contains specific regulation and standards for real 
estate rental, depending on the nature and scale of the rental. The City provides guidance 
specifically for landlords.29 Landlords and property managers must have a City business 
license (a cost of $25 per year) and collect the City’s 3 percent sales tax on rents up to the 
first $1,000 of each rental unit (PMC 03.16.040 (F)). Property manager fees are a taxable 
service. The City requires a landlord agreement for each property, found on the City 
website (see footnote). Other City fees may apply to specific activities, such as obtaining 
building permits to build or renovate rental units. 

Bed and 
Breakfasts 

Regulation: Palmer’s zoning codes (PMC 17.89 Short-Term Rentals) include regulation 
and standards for bed and breakfast-style lodging.  

Taxes: The Matanuska-Susitna Borough currently collects a bed tax of 5 percent on 
businesses that provide traveler accommodations (MSB Code Chapter 3.32 Transient 
Accommodations Tax). Annexed hospitality businesses would continue to pay the 
Borough bed tax. The City of Palmer does not currently collect a bed tax on hospitality 
businesses. These businesses would only be responsible to the City for collecting City 
sales tax. 

Materials 
extraction 

If annexed, existing materials extraction (e.g., gravel pits) would be granted legal 
nonconforming status. Starting a new extraction within City boundaries requires an 

 
29 City of Palmer. Landlord and Property Manager Information. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: 
www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information.  

Page 242 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 62 

Issue Explanation 

approved Conditional Use Permit and is only permitted on land zoned Industrial to ensure 
minimal impacts to neighboring uses. The City would still have to address the process of 
converting depleted sites to new uses.  

The City does not currently have a severance tax. The City may consider implementing a 
severance tax on materials extraction, although the City has no intention to impose 
significant new taxes. The City would have to consider the maturity of existing extraction 
operations and how long a severance tax could be a reliable revenue source. 

Marijuana 
businesses 

Marijuana establishments are allowed within the City of Palmer; they are regulated by 
Palmer Municipal Code, Chapters 5 Licensing and Standards, 8 Public Health and Safety 
and 17 Zoning. In the October 6, 2020 election, City of Palmer voters passed Proposition 
1, repealing PMC 5.32.020, which previously banned (non-cultivation) marijuana 
businesses inside city limits. Hemp cultivation and production is allowed per state law, and 
does not require this license. Marijuana licenses cannot be transferred to a new location 
(only to a new owner), and there are not a limited number set in statute. Cities can set 
limits on the number of marijuana licenses.  

Dog Kennels Palmer Municipal Code allows boarding kennels as a permitted use on land zoned BP 
Business Park District (PMC Chapter 17.58) in a completely enclosed building; an outdoor 
exercise yard is permitted. The size of kennels is not mentioned in code. 

  

Page 243 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 63 

Projected Annexation Impacts by Study Area  

Study Area A  

Key Considerations 

Land use in Study Area A is mostly residential, 
with one light commercial establishment and one 
communications parcel. The Study Area has 
similar land use characteristics to Palmer and is 
in close proximity to the city as a whole. The area 
allows for both sides of the northern gateway to 
the City to be within the City’s boundaries. 
Because there is very little available land for 
development, Study Area A is not a significant 
growth area.  

The City would have a strong geographic case to 
the Local Boundary Commission for annexing Study Area A to ensure the continuity of city boundaries. 
However, 43 percent of resident survey responses indicated possible support for annexation in Study 
Area A (three of seven responses).  

Figure 16. Study Area A 

 

Study Area A 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 25 25 35 

Housing Units 17 17 21 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0% 2.6% 

 

Land Area 1 square mile / 731 acres 

Page 244 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 64 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 

Annexation of Study Area A would have minimal fiscal effects on the City of Palmer and residents in the 
annexed area. Study Area A is the smallest annexation study area by property value and geographic size, 
and the second smallest area by non-exempt commercial activity and population. The study estimates 
that annexing Study Area A would generate $26,000 in a year in revenue and cost $36,000 a year in 
operating costs for a differential of -$10,000. This differential is small enough that the City would not likely 
have to adjust its tax rates to accommodate annexation. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 

The study estimates that between 2020 and 2030, tax revenues from Area A would increase by roughly 
$8,000 and that City operating costs would increase by $5,000, resulting in a net positive change of 
$3,000 in 2030. When this shift of +$3,000 is added to the estimated 2020 net fiscal of -$10,000 per year, 
the study arrives at a projected annual fiscal effect of -$7,000 for 2030. This slight decrease in the 
negative fiscal effect compared to 2020 is attributed to small-scale development that is projected to take 
place in the limited available land in Study Area A over the next decade. 

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area A Only -10,000 8,000 5,000 3,000 -7,000 

 
 
 

  

Page 245 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 65 

Study Area B  
Key Considerations 

Study Area B includes agricultural land, 
residential and commercial with a church and a 
public utilities facility/easement. Study Area B is 
characterized by large agricultural parcels/family 
farms. If the property is subdivided and 
redeveloped, it could accommodate significant 
residential growth. However, the area includes a 
Farmland Trust property. Also, the Moffit Farm 
(which was in the process of obtaining an 
agricultural preservation easement on a 
significant portion of the farm at the time of 
writing) extends outside the study area. If the study area were included in an annexation petition as is, it 
would put part of the owner’s property inside the City and part of the property outside the City. Study Area 
B also includes a marijuana business.  

The City would have a strong geographic case to the Local Boundary Commission for annexing Study 
Area B to ensure the continuity of city boundaries. However, no resident survey responses indicated any 
support for annexation in Study Area B (zero of six responses). 

Figure 17. Study Area B 

 

  

Study Area B 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 54 57 96 

Housing Units 25 26 41 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0.5% 5.4% 

 

Land Area 7 square miles / 4,204 acres 

Page 246 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 66 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 

Annexation of Study Area B would be revenue positive for the City of Palmer and result in lower property 
tax bills for both area and City residents. Study Area B is a low-density agricultural area with strong future 
growth potential. The study estimates that incorporating the area would increase City revenues by nearly 
$190,000 per year, while costing less than $50,000 per year in operations expenses. Area residents 
would pay property tax to the City and see a tax reduction in their Borough tax bills, while receiving City 
services including police protection. This study area has the potential to be a fiscal win-win for both 
residents and the City. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 

Study Areas B and C could ultimately support more development than other study areas, but on a longer 
time horizon, since that development is dependent on larger parcels being subdivided and sold. 
Assuming that Study Area B maintains its primarily agricultural character over the coming decade and a 
limited amount of land is developed in future, the study projects that this area will increase its net positive 
fiscal effect over the next decade. The study estimates that tax revenues would increase by roughly 
$62,000 and that City operating costs would increase by $18,000, resulting in an annual net fiscal effect 
of $183,000 in 2030; a net change of +$44,000 from the estimated 2020 fiscal effect. The increase in the 
positive fiscal effect compared to 2020 results from modest commercial and residential development in 
the area. The tax base is projected to grow as larger lots are subdivided, but the population is not 
expected to grow so much that it triggers additional operational costs, such as adding another police 
officer. 

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area B Only 139,000 62,000 18,000 44,000 183,000 

 
 

  

Page 247 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 67 

Study Area C  
Key Considerations 

Like Study Area B, Study Area C is characterized 
by large agricultural parcels. If developed, they 
could accommodate significant future growth. 
Because Study Area C is near existing schools, it 
may be especially desirable for residential 
development.  

However, there is significant value for farmland 
preservation in the Palmer area. Some farmers 
may be interested in developing their land; others 
intend to continue farming and do not plan to 
subdivide and sell. Seven percent of resident 
survey responses indicated any support for annexation in Study Area C (one of 14 responses). 

Figure 18. Study Area C 

 

  

Study Area C 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 72 72 111 

Housing Units 27 27 42 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0% 4% 

 

Land Area 7 square miles / 4,472 acres 

Page 248 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 68 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 

Annexation of Study Area C would result in similar fiscal effects as annexation of Study Area A. While 
geographically much larger than Study Area A, and with a population twice that of Study Area A, the fiscal 
effects of annexing Study Area C are similar. The study predicts annual revenues under the City’s current 
tax structure of just under $50,000 each year, with annual operating costs near $70,000 per year for a net 
difference of roughly -$22,000. The study anticipates that this differential could be covered without 
significant tax structure changes.  

Fiscal Effects, 2030 

Study Areas B and C could ultimately support more development than other study areas, but on a longer 
time horizon, since that development is dependent on larger parcels being subdivided and sold.  
Assuming that Study Area C maintains its primarily agricultural character over the coming decade and a 
limited amount of land is developed in future, the study projects that the net fiscal effect of annexing the 
area will change little between 2020 and 2030. Between 2020 and 2030 the study model’s expected tax 
revenues would increase by roughly $19,000 and that City operating costs would increase by $17,000, 
resulting in a net change of +$2,000 in 2030. This amount shifts the area’s net fiscal effect from -$22,000 
in 2020 to -$20,000 in 2030. This slight decrease in the negative fiscal effects compared to 2020 is 
attributed to modest residential development and population growth that is projected to occur as larger 
parcels are developed. 

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area C Only -22,000 19,000 17,000 2,000 -20,000 

 
 

  

Page 249 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 69 

Study Area D  
Key Considerations 

Study Area D includes a mix of residential and 
commercial land uses, as well as a school and a 
church. In the long-term, Study Area D may be 
an area for growth, but it is mostly built out and 
has little room for additional near-term growth. 
Study Area D is proximate to public trails. 

Population growth would give the City a strong 
case to the Local Boundary Commission for 
annexing Study Area D. However, 19 percent of 
resident survey responses indicated any support 
for annexation in Study Area D (15 of 80 
responses). 

Figure 19. Study Area D 

 
  

Study Area D 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 1,163 1,208 1,311 

Housing Units 436 454 494 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0.4% 0.8% 

 

Land Area 17 square miles / 10,946 acres 

Page 250 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 70 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 

Study Area D is a developed residential area with a modest amount of commercial activity relative to 
population and geographic area. The area’s estimated population of roughly 1,200 citizens is seven times 
the combined population of Study Areas A, B, and C. The number of lane miles that the Palmer Public 
Works Department would be responsible for is more than twice the combined lane miles of Study Areas 
A, B, and C. The study estimates additional annual operational costs of nearly $1.5 million plus annual 
capital debt repayment costs of roughly $265,000 against just under $1 million in annual revenues. This 
difference amounts to a roughly $725,000 negative net fiscal effect. If the City mitigated these fiscal 
effects through the property tax, the property tax mil rate would increase by nearly 0.8 mils and cost 
property owners roughly $190 per $250,000 of property. Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax 
rate to 3.18 percent from 3.0 percent to balance the budget and leave the property tax rate at 3.0 mils. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 

Although much of Study Area D’s proximity to trails and schools make it desirable for residential 
development, there are a limited number of parcels that could accommodate future growth. However, 
based on interviews with the Mat-Su Borough and pending building permits, Study Area D is expected to 
have more short-term development than areas to the north. Assuming modest infill residential 
development over the next decade, the study estimates that tax revenues would increase by roughly 
$176,000, while City operating and capital costs would increase by $238,500, resulting in a -$62,500 
change in the estimated fiscal effect between 2020 and 2030. In short, the study expects the annual 
negative net fiscal effect of annexing just this area to increase. The increase in the negative fiscal effects 
compared to 2020 is attributable to increasing public safety costs that are tied to forecasted population 
growth in this area, including hiring additional sworn officers to maintain a ratio of no more than 640 
residents per officer (statewide averages hover between 600 and 700 residents per officer) and the 
capital cost for an additional police car (cruiser).  

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues 
less Cost) 

Study Area D Only -725,000 176,000 238,500 -62,500 -787,500 

   

Page 251 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 71 

Study Area E  
Key Considerations 

Existing land use in Study Area E is primarily 
residential to the south and undeveloped 
parkland to the north. The area includes part of 
the southern gateway to the City of Palmer. 
Recent road improvements along the Glenn 
Highway corridor make Study Area E an 
attractive area for new commercial development. 
Study Area E is considered a desirable 
residential area, but the raw developable land in 
key areas lack road access and would therefore 
be expensive to develop. Study Area E may be 
an area for long-term residential growth.  

Population growth would give the City a strong case to the Local Boundary Commission for annexing 
Study Area E. However, 15 percent of resident survey responses indicated any support for annexation in 
Study Area D (15 of 98 responses). 

Figure 20. Study Area E 

 
 

  

Study Area E 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 835 878 1,099 

Housing Units 292 309 395 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  0.5% 2.3% 

 

Land Area 12 square miles / 7,965 acres 

Page 252 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 72 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 

Study Area E has the smallest population of the three larger population study areas and has the highest 
potential for future growth. The combination of population and some commercial activity makes this area 
more fiscally attractive than Area F, but less fiscally attractive than Area D. The study estimates additional 
annual operational costs of nearly $1.2 million plus annual capital debt repayment costs of roughly 
$265,000 against roughly $626,000 in annual revenues. This difference amounts to a negative net fiscal 
effect of just over $800,000. If the City mitigated these fiscal effects through the property tax, the property 
tax mil rate would increase by just over one mil and cost property owners roughly $260 per $250,000 of 
property. Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax rate to 3.21 percent from 3.0 percent to 
balance the budget and leave the property tax rate at three mils. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 

The study projects a very modest improvement between 2020 and 2030 in the strong net negative fiscal 
effect of annexing Area E only. Assuming a moderate amount of future growth in Study Area E, the study 
estimates that tax revenues would increase by roughly $169,000 and that City operating and capital costs 
would increase by $127,000, resulting in a net change of +$42,000 in 2030. This change would shift the 
area’s estimated annual negative effect from -$814,000 annually to -$782,000 annually. The decrease in 
the negative fiscal effects compared to 2020 is attributable to modest residential development and 
population growth in Study Area E. Although some residential development in Study Area E would require 
the construction of access roads, these estimates do not include additional road mileage because it is 
unclear how much of that road construction would be private and how much would be public.  

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues-

Cost) 

Study Area E Only -814,000 169,000 127,000 42,000 -782,000 

 
Although the anticipated housing development and population increase for Study Areas E and F are very 
similar, the fiscal effects are different. This result is partly because Study Area E has a larger sales tax 
base than Study Area F in 2020, but mainly because Study Area F has a larger 2020 population, which 
triggers the need for additional police officers and associated capital costs (e.g., for police cruiser) much 
faster than Study Area E. 

  

Page 253 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 73 

Study Area F  
Key Considerations 

 Existing land use in Study Area F is a mix of 
residential, commercial and agriculture. The area 
includes part of the southern gateway to the City 
of Palmer. Study Area F features some of the 
densest housing development in the Palmer 
area. Multiple farms also operate in this area, 
including smaller hobby farms and larger 
operations. There may continue to be more 
residential infill as farmland is sold and 
redeveloped, but there is also a great deal of 
support for farmland preservation in the Palmer 
area. The State Fair owns several lots in Study Area F that are unlikely to be redeveloped or change use. 

Population growth would give the City a strong case to the Local Boundary Commission for annexing 
Study Area F. However, 12 percent of resident survey responses indicated any support for annexation in 
Study Area D (19 of 153 responses). 

Figure 21. Study Area F 

 

  

Study Area F 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 744 1,259 1,473 

Housing Units 279 485 568 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate –  5.4% 1.6% 

 

Land Area 10 square miles / 6,584 acres 

Page 254 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 74 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 

Study Area F has the largest population and the lowest level of commercial activity per capita of all the 
study areas considered in this analysis. This combination makes Study Area F a poorer fiscal fit for 
annexation than the other study areas. The negative net fiscal effects of annexing this study area are 
nearly as large as annexing all the study areas without the broader tax base upon which to balance the 
budget. The study estimates additional annual operational costs of nearly $1.4 million plus annual capital 
debt repayment costs of roughly $265,000 against just under $660,000 in annual revenues. This 
difference amounts to a negative net fiscal effect of nearly $990,000. If the City mitigated these fiscal 
effects through the property tax, the property tax mil rate would increase by just over one mil and cost 
property owners roughly $315 per $250,000 of property. Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax 
rate to nearly 3.3 percent from 3.0 percent to balance the budget and leave the property tax rate at 3.0 
mils. 

Fiscal Effects, 2030 

The study projects that the strong net negative fiscal effect of annexing Area F only will strengthen over 
the next decade. Assuming continued development in Study Area F, the study estimates that tax 
revenues would increase by roughly $133,000 annually and that City operating and capital costs would 
increase by $403,500 annually, resulting in a -$270,500 shift in net fiscal effect. This change would shift 
the annual net fiscal effect for the city from -$989,000 in 2020 to -$1.26 million in 2030. The increase in 
the negative fiscal effects compared to 2020 is attributable to an increase in public safety costs 
associated with the projected population growth for this primarily residential area, including hiring 
additional sworn officers to maintain a ratio of no more than 640 residents per officer (statewide averages 
hover between 600 and 700 residents per officer) and the capital cost for an additional police car 
(cruiser).   

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues-

Cost) 

Study Area F Only -989,000 133,000 403,500 -270,500 -1,259,500 

 
Although the anticipated housing development and population increase for Study Areas E and F are very 
similar, the fiscal effects are different. This result is partly because Study Area E has a larger sales tax 
base than Study Area F in 2020, but mainly because Study Area F has a larger 2020 population, which 
triggers the need for additional police officers and associated capital costs (e.g., for police cruiser) much 
faster than Study Area E.  

Page 255 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 75 

Study Area G (and E) 
Key Considerations 

Existing land use in Study Area G is primarily 
gravel extraction. The study area also includes a 
few residences and the Matanuska Valley 
Sportsmen Shooting Range. Recent road 
improvements along the Glenn Highway corridor 
make Study Area G an attractive area for new 
commercial development. At some point, the 
gravel extraction operation will close, and the 
land will be redeveloped. Area residents may be 
interested in having the City’s land use controls 
to influence redevelopment of the property at that 
time. 

In Study Area G alone, 43 percent of resident survey responses indicated support for annexation (three of 
seven responses). When combined with Study Area E, support for annexation drops to 17 percent (18 of 
105 responses). 

Figure 22. Study Area G 

 

  

Study Area G 2010 2020 
2030, 

Projected 

Population 8 8 11 

Housing Units 4 4 5 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate – 0% 3.5% 

 

Land Area 21 square miles / 13,652 acres 

Page 256 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 76 

Fiscal Effects, Current Conditions 

Fiscal effects are described for Study Area G and 
E because the City would only be able to annex 
Study Area G if Study Area E is annexed as well. 
Study Areas G and E would extend the city south 
on the western edge of the Glenn Highway. This 
combination area would allow the City to 
influence Palmer’s primary visual entrance at 
modest fiscal expense. The City would need to 
adjust its tax structure to capture some of the 
high-dollar commercial activity occurring at the 
local gravel pits in order to keep fiscal effects 
modest. The study estimates additional annual 
operational costs of nearly $1.2 million plus annual capital debt repayment costs of roughly $370,000 
against just under $1.2 million in annual revenues. This difference amounts to a negative net fiscal effect 
of roughly $380,000. If the City mitigated these fiscal effects through the property tax, the property tax mil 
rate would increase by just over 0.04 mil and cost property owners roughly $10 per $250,000 of property. 
Alternatively, the City could increase its sales tax rate to nearly 3.005 percent from 3.0 percent to balance 
the budget and leave the property tax rate at 3.0 mils. This adjustment in the sales tax rate is so small 
that it might make sense to consider adjusting the $1,000 sales act transaction cap for inflation instead of 
changing the rate.  

Fiscal Effects, 2030 

The study expects that the annual net negative fiscal effects of annexing Areas G+E will increase over the 
next decade from -$350,000 a year to -$571,000 a year. Because Study Area G is viewed as largely 
unsuitable for residential development, minimal development or population increase is assumed in the 
study area over the next decade. Sales tax revenues in Study Area G are also expected to decline as 
gravel production slows and the mine in this area is decommissioned. However, combined with the 
development potential of Study Area E, the study estimates that tax revenues would only decrease by 
roughly $93,000 and City operating costs would increase by $128,000, resulting in a net change of  
-$221,000 in 2030.  

Annexation 
Scenario 

Estimated 
2020 Net 

Fiscal Effect 

2020 to 2030 Changes 

Estimated 
2030 Fiscal 

Effect Tax Revenues 
Operating and 
Capital Costs 

Net Change 
(Revenues-

Cost) 

Study Areas  
G+E Only -350,000 -93,000 128,000 -221,000 -571,000 

 
 

Study Areas  
G + E 
Combined 2010 2020 

2030, 
Projected 

Population 843 886 1,110 

Housing Units 296 313 400 

Average 
Annual 
Population 
Growth Rate – 0.5% 2.3% 

 

Land Area 33 square miles / 21,617 acres 

Page 257 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 77 

Transition Plan 

Transfer Process  
An annexation petition must include a practical plan, informed by the City of Palmer, the State of Alaska, 
the Matanuska-Susitna Borough and general community that demonstrates the capacity of the City 
government to:  

 extend essential City services into the territory proposed for annexation in the shortest practicable 
time after annexation, not to exceed two years following annexation. 

 assume all relevant and appropriate powers, duties, rights, and functions presently exercised by 
the Matanuska-Susitna Borough in the territory proposed for annexation. 

 transfer and integrate all relevant and appropriate assets and liabilities of the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough in the territory proposed for annexation. 

The estimated staffing, equipment and capital needed to annex the Study Areas identified in this report 
are included in the fiscal study assumptions. If the City proposes to annex a different land area, the 
transition plan for that annexation petition will provide comparable estimates adjusted to the area included 
in the petition. 

Generally, the transition process occurs within one year of an annexation decision. The impact to the City 
of Palmer of extending services to areas proposed for annexation would be greatest for areas with the 
greatest population and existing development. As the City prepares the transition plan for a given 
annexation petition, it will confer and coordinate with other governmental agencies and service providers, 
such as those listed in Table 16. 

Table 16. Pre-Annexation Consultation 

Entity Topic(s) of Coordination 

Mat-Su Borough  
(various departments) 

Status of annexation petition; voting districts; alcohol and marijuana 
licensing; emergency and hazard planning; tax receipts, timing of tax 
collection/effective dates; improvement districts; bond repayment; 
planning and land development; gravel pits; subdivision and platting 
procedures; mapping; general coordination 

South Colony Road 
Service Area 

Borough road contracts; existing maintenance and capital projects, 
service levels; general coordination 

Alaska Department of 
Transportation and 
Public Facilities 

Confirm ownership and maintenance of State roads/infrastructure; 
ADOT policies; general coordination 

Alaska State Troopers Impact to Trooper workload; problem areas; dispatch; staffing levels; 
general coordination 

Alaska Alcohol and 
Marijuana Control Office 

Alcohol and marijuana licensing; marijuana and alcohol licenses; license 
types; conditions of approval; general coordination 

Alaska Fire Marshal Application of City building and fire safety codes/policies; general 
coordination 

School District Police response; safe routes to schools; general coordination  

State of Alaska Local 
Government Specialist 

Anything City has questions about; general coordination 

 

Page 258 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 78 

General Government Services 

All areas of potential City annexation are currently governed by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, so 
general government services for any territory proposed for annexation would be transferred from the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of Palmer. Some specific government services and functions 
would remain with the Borough and are noted in the following pages. Once annexation is effective, the 
City would work with the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to ensure that all affected departments are made 
aware of the boundary change.  

Transition of voter roles 

Voter registration would shift from the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of Palmer for all residents 
of annexed territory upon effective annexation. Annexed residents would be assigned to City of Palmer 
voting precincts. Voting precincts are set by the State of Alaska and reviewed every ten years after the 
Census. The City of Palmer currently has two precincts, located at:  

 11-070: Matanuska-Susitna Borough Administration Building Assembly Chambers (350 E. Dahlia 
Avenue) 

 11-075: Senior Center (350 E. Dahlia Avenue) 
A map of Palmer’s existing voting precincts may be viewed at: www.palmerak.org/city-clerks-
office/page/polling-locations.  

Licenses 

Business licenses 

Businesses located in annexed areas would be required to obtain a City of Palmer business license, 
effective upon annexation. 

Alcohol and Marijuana Licenses 

The Alaska Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office (AMCO) would continue to oversee the licensing of 
alcohol and marijuana businesses. Any annexed business holding an alcohol or marijuana license issued 
by AMCO would be permitted to continue operating consistent with their license and any restrictions or 
conditions that were placed on the license at its approval or most recent renewal. Renewal of licenses 
post-annexation would be reviewed according to Palmer Municipal Code. Once annexation is effective, 
the new city boundaries would be provided to the AMCO for future licensing and renewals.   

Property Tax 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough assesses and collects property taxes for properties inside and outside 
organized cities in the borough; this system would not change. However, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough 
Assessing Department would be notified of the new property in the city to make sure that the property 
receives the proper assessment. Annexed parcels would be transitioned to the correct tax code area for 
Palmer, which would begin at the beginning of the next calendar year following the effective date of 
annexation. Annexed properties would no longer pay the Borough’s Non-Area Wide millage, Road 
Service Area millage nor separate Greater Palmer Consolidated Fire Service Area millage, and would 
instead pay the City of Palmer millage. 

Sales Tax 

The Matanuska-Susitna Borough at this time has not imposed a sales tax. The City of Palmer currently 
has a sales tax in the amount of three percent. Once annexation is effective, all future sales, rentals and 
services made on or from businesses within the annexed area would be subject to the City of Palmer 
sales tax. The procedures that are currently in place when developers and/or businesses apply for a 
Building Permit or Business License ensure that individuals are informed of the City sales tax and proper 
collection and reporting requirements.  

Page 259 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 79 

Other taxes and fees  

A transient accommodations taxation (bed tax) is collected by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. This tax 
would continue to be collected by the Borough for all applicable businesses operating within the City and 
annexed areas. The City of Palmer does not collect a bed tax.  

Once annexation is effective, all applicable fees charged by the City of Palmer would be required upon 
the associated action. The City’s current Fee Schedule may be viewed at: 
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-schedule.  

Economic Development  

Economic Development would transfer from the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of Palmer.  

Planning, Land Use and Zoning  

Some planning and land use powers would transfer from the Matanuska-Susitna Borough to the City of 
Palmer, including subdivisions and plat review, zoning, and the application of building permits.  

Subdivisions and platting for land within City boundaries is done by the City of Palmer, with approval by 
the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission. Palmer Municipal Code provides guidance for these 
actions in PMC Title 16 Subdivisions (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/16). Once annexation is 
effective, landowners would work with City of Palmer staff to subdivide and plat their land in accordance 
with City code. 

Palmer Municipal Code provides guidance for the application of City zoning upon annexation of territory 
into the city (PMC 17.59.030: https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59). Following the effective date of 
annexation, the Palmer Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct public hearings to take public 
comment on land use and potential zoning for the newly annexed territory. After due considerations, the 
City would designate initial zoning districts for annexed parcels. Owner-initiated zoning amendments can 
be made at any time, so landowners can propose the zoning of their choice to the city as part of the initial 
zoning or afterward. City staff would work with landowners to determine how best to accommodate any 
non-conforming territory within study areas, which may include some combination of zoning application, 
conditional use permits, variances or some other land use regulatory tool.  

Palmer Municipal Code also provides guidance about the initial zoning of annexed properties (PMC 
17.16.060: https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.16.060 and PMC 17.59.040 
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17.59), copied below. These designations are intended to make the 
zoning process smooth by allowing existing uses to continue to the extent possible during transition into 
the City.  

17.16.060 Annexation zoning. When land becomes a part of the city by means of annexation, 
the land shall be zoned as follows: 

A. Privately owned parcels primarily used for single-family residential purposes shall be classified 
as R-1, single-family residential; 

B. Parcels owned by a governmental agency and intended for uses allowed in a public use 
district shall be classified as P, public use; 

C. Parcels owned by a governmental agency and not intended for uses allowed in a public use 
district shall be classified as T, transitional use; 

D. Privately owned parcels primarily used for other than single-family residential purposes shall 
be classified as T, transitional use; 

Page 260 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 80 

E. Privately owned parcels not in use upon the effective date of the annexation shall be classified 
as T, transitional use. (Ord. 632 § 3, 2004; Ord. 454 § 4, 1992) 

17.59.040 Permitted principal and accessory uses and structures. Principal uses and 
structures in the T – transitional district are: 

A. Lawful uses are to continue in the transitional district, except those prohibited uses specified 
in PMC 17.59.060 and those permitted to continue only by conditional use. 

B. Lawful accessory uses and structures are allowed to continue. (Ord. 13-009 § 6, 2014; Ord. 
632 § 4, 2004) 

Once annexation is effective, property owners would also be required to obtain City of Palmer building 
permits and meet City building codes for new construction or significant repairs. 

Water and Sewer 

There would be no effective change in water and wastewater upon annexation for the affected territory. 
The Palmer Water and Sewer Utility provides sewers, sewage treatment, water treatment and distribution, 
including fire hydrants to areas within its service area, which already includes all areas that may be 
considered for annexation. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough does not provide these utility services to 
Borough residents. Regardless of any annexation, the Palmer Water and Sewer Utility would consider 
extensions to its existing services and infrastructure on a case-by-case basis. Many properties in the 
study areas are serviced by their own water wells and septic systems. These properties would be 
permitted to continue to use their existing systems per Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 13.16.  

Public Safety 

Public safety services would transfer from the Alaska State Troopers to the Palmer Police Department. 
Once annexation is effective, the City would notify the Alaska State Troopers and the Palmer Police 
Department that the annexed territory is inside the Palmer Police Department's jurisdiction. Fire and 
Emergency Response service would continue to be provided by the Palmer Fire and Rescue within the 
Greater Palmer Fire Service Area, which would include all annexed areas.  

Roads and Road Maintenance 

All Matanuska-Susitna Borough-owned streets, roads, sidewalks, paths and trails including related utility 
easements, water drainage, landscaping, parking and approximately 40 streetlights would transfer from 
the South Colony Road Service Area to the City of Palmer. Once annexation is effective, Palmer Public 
Works maintenance crews would be informed of the new area to be serviced. Road maintenance of State 
Highways would continue to be provided by the State of Alaska in annexed areas.  

Libraries, Parks and Recreation 

The Palmer Library is already operated by the City of Palmer. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough makes 
contributions to the City on behalf of residents that use the Palmer Library outside City boundaries, which 
would likely be reduced to reflect the City’s new boundaries. The Matanuska-Susitna Borough would 
maintain ownership of Borough parks, playgrounds, sports fields and other recreation facilities, but would 
delegate the powers to maintain and develop Borough-owned parkland to the City of Palmer upon 
annexation. 

Services Not Affected by Annexation 

Airport and aviation services would continue to be available to annexed areas and provided by the City of 
Palmer, Municipal Airport. The following services would continue to be provided by the Matanuska-
Susitna Borough to annexed areas: Animal Control, Education, Air pollution control, and Historic 
preservation. 

Page 261 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 81 

Policy Implications 
The annexation study revealed a number of concerns from area residents and businesses about how 
existing City of Palmer policy would affect them, if annexed. In some cases, public concerns reflect a lack 
of understanding about how City governance and service provision works. Most, if not all, of these can be 
clarified by the information presented in this report. In other cases, public concerns reflect issues that will 
require a decision by the City of Palmer. These are noted below, with alternatives for the City to consider. 
It should also be noted that recent LBC decisions demonstrate a current philosophy among 
Commissioners that leans toward supporting individual property rights and well-supported annexations; 
addressing these issues and demonstrating a base level of support for annexation among the City and 
area residents will be especially important for a successful annexation.  

Sales Taxes 

The City could speak with businesses in areas proposed for annexation to find out if there is a consistent 
type of business that would be negatively affected by having to collect sales tax and consequently make a 
determination if PMC 03.16.050 should be amended to include any other specific sales tax exemptions. 
Some survey respondents specifically indicated that locally grown food should be exempt from the City 
sales tax, but it is beyond the scope of this study to determine how much of an impact the sales tax would 
have, if any, on the competitiveness of annexed businesses.  

Building permits, fees and codes for sheds, fences, decks, etc. 

The City currently requires building permits, fees and inspections for sheds and decks per PMC Title 15 
Buildings and Construction (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/15). The City also charges a fence 
permit. The City could review and amend code to make some degree of the building permitting and 
inspection process optional or voluntary. For example, Anchorage Municipal Code 23.05.030 makes the 
requirements to apply for and complete the building permit, plan review, and building inspection 
processes optional in areas outside the Anchorage Building Safety Service Area (ABSSA), which is 
defined in AMC 27.30.040. The boundaries of the ABSSA are outlined on a map in AMC 27.30.700. 

Off Highway Vehicle (OHV) use (ATVs, snow machines, etc.)  

The City currently does not allow on streets except to cross per PMC Chapter 10.08 Regulation of Off-
highway Vehicles (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/10.08). The City could amend PMC to allow 
licensed operation of OHVs, like the City of Kenai per KMC Chapter 13.40 Off-road Operations of Motor 
Vehicles (https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.40). Designated pathways or recreational trails could be 
created that run alongside main roadways to accommodate off-highway vehicle use, although additional 
provisions may be needed to allow the vehicles to travel from a residence to designated trails along 
neighborhood streets. 

Animal restrictions 

The City currently allows a variety of pet and livestock animals, depending on zoning per PMC Title 6 
Animals (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/6) and PMC Title 17 Zoning 
(https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17). Most community concerns were either about dogs or farm 
animals (chickens, roosters, cows, horses, goats, bees). Palmer Municipal Code allows all of these on 
land zoned for agriculture or parcels larger than one acre if the animals do not go within 25 feet from an 
exterior lot line (PMC 6.08.020.A). For dogs, the City could review and consider amending the code to 
allow up to four dogs on parcels less than one acre and/or off-leash dogs in designated areas within City 
boundaries if existing code cannot accommodate annexed properties. Where there is potential conflict 
regarding farm animals is in the case of a property owner living on a residential parcel of less than one 
acre with small-scale agricultural activities mainly for personal consumption. The City could review and 
amend code to better accommodate these activities if existing zoning and animal regulations fail to do so. 

Page 262 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 82 

Hunting and Use of Firearms  

The City currently prohibits discharge of firearms within City limits except at permitted practice facilities 
per PMC Chapter 9.74 Discharge of Firearms (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/9_DivVIII). The City 
could designate areas in code where hunting is allowed, like the City of Kenai per KMC 13.15.010 
Discharge of firearms (https://kenai.municipal.codes/KMC/13.15.010). Anchorage and Juneau have 
helpful webpages describing their rules about hunting and use of firearms within their boundaries. The 
City and Borough of Juneau permits hunting with regulatory guidelines within its boundaries 
(https://juneau.org/lands/hunting). It is against the law to discharge a firearm in the Municipality of 
Anchorage except in designated hunting areas or shooting ranges per Anchorage Municipal Code 
8.25.030 (https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx). 

Burning trash, fire pits, fireworks  

Fireworks are allowed without a permit on New Year’s Eve per PMC Chapter 8.42 Fireworks 
(https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.42). Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue recreational burn permits for 
fire pits and Class A/B/C burn permits for open burning of woody debris or fields of grass, upon approval 
by the Fire Chief or his designee.30 The City could review and amend code to if needed. One example 
would be to adjust the allowances for burn permits on parcels of five or more acres in newly annexed 
areas. The Municipality of Anchorage allows recreational or ceremonial fires as long as they are done 
according to regulatory safety standards and obtain a burn permit if necessary. However, burning trash, 
yard debris, leaves, construction material, and/or woody debris is prohibited within the municipality.31  

Solid Waste Collection and Disposal 

Garbage collection is currently required throughout the City of Palmer per PMC Chapter 8.20 Garbage 
Collection and Disposal (https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/8.20). The City could consider changing 
PMC to allow self-haul, disposal of waste on property, in addition to contracted collection services, either 
in a part of the city or citywide. Like Palmer, the Municipality of Anchorage requires municipal garbage 
collection within a specified service area (AMC 26.70.030), but Anchorage Municipal Code does allow the 
city manager to exempt a person from the requirement if that person requires solid waste collection and 
disposal service that cannot be provided by the Municipality. Unlike Palmer Municipal Code, Anchorage 
Municipal Code does not require garbage collection by a private provider outside this service area. 

Farms 

If the City seeks to accommodate working farms into its boundaries, the City is advised to meet with 
farmers and discuss their specific concerns, then prepare a plan for transitioning the working farms into 
the City. Many farm concerns could be accommodated within now-existing City code. However, in order 
to meet City standards, farmers may have to invest time and money into things like moving their fences, 
coming into building code compliance and meeting the City’s sales tax policies and reporting 
requirements. There is also some uncertainty about how to interpret City code for farm waste 
management. These are issues that might not necessarily put the farmer out of business, but that could 
create significant hurdles and animosity among farmers if they are not addressed proactively. Depending 
on the issue, the City could consider offering assistance or incentive programs or allow farms to slowly 
transition to code compliance.  

  

 
30 Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed March 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-rescue/page/burn-
permits. 

31 Municipality of Anchorage. Recreational and Cooking Fires. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx.   

Page 263 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 83 

References 
Agnew::Beck Consulting (2006). Palmer Comprehensive Plan Update. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 

https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan. 

Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc. and Kevin Waring Associates (2010). City of Palmer 
Annexation Strategy. Accessed November 5, 2020 from https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-
analysis-annexation-alternatives.  

Alaska Department of Community and Economic Development (March 2000). Report to the Local 
Boundary Commission Concerning the Proposed Annexation of 64.9 Acres to the City of Palmer. 
Accessed November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

Alaska Remote Seller Sales Tax Commission. Alaska Remote Sales Tax Information Portal. Accessed 
February 9, 2021 from: http://arsstc.org/. 

City and Borough of Juneau. Hunting on CBJ Property. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://juneau.org/lands/hunting.  

City of Kenai. Firearms Discharge Map. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
http://www.kenai.city/sites/default/files/fileattachments/police/page/3111/firearm_discharge_in_cit
y_limits_map.pdf. 

City of Kenai. Kenai Municipal Code. Accessed February 3, 2021 from: 
https://www.kenai.city/citycouncil/page/kenai-municipal-code.  

City of Palmer (1999). Record to the Local Boundary Commission Palmer Annexation Petition. Accessed 
November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

City of Palmer, Alaska (March 2002). A Petition by the City of Palmer for Annexation of approximately 
921.34 acres North, South, East & West of the current City Limits. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

City of Palmer (2011). Petition to the Local Boundary Commission For Annexation to the City of Palmer, a 
Home Rule City within the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Using the local option method by the 
consent of all owners of the property proposed for annexation and all registered voters residing 
on that property. Accessed November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions
.aspx. 

City of Palmer. Budget Documents. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.palmerak.org/finance/page/budget-documents. 

City of Palmer. Building Codes. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-code-enforcement-information. 

City of Palmer. Building Reports. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.palmerak.org/community-
development/page/building-reports. 

Page 264 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 84 

City of Palmer. Fee Schedule. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/finance/page/fee-
schedule. 

City of Palmer. Fence Permit Application. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.palmerak.org/community-development/page/residential-fence-permit-application. 

City of Palmer. Landlord and Property Manager Information. Accessed February 4, 2021 from: 
www.palmerak.org/finance/page/landlord-and-property-manager-information.  

City of Palmer. Palmer Municipal Code. Accessed February 4-9, 2021 from: 
https://palmer.municipal.codes/.  

City of Palmer. Road Standards. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/public-
works/page/standard-specifications-and-development-standards. 

Fairview Public Utility District No. 1 v. City of Anchorage, 368 P.2nd 540 (Alaska 1962). 

Gillian Smythe & Associates (1999). Palmer Comprehensive Plan. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan. 

Local Boundary Commission. Report to the 29th Alaska State Legislature, 1st Session February 2015. 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Code Compliance. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.matsugov.us/codecompliance. 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough. Zoning. Accessed February 9, 2021 from: https://www.matsugov.us/zoning. 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Fire and Life Safety Division. Building and Renovating. Accessed February 
3, 2021 from: http://www.matsugov.us/firecode#buildingrenovating. 

Municipality of Anchorage. Firearms – FAQ. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/police/HowDoI/Pages/FIREARMS.aspx.  

Municipality of Anchorage. Recreational and Cooking Fires. Accessed March 9, 2021 from: 
https://www.muni.org/Departments/Fire/Wildfire/Pages/RecreationalandCookingFires.aspx.  

Northern Economics, Inc. (2006). Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 
2020 from: https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives. 

Palmer Fire and Rescue. Burn Permits. Accessed February 5, 2021 from: www.palmerak.org/fire-
rescue/page/burn-permits. 

Rockey, Tim. “Waste water treatment plan up and running,” Frontiersman Sep 19, 2018. Accessed 
February 9, 2021 from: https://www.frontiersman.com/news/waste-water-treatment-plant-up-and-
running/article_3046dfa2-bc3d-11e8-9b58-9b23af2f166c.html. 

United States Justice Department. “Notice of Lodging of Proposed Consent Decree Under the Clean 
Water Act: A Notice by the Justice Department on 09/12/2016,” Federal Register. Accessed 
February 9, 2021 from: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/12/2016-
21855/notice-of-lodging-of-proposed-consent-decree-under-the-clean-water-act. 

  

Page 265 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 85 

Appendix A: Annexation History 

A History of Annexation in Palmer 

A Piecemeal Approach to Annexation  

For most of its history, annexation into the City of Palmer has happened through frequent, small-scale 
petitions only when requested by property owners. From the City’s incorporation in 1951 through 1999, 
the City’s boundaries were expanded by 44 separate annexations, 41 of which occurred between 1970 
and 1999 (ADCED, 2000).32 These annexations often involved either large commercial parcels or parcels 
that were subdivided into smaller lots for residential development. Annexation into the City provided 
access to municipal services, particularly water and sewer services, which have been the primary driver 
of annexation requests by landowners and developers.  

This piecemeal approach to annexation created irregular, meandering city boundaries and several 
enclaves of non-annexed properties isolated within City boundaries (Smythe, 1999).33 In 1992, the LBC 
denied a City-initiated annexation petition because it would have created an additional enclave,34 and 
recommended that the City take a more comprehensive approach to annexation in future to address the 
problem of enclaves (ADCED, 2000).  

A More Comprehensive Approach to Annexation 

From the 1990’s onward, the City followed the LBC’s recommendation for a more comprehensive 
approach to annexation. A 1999 City-initiated annexation petition included four separate parcels 
contiguous with then-existing City boundaries, one of which was a voluntary annexation request; the 
remaining three were either owned by the City or were privately-owned lots over which the City already 
held Power of Attorney for annexation (City of Palmer, 1999).35  

The City of Palmer also completed a comprehensive plan in 1999, which recommended that the City 
adopt Palmer’s certificated sewer service area as the conceptual boundary for expansion of the City and 
file the concept with the LBC so that future individual annexation petitions would be used to implement 
the concept (Smythe, 1999). The plan reasoned that a conceptual growth boundary would provide 
advance notice to landowners and residents in areas of possible annexation, which would thereby allow 
more time for landowners, developers, the City and Matanuska-Susitna Borough to plan and prepare for 

 
32 Alaska Department of Community and Economic Development (March 2000). Report to the Local Boundary 
Commission Concerning the Proposed Annexation of 64.9 Acres to the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  

33 Gillian Smythe & Associates (1999). Palmer Comprehensive Plan. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan.  

34 Alaska Department of Community and Economic Development (March 2000). Report to the Local Boundary 
Commission Concerning the Proposed Annexation of 64.9 Acres to the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  

35 City of Palmer (1999). Record to the Local Boundary Commission Palmer Annexation Petition. Accessed 
November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  

Page 266 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 86 

future annexations (Smythe, 1999). Following the 1999 Palmer Comprehensive Plan, the City contracted 
with Northern Economics, Inc. in 2000 to analyze the economic effects of a potential future annexation. 
This study analyzed four study areas defined as potential annexation phases toward the conceptual 
boundary recommended by the Comprehensive Plan and, by City Council request, added a study area for 
the extensive gravel extraction area south of the City (Northern Economics, Inc., 2006).36  

A City-initiated annexation petition in 2002 (of over 920 acres) specifically addressed the issue of 
enclaves within Palmer by annexing all remaining enclaves, including properties that were either entirely 
surrounded by the City or bordered by the City and the Matanuska River. The 2002 petition also 
established that the conflict between the City's policy of annexing land only upon request and the LBC's 
policy of denying a petition that would create an enclave had effectively made the voluntary piecemeal 
approach to annexation an obstacle to investment in the Palmer community and to its growth and 
development (City of Palmer, 2002).37 Any non-contiguous property outside City boundaries would have 
to be annexed along with the land between that development and City boundaries. Even if driven by a 
landowner’s voluntary request for annexation, future annexation petitions would likely have to be initiated 
by the City in order to include enough land area to ensure contiguous City borders.  

Providing for Orderly Community Growth and Development 

Annexation was identified in Palmer’s 1999 Comprehensive Plan as an important mechanism to support 
the City’s ability to plan for and manage community growth, which had become constrained by Palmer’s 
relatively small physical area, high population density, and high growth rate (Smythe, 1999). The plan 
recommended that Palmer adopt an annexation strategy specifically to help guide future development 
because significant growth was happening just outside municipal boundaries (Smythe, 1999).  

Growth management was a significant part of the rationale for the subsequent 2002 City-initiated 
annexation petition, which noted a population increase of 58 percent from development within City 
boundaries and 38 percent within the Matanuska-Susitna Borough over the previous Census decade 
(1990-2000) (City of Palmer, 2002). The petition cited the need to address the potential for conflicting 
land uses and building standards along municipal boundaries with planning and zoning in the areas 
proposed for annexation, particularly where enclaves existed (City of Palmer, 2002). It included four 
partially developed subdivisions (of almost 200 lots) that requested annexation for water and sewer 
service and noted the City’s desire to plan for commercial development and retail growth expansion along 
the Glenn Highway to the south prior to development (City of Palmer, 2002).38  

A 2006 update to the Palmer Comprehensive Plan reaffirmed that the City needed additional area for 
community expansion and that much of the Palmer area’s recent growth and development had taken 
place near Springer Loop to the south and along the Palmer-Wasilla Highway to the west, both areas 
outside city boundaries and not zoned (Agnew::Beck, 2006).39 The 2006 update recommended that there 
be a plan for the phased expansion of city boundaries, with a detailed planning study and cost-benefit 
analysis of the area proposed for annexation. 

 
36 Northern Economics, Inc. (2006). Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from: https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives.  

37 City of Palmer, Alaska (March 2002). A Petition by the City of Palmer for Annexation of approximately 921.34 acres 
North, South, East & West of the current City Limits. Accessed November 5, 2020 from the Alaska Local Boundary 
Commission: https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  

38 Ibid. 

39 Agnew::Beck Consulting (2006). Palmer Comprehensive Plan Update. Accessed November 5, 2020 from 
https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-comprehensive-plan. 

Page 267 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 87 

Figure 23. 2006 Palmer Annexation Study Area Map 

 
This map, from the 2006 Analysis of Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer (Northern Economics, Inc.), then-
proposed annexation phasing out to the Palmer Certificated Sewer Utility Service Area boundary. The utility service 
area boundary was recommended as a conceptual growth boundary for the City in the 1999 Palmer Comprehensive 
Plan as a way to give landowners, developers, the City and Matanuska-Susitna Borough more opportunity to plan 
and prepare for future annexations. 

 

As the 2006 Palmer Comprehensive Plan Update was underway, the City retained Northern Economics, 
Inc. to conduct another annexation study using the same analytical approach as the 2001 study. The 
2006 Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer also used the previously established phased 
approach toward a conceptual growth boundary that matched the Palmer certificated sewer utility service 

Page 268 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 88 

area, shown in Figure 23 (Northern Economics, Inc. 2006).40 The study noted the City’s ability to offer a 
high level of municipal services including City police, fire protection, street maintenance, and planning 
and land use regulatory powers. However, it noted that the extension of water and sewer services, which 
had previously been a major driver in annexation requests to the City, was coordinated by a separate 
certificated city utility through an enterprise fund (Northern Economics, Inc. 2006).41 

The City has not successfully led any large-area annexations since 2002. An annexation petition was 
prepared in 2007 but failed to pass a vote of the Palmer City Council for submittal to the LBC. Testimony 
from residents in the area proposed for annexation was overwhelmingly opposed for reasons ranging 
from expectations that annexation would adversely affect their lives and property to a lack of adequate 
opportunity to participate in the development of the annexation proposal (Agnew::Beck Consulting, 
2010).42  

In 2010, the City retained a consultant team (Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc., and 
Kevin Waring Associates) to prepare an Annexation Strategy. The 2010 study identified two commercial 
corridors, the Palmer Wasilla Highway and Glenn Highway, as areas with the most potential need for 
growth management, depending on how and when properties along the highways are developed. It also 
recommended public process improvements and potential changes to City policies to address area 
resident concerns about annexation (Agnew::Beck Consulting, 2010).43 A property was annexed in 2011 
using the local option/local action method by the consent of all property owners and registered voters 
residing on the property (City of Palmer, 2011).44 The owner, a church, already owned adjacent property 
inside City limits and sought to consolidate and fully develop its property through annexation. 

The Case for Annexation 

The City of Palmer Annexation Strategy (Agnew::Beck et al, 2010) provided the rationale for annexation 
that applies equally in 2020 as it did in 2010. That study discussed how State law generally favors city 
annexations to sustain the fiscal viability of existing cities, to plan for growth and the efficient provision of 
essential public services to adjacent areas. Palmer’s case for annexation would rest on:  

 The city’s constrained boundaries with ongoing growth in the City’s periphery. 
 The City’s unique ability to plan for and deliver essential public services to adjacent areas as 

development progresses. 
 The City’s demonstrated capacity to provide expanded public services without impacting the 

quality and costs of services to existing residents. 
 The City’s need to maintain its sales tax revenue base. 

The 2020 annexation study looks at these elements of Palmer’s annexation rationale in more detail and 
offers guidance for issues that would have to addressed as part of a future annexation.  

 
40 Northern Economics, Inc. (2006). Annexation Alternatives for the City of Palmer. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from: https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-alternatives.  

41 Ibid. 

42 Agnew::Beck Consulting, Northern Economics, Inc. and Kevin Waring Associates (2010). City of Palmer 
Annexation Strategy. Accessed November 5, 2020 from https://www.palmerak.org/city-palmer-analysis-annexation-
alternatives.  

43 Ibid. 

44 City of Palmer (2011). Petition to the Local Boundary Commission For Annexation to the City of Palmer, a Home 
Rule City within the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, Using the local option method by the consent of all owners of the 
property proposed for annexation and all registered voters residing on that property. Accessed November 5, 2020 
from the Alaska Local Boundary Commission: 
https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/dcra/LocalBoundaryCommission/CurrentandPastPetitions.aspx.  

Page 269 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 89 

Appendix B: Survey Questions 

Interview Questions 

Residents and the General Public 

1] What opportunities do you see in expanding Palmer’s boundaries? 

2] What risks do you see in expanding Palmer’s boundaries? 

3] Are there specific policies, city services or other potential impacts (on services, taxes or regulations) 
that are of interest or concern to you? 

4] Are there specific actions the City could take to ameliorate any negative impacts if property is 
annexed? 

Developers, Real Estate and Property Owners 

1] Based on your experience and knowledge about recent and future development trends, where could 
we expect residential and/or commercial growth, within and around Palmer? 

2-5] Same questions as Residents and the General Public. 

Survey Questions 
1] Please chose the option that most closely reflects where you live: (Choose 1.) 

□ I live in the City of Palmer. 
□ I live in Study area A. 
□ I live in Study area B. 
□ I live in Study area C. 
□ I live in Study area D. 
□ I live in Study area E. 
□ I live in Study area F. 
□ I live in Study area G. 
□ I live outside the City of Palmer and outside the study areas. 

2] Please chose the options that most closely reflects if and where you own a business. (Choose all that 
apply.) 

□ I own a business in the City of Palmer. 
□ I own a business in Study area A. 
□ I own a business in Study area B. 
□ I own a business in Study area C. 
□ I own a business in Study area D. 
□ I own a business in Study area E. 
□ I own a business in Study area F. 
□ I own a business in Study area G. 
□ I own a business outside the City of Palmer and outside the study areas. 
□ I do not own a business. 

Page 270 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 90 

3] Please chose the options that most closely reflects if and where you work. (Choose all that apply.) 

□ I work in the City of Palmer. 
□ I work in Study area A. 
□ I work in Study area B. 
□ I work in Study area C. 
□ I work in Study area D. 
□ I work in Study area E. 
□ I work in Study area F. 
□ I work in Study area G. 
□ I work outside the City of Palmer and outside the study areas. 
□ I do not work for anyone. 

4] Annexation often sparks strong opinions about how it will impact residents and businesses. When 
thinking about annexing new land into the City of Palmer, which category most closely reflects your 
opinion of each statement? 

Statement 

Significant 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
detriment to 

the area 

Significant 
detriment to 

the area 

Newly annexed areas will have to comply 
with City zoning and other land use 
regulations, which would provide more 
local control over land use and 
development decisions. 

□ □ □ □ 

New residents would be able to vote in 
City elections, run for office, and serve on 
City Council, boards and commissions, 
etc.  

□ □ □ □ 

Palmer Police would be extended into 
newly annexed areas. 

□ □ □ □ 

City road maintenance would be extended 
into newly annexed areas.  

□ □ □ □ 

Newly annexed areas would be required to 
have trash collection. The City provides 
trash collection within a service area. 
Outside the service area, property owners 
are required to contract with a private solid 
waste collection service. 

□ □ □ □ 

Businesses in annexed areas would 
collect City sales tax of 3 percent; the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough has no sales 
tax. 

□ □ □ □ 

Landowners in annexed areas would pay 
City property taxes and would stop paying 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough non-areawide 
property taxes as well as Greater Palmer 
Fire Service area assessments. 
Annexation would not affect exemptions 
for seniors and disabled veterans, nor 
farmland use tax deferments. 

□ □ □ □ 

Page 271 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 91 

Statement 

Significant 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
benefit for 
the area 

Slight 
detriment to 

the area 

Significant 
detriment to 

the area 

Building permits would be required and 
building safety codes would have to be 
met for new construction in newly annexed 
areas. 

□ □ □ □ 

 

5] What other benefits do you see in expanding Palmer’s boundaries? (max 1,000 characters) 

 

  

6] What other concerns do you have about expanding Palmer’s boundaries? (max 1,000 characters) 

 

 

7] What actions could the City take to reduce negative impacts if property is annexed into the City of 
Palmer? For example, zoning and/or other City regulations could be changed to allow certain practices in 
annexed areas. Are there specific practices or issues the City should consider allowing in annexed areas 
that would not be allowed under existing Palmer Municipal Code? (max 1,000 characters) 

 

 

8] What specific information should the study provide about potential benefits or challenges of annexing 
new land into the City of Palmer? (max 1,000 characters) 

 

 

9] When thinking about annexing new land into the City of Palmer, which statement most closely reflects 
your current overall opinion? (Choose 1.) 

□ I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs to the City, my household and/or business 
increase in the short term because of the benefits annexation will provide to the community. 

□ I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it makes fiscal sense to my household, business 
and/or the City. 

□ I have no opinion about annexation.  
□ I do not currently support annexation but could support it if my concerns were addressed.  
□ I do not support annexation under any circumstances. 
□ I need more information about annexation to make an informed choice.  
□ None of the above. 

Finally, it’s important for us to ask a few questions to understand how the demographics of survey 
respondents compare to the general population of the area. 

10] What is your gender? (Choose 1.) 

□ Male 
□ Female 
□ Prefer not to answer 

Page 272 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 92 

11] What is your age? (Choose 1.) 

□ 19 and Under 
□ Age 20-44 
□ Age 45-64 
□ Age 65 and over 
□ Prefer not to answer 

12] What is your household income? (Choose 1.) 

□ Under $25,000 
□ $25,000-$49,999 
□ $50,000-$74,999 
□ $75,000-$99,999 
□ Over $100,000 
□ Prefer not to answer 

13] What is your race or ethnicity? (Choose 1.) 

□ White/Caucasian 
□ Black 
□ American Indian/Alaska Native 
□ Asian 
□ Pacific Islander 
□ Other 
□ Two or more races 
□ Prefer not to answer 

 

  

Page 273 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 93 

Appendix C: Survey Findings 
Survey results shows that people and businesses inside City are more interested in annexation than 
those in the study areas. Study areas show the least interest in annexation, though there is some support 
in certain study areas. If the economics work out and concerns about conflicting lifestyles can be 
addressed, support for annexation would likely increase in the study areas. Information learned through 
this survey and other public outreach will guide the City’s process as it looks at possible annexation in 
future. 

The Palmer Annexation Study survey was open November 3 to November 20, 2020 and from January 25 
to February 22, 2021. The survey had a grand total of 610 responses.  

Figure 24. Survey Respondents Round 1 and 2 

 

Level of Support for Annexation 

Findings show that 62 percent of those who live in the city support annexation and 17 percent do not 
support, whereas 15 percent of those who live in the study areas support annexation and 67 percent do 
not support it. This trend is similar for business owners in City versus the study areas. Business owners 
within the City are more evenly split (43 percent indicated possible support, whereas 39 percent indicated 
a lack of support). Business owners in the study areas indicated a stronger lack of support (74 percent). 
These results indicate that Palmer residents want more people to join the City and possibly understand 
some of the benefits of annexation.  

 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

I live in Study area A.

I live in Study area B.

I live in Study area C.

I live in Study area D.

I live in Study area E.

I live in Study area F.

I live in Study area G.

I live in the City of Palmer.

I live outside the City of Palmer and outside the study
areas.

Number of Respondents

Round 2 Round 1

Page 274 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 94 

Figure 25. General Level of Support for Annexation 

 

 

Figure 26. Resident Respondents 

 

13%

14%

3%

12%

44%

13%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries even if costs 
to the City, my household and/or business increase in 
the short term because of the benefits annexation will 

provide to the community.

I support growing Palmer’s boundaries only if it 
makes fiscal sense to my household, business and/or 

the City.

I have no opinion about annexation

I do not currently support annexation but could
support it if my concerns were addressed.

I do not support annexation under any circumstances.

I need more information about annexation to make an
informed choice.

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0%

I live in Study area A.

I live in Study area B.

I live in Study area C.

I live in Study area D.

I live in Study area E.

I live in Study area F.

I live in Study area G.

I live in the City of Palmer.

% of total pop % of Responses

Page 275 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 95 

 

Table 17. Resident Support for Annexation 
 

Live in City 
Live in Study 

Area 
Live Outside SA 

& City All Residents 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 17 17% 244 67% 76 54% 337 56% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 21 21% 62 17% 19 14% 102 17% 

Response indicated 
possible support 61 62% 56 15% 45 32% 162 27% 

Total 99 100% 362 100% 140 100% 601 100% 

 

Table 18. Resident Support for Annexation by Study Area 

Study Area 
Total Resident 
Respondents # Support Annexation % Support Annexation 

Study Area A 7 3 43% 

Study Area B 6 0 0% 

Study Area C 14 1 7% 

Study Area D 80 15 19% 

Study Area E 98 15 15% 

Study Area F 153 19 12% 

Study Area G 7 3 43% 

 

Figure 27. Where Survey Respondents Work 

 

7%

0%

1%

1%

5%

2%

6%

1%

29%

48%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

I do not work for anyone.

I work in Study area A.

I work in Study area B.

I work in Study area C.

I work in Study area D.

I work in Study area E.

I work in Study area F.

I work in Study area G.

I work in the City of Palmer.

I work outside the City of Palmer and outside the
study area.

Page 276 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 96 

In the figure below, the Percent of Businesses (dark blue bars in the graph) are calculated as the number 
of survey responses for which the respondent owns a business in the geographic area indicated, divided 
by the total number of businesses in the geographic area (Source: Data Axle USA, 2019 data). The 
survey was administered in 2020 and 2021; the Data Axle business data is from 2019. This difference in 
time explains why some geographic areas have greater than 100 percent response from businesses in 
that area. The 2019 data does not capture new businesses since it was collected. The number of 
businesses is not strictly comparable, but it does give us a rough sense of the proportion of business 
owners in each area who filled out the survey. 

Figure 28. Business Owner Respondents 

 

 

Table 19. Business Owner Support for Annexation 

 
Own Business in 

City 
Own Business in 

Study Area 

Own Business 
Outside Study 
Area and City All Business 

Response indicated a 
lack of support 20 39% 53 74% 31 62% 104 60% 

No Opinion,  
Need More Info, or None 
of the above 9 18% 11 15% 3 6% 23 13% 

Response indicated 
possible support 22 43% 8 11% 16 32% 46 27% 

Total 51 100% 72 100% 50 100% 173 100% 

 

  

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%120%140%160%180%200%

I own a business in Study area A.

I own a business in Study area B.

I own a business in Study area C.

I own a business in Study area D.

I own a business in Study area E.

I own a business in Study area F.

I own a business in Study area G.

I own a business in the City of Palmer.

I own a business outside the City of Palmer and
outside the study areas.

% of Businesses % of Responses

Page 277 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 97 

Annexation Benefits and Challenges  

Figure 29. Level of Perceived Benefit/Challenge for Specific Topics, All Respondents 

 
 

  

17%

28%

31%

26%

17%

18%

18%

20%

16%

32%

30%

27%

22%

12%

17%

18%

11%

9%

12%

12%

15%

15%

17%

14%

56%

30%

28%

34%

46%

56%

48%

48%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Newly annexed areas will have to comply with City
zoning and other land use regulations

New residents would be able to vote in City elections,
run for office, and serve on City Council, boards and

commissions, etc.

Palmer Police would be extended into newly annexed
areas.

City road maintenance would be extended into newly
annexed areas.

Newly annexed areas would be required to have trash
collection.

Businesses in annexed areas would collect City sales
tax

Landowners in annexed areas would pay City property
taxes and would stop paying Mat-Su Borough non-

areawide property taxes assessments.

Building permits would be required and building safety
codes would have to be met for new construction in

newly annexed areas.

Significant benefit for the area Slight benefit for the area Slight detriment to the area

Significant detriment to the area No Response

Page 278 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 98 

Annexation Benefits 

When asked an open-ended question about the perceived benefits of annexation, 51 percent of 
respondents indicated they saw no benefits to annexation. Positive responses (18 percent of total 
responses) reflected the themes below: 

 Access to or improved City services, generally  

 Access to specific services: police, water and sewer, road maintenance and streetlights, staffed 
fire station, bike paths 

 Attracting businesses and families 
 Everyone in the area living by the same rules 

 Less confusion about city boundaries 

 Lifestyle preferences 

 More opportunities for input on future planning and growth 

 Possibility of increased City revenue and/or broader tax base 

 Possibility of new jobs at City and area businesses 
 Representation in City government 

 Zoning and land use regulations, with more controls than under current Borough codes 

Neutral responses addressed themes like the need for more information or mixed views about benefits 
when weighed against challenges or applied to the area the respondent was most familiar with.  

Annexation Challenges 

When asked an open-ended question about the perceived challenges associated with annexation, 
responses fell into the categorized areas of concern in Figure 30. The most repeated concerns included 
not wanting more regulation, not wanting (or feeling unable to afford) an increase in taxes, and concerns 
about the City’s ability to provide services to annexed areas at a comparable quality and cost-
effectiveness to the Borough. Respondents also noted concerns about the City’s readiness to extend 
services and enforcement of City regulations in annexed areas without first demonstrating some 
improvements within existing boundaries.  

Specific concerns raised by business owners included concerns about farms, businesses operated on the 
same property as the home, and ongoing administrative impacts of adapting to the City’s tax structure 
and regulatory framework that would be a burden to businesses. In many cases, resident and business 
concerns were identical: 17 percent of business owners live and own a business in the same area. 

Respondents were also asked open-ended questions about actions the City could take to address their 
concerns and about information the study should include. Key themes from the responses of all open-
ended questions are summarized by topic area on the following pages.  

City Revenues/Tax Base  

In an open-ended question about the benefits of annexation, five percent of all survey respondents 
mentioned City’s revenues and/or tax base. These respondents suggested that the City would benefit 
from a larger or broader tax base through increased population, bringing more businesses into the City, 
and/or taxing the quarry/gravel pits. Respondents also suggested the City might see increases in revenue 
through taxes and/or through increased allocations for State/Federal funding sources. One respondent 
asked if annexation would increase or decrease Palmer’s chances as a small community to be awarded 
grants?  

Nearly 30 percent of all survey respondents indicated that city taxes and fees would be a concern. One 
respondent suggested that in the event of a significant annexation, the City institute temporary tax 

Page 279 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 99 

abatements or a ramp in the property and sales taxes for annexed areas so any tax increases are not a 
shock to annexed residents and businesses. 

Figure 30. Areas of Concern, All Respondents 

 
 

Sales Tax  

Responses that specifically mentioned sales tax indicated that some homeowners limit their spending 
overall and particularly do not want to pay sales tax on locally grown food. Some businesses are 
concerned that having to collect city sales tax and the online sales tax would hurt their business because 
their competition does not have to charge sales taxes. One response included the suggestion to eliminate 
the City’s monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. 

Property Tax 

Responses that specifically mentioned property tax indicated some concern about increasing property 
taxes especially if it pays for services that are neither wanted nor used. One response included the 
suggestion to create a city property tax cap. 

Other Specific Taxes/Fees 

Responses that specifically mentioned other types of city taxes and fees indicated support for a 
severance tax on local quarries and/or gravel pits as well as a road tax against quarry trucks. One 

Communication, Process 
and Timeline

5%

Taxes and Fees 
(incl. Property 

and Sales Taxes)
29%

Growth and 
Community 

Planning
7%

Land Use 
Regulations

3%Building Codes, Permits, etc.
3%

City Services and Infrastructure (incl. 
Police, Roads, Garbage, Water/Sewer)

17%

Governance
3%

Regulations (incl. 
Guns, OHVs, 

Animals, Burn 
Permits, 

Water/Sewer, 
Garbage)

23%

Businesses and 
Economic Development

4%

Farms
3%

Fix it First
3%

Page 280 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 100 

response included a question about whether the city would collect a bed tax. Other responses mentioned 
local improvement district assessments, building permits and/or building inspection fees, as well as fees 
for specific city services, such as garbage collection. Responses included suggestions for the city to not 
require fee services such as garbage collection or building permits, especially for small structures like 
sheds, decks and fences. Several responses voiced concerns and questions about the fees they would or 
could have to pay to connect to City water/sewer. One response included a question about whether 
annexation would increase or decrease eligibility for grants.  

Growth/Community Planning  

Responses indicated support for protecting Palmer's small-town character, including support for farmland 
preservation. Responses revealed a difference of opinion about annexation as either opportunity to 
extend City land use regulations to manage growth or the belief that annexation would drive population 
growth and thereby irreversibly destroy Palmer’s small-town lifestyle. Comments included a request for 
the study to describe the long-term goals of the City in pursuing annexation as well as to provide growth, 
traffic and land value projections. These respondents want to know if annexation would affect the value of 
annexed land, as well as the costs and ripple effects of increased development and the population growth 
that would follow, such as impacts to traffic volume and patterns.  

Land Use Regulations 

Responses revealed mixed attitudes toward land use regulations. Some responses support zoning or 
other land use regulations for a variety of reasons including:  

 protect Palmer’s small-town character;  

 prevent sprawl; 
 protect the quality of Palmer’s downtown and commercial district(s); 

 protect farmland and hobby farm activities on primarily residential;  

 protect public health and sanitation (i.e., disallow septic systems where they would endanger 
public health); 

 limit high-density housing. 

One respondent suggested a green buffer next to the Mountain Ranch subdivision. Another respondent 
suggested allowing buildings over three stories. Other responses oppose zoning or other land use 
regulations for fear that it would decrease land value or disallow the existing mix of uses on individual 
properties.  

Building Codes, Permits, etc. 

Responses that mentioned building codes, permits and inspections reflected a desire for the City to be 
more flexible or not require these for structures like sheds, decks, storage buildings, fences, etc.  

City Services and Infrastructure 

Responses that mentioned city services and infrastructure were mixed. Some respondents view access to 
city services as a benefit of annexation, while others expressed concerns about the provision of services 
and infrastructure. Some responses reflected a preference for other service providers rather than the City 
of Palmer. Some concerns were about the City’s readiness or ability to extend services to annexed areas. 
Others voiced concern that an annexation could mean that services like sewer, water and garbage 
collection would all be provided to the original city residents but not extended to the newly annexed area, 
so that annexed people would be paying taxes for services they don't receive.  

Parks, Trails and Recreation 

Responses that mentioned parks and recreational infrastructure expressed support for more parks, trails, 
public access points, and recreation infrastructure as a potential benefit of annexation. One respondent 

Page 281 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 101 

specifically mentioned the desire for improvements in pedestrian access from annexed areas to the City 
of Palmer. One respondent voiced concern for the City to improve existing recreational infrastructure 
(specifically the Palmer Senior League Field) before annexing anything. 

Police  

Responses that mentioned Palmer’s Police services were mixed. A few responses reflected concern that 
annexation would increase population and therefore crime. Some respondents voiced support for Police 
expansion as a potential benefit of annexation, anticipating that it would result in faster response times 
within existing City boundaries as well as in annexed areas. Some responses reflected a preference for 
the Alaska State Troopers. Other responses expressed concern that the Palmer Police Department would 
be overwhelmed by a significant annexation because staff are already overworked, understaffed, 
underpaid, and do not feel supported by the City. A few respondents also voiced concerns about the 
expense of expanding the City’s police force and about the City’s ability to find qualified people to hire for 
the new positions as well as its ability to pay its officers a competitive salary. A few responses reflected a 
desire for more information about the specifics of how exactly the Palmer Police Department would be 
expanded or changed with an annexation. 

Fire  

Relatively few responses mentioned Palmer Fire and Rescue. Some respondents saw improvements to 
Palmer’s fire and emergency response services as a benefit of annexation, specifically faster fire and 
emergency response times. These responses also indicated support for the department to access more 
resources to build, staff and equip new fire station(s) in areas that do not have them. Other responses 
reflected concerns about the cost of those improvements. A few responses reflected a desire for more 
information about the specifics of how exactly Palmer Fire and Rescue would be expanded or changed 
with an annexation. 

Roads  

Responses that mentioned road maintenance and related infrastructure were mixed. Some responses 
indicated support for the expansion of City road maintenance and installation of streetlights in their 
neighborhoods. One response voiced frustration that the City does not pay for the maintenance and 
electricity for street lighting in their neighborhood. Other respondents do not want City road maintenance, 
nor do they want to pay for it. Some of these responses specifically mentioned concerns that the City 
cannot provide snow removal as fast as what they are used to now. A few respondents specifically 
shared concerns about the City’s ability to provide snow removal on Scott Road because it requires 
specialized equipment. (Note that as a state-owned Road, Scott Road would continue to be maintained 
by the Alaska State Department of Transportation and Public Facilities if the area were to be annexed into 
the City. It is also common practice for public road maintenance departments to trade snow removal 
responsibilities for specific roads if it makes the overall service provision more efficient and cost effective. 
For example, in Anchorage, the State provides snow removal for some larger Municipal roads and in 
exchange, the Municipality clears snow for some smaller State-owned roads.) A few responses also 
voiced concerns about the City’s ability to find people willing to accept any new maintenance positions 
unless it raises its salaries and wages for the positions. 

Garbage 

Responses that mentioned City garbage collection were also mixed. Some respondents want City 
garbage collection, including existing City residents who live outside the City’s current garbage collection 
service area. One respondent voiced concern that expanding the current trash collection service area 
would trigger state regulation of City utilities by forcing the City to enter a competitive service area. 

Page 282 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 102 

Other respondents within the City and outside the City prefer to either contract with another provider or 
haul their own trash. In the study areas, respondents generally want to be able to choose who and how 
garbage is dealt with. Some responses voiced concern that trash collection would become more 
expensive if land is annexed. 

Water and Sewer 

Responses that mentioned water and sewer services were likewise mixed. Respondents who saw 
potential annexation benefits expressed support for City planning to prevent ground water problems, as 
well as support for limiting septic systems in future for public health reasons. Some respondents voiced a 
desire to have water and sewer extended to their property; others expressed preferences for their existing 
onsite or community well and septic systems. Some respondents brought up concerns about the cost of 
extending and hooking up to piped water and/or sewer.  

"I've heard it could cost each home up to $20,000 for city sewer and water if we are annexed."  

"I just paid for a new septic install. I would be unhappy about having to pay to hook up to sewer now." 

A few respondents questioned whether the City would take over servicing their subdivision’s community 
well and septic if annexed. Responses reflected both frustration about the City refusing to take over a 
community well, while another HOA wants to maintain ownership and control of the community well. 

Farmers voiced special concerns about whether they would have to pay for City water or be able to 
maintain their private wells (discussed under Farms). One respondent voiced concern that an annexation 
would require the City’s water and wastewater plants to be expanded, with limited capacity to do so at the 
current wastewater plant."  

Other Services and Infrastructure 

Responses also included questions and concerns regarding a number of other City services and 
infrastructure. A few specifically mentioned the desire for improvements (or repair and replacement) to 
aging stormwater collection infrastructure and existing City facilities (generally). Some responses voiced 
concerns that the city does not have the infrastructure to support the larger size of a major annexation. A 
few responses included support for fire hydrants to be extended into annexed areas, or at least want a 
better understanding of whether the City would extend fire hydrants to annexed area(s). 

One or two respondents voiced strong dissatisfaction with mail service in the Palmer area (specifically the 
Post Office and cost of a PO box). It should be noted that because mail service is a Federal service, 
annexation would not necessarily affect postal services.  

A few responses included questions about how annexation would affect schools in terms of population 
and funding. 

"How does all of this affect the zoning of our current school system?  Has there been an impact study done by a 
neutral source determining projected student increases by age groups?  Will new schools need to be built to handle 
the projected increases?"  

Governance 

Governance was not often mentioned among the open-ended responses: six percent of all respondents 
mentioned governance as benefits and three percent of all responses mentioned it as a concern. These 
responses included support for being able to vote in City elections and having more of a voice in City 
government for both residents and businesses. They also included as benefits a wider pool of eligible 
candidates to run for public office and hopes for a more involved voter base and greater sense of 
community. Some respondents had a preference for the City of Palmer over the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough; others preferred the Borough over the City. A few comments observed that an annexation could 
make boundaries between the City and Borough easier to understand. Respondents who mentioned 

Page 283 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 103 

concerns with governance want as little government oversight as possible and view an annexation not by 
their choice (against their will) as an overreach of government and an infringement on their personal 
freedoms. 

Regulations 

In open-ended questions about benefits and concerns regarding annexation, only two percent of all 
survey responses mentioned regulations as benefits, whereas 29 percent of all responses mentioned 
regulations as concerns. As benefits, responses mentioned land use and/or building regulations as a way 
to manage growth and protect Palmer’s small-town character. A few responses mentioned a sense of 
everyone following the same rules as a benefit, especially for code compliance or law enforcement.  

The main concerns about city regulations stated a general desire to minimize any governmental rules, the 
desire to be able to use firearms and off-road vehicles; burn trash, have fire pits and set off fireworks on 
their property, and keep a variety of animals on their land. Responses about actions the City could take 
overwhelmingly reflected the desire to grandfather or make regulatory allowances to retain existing 
lifestyles and businesses.  

Use of Firearms 

Responses included suggestions to allow hunting (generally and small-game hunting), target practice on 
property, and access to hunting grounds. Respondents also expressed the desire to be able to continue 
using private rifle/shooting range(s), including the existing gun range that operates in Study Area G.  

Use of Off-Road Vehicles  

Responses included suggestions to allow off-road vehicles (e.g., ATVs, snow machines) to be licensed 
for road use. One respondent specifically mentioned wanting to drive off-road vehicles on Bogard Road.  

Burn Trash, Firepits and Fireworks  

Responses included suggestions to allow burning waste, having backyard firepits and setting off fireworks 
on private property. A few comments specifically mentioned wanting burn permits with the same 
allowances as they are currently granted by the Matanuska-Susitna Borough.  

Animals  

Responses indicated the desire to have a variety of type and number of animals on their property. 
Respondents specifically mentioned livestock on farms or hobby farms, e.g., goats, chickens (including 
roosters), cows, horses, bees.  

"Many of these areas have people with more than a few chickens. And they depend on them for food or money from 
egg sales. Same with other livestock. Making it a city would really harm these practices and people will move 
farther."  

Responses also included suggestions for different rules for dogs, including:  

"Maintain the four-dog limit; four dogs is okay if there are no other animals."  

"Allow permits and inspection for more than two dogs for small dog kennels. No more than 10 dogs." 

"Allow dogs to run free." 

Other Regulations  

Responses indicated a strong lack of support for building codes and permits for sheds, decks, storage 
buildings; the City’s garbage collection requirement; and any requirement to connect to the City’s piped 
water-sewer utility if a property is served by functioning well and septic. One response mentioned a lack 
of support for a mask ordinance. Responses did indicate support for regulations to address 
homelessness and to allow private wells, especially on farms. Responses reflected a mix of support and 

Page 284 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 104 

objection to allowing businesses such as marijuana dispensary (and cannabis tourism), a strip club and 
pawn shop. Suggestions to improve regulations included:  

 Enforce quiet hours from the quarry 

 Revisit requirements concerning agricultural practices (e.g., noise, smells, land use, number and 
size of animals allowed on the property) 

 Allow well and septic 

 Allow self-haul and privately contracted trash collection 

 Flexibility and/or exemptions to building code and permit requirements for small structures 
(decks, sheds, fences, outbuildings) 

 Allow neighborhood roads to not have sidewalks. 

Businesses and Economic Development 

Responses that mentioned businesses and economic development included a range of support for 
potential benefits of annexation and concerns about how an annexation would affect business operations 
in annexed areas and inside the City. Some respondents view annexation as a way to support private 
business development. Others concerned that people who own business but don't live in Palmer don't 
have a voice. Responses also included concerns that City officials would not be willing to allow big 
businesses to be established in annexed areas. 

Business responses included concerns about the impact of taxation (present and future) and City 
regulations on the ability to do business. Some businesses expressed concerns about having to have 
more license(s), more fee(s), and another set of quarterly paperwork to complete and submit. Some 
businesses voiced concerns that because they compete against businesses located in areas that do not 
have a sales tax, collecting the Palmer sales tax would make them less competitive, and they could lose 
a large amount of business. Business responses also included concerns that owners of annexed property 
would pass cost increases to the lease holder operating a business on the property, and that annexation 
could cause job losses and/or drive businesses away. Business owners seek protection under current 
economic hardships (i.e., due to COVID-19 restrictions) and to be allowed to continue operation. 

Responses included a request for information about the long-term effects of annexation on businesses in 
the annexed areas, about the financial impact to businesses and how that might affect current and 
potential future business in the city. One respondent voiced concern about whether growth associated 
with annexation would create high wage jobs (e.g., medical support) or low wage jobs (e.g., big box 
retail).  

Survey responses reflected a mix of interest in and concern about annexation causing an increase in the  
number of City jobs. Some  respondents voiced support for more City jobs, though others expressed 
concerns that City of Palmer employees are not paid competitive salaries/wages and question whether 
the City could attract qualified people to fill new positions at current pay levels.  

Farms 

Responses that mentioned farms universally sought to protect agricultural businesses and activities in the 
greater Palmer area. Some voiced concerns that City regulations would make it difficult for hobby farms 
and business-scale farms, alike. Specifically, respondents mentioned concerns about the number and 
size of animals allowed, building codes/permits for outbuildings, road accesses, and the ability to maintain 
private well and waste management on the property. One respondent estimated the amount of water 
used for farm operations (up to 5,000 gallons per day) to estimate the cost impact to the farm if it had to 
purchase City water.  

Page 285 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 105 

Responses included suggestions for the City to adopt Right-to-Farm laws and/or publish regulations, 
protections and changes to city policy involving farmland to ensure the preservation of farmland and 
agricultural practices, including encouraging the creation of more agricultural businesses. Responses also 
included suggestions to exempt agricultural land from mandatory trash collection, building permits for 
storage buildings, and eliminate monthly reporting requirement for sales taxes. One respondent 
suggested that the City "keep the R7 rating so agriculture can continue without being impacted by placing 
farmland in competition with new subdivisions." Another respondent commented that the size and/or type 
of lots should be treated differently regarding allowances for animals. 

Other Businesses  

Specific businesses mentioned include farms, the gravel pit, gun range, marijuana cultivation and 
dispensaries, home-based businesses. (Note: The few responses that mentioned marijuana-related 
businesses show mixed attitudes toward them.) One respondent voiced interest in attracting national 
chains, auto/truck dealerships, a movie theater and shopping mall to Palmer. Responses also included 
concerns about the impacts of annexation to landlords (e.g., how much sales tax they would have to pay) 
and that zoning would prohibit certain home businesses.  

Responses included support for regulating the gravel pits/quarry to enforce quiet hours and "make the 
midnight gravel train go away," as well as maintaining private gun range(s). Responses indicated mixed 
support for allowing marijuana businesses: a few respondents suggested allowing dispensaries within the 
City and developing cannabis tourism, while one voiced concern that  there are too many cannabis 
businesses in the Valley already and that the regional market cannot support them all. One respondent 
suggested that Palmer should have a strip club and allow pawn shops within the City.  

Fix it First 

Concerns about service provision also revealed a desire among current City residents as well as 
residents outside the City for Palmer to improve the quality of existing services and local regulation/law 
enforcement before a significant annexation takes place. Some specific concerns could be due to 
misunderstanding about where City boundaries are, how the City operates and the limits of what it can 
do. These concerns may also provide useful direction for the City about where to focus information-
sharing and departmental improvements. Comments mentioned:  

 Improve City road maintenance: pave rutted gravel roads; upgrade aging paved roads; improve 
snow removal and general maintenance on Colony Way, Arctic Boulevard and other streets that 
branch off them. 

 Improve/repair storm water collection systems, curb and gutter.  

 Keep sidewalks clear. 
 Increase repair and replacement for aging City facilities, generally.  

 Improve the Palmer Sr. League field. 

 Clarify if, when and how the water and sewer utility would extend piped service. City "water 
pressure can be limited at times." 

 Clarify City trash collection service areas and policies.  

 Improve fire response times (in study areas).  

 Expand the police force and improve morale in the Police Department.  

 Reduce crime and increase vehicle safety enforcement ("Automobiles and Trucks are permitted 
to be operated with one headlight, Violations emissions"). 

 Increase enforcement for junk vehicles, property maintenance, single family residential zoning.  
 Pay City employees better, specifically police, emergency/first responders, and public works. 

 Address homelessness in the City. 

Page 286 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 106 

 Improve the City’s reputation for fiscal management to address concerns that annexation is 
intended only to increase revenue for the City. 

Suggestions for Communication, Process and Timeline 

Responses reflected a desire for more frequent and open communication between the City and area 
residents, generally and specific to the annexation process. Regarding the annexation process, 
responses reflected the desire for a clear "why" statement to better understand the City’s motivations for 
annexing more land, and as much information as possible about the process, timelines and what to 
expect in any annexation process. One respondent specifically asked which services would be extended 
to annexed areas immediately. The transition plan developed for any future annexation petition will be 
critical for informing new citizens about the specific changes they can expect upon becoming part of the 
city, how and when those changes will take place.  

"I would want to know the cost of annexation, the projected revenues generated by annexed business, and see a 
plan for how long it would take to accomplish the annexation from start to finish once passed."   

Many responses questioned whether annexation had any benefits and wanted more information about 
how annexation would benefit them and/or the City, beyond a larger tax base. Responses included a 
desire for specific analysis of how annexation would affect taxes, cost of living, land use regulations and 
other impacts to the day-to-day use of their property, compared with Borough taxes and regulations. 

"There should be a five year forward looking budget forecast for the city, based on the projected increases in costs 
and revenues, so that people can be adequately informed." 

A few responses questioned why the study areas did not include certain areas, such as the areas south 
of inner Springer Inn Spring Hill and Outer Springer (Rocky Point, Sky Ranch, River Bend, and Colony 
Estate subdivisions) and Marsh Road in Study Area B. One respondent suggested the City consider 
taking an incremental approach, annexing one or two areas first, then adding more at a later date.  

Some comments reflected a belief that the City is already planning to move forward with annexation 
regardless of residents’ input and intends to take action soon after the study is completed without further 
opportunity for discussion. Continuous education about the multi-step annexation process and 
opportunities for public involvement in the decision may help alleviate some of these concerns. 
Suggestions included keeping citizens informed and providing opportunities for them to voice concerns as 
the process moves forward through mailers, door-to-door fliers, more surveys, informational Q&A 
sessions, and door-to-door discussions or HOA meetings. When it comes time for the City to decide on 
making an annexation petition, some respondents suggested the City consider basing its decision on a 
majority vote among residents/property owners in the areas considered for annexation. 

“Sometimes it's difficult to make a case for annexation because residents in those areas don't see a direct benefit to 
them. Sometimes there aren't positive impacts, but larger community issues are often critical for effective and 
efficient service delivery...a broader issue different from ‘what do I get out of it?’” 

More communication about the City’s planning activities may also be helpful. Some respondents were not 
aware of the City’s long-term plans for expanding services, land use planning or desired areas for future 
growth. For example, the City may engage in shorter-term planning for general operations and capital 
projects over the next few years. The City may also look to update Palmer’s Comprehensive Plan to 
revisit longer-term plans. Though not reflected in survey results, the City may decide to be more actively 
involved in economic development planning and related activities in future, regardless of whether its 
boundaries expand or remain stable.  

Respondent Demographics 

The survey had a majority of white respondents and a diversity of income levels. Respondents were fairly 
well distributed by age with just over one-third in the younger age cohort. In comparing survey responses 

Page 287 of 307



City of Palmer Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition | DRAFT 107 

to City of Palmer demographics, respondent demographics are fairly but not exactly consistent with 
trends citywide. It is fair to suggest that the younger demographic is slightly less represented, compared 
to City demographics. Similarly, people of color are slightly less represented when compared to Palmer 
demographics. Finally, lower income households are notably less represented compared to household 
income distribution in Palmer overall. 

Table 20. Respondent Demographics 

  
All Survey 

Respondents 
City of Palmer 2018 ACS  

(US Census Bureau) 
City of Palmer and 
Study Areas 2020* 

Female 273 45% 48% 50% 

Male 243 40% 52% 50% 

Prefer not to answer 87 14%   

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

     

Age 20-44 220 36% 57% 49% 

Age 45-64 229 38% 28% 34% 

Age 65 and over 86 14% 15% 17% 

Prefer not to answer 69 11%    

Total Age 20 and over 604 100% 100% 100% 

     

White or Caucasian 377 62% 76% 74% 

American Indian or Alaska Native 18 3% 8% 8% 

Black or African American 6 1% 3% 2% 

Asian or Asian American 2 0% 2% 2% 

Two or more races 33 5% 10% 8% 

Another race 12 2% 2% 6% 

Prefer not to answer 157 26%    

Total 605 100% 100% 100% 

     

Under $25,000 7 1% 17% 18% 

$25,000-$49,999 42 7% 24% 18% 

$50,000-$74,999 73 12% 19% 17% 

$75,000-$99,999 118 20% 14% 12% 

Over $100,000 205 34% 25% 36% 

Prefer not to answer 158 26%    

Total 603 100% 100% 100% 

2020 Data from ESRI adjusted by the Alaska Map Co. using Matanuska-Susitna Borough housing assessment 
counts. 

 

Page 288 of 307



3/24/2021

1

Palmer, AK | Community 
and Economic Analysis 
for Preparation of a Possible 
Annexation Petition

Agnew::Beck Consulting, Halcyon Consulting 
and the Alaska Map Co. 

1Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Purpose + Outline

Purpose: Share 

• Fiscal analysis findings

• Community analysis findings

• Community feedback about annexation

• Opportunities for continued community discussion

Outline:

1. Why look at annexation?

2. Fiscal (economic) analysis results 

3. Community analysis results

4. Process + next steps

2Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

1

2

Page 289 of 307



3/24/2021

2

Why Do Cities Annex Land?

3

To shore up fiscal position, plan for the future and 
improve governance:

1. FISCAL: Provide services more efficiently

• Balance new revenues and additional costs

2. FUTURE: Support economic development
• Room for new housing

• Space for new businesses and expansions 

• Manage infrastructure systems (water, sewer, roads)

3. GOVERNANCE: Maximize local control
• Expand where services can be provided and where local 

tools like land use districts can be applied.

• Give residents who currently live outside city limits a direct 
say in local issues that impact them.

Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Palmer’s Goals for Annexation

Any proposed annexation must meet the City of Palmer’s
goals for annexation: 

1. To promote orderly, high quality development and 
the cost-effective extension of services, where 
and when warranted.

2. To sustain a desirable quality of life in and around 
Palmer. 

3. To ensure a sustainable tax base along with long-
term economic viability, fiscal health and natural 
environment in Palmer. 

4Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

3

4

Page 290 of 307



3/24/2021

3

Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an 
Annexation Petition

Annexation Process

View and download this graphic at:
http://palmerannexstudy.org 5

Public Comment and Response Briefs

City Council/Leadership 

Why annex?

Where annex?

How much can we 
afford to grow?

City conducts study to answer these questions.

Does annexation make sense? 

Map to show 
territories to 
annex

Rationale for 
annexing these 
territories, meeting 
LBC criteria

Transition plan to 
guide extension of 
services, zoning 
designation, etc. 

City Council votes whether to submit 
petition to LBC and go forward.

LBC staff review for technical 
compliance and whether it meets 
objective criteria. 

LBC makes a decision.

If LBC approves, annexation can be passed by either 
area voters in a local election or state legislators.

NO, annexation does not make sense.

YES, annexation makes sense. 
City prepares petition:

No petition

Deny

Conditionally 
approve



 

Legislature reviews. 

Votes YES to submit petition.
Submits petition to LBC for review.

Approve

OR

Economic analysis looks at how annexation 
would affect the City's finances and ability to 
provide services, impacts to existing and 
potential new citizens and businesses.

Community analysis looks at non-financial 
impacts to the City government, existing and 
potential new citizens and businesses. Study 
includes community meetings, interviews and 
focus groups to understand: what are people 
curious or concerned about? Are there issues 
the City can pro-actively address? 

Often, the areas that make the most sense for 
annexation are: 

• areas where businesses and residents are already 
receiving services or where extension of services 
can be reasonably achieved; 

• existing/potential commercial highway corridor(s) 
near the City, whose development has the potential 
to erode the City sales tax base; 

• undeveloped/under-developed area(s) that would 
benefit from City services and development 
standards before they are developed;

• areas where health and safety issues exist, or 
where a request has been received by the City to 
provide services. 

Opportunity for public testimony at City Council meeting(s) 

Besides having a petition endorsed 
by City leadership through a vote by 
City Council, there are other ways 
to submit a petition, including: 

• a petition signed by at least 10% 
of registered voters in the City; 

• a petition signed by at least 10% 
of registered voters in the territory 
proposed for annexation; 

• a petition submitted by the 
Legislature or Commissioner of the 
Alaska Department of Commerce 
(DCCED) (this is rare) ;

• a petition submitted by a person 
designated by the Local Boundary 
Commission to submit a petition 
(this is also rare)

During this staff review period, LBC Staff may direct the City 
to hold additional public meetings/informational sessions.

After LBC staff review is complete 
and any technical issues are 
addressed, the LBC staff write a 
report to the LBC about the petition.

If conditionally approved, the City will be directed 
to make changes and resubmit the petition.

Local Election

Election results are certified and provided to LBC staf f.

City may prepare a new petition 
in the future

Public Comment

Votes NO to submit petition.

Does not submit petition
Opportunity for public testimony at City Council meeting(s) 
Public Comment

Opportunity for public to provide written feedback 
Public Comment and Respondent Brief Filings

The LBC holds a public hearing before making its decision.
Public Hearing

The report is attached to the City's petition and filed with the LBC. 

Alternative methods to 
submit a petition

City may be asked to make changes before the petition is filed. 

Passed unless disapproved by the 
majority of both houses.

Vote of residents within City and proposed territory.

1 Pre-Planning

• Comprehensive Plan
• Identify goals
• Fiscal analysis
• Identify needed policy changes 

2 Prepare Petition

• Identify feasible areas for annexation
• Engage community + address concerns
• Draft petition
• Create transition plan

3 LBC Petition Review + Decision

• City submits petition
• LBC evaluates against criteria + decides
• If LBC approved 

4 Annexation

City of Palmer 2020-2021

• No specific annexation is planned/has been decided yet.
• This is still the fact-finding part of the process to understand if, how 

and/or where it might work in the future. 
• The City would not commission the study if not interested in 

annexation.
• But the City has also studied annexation before (2006, 2010) and not 

submitted an annexation petition to the State.
• The City has also responded to 2010 annexation study 

recommendations by 
• Creating an agricultural zoning district that allows agricultural activities 
• Revising certain residential zoning districts to allow small-scale (“hobby”) 

farming activities 
• Revising animal regulations to increase the number and variety of 

allowable pets, livestock, etc. 

• This is why community feedback is important! It helps the City 
understand which businesses and lifestyles might need or want to be 
better accommodated within City boundaries.

6Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

5

6

Page 291 of 307



3/24/2021

4

Fiscal 
Analysis

Virtual Public Meeting 7

Palmer, AK | Community and Fiscal Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Fiscal Analysis Methodology

8

7

8

Page 292 of 307



3/24/2021

5

Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Study Areas

Virtual Public Meeting 9
Virtual Public Meeting

• 7 study areas
• Roughly 

equivalent to 
“Phase 1” study 
area from 2006 
study.

• Area G may not 
be annexed 
without annexing 
Area E also.

• Results presented 
tonight are each 
area individually 
annexed plus 
annexing all 
areas.

Commercial Activity (Sales Tax) Resources

• Heat map shows 
where commercial 
activity is 
concentrated with 
the aggregate study 
area.

• Analysis adjusts for 
exempt business 
activities, exempt 
services, utility 
taxes, online sales 
tax, and the $1,000 
cap.

• Current city limit 
encompass 85% of 
study area 
commercial activity. 

10Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

9

10

Page 293 of 307



3/24/2021

6

Assessed Property Values

• Assessed property 
values are less 
concentrated than 
commercial activity.

• $76,700 in property 
value per person in 
city.

• $65,225 in property 
value per person 
(on average) 
outside the city.

• Property taxes are 
roughly 15 percent 
of all tax revenue 
and 11.5 percent of 
all revenue. 

11Palmer, AK | Community and Fiscal Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Net Fiscal Effects by Annexation Scenario

Annexation 

Scenario

Net Annual  

Operating 
Fiscal 

Effect ($)

Net Annual 

Operating 
and Capital 

Repayment 
Fiscal 

Effect ($)

Area A Only -10,000 -10,000

Area B Only 139,000 139,000

Area C Only -22,000 -22,000

Area D Only -460,000 -725,000

Area E Only -549,000 -814,000

Area F Only -724,000 -989,000

Areas E+G -13,000 -350,000

All Study Areas -453,000 -922,000

12Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

11

12

Page 294 of 307



3/24/2021

7

“Either/Or” Budget-Balancing Tax Rate 
Changes

Annexation 
Scenario

All Property Tax 
Approach

All Sales Tax 
Approach

Mil Rate 

Change 
Required to 

Balance 
Budget

(3 Mils +…)

Annual 

Cost to 
Owner of 

$250,000 in 
Property 

(City of 
Palmer, $)

Annual Cost 

to Owner of 
$250,000 in 

Property 
(Annexed 

Area, $)

Sales Tax 

Rate Change 
Required to 

Balance 
Budget 

(3% + …)

Effect per 

$1,000 of 
Commercial 

Activity at 
Non-

Exempt 
Businesses 

($)

Area A Only 0.02 6 4 0.005 0.03

Area B Only -0.29 -70 -80 -0.055 -0.37

Area C Only 0.06 15 10 0.012 0.08
Area D Only 1.21 300 300 0.285 1.90

Area E Only 1.54 390 380 0.316 2.10

Area F Only 1.73 430 430 0.391 2.60
Areas E+G 0.68 170 170 0.127 0.85

All Study Areas +1.20 300 300 0.305 2.03

13Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Fiscal Analysis Takeaways

• While the fiscal effects vary between the studied annexation 
alternatives, most are modestly fiscally negative.

• Annexing all the study areas and mitigating the fiscal effect by 
leaning into the region’s sales tax base, would increase the cost 
of a $100 basket of fully taxable goods and services by $0.30. 

• If the city chose to pursue annexation the fiscal results point 
towards two general paths:

• Go Small- Incorporate Study Areas A, B, or C or some combination 
thereof.  These areas have relatively small fiscal effects and could be 
serviced without significant capital investments and new bonded debt.

• Go Large- Incorporate all study areas with the possible exception of
Study Area F (the most fiscally negative study area) thus maximizing 
the efficiency of capital investments and spreading costs over the 
largest studied tax base. 

• Individual annexation of Study Areas D, E, or F make the least 
sense from a fiscal perspective.

14Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

13

14

Page 295 of 307



3/24/2021

8

2020-2021 Property Tax Comparison

• Everyone pays 
MSB areawide 
property tax. 

• MSB has a 
cap on 
areawide 
property tax.

• 2020-2021: 
Palmer City 
residents pay 
a lower 
property tax 
rate than 
property 
owners in 
study areas. 

15Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

2020-2021 Sales Tax Comparison

City of Palmer charges a 3% 
sales tax on all taxable goods 
and services within City limits. 

Mat-Su Borough does not 
charge a sales tax. 

16Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

The amount of Palmer City sales tax you pay depends entirely on how 
much you spend on taxable goods and services in the City. It doesn’t matter 
where you live. That said:  

• People pay sales tax on utilities inside the City but don’t pay sales tax on 
utilities outside the City.

• The City has a sales tax cap ($1,000 per item/service) and exemptions 
for a number of different items. The exemptions are too many to list; see 
http://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/3.16.050.

• People who live outside current city boundaries are already paying sales 
tax to the City (e.g., at Fred Meyer). However, as a City resident, you 
have more say in what is done with that tax revenue.

15

16

Page 296 of 307



3/24/2021

9

Hypothetical Small Annexation
Budget Balancing Tax Comparison

Balance by Property Tax ONLY
If the City used ONLY a property tax rate 
adjustment to balance the budget, the 
hypothetical property owners inside the 
2020 Palmer City boundaries 
(Homeowner A) and in the annexed area 
(Homeowner B) would pay: 

Homeowner A (COP)
Before annexation: 13.322 mils
After annexation: 13.342 mils  
Property tax increase of $6 on a 
$250,000 property 

Homeowner B (MSB » COP)
Before annexation: 13.293 mils
After annexation: 13.313 mils
Property tax increase of $4 on a 
$250,000 property 

Balance by Sales Tax ONLY
If the City used ONLY a sales tax rate 
adjustment to balance the budget, the 
hypothetical shopper at a non-exempt
business inside the 2020 Palmer City 
boundaries (Business A) and in the 
annexed area (Business B) would pay:  

Shopper at Business A (COP) 
Before annexation: 3.000%
After annexation: 3.005%
Sales tax increase of $0.03 on a $1,000 
purchase.

Shopper at Business B (MSB » COP)
Before annexation: 0.000%
After annexation: 3.005%
Sales tax increase of $30.05 on a $1,000
purchase.

17Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Imagine the City took a smaller approach and annexed Study Area A in 
2020-2021. 

Hypothetical Large Annexation
Budget Balancing Tax Comparison

Balance by Property Tax
If the City used ONLY a property tax rate 
adjustment to balance the budget, the 
hypothetical owners of a $250,000 home 
inside the 2020 Palmer City boundaries 
(Homeowner A) and in the annexed area 
(Homeowner B) would pay: 

Homeowner A (COP)
Before annexation: 13.322 mils
After annexation: 14.522 mils  
Property tax increase of $300 on a 
$250,000 property 

Homeowner B (MSB » COP)
Before annexation: 13.293 mils
After annexation: 14.493 mils
Property tax increase of $300 on a 
$250,000 property 

Balance by Sales Tax
If the City used ONLY a sales tax rate 
adjustment to balance the budget, the 
hypothetical shopper at a non-exempt 
business inside the 2020 Palmer City 
boundaries (Business A) and in the 
annexed area (Business B) would pay:  

Shopper at Business A (COP) 
Before annexation: 3.000%
After annexation: 3.305%
Sales tax increase of $3.05 on a $1,000 
purchase.

Shopper at Business B (MSB » COP)
Before annexation: 0.00%
After annexation: 3.305%
Sales tax increase of $33.05 on a $1,000
purchase.

18Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Imagine the City took a larger approach and annexed all Study Areas (A, 
B, C, D, E, F and G) in 2020-2021. 

17

18

Page 297 of 307



3/24/2021

10

2030 Projections

Annexation 
Scenario

2030 Environment Changes 2030 Fiscal Changes Net 
Change 
(2020-
2030)

New 
Populati

on

New 
Housin
g Units

New 
Property 
Tax ($)

New Sales 
Tax ($)

Revenue 
Change ($)

Operating 
Cost 

Change ($)

Capital 
Cost 

Change

Study Area A 10 4 1,000 5,000 8,000 5,000 0 3,000

Study Area B 39 15 9,000 48,000 62,000 18,000 0 44,000

Study Area C 39 15 11,000 4,000 19,000 17,000 0 2,000

Study Area D 103 40 33,000 129,000 176,000 224,000 14,500 -62,500

Study Area E 221 86 53,000 95,000 169,000 127,000 0 42,000

Study Area F 214 83 53,000 52,000 133,000 389,000 14,500 -270,500

Study Area E+G 224 87 51,000 250,000 330,000 128,000 0 202,000

19Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Annexation of most areas studied in this analysis would still result in net negative 
annual fiscal effects in the year 2030. As long as the City does not expand the 
services it provides, these fiscal gaps would start to close as the population 
increases and the City realizes economies of scale.

Community 
Analysis

19

20

Page 298 of 307



3/24/2021

11

Community Analysis Methodology

1] Review issues raised in 
previous Palmer annexation 
petitions and studies.

2] Community feedback via 
interviews, comments submitted to 
City.

3] Online community meetings and 
presentations: City Council (Sep 
9), Palmer Planning & Zoning 
Commission (Jan 21), Palmer 
Chamber of Commerce (Feb 10), 
General Community (Feb 4, 8, 11, 
20). View recordings at: 

• http://palmerannexstudy.org

• http://radiofreepalmer.org

4] 2-part online survey open Nov 3 
to Nov 20 (2020) and Jan 25 to 
Feb 22 (2021).

• Overall, 610 people took the 
survey. 

• Findings on next slides.

21Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Support for Annexation

22Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

21

22

Page 299 of 307



3/24/2021

12

Support for Annexation

Residents Live in City
Live in Study 

Area

Live Outside 
Study Area 

and City All Residents

Response indicated a lack of support 17 17% 244 67% 76 54% 337 56%

No Opinion, 
Need More Info, or None of the above 21 21% 62 17% 19 14% 102 17%

Response indicated possible support 61 62% 56 15% 45 32% 162 27%

Total 99 100% 362 100% 140 100% 601 100%

Business Owners Own Business 
in City

Own Business in 
Study Area

Own Business 
Outside Study 
Area and City All Business

Response indicated a lack of support 20 39% 53 74% 31 62% 104 60%

No Opinion
Need More Info or None of the above 9 18% 11 15% 3 6% 23 13%

Response indicated possible support 22 43% 8 11% 16 32% 46 27%

Total 51 100% 72 100% 50 100% 173 100%

23Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Support by Study Area

24

Study 
Area

Total Resident 
Respondents

% of Resident 
Respondents 
that indicated 
Support for 
Annexation

A 7 43%

B 6 0%

C 14 7%

D 80 19%

E 98 15%

F 153 12%

G 7 43%

23

24

Page 300 of 307



3/24/2021

13

Potential Benefits of Annexation

18% of survey responses saw these potential benefits:
• Access to or improved City services, generally 
• Access to specific services: police, water and sewer, road 

maintenance and streetlights, staffed fire station, bike paths
• Attracting businesses and families
• Everyone in the area living by the same rules
• Less confusion about city boundaries
• Lifestyle preferences
• More opportunities for input on future planning and growth
• Possibility of increased City revenue and/or broader tax base
• Possibility of new jobs at City and area businesses
• Representation in City government
• Zoning and land use regulations, with more controls than under 

current Borough codes

25Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Main Concerns About Annexation
Need more information

26

So far, we’ve heard many of the same concerns as in 
previous annexation studies, including:

Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

How the City works: Some people 
need more information about how 
taxes, governance and services 
currently operate.

• See “Your Questions 
Answered” (PDF) under Review 
Documents at 
https://palmerannexstudy.org/

25

26

Page 301 of 307



3/24/2021

14

Need More Information - Example

Example: Do I need to live in the City to have piped water 
and/or sewer extended to my house?

27

Answer: The Palmer Water 
and Wastewater Utility can 
extend piped services to any 
location in its service area, 
shown in blue (and including 
the City in gray) on this map. 
Some homes in Study Area F 
already have piped water.

Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Main Concerns About Annexation
Cost to household or business

Fiscal concerns: Many residents and business owners do 
not want to be annexed if it will increase their tax burden, 
cost of living and/or cost of doing business. 

28Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Right now: 

• City of Palmer 
collects a 3% sales 
tax; incl. a tax cap 
and exemptions. 

• Mat-Su Borough 
has no sales tax.

• Property tax 
comparison at 
right.

27

28

Page 302 of 307



3/24/2021

15

Main Concerns About Annexation
City capacity to do more

Service provision concerns: Is the City prepared to provide 
quality public services to a significantly larger population and 
land area? 

• Fiscal analysis estimates staffing, equipment, construction 
and costs to expand service provision to study areas.

• Survey suggests the City can improve existing services, e.g.: 

• Roads (e.g., pave gravel roads, upgrade aging roads and storm 
water systems, snow removal on streets and sidewalks) 

• Trash collection 
• Parks and recreation improvements (e.g. baseball field)
• General facilities repair and replacement. 
• Expand the police force and increase vehicle safety enforcement 

(e.g., headlights, emissions).
• Land use enforcement (e.g., junk vehicles, property maintenance, 

single family residential zoning). 

29Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Main Concerns About Annexation
Different rules to follow

Regulatory concerns: The type of businesses and residential 
lifestyles that are currently outside of City boundaries might not be 
adequately accommodated by existing City regulations. General 
examples: 

• Zoning for mixed-use property 

• Building permits, fees and codes for sheds, fences, decks, etc. 

• Off Highway Vehicle (OHV) use (ATVs, snow machines, etc.) 

• Animal restrictions

• Firearm/hunting 

• Burning trash, fire pits, fireworks

• Marijuana businesses

• Garbage collection

• Water and sewer vs. well and septic. 

30Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

29

30

Page 303 of 307



3/24/2021

16

Specific Regulations of Concern

31Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Zoning, especially 
for mixed-use 
properties 

The City would work with property owners to find the best 
zoning per PMC Title 17 Zoning. Several of Palmer’s zoning 
types allow for multiple uses. 

Building permits/ 
fees for sheds, 
fences, decks, 
etc.

Building permits, fees and inspections are currently required 
per PMC Title 15 Buildings and Construction. The City could 
make some degree of the building permitting and inspection 
process optional or voluntary. For example, AMC 23.05.030 
makes the building permit, review, and inspection processes 
optional in areas outside the Anchorage Building Safety Service 
Area (ABSSA). 

Water and 
wastewater 
requirements: 
water and sewer 
vs. well and 
septic

The City currently allows piped and onsite systems per PMC 
Title 13 Public Utilities. Connection to piped systems is only 
required within a certain distance of existing connection points. 
Decisions to extend piped water and sewer service are 
separate from annexation and may occur anywhere within the 
utility’s service area, which extends beyond current City 
boundaries. 

Specific Regulations of Concern

32Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Garbage 
collection

Garbage collection is currently required per PMC Chapter 8.20 
Garbage Collection and Disposal. The City could allow property 
owners to choose private collection service or self-haul outside 
the City’s service area. Anchorage does this per AMC 27.70.030.

Firearms/ 
Hunting and 
Gun Ranges

The discharge of firearms is currently prohibited within City limits 
except at permitted practice facilities per PMC Chapter 9.74 
Discharge of Firearms. The City could designate areas in code 
where hunting is allowed, like the City of Kenai per KMC 
13.15.010 Discharge of firearms. Anchorage and Juneau also 
prohibit the discharge of firearms except in designated areas.

Off Highway 
Vehicle (OHV) 
use (ATVs, 
snow machines, 
etc.)

The City currently does not allow OHVs on streets except to 
cross them per PMC Chapter 10.08 Regulation of Off-highway 
Vehicles. The City could allow licensed operation of OHVs, like 
the City of Kenai per KMC Chapter 13.40 Off-road Operations of 
Motor Vehicles. Designated pathways for OHV use could also be 
created alongside primary streets. 

31

32

Page 304 of 307



3/24/2021

17

Specific Regulations of Concern

33Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

Burning trash, 
fire pits, 
fireworks 

Palmer Fire & Rescue may issue recreational burn permits for 
fire pits and burn permits for certain types of debris on private 
property. Fireworks are allowed without a permit on New Year’s 
Eve per PMC Chapter 8.42 Fireworks. The City could adjust 
allowances on burn permits and/or fireworks. For example, 
Anchorage allows recreational or ceremonial fires if they are 
managed according to specific safety guidelines and obtain a 
burn permit if necessary. However, burning debris/waste 
materials is prohibited within the Municipality of Anchorage. 

Animal 
restrictions

The City allows a variety of pet and livestock animals per PMC 
Title 6 Animals, depending on zoning per PMC Title 17 Zoning. 
All species of livestock mentioned in comments are already 
allowed on land zoned for agriculture or on lots of 1+ acres if 
they do not go within 25 feet from an exterior lot line. The City 
could allow more dogs per parcel or dogs off-leash. Dog kennels 
are an allowable use by right on land zoned BP Business Park.

Marijuana 
businesses

City residents voted to legalize marijuana businesses on 
property with specific zoning designation(s).

Main Concerns About Annexation
Protecting Palmer as a small farming town
Farmers have specific concerns for agricultural operations, e.g., 

• Agricultural zoning, including setbacks for farms
• Livestock and farm animals
• Farm waste management
• Guns on farms
• Vehicle storage on farms (allowed with conditional use permit)
• Drilling wells on farms (regulated by State, not City)
• Pesticides, fertilizers, disposal of animal carcasses, manure management on farms 

(regulated by State, not City)

• The 2010 Study addressed farms extensively. Since 2010, Palmer created 
agricultural zoning and updated other zoning to make agriculture within City 
boundaries easier (PMC Title 17 Zoning: 
https://palmer.municipal.codes/PMC/17).

• The 2020 Annexation Study includes options for the City to address concerns. 

Keeping Palmer small: Although the City would have the ability to manage 
growth, would annexation drive more growth than we want in Palmer? 

• This is a matter of community values and planning. 
34Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

33

34

Page 305 of 307



3/24/2021

18

Recommendations 
and Next Steps

Recommendations

• Continue ongoing communication
• Provide opportunities for continued discussions with City and area 

residents/businesses about how to make City services and governance 
the best it can be. 

• Document and share successes whenever possible. 
• Review select City codes and policies. Changes to City policies and/or 

regulations may or may not be in the best interests of the City or its 
citizens, but consideration and clear communication about what the 
rules are and why they are what they are can be helpful. 

• Communicate about City planning activities.

• Choose an annexation approach
• Go small: smaller, incremental annexation with minimal fiscal effects. 
• Go big: larger annexation that balances fiscal effects. 

• Continue the conversation
• Start talking with neighbors early and often about annexation, why the 

City is interested in it, how it would affect everyone involved, and what 
to expect with the process. 

• Create ways for area residents and businesses to participate in the 
decision to annex. 

36Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

35

36

Page 306 of 307



3/24/2021

19

Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an 
Annexation Petition

Annexation Process

View and download this graphic at:
http://palmerannexstudy.org 37

1 Pre-Planning

• Comprehensive Plan
• Identify goals
• Fiscal analysis
• Identify needed policy changes 

2 Prepare Petition

• Identify feasible areas for annexation
• Engage community + address concerns
• Draft petition
• Create transition plan

3 LBC Petition Review + Decision

• City submits petition
• LBC evaluates against criteria + decides
• If LBC approved 

4 Annexation

Public Comment and Response Briefs

City Council/Leadership 

Why annex?

Where annex?

How much can we 
afford to grow?

City conducts study to answer these questions.

Does annexation make sense? 

Map to show 
territories to 
annex

Rationale for 
annexing these 
territories, meeting 
LBC criteria

Transition plan to 
guide extension of 
services, zoning 
designation, etc. 

City Council votes whether to submit 
petition to LBC and go forward.

LBC staff review for technical 
compliance and whether it meets 
objective criteria. 

LBC makes a decision.

If LBC approves, annexation can be passed by either 
area voters in a local election or state legislators.

NO, annexation does not make sense.

YES, annexation makes sense. 
City prepares petition:

No petition

Deny

Conditionally 
approve



 

Legislature reviews. 

Votes YES to submit petition.
Submits petition to LBC for review.

Approve

OR

Economic analysis looks at how annexation 
would affect the City's finances and ability to 
provide services, impacts to existing and 
potential new citizens and businesses.

Community analysis looks at non-financial 
impacts to the City government, existing and 
potential new citizens and businesses. Study 
includes community meetings, interviews and 
focus groups to understand: what are people 
curious or concerned about? Are there issues 
the City can pro-actively address? 

Often, the areas that make the most sense for 
annexation are: 

• areas where businesses and residents are already 
receiving services or where extension of services 
can be reasonably achieved; 

• existing/potential commercial highway corridor(s) 
near the City, whose development has the potential 
to erode the City sales tax base; 

• undeveloped/under-developed area(s) that would 
benefit from City services and development 
standards before they are developed;

• areas where health and safety issues exist, or 
where a request has been received by the City to 
provide services. 

Opportunity for public testimony at City Council meeting(s) 

Besides having a petition endorsed 
by City leadership through a vote by 
City Council, there are other ways 
to submit a petition, including: 

• a petition signed by at least 10% 
of registered voters in the City; 

• a petition signed by at least 10% 
of registered voters in the territory 
proposed for annexation; 

• a petition submitted by the 
Legislature or Commissioner of the 
Alaska Department of Commerce 
(DCCED) (this is rare) ;

• a petition submitted by a person 
designated by the Local Boundary 
Commission to submit a petition 
(this is also rare)

During this staff review period, LBC Staff may direct the City 
to hold additional public meetings/informational sessions.

After LBC staff review is complete 
and any technical issues are 
addressed, the LBC staff write a 
report to the LBC about the petition.

If conditionally approved, the City will be directed 
to make changes and resubmit the petition.

Local Election

Election results are certified and provided to LBC staf f.

City may prepare a new petition 
in the future

Public Comment

Votes NO to submit petition.

Does not submit petition
Opportunity for public testimony at City Council meeting(s) 
Public Comment

Opportunity for public to provide written feedback 
Public Comment and Respondent Brief Filings

The LBC holds a public hearing before making its decision.
Public Hearing

The report is attached to the City's petition and filed with the LBC. 

Alternative methods to 
submit a petition

City may be asked to make changes before the petition is filed. 

Passed unless disapproved by the 
majority of both houses.

Vote of residents within City and proposed territory.

Next Steps

Complete the Study

• Spring 2021: Finalize report and submit to Palmer City 
Council. 

• More information: http://palmerannexstudy.org

Then:

• Spring 2021 onward: City of Palmer decides whether 
to proceed with the annexation process, continued 
community involvement and consultation.  

Thank you for joining us! 

38Palmer, AK | Community and Economic Analysis for Preparation of an Annexation Petition

37

38

Page 307 of 307


	Agenda
	Ord 21-003 Title 5 Marijuana
	Ord 21-004 Title 17 Marijuana
	Res. 21-012 Fire Forestry Grant to PFR
	Res. 21-013 DUI HVE Grant
	Res. 21-014 Airport Covid Grant ACRGP
	AM 21-020 HDL PSA Amend 1 Bailey Hill Reservoir
	AM 21-021 Reservoir 3 Repair
	AM 21-022 Online Business License-Sales Tax
	AM 21-023 Liquor License - Klondike Mikes
	2021-0309 Council Minutes
	Mat-Su Senior Center
	Presentation Alaska Waste MatSu Recycling
	AM 21-024 MEA Land Transfer 2021
	AM 21-025 Council Grant WLTGO Event
	AM 21-026 Council Grant WLTRO Run-Walk
	IM 21-002 Community  Economic Analysis Presentation



